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Unless otherwise indicated, references to “the Company,” “We,” “Us,” “Our” and “E*TRADE” mean E*TRADE Financial Corporation or its
subsidiaries.
E*TRADE, E*TRADE Financial, E*TRADE Bank (“Bank”), ClearStation, Equity Edge, Equity Resource, OptionsLink and the Converging Arrows
logo are registered trademarks of E*TRADE Financial Corporation in the United States and in other countries.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains forward-looking statements involving risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives,
expectations and intentions. These statements may be identified by the use of words such as “expect,” “may,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan” and similar
expressions. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements, and we caution that we do not undertake to
update these statements. Factors that could contribute to our actual results differing from any forward-looking statements include those discussed under
“Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report. The cautionary
statements made in this report should be read as being applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this report.
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ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

OVERVIEW
E*TRADE Financial Corporation is a global financial services company, offering a wide range of financial solutions to customers under the brand
“E*TRADE Financial.” We strive to create a differentiated financial services franchise by providing innovative, easy, low-cost financial solutions and service
to retail investors. Our financial solutions include a suite of trading, investing, banking and lending products. Information on our website is not a part of this
report.
Our corporate offices are located at 135 East 57th Street, New York, New York 10022. We were incorporated in California in 1982 and reincorporated
in Delaware in July 1996. We have approximately 3,800 employees. We operate directly and through numerous subsidiaries many of which are overseen by
governmental and self-regulatory organizations. Our most significant subsidiaries are described below:
• E*TRADE Bank is a Federally chartered savings bank that provides lending products to retail customers nationwide and deposit accounts insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”);
• E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC is a registered broker-dealer, market-making firm and also acts as agent for our institutional customers;
• E*TRADE Clearing LLC is the clearing firm for our brokerage subsidiaries. Its main purpose is to transfer securities from one party to another; and
• E*TRADE Securities LLC is a registered broker-dealer and provider of brokerage services to both retail and institutional customers.
A complete list of our subsidiaries can be found in Exhibit 21.1.
We offer, either alone or with our partners, branded retail websites in the United States, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong,
Iceland, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Singapore, Sweden, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom. We provide a branded educational website in
China, but do not offer retail services through that website.
We primarily provide services through our website at www.etrade.com. We also provide services through our network of customer service
representatives, relationship managers and investment advisors. We provide these services over the phone or in person through our 27 E*TRADE Financial
Branches.
CITADEL INVESTMENT
The operating environment during 2007, particularly during the second half of the year, was extremely challenging as our exposure to the crisis in the
residential real estate and credit markets adversely impacted our financial performance and led to a disruption in our customer base. As a result, we believe it
was necessary to obtain a significant infusion of cash, which would in turn stabilize our balance sheet and our customer base.
On November 29, 2007, we entered into an agreement to receive a $2.5 billion cash infusion from Wingate Capital Ltd., a Cayman Islands company
and affiliate of Citadel Limited Partnership (“Citadel”). In consideration for the cash infusion, Citadel received three primary items: substantially all of our
asset-backed securities portfolio (approximately $3.0 billion in amortized cost), 84.7 million shares of common stock (1) in the Company and approximately
$1.8 billion in 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes(2).
(1)
(2)

The 84.7 million shares of common stock were issued in increments: 14.8 million upon initial closing in November 2007; 23.2 million upon Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act approval in
December 2007; and 46.7 million shares are expected to be issued in the first quarter of 2008 as the Company has received all necessary regulatory approvals.
Included in the $1.8 billion issuance is $186 million of 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes in exchange for $186 million of the Company’s senior notes that were owned by Citadel. The $1.8 billion in 12 ½%
springing lien notes includes $100 million in notes issued to BlackRock, Inc. (“Blackrock”) in connection with the transaction. The $1.8 billion in 12 ½% springing lien notes represents the amount
outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and does not include the additional $150 million of springing lien notes issued in January 2008 in accordance with the terms of the agreement with Citadel.
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The items in this transaction were negotiated at arms length and transacted simultaneously and in contemplation of one another. As a result, the $2.5
billion in proceeds were allocated to each item based on their relative fair values at the time of the transaction.
The key components of our accounting for this transaction were as follows:
• Asset-backed securities portfolio sale, which resulted in a pre-tax loss on sale of approximately $2.2 billion;
• Issuance of common stock, which resulted in an increase to common stock/paid in capital of approximately $340 million; and
• Issuance of springing lien notes, which had approximately $500 million of discount assigned to them and will be amortized as an increase to
interest expense using the effective interest method over the 10 year term of the notes.
We believe this transaction provided timely stability for our business and helped alleviate customer concerns.
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
We offer a wide range of products and services to our customers to assist them with their financial needs. Our primary retail products and services
consist of:
• Trading and investing—includes automated order placement and execution of US and international equities, currencies, futures, options, exchangetraded funds, mutual funds and bonds. We also offer quick transfer, wireless account access, extended hours trading, quotes, research and advanced
planning tools;
• Banking—includes checking, savings, sweep, money market and certificates of deposit (“CD”) products that offer online bill pay, quick transfer,
unlimited ATM transactions on eligible accounts and wireless account access; and
• Lending—includes mortgage, home equity, margin and credit card products that offer online loan status and quick transfer.
Our primary institutional product is market making.
Retail
Our retail segment offers a full suite of financial solutions to retail customers including trading, investing, banking and lending products. Consistent
with our philosophy of being a customer advocate, we offer retail customers an opportunity to view their entire financial picture through E*TRADE
Complete. E*TRADE Complete helps customers optimize investing, cash and credit allocations by utilizing tools designed to help them determine the
appropriate mix of particular investing, banking and lending products that we offer. E*TRADE Complete tools include the Intelligent Investing Optimizer
and Risk Analyzer, the Intelligent Cash Optimizer and the Intelligent Lending Optimizer. With the Intelligent Cash Optimizer, customers can review possible
cash allocations based on rate and liquidity preferences and quickly transfer funds to reallocate deposit balances according to those preferences. The
Intelligent Investing Optimizer and Risk Analyzer makes it easy for customers to develop an investment strategy that is engineered to match their specific
goals, time horizon and risk tolerance. It suggests allocations for large cap, small cap, international investment, fixed income and cash. The Intelligent
Lending Optimizer is a tool that provides customers the ability to model multiple lending scenarios. Customers can use E*TRADE Complete to optimize
their utilization of our retail products described below.
Retail trading and investing products and services include:
• automated order placement and execution, US equities, futures, options, exchange-traded funds and bond orders;
2
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• access to international equities in Canada, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Japan and the United Kingdom and foreign currencies, including the
Canadian dollar, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Yen and Sterling;
• two-second execution guarantee on all S&P 500 stocks and exchange-traded funds;
• margin accounts allowing customers to borrow against their securities;
• access to some of the lowest cost stock index funds in the industry and to over 7,000 non-proprietary mutual funds;
• educational services through the Internet, phone or in person and flexible advisory services, including full-service portfolio management; and
• no fee and no minimum individual retirement accounts.
Retail banking and lending products and services include:
• interest-earning checking, money market, savings and CD products with FDIC-insurance;
• FDIC-insured sweep deposit accounts that automatically transfer funds from customer brokerage accounts;
• access to deposit account balances and transactions, through the Internet, phone or in person;
• prime credit quality first-lien mortgage loans secured by single-family residences;
• prime credit quality second-lien mortgage loans, including home equity lines of credit, secured by single-family residences; and
• credit cards that earn miles or offer rewards for commission-free trades, travel or merchandise.
All of our retail products are covered by the E*TRADE Complete Protection Guarantee.
Retail customers are offered trading, investing, banking and lending products and services via our website, over the phone and in person. Customers
have the ability to transfer funds quickly and easily between their trading, investing, banking and lending accounts, thereby giving them the opportunity to
optimize the yield and liquidity of their funds.
In addition to the services above, our retail segment includes employee stock option management software and services which are provided to
corporate customers. This software system facilitates the management of employee option plans, employee stock purchase plans and restricted stock plans,
including necessary accounting and reporting functions. This business is a component of the retail segment since it serves as an introduction to E*TRADE
for many retail customers who conduct equity option transactions as employees of our corporate customers, with our goal being that these individuals will
also use our other products and services.
Institutional
Our institutional segment includes market-making activities which match buyers and sellers of securities from both the retail segment and unrelated
third parties, often taking principal positions in these securities. Institutional customers are offered access to a range of execution services through traditional
sales traders and direct market access to exchanges.
We act as a market maker in certain over-the-counter issues through E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC. A market maker is a broker-dealer authorized by
an exchange. As a market maker, we are responsible for maintaining an orderly market in the securities assigned to us by the exchange and are frequently
required to take principal positions in these securities. The majority of our share volume for market-making activities involves
3
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bulletin board securities, which are securities that are not listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (“NASDAQ”) or a national securities exchange.
As a market maker, we take positions in securities and function as a wholesale trader by combining trading lots to match buyers and sellers of
securities. Trading gains and losses result from these activities. Our revenues are influenced by overall trading volumes, the number of stocks for which we act
as a market maker and the trading volumes and volatility of those specific stocks.
We also transact large block trading activity on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and NASDAQ exchanges. In addition, we provide
institutional customers with trade execution services, including direct access to international exchanges. Our web-based platform offers real-time, online
access to statements and electronic settlement capabilities. We do not expect to continue to provide trade execution services in future periods as this is no
longer a key component of our business.
In addition to activities with external customers, the institutional segment includes the management of our balance sheet. Balance sheet management
functions focus on asset allocation and managing interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The retail segment team works in conjunction with the
institutional team by originating margin receivables and loans and by gathering retail deposits which are leveraged by the institutional group to enhance
overall net interest income.
For additional statistical information regarding products and customers, see Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (“MD&A”) beginning on page 22. Three years of segment financial performance and data can be found in MD&A beginning on page
39 and in Note 24—Segment and Geographic Information.
CUSTOMER SERVICE
We believe providing superior customer service is fundamental to our business. During 2007, we implemented an online service center where
customers can request services on accounts and obtain quick answers to frequently asked questions. Over the past two years, we have significantly increased
the number of customer service representatives and relationship managers in order to increase the quality of our service. We have a total of 27 E*TRADE
Financial Branches in the United States, which are available to retail customers for any of their customer service needs.
TECHNOLOGY
We believe our focus on being a technological leader in the financial services industry enhances our competitive position. This focus allows us to
deploy a secure, scalable technology and back office platform that promotes innovative product development and delivery. During 2007, we continued to
enhance our product offerings by launching the Global Trading Platform, which gives investors the ability to buy, sell and hold foreign equities in local
currencies. Our U.S. customers now have access to foreign stocks and currencies in six major international markets: Canada, France, Germany, Hong Kong,
Japan and the United Kingdom.
COMPETITION
The online financial services market continues to evolve rapidly and we expect competition to continue to increase. Our retail segment competes with
full commission brokerage firms, discount brokerage firms, online brokerage firms, Internet banks, mortgage banking companies, non-financial service
companies originating loans and traditional “brick & mortar” retail banks and thrifts. Some of these competitors also provide Internet trading and banking
services, investment advisor services, touchtone telephone and voice response banking services, electronic bill payment services and a host of other financial
products. Our institutional segment, in addition to the competitors above, competes with market-making firms, investment banking firms and other users of
market liquidity in its quest for the least expensive source of funding.
4
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Many of our competitors have longer operating histories and greater resources than we do and offer a wider range of financial products and services.
Many also have greater name recognition, greater market acceptance and larger customer bases. These competitors may conduct extensive promotional
activities and offer better terms, lower prices and/or different products and services than we do. Moreover, some of our competitors have established
relationships among themselves or with third parties to enhance their products and services. Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or
changing opportunities and demands and withstand changing market conditions better than we can.
We believe we can continue to attract customers by appealing to retail investors within large established financial institutions by providing them with
innovative, easy, low-cost financial solutions and service. However, our exposure to the crisis in the residential real estate and credit markets created some
uncertainly surrounding the Company. These concerns, if not resolved, may make it more difficult to retain our current customer base as well as hinder our
ability to attract new customers.
We also face intense competition in attracting and retaining qualified employees. Our ability to compete effectively in financial services will depend
upon our ability to attract new employees and retain and motivate our existing employees.
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT
We assess the performance of our business based on our primary customer segments, retail and institutional.
We consider multiple factors, including the competitiveness of our pricing compared to similar products and services in the market, the overall profitability
of our businesses and client relationships when pricing our various products and services. We manage the performance of our business using various financial
metrics, including revenue growth, enterprise net interest spread, enterprise interest-earning assets, nonperforming loans as a percentage of gross loans
receivable, allowance for loan losses and allowance for loan losses as a percentage of nonperforming loans. The overall performance of our business is also
based on the management of our expenses related to our various products and services. The same or similar products and services may be offered to both
segments, utilizing the same infrastructure or in some circumstances, a single infrastructure may be used to support multiple products and services offered to
our customers. As such, we do not separately disclose the costs associated with products and services sold or our general and administrative costs. All
operating expenses incurred are integral to the operation of the business and are considered when evaluating the profitability of our business.
INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS
We are focused on creating an integrated global financial services company. To achieve that goal, we continue to invest in and grow our international
operations. We offer services in international markets directly through our website at www.etrade.com as well as through additional branded retail brokerage
websites in Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Iceland, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Singapore, Sweden, the United Arab Emirates
and the United Kingdom.
Our total U.S. net revenue, which we determine based on the geographic location of the legal entity in which the revenue was earned, were $(0.7)
billion, $2.2 billion and $1.5 billion for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Our total non-U.S. net revenue was $0.3 billion,
$0.3 billion and $0.2 billion for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. See Note 24—Segment and Geographic Information for
detailed information on non-U.S. geographic locations.
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REGULATION
Our business is subject to regulation by U.S. Federal and state regulatory agencies and securities exchanges and by various non-U.S. governmental
agencies or regulatory bodies, securities exchanges and central banks, each of which has been charged with the protection of the financial markets and the
protection of the interests of those participating in those markets. These regulatory agencies in the United States include, among others, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), the NYSE, the NASDAQ, the FDIC, the Federal Reserve, the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”). Additional legislation, regulations and rulemaking may directly affect
our manner of operation and profitability. Our broker-dealers are registered with the SEC and are subject to regulation by the SEC and by self-regulatory
organizations, such as the NYSE, the NASDAQ, FINRA and the securities exchanges of which each is a member. Our banking entities are subject to
regulation, supervision and examination by the OTS, the Federal Reserve and also, in the case of the Bank, the FDIC. Such regulation covers all aspects of the
banking business, including lending practices, safeguarding deposits, capital structure, transactions with affiliates and conduct and qualifications of
personnel. Our international broker-dealers are regulated by their respective local regulators such as the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”), Securities &
Futures Commission and the Investment Dealers Association (“IDA”).
We make our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, available
free of charge at our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they have been filed with the SEC. Our website address is www.etrade.com.
6
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Risks Relating to the Nature and Operation of Our Business
We have incurred significant losses and cannot assure that we will be profitable
We incurred a net loss of $1.4 billion, or $3.40 per share, for the year ended December 31, 2007, due primarily to losses in our home equity loan and
asset-backed securities portfolios. We also experienced a substantial diminution of customer assets and accounts as a result of the losses experienced in our
institutional business segment. It may require a substantial period of time to restore asset quality at the Bank, rebuild our retail franchise and return to
profitability.
We will continue to experience losses in our mortgage loan portfolio
At December 31, 2007, the principal balance of our home equity loan portfolio was $11.9 billion. During 2007, the allowance for loan losses in this
portfolio increased by $427.5 million to $459.2 million, primarily due to a rapid deterioration in performance in the second half of the year. As the crisis in
the residential real estate and credit markets continues, we expect to experience cumulative losses between $1.0 and $1.5 billion in our home equity loan
portfolio over the next three years. There can be no assurance that our provision for loan losses will be adequate if the residential real estate and credit
markets continue to deteriorate. We may be required under such circumstances to further increase our provision for loan losses, which could have an adverse
effect on our regulatory capital position and our results of operations in future periods.
Losses of customers and assets will result in lower revenues in future periods
During November 2007, well-publicized concerns about the Bank’s holdings of asset-backed securities led to widespread concerns about our
continued viability. From the beginning of this crisis through December 31, 2007 when the situation had stabilized, customers withdrew approximately $5.6
billion of net cash and approximately $12.2 billion of net assets from our bank and brokerage businesses. Many of the accounts that were closed belonged to
sophisticated and active customers with large cash and securities balances. Concerns about our viability may recur, which could lead to destabilization and
asset and customer attrition. In addition, as a result of our recent losses of customers and assets, we expect the revenues generated by trading and lending
activity to be significantly reduced from the levels experienced in the first three quarters of 2007. There can be no assurance that we will successfully rebuild
our franchise by reclaiming customers and growing assets. If we are not successful, our revenues and earnings in future periods will be lower than we have
experienced historically.
We have a large amount of debt
We incurred a substantial amount of new debt in connection with the Citadel transaction in which we issued approximately $1.8 billion of springing
lien notes. Following Citadel’s investment, our total long-term debt is $3.0 billion and the expected annual interest cash outlay is approximately $365
million. Our ratio of debt (our senior debt and term loans but excluding $445.6 million in mandatorily convertible notes) to equity (expressed as a
percentage) was 93% at December 31, 2007. The degree to which we are leveraged could have important consequences, including (i) a substantial portion of
our cash flow from operations will be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the funds available for other
purposes; (ii) our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other corporate needs will be limited; and
(iii) our substantial leverage may place us at a competitive disadvantage, hinder our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions and make us
more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in general economic conditions or our business. In addition, a significant reduction in revenues could materially
adversely affect our ability to satisfy our obligations under our debt securities.
7
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We are subject to investigations and lawsuits as a result of our losses from mortgage loans and asset-backed securities
In 2007, we recognized an increased provision expense totaling $640 million and asset losses and impairments of $2.45 billion, including the sale of
our ABS portfolio to Citadel. As a result, various plaintiffs have filed five class actions and four derivative lawsuits, alleging disclosure violations regarding
our home equity, mortgage and securities portfolios. In addition, the SEC initiated an informal inquiry into matters related to our loan and securities
portfolios. The defense of these matters will entail considerable cost and will be time-consuming for our management. Unfavorable outcomes in any of these
matters could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources
The financial services industry is highly competitive, with multiple industry participants competing for the same customers. Many of our competitors
have longer operating histories and greater resources than we do and offer a wider range of financial products and services. The impact of competitors with
greater name recognition, market acceptance and larger customer bases could adversely affect our revenue growth and customer retention. Our competitors
may also be able to respond more quickly to new or changing opportunities and demands and withstand changing market conditions better than we can.
Competitors may conduct extensive promotional activities, offering better terms, lower prices and/or different products and services or combination of
products and services that could attract current E*TRADE customers and potentially result in price wars within the industry. Some of our competitors may
also benefit from established relationships among themselves or with third parties enhancing their products and services.
Downturns or disruptions in the securities markets could reduce trade volumes and margin borrowing and increase our dependence on our more active
customers who receive lower pricing
Online investing services to the retail customer, including trading and margin lending, account for a significant portion of our revenues. A downturn in
or disruption to the securities markets may lead to changes in volume and price levels of securities and futures transactions which may, in turn, result in lower
trading volumes and margin lending. In particular, a decrease in trading activity within our lower activity accounts would significantly impact revenues and
increase dependence on more active trading customers who receive more favorable pricing based on their trade volume. A decrease in trading activity or
securities prices would also typically be expected to result in a decrease in margin borrowing, which would reduce the revenue that we generate from interest
charged on margin borrowing. More broadly, any reduction in overall transaction volumes would likely result in lower revenues and may harm our operating
results because many of our overhead costs are fixed.
We depend on payments from our subsidiaries
We depend on dividends, distributions and other payments from our subsidiaries to fund payments on our obligations, including our debt obligations.
Regulatory and other legal restrictions may limit our ability to transfer funds to or from our subsidiaries. Many of our subsidiaries are subject to laws and
regulations that authorize regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds to us, or that prohibit such transfers altogether in certain circumstances.
These laws and regulations may hinder our ability to access funds that we may need to make payments on our obligations.
We rely heavily on technology, and technology can be subject to interruption and instability
We rely on technology, particularly the Internet, to conduct much of our activity. Our technology operations are vulnerable to disruptions from human
error, natural disasters, power loss, computer viruses, spam attacks, unauthorized access and other similar events. Disruptions to or instability of our
technology or external technology that allows our customers to use our products and services could harm our business and our
8
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reputation. In addition, technology systems, whether they be our own proprietary systems or the systems of third parties on whom we rely to conduct portions
of our operations, are potentially vulnerable to security breaches and unauthorized usage. An actual or perceived breach of the security of our technology
could harm our business and our reputation.
Vulnerability of our customers’ computers could lead to significant losses related to identity theft or other fraud and harm our reputation and financial
performance
Because our business model relies heavily on our customers’ use of their own personal computers and the Internet, our business and reputation could
be harmed by security breaches of our customers and third parties. Computer viruses and other attacks on our customers’ personal computer systems could
create losses for our customers even without any breach in the security of our systems, and could thereby harm our business and our reputation. As part of our
E*TRADE Complete Protection Guarantee, we reimburse our customers for losses caused by a breach of security of the customers’ own personal systems.
Such reimbursements could have a material impact on our financial performance.
Downturns in the securities markets increase the credit risk associated with margin lending or stock loan transactions
We permit customers to purchase securities on margin. A downturn in securities markets may impact the value of collateral held in connection with
margin receivables and may reduce its value below the amount borrowed, potentially creating collections issues with our margin receivables. In addition, we
frequently borrow securities from and lend securities to other broker-dealers. Under regulatory guidelines, when we borrow or lend securities, we must
generally simultaneously disburse or receive cash deposits. A sharp change in security market values may result in losses if counterparties to the borrowing
and lending transactions fail to honor their commitments.
We may be unsuccessful in managing the effects of changes in interest rates and the enterprise interest-earning assets in our portfolio
Net interest income has become an increasingly important source of our revenue. Our ability to manage interest rate risk could impact our financial
condition. Our results of operations depend, in part, on our level of net interest income and our effective management of the impact of changing interest rates
and varying asset and liability maturities. We use derivatives to help manage interest rate risk. However, the derivatives we utilize may not be completely
effective at managing this risk and changes in market interest rates and the yield curve could reduce the value of our financial assets and reduce net interest
income. Many factors affect interest rates, including governmental monetary policies and domestic and international economic and political conditions.
If we do not successfully manage consolidation opportunities, we could be at a competitive disadvantage
There has recently been significant consolidation in the financial services industry and this consolidation is likely to continue in the future. Should we
be excluded from or fail to take advantage of viable consolidation opportunities, our competitors may be able to capitalize on those opportunities and create
greater scale and cost efficiencies to our detriment.
We have acquired a number of businesses and may continue to acquire businesses in the future. The primary assets of these businesses are their
customer accounts. Our retention of these assets and the customers of businesses we acquire may be impacted by our ability to successfully continue to
integrate the acquired operations, products (including pricing) and personnel. Diversion of management attention from other business concerns could have a
negative impact. In the event that we are not successful in our continued integration efforts, we may experience significant attrition in the acquired accounts
or experience other issues that would prevent us from achieving the level of revenue enhancements and cost savings that we expect with respect to an
acquisition.
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Risks associated with principal trading transactions could result in trading losses
A majority of our market-making revenues are derived from trading as a principal. We may incur trading losses relating to the purchase, sale or short
sale of securities for our own account, as well as trading losses in our market maker stocks. From time to time, we may have large positions in securities of a
single issuer or issuers engaged in a specific industry. Sudden changes in the value of these positions could impact our financial results.
Reduced grants by companies of employee stock options could adversely affect our results of operations
We are a provider of stock plan administration and options management tools, and our revenue from these tools depends in part on the size and
complexity of our customers’ employee stock option and stock purchase plans. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which among other things required public companies to
expense employee stock options and other share-based payments at their fair value when issued. SFAS No. 123(R) may result in companies granting fewer
employee options and modifying their existing employee stock purchase plans, potentially reducing the amount of products and services we provide these
companies and compelling us to incur additional costs so that our tools comply with the FASB statement. Additionally, we may see a reduction in
commission revenues as fewer employee stock options would be available for exercise and sale by the employees of these companies.
Reduced spreads in securities pricing, levels of trading activity and trading through market makers could harm our market maker business
Computer-generated buy/sell programs and other technological advances and regulatory changes in the marketplace may continue to tighten securities
spreads. Tighter spreads could reduce revenue capture per share by our market makers, thus reducing revenues for this line of business.
Advisory services subject us to additional risks
We provide advisory services to investors to aid them in their decision making and also provide full service portfolio management. Investment
decisions and suggestions are based on publicly available documents and communications with investors regarding investment preferences and risk
tolerances. Publicly available documents may be inaccurate and misleading resulting in recommendations or transactions that are inconsistent with the
investors’ intended results. In addition, advisors may not understand investor needs or risk tolerances, failures that may result in the recommendation or
purchase of a portfolio of assets that may not be suitable for the investor. To the extent that we fail to know our customers or improperly advised them, we
could be found liable for losses suffered by such customers, which could harm our reputation and business.
Our international efforts subject us to additional risks and regulation, which could impair our business growth
One component of our strategy has been an effort to build an international business, sometimes through joint venture and/or licensee relationships. We
have limited control over the management and direction of these venture partners and/or licensees, and their action or inaction, including their failure to
follow proper practices with respect to regulatory compliance and/or corporate governance, could harm our operations and/or our reputation.
We have a significant deferred tax asset and cannot assure it will be fully realized
The Company has net deferred tax assets of $550 million as of December 31, 2007. While the Company has concluded that as of December 31, 2007 it
is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized, we cannot assure that such deferred tax assets will be realized. The ability to realize
these net deferred tax assets is primarily based on the Company’s generation of taxable income in future years, which cannot be assured. In
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addition, a significant portion of the net deferred tax asset relates to a $1.4 billion federal tax loss carryforward, the utilization of which may be further
limited in the event of certain material changes in the ownership of the Company.
Risks Relating to the Regulation of Our Business
We are subject to extensive government regulation, including banking and securities rules and regulations, which could restrict our business practices
The securities and banking industries are subject to extensive regulation. All of our broker-dealer subsidiaries have to comply with many laws and
rules, including rules relating to sales practices and the suitability of recommendations to customers, possession and control of customer funds and securities,
margin lending and execution and settlement of transactions. We are also subject to additional laws and rules as a result of our market maker operations.
As part of our institutional business we provide clients access to certain third-party research tools and other services in exchange for commissions
earned. Currently, these activities are allowed by various regulatory bodies. However, changes to the regulations governing these activities have been
considered in the United Kingdom and the United States and may be considered again in the future. If the regulations are changed in the future in a way that
limits or eliminates altogether the services we could provide to clients in exchange for commissions, we may realize a decrease in our institutional
commission revenues.
Similarly, E*TRADE Financial Corporation, E*TRADE Re, LLC and ETB Holdings, Inc., as savings and loan holding companies, and E*TRADE
Bank, as a Federally chartered savings bank, are subject to extensive regulation, supervision and examination by the OTS and, in the case of the Bank, also
the FDIC. Such regulation covers all banking business, including lending practices, safeguarding deposits, capital structure, recordkeeping, transactions with
affiliates and conduct and qualifications of personnel.
If we fail to comply with applicable securities and banking laws, rules and regulations, either domestically or internationally, we could be subject to
disciplinary actions, damages, penalties or restrictions that could significantly harm our business
The SEC, FINRA and other self-regulatory organizations and state securities commissions, among other things, can censure, fine, issue cease-and-desist
orders or suspend or expel a broker-dealer or any of its officers or employees. The OTS may take similar action with respect to our banking activities.
Similarly, the attorneys general of each state could bring legal action on behalf of the citizens of the various states to ensure compliance with local laws.
Regulatory agencies in countries outside of the United States have similar authority. The ability to comply with applicable laws and rules is dependent in
part on the establishment and maintenance of a reasonable compliance system. The failure to establish and enforce reasonable compliance procedures, even if
unintentional, could subject us to significant losses or disciplinary or other actions.
If we do not maintain the capital levels required by regulators, we may be fined or even forced out of business
The SEC, FINRA, OTS and various other regulatory agencies have stringent rules with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by
securities broker-dealers and regulatory capital by banks. Net capital is the net worth of a broker or dealer (assets minus liabilities), less deductions for certain
types of assets. Failure to maintain the required net capital could result in suspension or revocation of registration by the SEC and suspension or expulsion by
FINRA, and could ultimately lead to the firm’s liquidation. In the past, our broker-dealer subsidiaries have depended largely on capital contributions by us in
order to comply with net capital requirements. If such net capital rules are changed or expanded, or if there is an unusually large charge against net capital,
operations that require an intensive use of capital could be limited. Such operations may include investing activities, marketing and the financing of
customer account balances.
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Also, our ability to withdraw capital from brokerage subsidiaries could be restricted, which in turn could limit our ability to repay debt and redeem or
purchase shares of our outstanding stock.
Similarly, the Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the OTS. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can
trigger certain mandatory, and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could harm a bank’s operations and financial
statements. A bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of a bank’s assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items
as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. A bank’s capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators
about the strength of components of its capital, risk weightings of assets, off-balance sheet transactions and other factors.
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require a bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Total and Tier 1
Capital to Risk-weighted Assets and of Tier 1 Capital to adjusted total assets. To satisfy the capital requirements for a “well capitalized” financial institution,
a bank must maintain higher Total and Tier 1 Capital to Risk-weighted Assets and Tier 1 Capital to adjusted total assets ratios.
As a non-grandfathered savings and loan holding company, we are subject to regulations that could restrict our ability to take advantage of certain
business opportunities
We are required to file periodic reports with the OTS and are subject to examination by the OTS. The OTS also has certain types of enforcement powers
over us, ETB Holdings, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, including the ability to issue cease-and-desist orders, force divestiture of the Bank and impose
civil and monetary penalties for violations of Federal banking laws and regulations or for unsafe or unsound banking practices. In addition, under the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, our activities are restricted to those that are financial in nature and certain real estate-related activities. We may make merchant
banking investments in companies whose activities are not financial in nature if those investments are made for the purpose of appreciation and ultimate
resale of the investment and we do not manage or operate the company. Such merchant banking investments may be subject to maximum holding periods
and special recordkeeping and risk management requirements. The Company recently moved its subsidiary, E*TRADE Clearing, LLC to become an
operating subsidiary of E*TRADE Bank, which will result in increased regulatory oversight and restrictions on the activities of E*TRADE Clearing, LLC.
We believe all of our existing activities and investments are permissible under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, but the OTS has not yet fully interpreted
these provisions. Even if our existing activities and investments are permissible, we are unable to pursue future activities that are not financial in nature. We
are also limited in our ability to invest in other savings and loan holding companies.
In addition, the Bank is subject to extensive regulation of its activities and investments, capitalization, community reinvestment, risk management
policies and procedures and relationships with affiliated companies. Acquisitions of and mergers with other financial institutions, purchases of deposits and
loan portfolios, the establishment of new Bank subsidiaries and the commencement of new activities by Bank subsidiaries require the prior approval of the
OTS, and in some cases the FDIC, which may deny approval or limit the scope of our planned activity. These regulations and conditions could place us at a
competitive disadvantage in an environment in which consolidation within the financial services industry is prevalent. Also, these regulations and
conditions could affect our ability to realize synergies from future acquisitions, could negatively affect us following the acquisition and could also delay or
prevent the development, introduction and marketing of new products and services.
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Risks Relating to Owning Our Stock
The interests of our largest shareholder may conflict with the interests of other shareholders
Following the issuance of the final shares due to Citadel, Citadel will own approximately 90 million shares of our common stock, which represents
approximately 18% of the outstanding shares. In addition, Citadel is our largest creditor through its ownership of approximately $1.8 billion of our debt
securities. Citadel is an independent entity with its own investors and is entitled to act in its own economic interest with respect to its equity and debt
investments in E*TRADE. For example, following April 29, 2008, Citadel will be generally free under the terms of the Investment Agreement to sell the
equity securities it received under the Investment Agreement and any such sales may have a depressing effect on the trading price of our common stock. In
addition, Citadel’s 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes contain restrictive covenants and as a holder of in excess of a majority of the springing lien notes, Citadel has
a right to declare defaults and enforce remedies just like any other lender for so long as Citadel retains a majority of the springing lien notes. Finally, in
pursuing its economic interests, Citadel may make decisions with respect to fundamental corporate transactions which may be different than the decisions of
shareholders who own only common shares.
We are substantially restricted by the terms of our senior notes
In June 2004, we issued an aggregate principal amount of $400 million of senior notes due June 2011. In September and November 2005, we issued an
additional aggregate principal amount of $100 million of senior notes due June 2011, $600 million of senior notes due September 2013 and $300 million of
senior notes due December 2015. As part of the Citadel Investment in November 2007, we issued $1.8 billion of 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes. The indentures
governing these notes contain various covenants and restrictions that limit our ability and certain of our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:
• incur additional indebtedness;
• create liens;
• pay dividends or make other distributions;
• repurchase or redeem capital stock;
• make investments or other restricted payments;
• enter into transactions with our stockholders or affiliates;
• sell assets or shares of capital stock of our subsidiaries;
• restrict dividend or other payments to us from our subsidiaries; and
• merge, consolidate or transfer substantially all of our assets.
As a result of the covenants and restrictions contained in the indentures, we are limited in how we conduct our business and we may be unable to raise
additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. The terms of any future indebtedness could
include more restrictive covenants.
We cannot assure that we will be able to remain in compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain
waivers from the appropriate parties and/or amend the covenants.
The market price of our common stock may continue to be volatile
From January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2007, the price per share of our common stock ranged from a low of $3.15 to a high of $27.76. The market
price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. In the past, volatility in the market price
of a company’s securities has often led to securities class action litigation. Such litigation could result in substantial costs to us
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and divert our attention and resources, which could harm our business. Declines in the market price of our common stock or failure of the market price to
increase could also harm our ability to retain key employees, reduce our access to capital and otherwise harm our business.
We may need additional funds in the future, which may not be available and which may result in dilution of the value of our common stock
In the future, we may need to raise additional funds via debt and/or equity instruments, which may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. If
adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund our plans for the growth of our business. In addition, if funds are available,
the issuance of equity securities could dilute the value of our shares of our common stock and cause the market price of our common stock to fall.
We have various mechanisms in place that may discourage takeover attempts
Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring control of us in a
merger, acquisition or similar transaction that a shareholder may consider favorable. Such provisions include:
• authorization for the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock;
• provision for a classified Board of Directors (“Board”) with staggered, three-year terms;
• the prohibition of cumulative voting in the election of directors;
• a super-majority voting requirement to effect business combinations or certain amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;
• limits on the persons who may call special meetings of shareholders;
• the prohibition of shareholder action by written consent; and
• advance notice requirements for nominations to the Board or for proposing matters that can be acted on by shareholders at shareholder meetings.
Attempts to acquire control of the Company may also be delayed or prevented by our stockholder rights plan, which is designed to enhance the ability
of our Board to protect shareholders against unsolicited attempts to acquire control of the Company that do not offer an adequate price to all shareholders or
are otherwise not in the best interests of the Company and our shareholders. In addition, certain provisions of our stock incentive plans, management
retention and employment agreements (including severance payments and stock option acceleration), and Delaware law may also discourage, delay or
prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us.
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

A summary of our significant locations at December 31, 2007 is shown in the following table. All facilities are leased, except for 166,000 square feet of
our office in Alpharetta, Georgia. Square footage amounts are net of space that has been sublet or part of a facility restructuring.
Location

Approximate Square Footage

Alpharetta, Georgia
Arlington, Virginia
Jersey City, New Jersey
Charlotte, North Carolina
Menlo Park, California
Sandy, Utah
Toronto, Canada
New York, New York
Chicago, Illinois

219,000
196,000
107,000
83,000
79,000
77,000
75,000
60,000
29,000

All of our facilities are used by both our retail and institutional segments. In addition to the significant facilities above, we also lease all of our 27
E*TRADE Financial Branches, ranging in space from 2,500 to 13,000 square feet. All other leased facilities with space of less than 25,000 square feet are not
listed by location. We believe our facilities space is adequate to meet our needs in 2008.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In June 2002, the Company acquired from MarketXT Holdings, Inc. (formerly known as “Tradescape Corporation”) the following entities: Tradescape
Securities, LLC; Tradescape Technologies, LLC; and Momentum Securities, LLC. Disputes subsequently arose between the parties regarding the
responsibility for liabilities that first became known to the Company after the sale. On April 8, 2004, MarketXT filed a complaint in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and other third parties, including Softbank Investment
Corporation (“SBI”) and Softbank Corporation, alleging that defendants were preventing plaintiffs from obtaining certain contingent payments allegedly
due, and as a result, claiming damages of $1.5 billion. On April 9, 2004, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York against certain directors and officers of MarketXT seeking declaratory relief and unspecified monetary damages for defendants’ fraud in
connection with the 2002 sale, including, but not limited to, having presented the Company with fraudulent financial statements regarding the condition of
Momentum Securities, LLC during the due diligence process. Subsequently, MarketXT was placed into bankruptcy, and the Company filed an adversary
proceeding against MarketXT and others in January 2005, seeking declaratory relief, compensatory and punitive damages, in those Chapter 11 bankruptcy
proceedings in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York entitled, “In re MarketXT Holdings Corp., Debtor.” In that same
court, the Company filed a separate adversary proceeding against Omar Amanat in those Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceedings entitled, “In re Amanat, Omar
Shariff.” In October 2005, MarketXT answered the Company’s adversary proceeding and asserted its counterclaims, subsequently amending its claims in
2006 to add a $326.0 million claim for “promissory estoppel” in which Market XT alleged, for the first time, that the Company breached a prior promise to
purchase the acquired entities in 1999-2000. In April 2006, Omar Amanat answered the Company’s separate adversary proceeding against him and asserted
his counterclaims. In separate motions before the Bankruptcy Court, the Company has moved to dismiss certain counterclaims brought by MarketXT
including those described above, as well as certain counterclaims brought by Mr. Amanat. In a ruling dated September 29, 2006, the Bankruptcy Court in the
MarketXT case granted the Company’s motion to dismiss four of the six bases upon which MarketXT asserts its fraud claims against the Company; its
conversion claim; and its demand for punitive damages. In the same ruling, the Bankruptcy Court denied in its entirety MarketXT’s competing motion to
dismiss the Company’s claims against it. On October 26, 2006, the Bankruptcy Court subsequently dismissed MarketXT’s “promissory estoppel” claim. By
order dated December 18, 2007, the United States Bankruptcy
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Court for the Southern District of New York approved a settlement agreement between the parties under the terms of which the Company agreed, without
admitting liability, to pay $3,995,000 to the Trustee for the bankruptcy estate of MarketXT in exchange for a general release from MarketXT as well as its
promise to defend and indemnify the Company in certain other actions up to a maximum of $3,995,000. By order dated January 8, 2008, the same Court
subsequently approved a separate settlement agreement between the Company and the Trustee for the bankruptcy estate of Omar Amanat under the terms of
which the Company paid to said Trustee the sum of $50,000 in exchange for a general release. Accordingly, these cases have been resolved, and the
Company will no longer report them in its subsequent filings.
On October 27, 2000, a complaint was filed in the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Santa Clara, entitled, “Ajaxo, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, Plaintiff, versus E*TRADE GROUP, INC., a Delaware corporation; and Everypath, Inc., a California corporation; and Does 1 through 50,
inclusively, Defendants.” Through this complaint, Ajaxo sought damages and certain non-monetary relief for the Company’s alleged breach of a nondisclosure agreement with Ajaxo pertaining to certain wireless technology offered to the Company by Ajaxo as well as damages and other relief against both
the Company and defendant Everypath, Inc., for their alleged misappropriation of Ajaxo’s trade secrets. Following a jury trial, a judgment was entered in
2003 in favor of Ajaxo against the Company for $1.3 million dollars for breach of the Ajaxo non-disclosure agreement. Although the jury also found in favor
of Ajaxo on its misappropriation of trade secrets claim against the Company and defendant Everypath, the trial court subsequently denied Ajaxo’s requests
for additional damages and relief on these claims. Thereafter, all parties appealed, and on December 21, 2005, the California Court of Appeal affirmed the
above-described award against the Company for breach of the nondisclosure agreement but remanded the case to the trial court for the limited purpose of
determining what, if any, additional damages Ajaxo may be entitled to as a result of the jury’s previous finding in favor of Ajaxo on its misappropriation of
trade secrets claim against the Company and defendant Everypath. Following the foregoing ruling by the Court of Appeal, defendant Everypath ceased
operations and made an assignment for the benefit of its creditors in January, 2006. As a result, defendant Everypath is no longer defending the case.
Although the Company paid Ajaxo the full amount due on the judgment against it above, the case, consistent with the rulings issued by the Court of Appeal,
has now been remanded back to the trial court, and the re-trial of this case is now set to commence on April 7, 2008, solely on the issue of what, if any,
additional damages Ajaxo may be entitled to receive on its misappropriation of trade secrets claim. In specific, Ajaxo continues to seek unstated monetary
damages and injunctive relief, lost profits in the amount of $500,000 per month since November, 1999, and punitive damages. The Company denies that
Ajaxo is entitled to any further damages or relief of any kind and will vigorously defend itself against Ajaxo’s renewed damage claims.
On October 2, 2007, a class action complaint alleging violations of the federal securities laws was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York against the Company and its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer entitled, “Larry Freudenberg, Individually
and on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, Plaintiff, versus E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Mitchell H. Caplan and Robert J. Simmons, Defendants.”
Plaintiff contends, among other things, that between December 14, 2006, and September 25, 2007 (the “class period”) defendants issued materially false and
misleading statements and failed to disclose that the Company was experiencing a rise in delinquency rates in its mortgage and home equity portfolios;
failed to timely record an impairment on its mortgage and home equity portfolios; materially overvalued its securities portfolio, which includes assets backed
by mortgages; and based on the foregoing, lacked a reasonable basis for the positive statements it made about the Company’s earnings and prospects.
Plaintiff seeks to recover damages in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. Four additional class action complaints
alleging similar violations of the federal securities laws and alleging either the same or somewhat longer class periods were filed in the same court between
October 12, 2007 and November 21, 2007 by named plaintiffs William Boston, Robert D. Thulman, Wendy M. Davidson, and Joshua Ferenc, respectively.
On January 23, 2008, the trial court heard motions from various plaintiffs seeking to be appointed lead plaintiff in these actions but has yet to issue its
decision. Once the court rules on the lead plaintiff motions, the cases are to be consolidated. A consolidated amended complaint is expected to be filed
within 60 days of the court’s ruling. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against these claims.
16

Table of Contents

Based upon the same facts and circumstances alleged in the Freudenberg class action complaint above, a verified shareholder derivative complaint was
filed in United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on October 4, 2007, against the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
President/Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and individual members of its board of directors entitled, “Catherine Rubery, Derivatively on
behalf of E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Plaintiff, versus Mitchell H. Caplan, R. Jarrett Lilien, Robert J. Simmons, George A. Hayter, Daryl Brewster,
Ronald D. Fisher, Michael K. Parks, C. Catherine Raffaeli, Lewis E. Randall, Donna L. Weaver, and Stephen H. Willard, Defendants, -and- E*TRADE
Financial Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Nominal Defendant.” Plaintiff alleges, among other things, causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty, waste
of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, and violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The above shareholder
derivative complaint has been consolidated with another shareholder derivative complaint brought in the same court and against the same named defendants
entitled, “Marilyn Clark, Derivatively On Behalf of E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Plaintiff, versus Mitchell H. Caplan, et al., Defendants” (collectively,
with the Rubery case, the “federal derivative actions”). Three similar derivative actions, based on the same facts and circumstances as the federal derivative
actions but alleging exclusively state causes of action, have been filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County. These three cases
have been ordered consolidated in that court under the caption “In re: E*Trade Financial Corporation Derivative Litigation, Lead Index No. 07-603736” (the
“state derivative actions”). The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the claims raised in the federal derivative actions and state derivative
actions.
The SEC, in conjunction with various regional securities exchanges, is conducting an inquiry into the trading activities of certain specialist firms,
including the Company’s subsidiary E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC (“ETCM”), on various regional exchanges in order to determine whether such firms
executed proprietary orders in a given security prior to a customer order in the same security (a practice commonly known as “trading ahead”) during the
period 1999-2005. ETCM was a specialist on the Chicago Stock Exchange during the period under review. The SEC has indicated that it will seek
disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and penalties from any firm found to have engaged in trading ahead activity to the detriment of its customers during that
time period. It is possible that such sanctions, if imposed against ETCM, could have a material impact on the financial results of the Company during the
period in which such sanctions are imposed. The Company and ETCM are cooperating with the investigation.
On October 17, 2007, the SEC initiated an informal inquiry into matters related to the Company’s loan and securities portfolios. That inquiry is
continuing. The Company is cooperating fully with the SEC in this matter.
An unfavorable outcome in any matter that is not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows. In addition, even if the ultimate outcomes are resolved in our favor, the defense of such litigation could entail
considerable cost or the diversion of the efforts of management, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition
to the matters described above, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of business which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
We maintain insurance coverage that we believe is reasonable and prudent. The principal insurance coverage we maintain covers commercial general
liability; property damage; hardware/software damage; cyber liability; directors and officers; employment practices liability; certain criminal acts against the
Company; and errors and omissions. We believe that such insurance coverage is adequate for the purpose of our business. Our ability to maintain this level of
insurance coverage in the future, however, is subject to the availability of affordable insurance in the marketplace.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock
The following table shows the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ, except where noted, for the periods
indicated:
High

Low

$ 26.08
$ 25.79
$ 23.63
$ 14.26

$ 21.11
$ 20.82
$ 9.92
$ 3.15

$ 27.12
$ 27.76
$ 25.00
$ 25.50

$ 20.41
$ 18.81
$ 20.11
$ 20.85

2007:
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2006 (1):
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
(1)

On December 27, 2006 we moved from the NYSE to the NASDAQ under the symbol ETFC.

The closing sale price of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ on February 22, 2008 was $4.79 per share. At that date, there were 1,910
holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. Although we do not currently have any plans to do so, we may pay dividends in
the future.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
Refer to Note 20—Employee Shared-Based Payments and Other Benefits in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for equity
compensation plan information.
Repurchase Plans
In 2004, our Board approved a repurchase plan on December 15th (“December 2004 Plan”) for $200.0 million. On April 18, 2007, the Company
announced that its Board of Directors authorized an additional $250.0 million common stock repurchase program (“April 2007 Plan”). Our Board determined
that the use of cash to reduce outstanding debt and outstanding common stock was likely to create long-term value for our shareholders. We completed the
December 2004 Plan in April of 2007 and there are no amounts remaining available under those plans. As of December 31, 2007, $158.5 million remained
available under the April 2007 Plan for additional repurchases.
The April 2007 Plan is open-ended and allows for the repurchase of common stock on the open market, in private transactions or a combination of
both. During 2007, we repurchased a total of $148.6 million or nearly 7.2 million shares of common stock under the December 2004 Plan and April 2007
Plan. During 2006, we repurchased a total of $122.6 million or nearly 5.3 million shares of common stock under the December 2004 Plan. There were no
repurchases during the three months ended December 31, 2007.
Sale of Unregistered Shares
In connection with the Citadel Investment, on November 29, 2007, we issued 10,000,000 shares of common stock to Citadel and 4,840,430 shares of
common stock to certain affiliates of BlackRock, Inc. On
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December 18, 2007, we issued an additional 23,182,197 shares of common stock to Citadel. The issuances were exempt from registration pursuant to
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, and each purchaser has represented to us that it is an “accredited investor” as defined in Regulation D promulgated
under the Securities Act of 1933, and that the common stock was being acquired for investment. We did not engage in a general solicitation or advertising
with regard to the issuances of the common stock and have not offered securities to the public in connection with the issuances. See Item 1. Business—
Citadel Investment.
Performance Graph
The following performance graph shows the cumulative total return to a holder of the Company’s common stock, assuming dividend reinvestment,
compared with the cumulative total return, assuming dividend reinvestment, of the Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 500 and the S&P Super Cap Diversified
Financials during the period from December 31, 2002 through December 31, 2007.

E*TRADE Financial Corporation
S&P 500
S&P Super Cap Diversified Financials

12/02

12/03

12/04

12/05

12/06

12/07

100.00
100.00
100.00

260.29
128.68
139.29

307.61
142.69
156.28

429.22
149.70
170.89

461.32
173.34
211.13

73.05
182.87
176.62

• $100 invested on 12/31/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.
• Copyright © 2008, Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved. www.researchdatagroup.com/S&P.htm
19

Table of Contents

ITEM 6.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

(Dollars in millions, shares in thousands, except per share and per trade amounts):

Results of Operations:(1)(2)
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses(3)
Total net revenue
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net
Net income (loss) from continuing operations(4)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes(5)
Net income (loss)
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
Basic net earnings (loss) per share
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share
Weighted average shares—basic
Weighted average shares—diluted (6)
*

(1)
(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

Year Ended December 31,
2005

2007

2006

$ 1,609.1
$ (640.1)
$ (378.2)
$(2,450.0)
$(1,441.8)
$
—
$(1,441.8)
$ (3.40)
$ (3.40)
$ (3.40)
$ (3.40)
424,439
424,439

$ 1,400.0
$ (45.0)
$ 2,420.3
$
56.0
$ 626.8
$
—
$ 628.9
$
1.49
$
1.44
$
1.49
$
1.44
421,127
436,357

$ 871.1
$ (54.0)
$ 1,703.8
$
98.9
$ 446.2
$
1.6
$ 430.4
$
1.20
$
1.16
$
1.16
$
1.12
371,468
384,630

2004

2003

$ 635.1
$ (38.1)
$ 1,482.9
$ 140.7
$ 381.8
$
—
$ 380.5
$
1.04
$
0.99
$
1.04
$
0.99
366,586
405,389

$ 406.7
$ (38.5)
$ 1,342.7
$ 247.7
$ 200.5
$
—
$ 203.0
$
0.56
$
0.55
$
0.57
$
0.55
358,320
367,361

Variance
2007 vs. 2006

15 %
1323 %
(116)%
*
(330)%
*
(329)%
(328)%
(336)%
(328)%
(336)%
1%
(3)%

Percentage not meaningful.
No cash dividends have been declared in any of the periods presented.
Expenses are presented in parentheses.
In 2005, we exited the professional proprietary and agency trading businesses and completed the sale of E*TRADE Consumer Finance Corporation (“Consumer Finance Corporation”). In 2004, we
completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of E*TRADE Access, Inc. (“E*TRADE Access”). We have reflected the results of these operations as discontinued operations for all
periods presented.
In 2005, we recorded a credit of $1.6 million, net of tax, as a cumulative effect of accounting change, to reflect the amount by which compensation expense would have been reduced in periods prior to
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) for restricted stock awards outstanding on July 1, 2005.
For 2004, diluted earnings per share is calculated using the “if converted” method, which includes the additional dilutive impact assuming conversion of the Company’s subordinated convertible debt.
Under the “if converted” method, the per share numerator excludes the interest expense and related amortization of offering costs from the convertible debt, net of tax, of $20.0 million. The denominator
includes the shares issuable from the assumed conversion of the convertible debt of 25.8 million. For all other periods presented, the “if converted” method is not used as its effect would be anti-dilutive.

(Dollars in millions):

Financial Condition:
Available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities
Total loans, net
Margin receivables
Total assets
Deposits
Corporate debt
Shareholders’ equity

2007

2006

December 31,
2005

2004

2003

$ 11,255.0
$ 30,139.4
$ 7,179.2
$ 56,845.9
$ 25,884.8
$ 3,022.7
$ 2,829.1

$ 13,677.8
$ 26,656.2
$ 6,828.4
$ 53,739.3
$ 24,071.0
$ 1,842.2
$ 4,196.4

$ 12,564.7
$ 19,512.3
$ 5,642.0
$ 44,567.7
$ 15,948.0
$ 2,022.7
$ 3,399.6

$ 12,543.8
$ 11,785.0
$ 1,965.5
$ 31,032.6
$ 12,303.0
$
585.6
$ 2,228.2

$ 9,826.9
$ 9,131.4
N/A
$ 26,049.2
$ 12,514.5
$
695.3
$ 1,918.3
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2007 vs. 2006

(18)%
13 %
5%
6%
8%
64 %
(33)%
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(Dollars in billions, except per trade amounts):
At or For the Year Ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004

2007

Key Measures:
Retail client assets(1)
Customer cash and deposits(1)
Total daily average revenue trades
Average commission per trade
Enterprise net interest spread (basis points)(2)
Enterprise interest-earning assets, average(2)
Total employees (period end)
(1)
(2)

$
$

190.0
33.6
187,022
$ 11.71
263
$
57.0
3,757

$
$

194.9
33.6
159,348
$ 12.05
285
$
45.4
4,126

$ 177.9
$ 28.2
97,740
$ 13.82
249
$ 32.4
3,439

$ 100.0
$ 18.7
83,643
$ 15.63
229
$ 26.2
3,320

2003

$
$

82.9
19.0
77,052
$ 16.41
N/A
N/A
3,455

Variance
2007 vs. 2006

(3)%
0%
17 %
(3)%
(8)%
26 %
(9)%

Customer cash and deposits, as well as retail client assets, have been re-presented to account for a methodology change in the metric to settlement date from trade date reporting as of December 31, 2005
which reduced both metrics by $0.6 billion. This is not a methodology change in accounting policy and does not impact the reporting of these items in our balance sheet.
The enterprise net interest spread and enterprise interest-earning assets, average for 2003 are not presented as the information was not tracked on an enterprise level for that year.

The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
21

Table of Contents

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes that appear elsewhere in this
document.
GLOSSARY OF TERMS
In analyzing and discussing our business, we utilize certain metrics, ratios and other terms that are defined in the Glossary of Terms, which is located at
the end of Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
OVERVIEW
Strategy
Our strategy centers on growing our global customer base and mitigating the risks associated with our balance sheet. We plan to grow our global
customer base by appealing to retail investors, specifically those who are customers of large established financial institutions, by providing them with
innovative, easy, low-cost financial solutions and service. Our financial solutions include a suite of trading, investing, banking and lending products.
Our plan to mitigate the risks associated with our balance sheet contains three core goals: reduce credit risk in our loan portfolio, reduce our level of
corporate debt and reduce operating expenses. We believe that the successful completion of this plan will significantly improve our financial strength and
will help restore customer and investor confidence in our franchise.
We are also focused on simplifying and streamlining the business by exiting and/or restructuring certain non-core operations, primarily in our lending
and institutional businesses. We believe these changes will better align our business with the global retail investor.
Key Factors Affecting Financial Performance
Our financial performance is affected by a number of factors outside of our control, including:
• customer demand for financial products and services;
• the weakness or strength of the residential real estate and credit markets;
• customer perception of the financial strength of our franchise;
• market demand and liquidity in the secondary market for mortgage loans and securities;
• interest rates and the shape of the interest rate yield curve; and
• the performance, volume and volatility of the equity and capital markets.
In addition to the items noted above, our success in the future will depend upon, among other things:
• continuing our success in the acquisition, growth and retention of customers;
• deepening customer acceptance of our products and services;
• our ability to assess and manage credit risk; and
• disciplined expense control and improved operational efficiency.
22

Table of Contents

Management monitors a number of metrics in evaluating the Company’s performance. The most significant of these are shown in the table and
discussed in the text below:

2007

Customer Activity Metrics:
Retail client assets (dollars in billions)(1)
Customer cash and deposits (dollars in billions)(1)
U.S. daily average revenue trades
International daily average revenue trades
Total daily average revenue trades
Average commission per trade

$
$

190.0
33.6
156,006
31,016
187,022
$ 11.71

Company Financial Metrics:
Net revenue growth (2)
Enterprise net interest spread (basis points)
Enterprise interest-earning assets (average in billions)
Nonperforming loans as a % of gross loans receivable
Allowance for loan losses (dollars in millions)
Allowance for loan losses as a % of nonperforming loans
*

(1)
(2)

(116)%
263
$
57.0
1.37 %
$ 508.2
121.44%

As of or For the Year Ended
December 31,
2006

$
$

194.9
33.6
137,715
21,633
159,348
$ 12.05

$
$

42%
285
45.4
0.28%
67.6
90.52%

2005

Variance
2007 vs. 2006

$ 177.9
$ 28.2
83,604
14,136
97,740
$ 13.82
15%
249
$ 32.4
0.17%
$ 63.3
186.24%

(3)%
0%
13 %
43 %
17 %
(3)%
*
(8)%
26 %
1.09 %
651 %
30.92 %

Percentage not meaningful.
Customer cash and deposits, as well as retail client assets, have been re-presented to account for a methodology change in the metric to settlement date from trade date reporting as of December 31, 2005
which reduced both metrics by $564 million. This is not a methodology change in accounting policy and does not impact the reporting of these items on our balance sheet.
Revenue growth is the difference between the current and prior comparable period total net revenue divided by the prior comparable period total net revenue.

Customer Activity Metrics
• Retail client assets are an indicator of the value of our relationship with the customer. An increase in retail client assets generally indicates that the
use of our products and services by existing and new customers is expanding. Changes in this metric are also driven by changes in the valuations of
our customers’ underlying securities.
• Customer cash and deposits are an indicator of a deepening engagement with our customers and are a key driver of net operating interest income.
• Daily average revenue trades (“DARTs”) are the predominant driver of commission revenue from our retail customers.
• Average commission per trade is an indicator of changes in our customer mix, product mix and/or product pricing. As a result, this metric is
impacted by both the mix between our retail domestic and international businesses and the mix between active traders, mass affluent and main street
customers.
Company Financial Metrics
• Net revenue growth is an indicator of our overall financial well-being and our ability to execute on our strategy. The negative revenue growth
during the period was due to lower revenue in our institutional segment, due to the loss on sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio and increased
provision for loan losses.
• Enterprise net interest spread is a broad indicator of our ability to generate net operating interest income.
• Enterprise interest-earning assets, in conjunction with our enterprise net interest spread, are indicators of our ability to generate net operating
interest income.
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• Total nonperforming loans receivable as a percentage of gross loans receivable is an indicator of the performance of our total loan portfolio.
• Allowance for loan losses is an estimate of the losses inherent in our loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date.
• Allowance for loan losses as a percentage of nonperforming loans is a general indicator of the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses. Changes in
this ratio are also driven by changes in the mix of our loan portfolio.
Significant Events in 2007
Citadel Investment of $2.5 Billion Including Sale of Asset-Backed Securities Portfolio
The operating environment during 2007, particularly during the second half of the year, was extremely challenging as our exposure to the crisis in the
residential real estate and credit markets adversely impacted our financial performance and led to a disruption in our customer base. As a result, we believe it
was necessary to obtain a significant infusion of cash, which would in turn stabilize our balance sheet and our customer base.
On November 29, 2007, we entered into an agreement to receive a $2.5 billion cash infusion from Citadel. In consideration for the cash infusion,
Citadel received three primary items: substantially all of our asset-backed securities portfolio, 84.7 million shares of common stock (1) in the Company and
approximately $1.8 billion in 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes(2). We believe this transaction provided timely stability for our business and helped alleviate
customer concerns.
Developed a Plan to Restore Customer Confidence and Return to Growth
We developed a plan focused on resolving the risks in our balance sheet and returning our primary focus to the retail investor. Our plan contains three
core goals: reduce credit risk in our loan portfolio, reduce our level of corporate debt and reduce operating expenses to allow us to reinvest in growth
initiatives within the core retail franchise. We believe the successful execution of this plan will restore customer confidence and return the Company back to
a path of financial growth.
Launch of Global Trading Platform
We launched our Global Trading Platform, which provides the ability to buy, sell and hold foreign equities in local currencies to investors who seek
liquidity and diversity in their portfolios. Our U.S. customers now have access to foreign stocks and currencies in six major international markets: Canada,
France, Germany, Hong Kong, Japan and the United Kingdom.
International Expansion
We continued our expansion into international markets with the launch of operations in Norway, the Netherlands and Singapore. In Norway, we now
offer online trading of all Norwegian stocks registered on the Norwegian exchange Oslo Børs, as well as stocks from Scandinavian markets in Sweden,
Denmark, Finland, and the American markets. In the Netherlands and Singapore, we offer Dutch and Singapore investors direct access to the US stock markets
through our Global Trading Platform.
(1)
(2)

The 84.7 million shares of common stock were issued in increments: 14.8 million upon initial closing in November 2007; 23.2 million upon Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act approval in
December 2007; and 46.7 million shares are expected to be issued in the first quarter of 2008 as the Company has received all necessary regulatory approvals.
Included in the $1.8 billion issuance is $186 million of 12 ½% springing lien notes in exchange for $186 million of the Company’s senior notes that were owned by Citadel. The $1.8 billion in 12 ½%
springing lien notes includes $100 million in notes issued to BlackRock in connection with the transaction. The $1.8 billion in 12 ½% springing lien notes represents the amount outstanding as of
December 31, 2007 and does not include the additional $150 million of springing lien notes issued in January 2008 in accordance with the terms of the agreement with Citadel.
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Enhanced Distribution Network
We enhanced our distribution network by opening three new E*TRADE Financial Branches in the United States during the period. With the addition
of the branches in Charlotte, NC; Houston, TX; and Minneapolis, MN, we increased the number of our nationwide financial branches to a total of 27.
Introduction of the Max-Rate Checking Account
E*TRADE Bank introduced a Max-Rate Checking Account which features an annual percentage yield up to 3.25%, unlimited check writing and free
online bill pay, among other benefits.
Ranked #1 Premium Broker by SmartMoney Magazine
SmartMoney Magazine recognized the Company as the #1 “premium broker” in its 2007 broker survey. SmartMoney noted the Company for its
improved service, new global trading capabilities, intuitive trade tools and easy search capabilities and numerous banking products.
Increased Ownership of Investsmart
We increased our ownership stake in Investsmart to approximately 48%. Investsmart is an India-based financial services organization providing
individuals and corporations with customized financial management solutions.
Significant Events in 2006
Harrisdirect and BrownCo Customer Conversions
We converted Harrisdirect and BrownCo customers to the E*TRADE Financial platform in the first and second quarters of 2006, respectively, which
was a key step in the integration of our newly acquired customer base. This allowed us to deliver our functionality and services to these customers while
reducing the costs associated with maintaining the legacy platforms.
Enhancements to the Complete Investment Account
We launched a series of functionality enhancements to the E*TRADE Complete Investment Account designed to help retail customers optimize their
investing and borrowing relationships while evaluating their portfolio risk, including the Intelligent Lending Optimizer and the Intelligent Investing
Optimizer and Risk Analyzer. We believe these new free tools will help customers better manage their security holdings, cash and credit products.
Enhanced Distribution Network
We enhanced our distribution network by opening eight new E*TRADE Financial Branches in the United States during the period. With the addition
of the branches in Seattle, WA; Farmington, MI; Garden City, NY; Torrance, CA; King of Prussia, PA; Roseville, CA; Fort Lauderdale, FL; and Scarsdale, NY,
we increased the number of our nationwide financial branches to a total of 24.
E*TRADE Complete Savings Account
We launched the E*TRADE Complete Savings Account, which allows customers to quickly and easily take advantage of investment opportunities by
offering a competitive annual percentage yield, no minimums in balances or account fees and free transfers to any institution.
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Launch of New E*TRADE Website
We launched a new and improved website at www.etrade.com. The new site features intuitive navigation, demonstrations of some of our most popular
products and tools, direct access to account opening and customer service on every page and quick access to our powerful quotes and research functionality.
Development of Automated Trading Strategies Functionality
We developed new conditional orders functionality for retail customers including trailing stops for options and group orders such as contingent, onecancels-all, one-triggers-all and one-trigger-one-cancels-other orders. When combined with the conditional order functionality already available to
customers, such as trailing stops and bracketed orders for stocks, we believe this functionality will allow our customers to better manage risk.
Move of Listing to the NASDAQ
On December 27, 2006 we moved the listing of the Company’s common stock from the NYSE to the NASDAQ under the symbol ETFC. We made this
move to demonstrate our commitment to our customers and shareholders by aligning ourselves with the market that best meets their needs. As an industry
innovator, NASDAQ’s value proposition parallels our own, leveraging technology to provide customers with low fees, superior service and fair, efficient and
transparent market access and execution.
Summary Financial Results
Income Statement Highlights for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 (dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006

Total net revenue
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses
Commission revenue
Fees and service charges revenue
Operating margin
Net income (loss)
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share

$ (378.2)
$ 1,609.1
$ (640.1)
$ 969.0
$ 694.1
$ 258.1
$ (2,054.6)
$ (1,441.8)
$
(3.40)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,420.3
1,400.0
(45.0)
1,355.1
625.3
238.8
1,000.8
628.9
1.44

Variance
2007 vs. 2006

(116)%
15 %
1323 %
(28)%
11 %
8%
(305)%
(329)%
(336)%

The operating environment during 2007, particularly during the second half of the year, was extremely challenging as the crisis in the residential real
estate and credit markets adversely impacted our financial performance. The losses in our institutional segment caused by this crisis more than offset the
considerable growth in our retail segment. Total net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007 decreased 116% compared to the prior year due primarily
to the $2.2 billion loss on the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio and an increase in our provision for loan losses of $595.1 million to $640.1 million.
As a result of the decrease in net revenue, net income declined by 329% from the prior year to a loss of $1.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007.
The retail segment delivered strong organic growth and overall results during the year ended December 31, 2007. Total retail segment income
increased 14% to $789.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the prior year. This growth in the retail segment was primarily driven by
a 12% increase in net operating interest income and a 14% increase in commission revenue compared to the same period in the prior year.
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Balance Sheet Highlights (dollars in billions)
December 31,
2007

Total assets
Total enterprise interest-earning assets
Loans, net and margin receivables as a percentage of enterprise interest-earning assets(1)
Retail deposits and customer payables as a percentage of enterprise interest-bearing liabilities(1)
(1)

$56.8
$52.3
71%
61%

2006

$53.7
$49.5
68%
64%

Variance
2007 vs. 2006

6%
6%
3%
(3)%

Loans, net and margin receivables as a percentage of enterprise interest-earning assets and retail deposits and customer payables as a percentage of enterprise interest-bearing liabilities include balances not
recorded on the balance sheet, such as margin and customer cash and deposits held by third parties.

The increase in total assets was attributable primarily to an increase of $3.7 billion in loans receivable, net. The increase in loans receivable, net was
due principally to growth in our one- to four-family loan portfolio during the first and second quarters of 2007. Beginning in the second half of 2007, we
altered our strategy and halted our previous focus on growing our balance sheet. For the foreseeable future, we plan to allow our interest earning assets,
particularly our mortgage-backed securities and home equity loans, to pay down, resulting in an overall decline in balance. During this period, we plan to
increase our excess regulatory capital levels at E*TRADE Bank as we focus on mitigating the credit risk inherent in our home equity loan portfolio. In
connection with this strategy and the Citadel Investment, we have updated our secondary market purchase policies to prohibit the acquisition of asset-backed
securities, CDOs and certain other instruments with a high level of credit risk through January 1, 2010.
EARNINGS OVERVIEW
2007 Compared to 2006
Net income (loss) decreased 329% to a loss of $1.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006. The decrease in net income for the
year ended December 31, 2007 was due principally to the $2.2 billion loss on the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio and an increase in our provision
for loan losses of $595.1 million to $640.1 million. These losses in our institutional segment more than offset the increase in our retail segment income,
which increased $94.0 million to $789.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006.
We report corporate interest income and corporate interest expense separately from operating interest income and operating interest expense. We
believe reporting these two items separately provides a clearer picture of the financial performance of our operations than would a presentation that combined
these two items. Our operating interest income and operating interest expense is generated from the operations of the Company and is a broad indicator of our
success in our banking, lending and balance sheet management businesses. Our corporate debt, which is the primary source of our corporate interest expense,
has been issued primarily in connection with the Citadel Investment and acquisitions, such as Harrisdirect and BrownCo.
Similarly, we report gain (loss) on sales of investments, net separately from gain (loss) on loans and securities, net. We believe reporting these two items
separately provides a clearer picture of the financial performance of our operations than would a presentation that combined these two items. Gain (loss) on
loans and securities, net are the result of activities in our operations, namely our lending and balance sheet management businesses, including impairment on
our available-for sale mortgage-backed and investment securities portfolio. Gain (loss) on sales of investments, net relates to historical equity investments of
the Company at the corporate level and are not related to the ongoing business of our operating subsidiaries.
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The following sections describe in detail the changes in key operating factors and other changes and events that have affected our consolidated net
revenue, expense excluding interest, other income (expense) and income tax expense (benefit).
Revenue
The components of net revenue and the resulting variances are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006

Revenue:
Operating interest income
Operating interest expense
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses
Commission
Fees and service charges
Principal transactions
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Total non-interest income (expense)
Total net revenue

$ 3,569,711
(1,960,656)
1,609,055
(640,078)
968,977
694,110
258,075
103,229
(2,450,036)
47,478
(1,347,144)
$ (378,167)

$ 2,774,679
(1,374,647)
1,400,032
(44,970)
1,355,062
625,265
238,760
110,235
55,986
35,013
1,065,259
$ 2,420,321

$

795,032
(586,009)
209,023
(595,108)
(386,085)
68,845
19,315
(7,006)
(2,506,022)
12,465
(2,412,403)
$(2,798,488)

%

29 %
43 %
15 %
1323 %
(28)%
11 %
8%
(6)%
(4476)%
36 %
(226)%
(116)%

Total net revenue declined by 116% to negative revenue of $378.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006. This decline was
driven by the $2.2 billion loss on the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio and an increase in the provision for loan losses of $595.1 million to $640.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006.
Net Operating Interest Income
Net operating interest income increased 15% to $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006. Net operating interest income is
earned primarily through holding credit balances, which includes margin, real estate and consumer loans, and by holding customer cash and deposits, which
are a low cost source of funding. The increase in net operating interest income was due primarily to the increase in enterprise interest-earning assets. Average
loans, net as a percentage of average enterprise interest-earning assets increased 5% to 54% for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006.
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The following table presents enterprise average balance sheet data and enterprise income and expense data for our operations, as well as the related net
interest spread, yields and rates and has been prepared on the basis required by the SEC’s Industry Guide 3, “Statistical Disclosure by Bank Holding
Companies” (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2006
Operating
Average
Average
Interest
Yield /
Balance
Inc./Exp.
Cost

Average
Balance

2007
Operating
Interest
Inc./Exp.

$30,887,047
7,278,113
12,425,346
3,953,235
110,829
1,338,112
1,021,603

$1,986,034
519,099
650,891
260,193
11,507
60,384
72,113

6.43%
7.13%
5.24%
6.58%
10.38%
4.51%
7.06%

$22,193,663
6,679,510
11,543,546
2,886,506
132,454
1,226,548
713,777

$1,364,873
474,500
590,512
183,125
11,388
54,492
47,238

57,014,285

3,560,221

6.24%

45,376,004

2,726,128

Average
Yield/
Cost

Average
Balance

2005
Operating
Interest
Inc./Exp.

6.15%
7.10%
5.12%
6.34%
8.60%
4.44%
6.62%

$15,488,527
2,540,174
9,421,988
2,544,481
268,092
1,509,313
612,693

$ 828,717
159,442
401,782
132,984
12,342
46,331
27,999

5.35%
6.28%
4.26%
5.23%
4.60%
3.07%
4.57%

6.01%

32,385,268

1,609,597

4.97%

Average
Yield/
Cost

Enterprise interest-earning assets:
Loans, net(1)
Margin receivables
Mortgage-backed and related available-for-sale securities
Available-for-sale investment securities
Trading securities
Cash and cash equivalents(2)
Stock borrow and other
Total enterprise interest-earning assets(3)
Non-operating interest-earning assets(4)
Total assets

4,484,670

4,539,599

2,858,576

$61,498,955

$49,915,603

$35,243,844

Enterprise interest-bearing liabilities:
Retail deposits:
Sweep deposit accounts
Money market and savings accounts
Certificates of deposit
Checking accounts
Brokered certificates of deposit
Customer payables
Repurchase agreements and other borrowings
Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) advances
Stock loan and other

$11,044,185
10,565,100
4,509,699
390,077
512,485
6,548,566
12,261,145
7,071,762
1,298,312

102,131
464,084
224,649
5,689
25,402
87,684
643,382
364,442
39,739

0.92%
4.39%
4.98%
1.46%
4.96%
1.34%
5.25%
5.15%
3.06%

$10,393,857
5,806,811
3,851,463
355,403
535,835
6,329,407
10,980,134
3,488,184
1,067,726

87,714
231,602
183,828
3,347
24,726
71,899
549,085
165,545
34,317

0.84%
3.99%
4.77%
1.10%
4.61%
1.14%
5.00%
4.75%
3.21%

$ 6,683,454
3,604,326
2,276,709
387,146
450,441
3,375,608
10,115,764
3,260,556
464,303

36,147
89,073
88,733
2,679
15,680
19,034
374,337
126,495
7,838

0.54%
2.47%
3.90%
0.69%
3.48%
0.56%
3.70%
3.88%
1.69%

Total enterprise interest-bearing liabilities

54,201,331

1,957,202

3.61%

42,808,820

1,352,063

3.16%

30,618,307

760,016

2.48%

$ 849,581

2.49%

Non-operating interest-bearing liabilities(5)
Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity
Total enterprise interest-bearing liabilities
Excess of enterprise interest-earning assets over enterprise interestbearing liabilities/Enterprise net interest income/Spread

3,161,293

3,309,798

2,194,233

57,362,624
4,136,331

46,118,618
3,796,985

32,812,540
2,431,304

$61,498,955

$49,915,603

$35,243,844

$ 2,812,954

$1,603,019

2.63%

$ 2,567,184

$1,374,065

2.85%

$ 1,766,961

Reconciliation from enterprise net interest income to net operating interest income (dollars in thousands):
2007
Enterprise net interest income(6)
Taxable equivalent interest adjustment
Customer cash held by third parties(7)
Net operating interest income
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

$ 1,603,019
(30,867)
36,903

$ 1,374,065
(19,297)
45,264

$ 849,581
(10,523)
32,042

$ 1,609,055

$ 1,400,032

$ 871,100

Nonaccrual loans are included in the respective average loan balances. Income on such nonaccrual loans is recognized on a cash basis.
Includes segregated cash balances.
Amount includes a taxable equivalent increase in operating interest income of $30.9 million, $19.3 million and $10.5 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Non-operating interest-earning assets consist of property and equipment, net, goodwill, other intangibles, net and other assets that do not generate operating interest income. Some of these assets generate
corporate interest income.
Non-operating interest-bearing liabilities consist of corporate debt, accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities that do not generate operating interest expense. Some of these liabilities generate corporate
interest expense.
Enterprise net interest income is taxable equivalent basis net operating interest income excluding corporate interest income and corporate interest expense, stock conduit interest income and expense and
interest earned on customer cash held by third parties. Management believes this non-GAAP measure is useful to analysts and investors as it is a measure of the net operating interest income generated by
our operations.
Includes interest earned on average customer assets of $3.9 billion, $3.6 billion and $2.7 billion for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, held by parties outside E*TRADE
Financial, including third party money market funds and sweep deposit accounts at unaffiliated financial institutions. Other consists of net operating interest earned on average stock conduit assets of
$1.3 million, $303.5 million and $640.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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2007

Enterprise net interest:
Spread
Margin (net yield on interest-earning assets)
Ratio of enterprise interest-earning assets to enterprise interest-bearing liabilities
Return on average:
Total assets
Total shareholders’ equity
Average equity to average total assets

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

2.63 %
2.81 %
105.19 %

2.85%
3.03%
106.00%

2.49%
2.62%
105.77%

(2.34)%
(34.86)%
6.73 %

1.26%
16.56%
7.61%

1.22%
17.70%
6.90%

Average enterprise interest-earning assets increased 26% to $57.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006.
Average loans, net grew 39% to $30.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. Average loans, net grew as a result
of our focus on growing real estate loan products in the first and second quarters of 2007. Beginning in the second half of 2007, we altered our strategy and
halted the focus on growing the balance sheet. For the foreseeable future, we plan to allow our interest earning assets, particularly our mortgage-backed
securities and home equity loans, to pay down, resulting in an overall decline in balances of these assets.
Average enterprise interest-bearing liabilities increased 27% to $54.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in
2006. The increase in average enterprise interest-bearing liabilities was primarily in retail deposits. Average retail deposits increased 30% to $26.5 billion for
the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. Increases in average retail deposits were driven by growth in the Complete Savings
Account. We expect average retail deposits to continue to grow and replace repurchase agreements and FHLB advances as they mature.
Enterprise net interest spread decreased by 22 basis points to 2.63% for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This
decrease was primarily the result of a challenging interest rate environment throughout the past 12 months as well as growth in our Complete Savings
Account, which pays a higher interest rate than the majority of our other deposit products. We expect this decline to subside, as we focus on reducing our
wholesale borrowings, which have a higher cost of borrowing when compared to deposits.
Operating interest income and operating interest expense reflect income and expense on hedges that qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133,
as amended, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The following table shows the income (expense) on hedges that are included in
operating interest income and expense (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006

Operating interest income:
Operating interest income, gross
Hedge income
Operating interest income
Operating interest expense:
Operating interest expense, gross
Hedge expense
Operating interest expense
Net operating interest income
30

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount
%

$ 3,556,109
13,602
3,569,711

$ 2,763,041
11,638
2,774,679

$ 793,068
1,964
795,032

29 %
17 %
29 %

(1,957,456)
(3,200)
(1,960,656)
$ 1,609,055

(1,361,170)
(13,477)
(1,374,647)
$ 1,400,032

(596,286)
10,277
(586,009)
$ 209,023

44 %
(76)%
43 %
15 %
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Provision for Loan Losses
Provision for loan losses increased $595.1 million to $640.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The
increase in the provision for loan losses was related primarily to deterioration in the performance of our home equity loan portfolio in the second half of
2007. We believe this deterioration was caused by several factors, which are described below. First, the combined impact of rising mortgage rates and home
price depreciation in key markets contributed to the declining performance of our home equity loan portfolio. Second, concerns that began in the sub-prime
mortgage loan market spread to the broader credit markets beginning in the second half of 2007, resulting in a significant deterioration in the overall credit
markets. This deterioration led to a dramatic tightening of lending standards across the industry, and general liquidity pressure for many mortgage lenders,
some of whom ultimately ceased operations as a result. The factors described above dramatically reduced the ability of borrowers to refinance their mortgage
loans, specifically their home equity loans, therefore drastically increasing the risk of loss once a loan becomes delinquent. During the second half of 2007,
we also observed a decline in the percentage of delinquent loans that cure prior to charge-off or foreclosure once they have become delinquent. We attribute
this change in behavior to the factors described above, which have significantly limited borrowers’ alternatives to avoid defaulting on their loans. In
addition, because of the decline in value of the homes collateralizing our home equity loans, our ability to recover our investment by foreclosing on the
underlying properties has diminished as well.
We believe the provision for loan losses will continue at historically high levels in future periods as the crisis in the residential real estate and credit
markets continues to impact the performance of our loan portfolio.
Commission
Commission revenue increased 11% to $694.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to the same period in 2006, which was driven
by an increase of $66.4 million, or 14%, in our retail commission revenue. The primary factors that affect our retail commission revenue are DARTs and
average commission per trade, which is impacted by both trade types and the mix between our domestic and international businesses. Each business has a
different pricing structure, unique to its customer base and local market practices, and as a result, a change in the relative number of executed trades in these
businesses impacts average commission per trade. Each business also has different trade types (e.g. equities, options, fixed income, exchange-traded funds,
contract for difference and mutual funds) that can have different commission rates. As a result, changes in the mix of trade types within either of these
businesses may impact average commission per trade. Institutional commission revenue is also impacted by negotiated rates, which differ by customer. Our
institutional customers are provided with global execution and settlement services as well as worldwide access to research provided by third parties in
exchange for commissions based on negotiated rates. We expect our institutional commission revenue to decline substantially in 2008 as we plan to exit a
significant portion of our institutional brokerage operations.
DARTs increased 17% to 187,022 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. Our U.S. DART volume increased 13%
for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. Our international DARTs grew by 43% for the year ended December 31, 2007
compared to the same period in 2006, driven entirely by organic growth. Our international operations continue to be a strong growth contributor within our
retail trading business, and we believe that over time they will become a significant component of our entire business. In addition, option-related DARTs
further increased as a percentage of our total U.S. DARTs and now represent 16% of U.S. trading volume versus 13% a year ago.
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Average commission per trade decreased 3% to $11.71 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The decrease was
primarily a function of the mix of customers. Main Street Investors, who generally have a higher commission per trade, traded less during the period
compared to Active Traders and Mass Affluent, who generally have a lower commission per trade. Customer appreciation and win-back campaigns,
particularly in the fourth quarter of 2007, also contributed to the decrease in average commission per trade.
Fees and Service Charges
During the first quarter of 2007, the Company re-defined the line item “Service charges and fees” by reclassifying certain fee-like revenue items
formerly reported in “Other revenue” into the “Service charges and fees” line item, now called “Fees and service charges.” The fee-like revenue streams
moved include payment for order flow, foreign currency margin revenue, 12b-1 fees after rebates, fixed income product revenue and management fee revenue.
Fees and service charges increased 8% to $258.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This increase was
due to an increase in order flow payment, advisor management fees, foreign currency margin revenue, fixed income product revenue and mutual fund fees,
partially offset by a decrease in account maintenance fees and mortgage servicing fees. We expect our account maintenance fee income to continue to decline
over time as we have fewer customers who are subject to the fee.
Principal Transactions
Principal transactions decreased 6% to $103.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The decrease in
principal transactions resulted from lower institutional trading volumes. Our principal transactions revenue is influenced by overall trading volumes, the
number of stocks for which we act as a market maker, the trading volumes of those specific stocks and the performance of our proprietary trading activities.
Gain (Loss) on Loans and Securities, Net
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net decreased to a loss of $2.5 billion for 2007 compared to 2006, as shown in the following table (dollars in
thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2007

Gain on sales of originated loans
Loss on sales of loans held-for-sale, net
Gain (loss) on sales of loans, net
Gain (loss) on securities and other investments
Loss on asset-backed securities sale to Citadel
Loss on impairment
Loss on trading securities
Gain (loss) on securities, net
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net

$

5,227
(9,141)
(3,914)
(2,911)
(2,241,031)
(168,739)
(33,441)
(2,446,122)
$ (2,450,036)
32

2006

$ 12,018
(6,775)
5,243
53,216
—
(1,504)
(969)
50,743
$ 55,986

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

$

(6,791)
(2,366)
(9,157)
(56,127)
(2,241,031)
(167,235)
(32,472)
(2,496,865)
$ (2,506,022)
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The decrease in the total gain (loss) on loans and securities, net during the year ended December 31, 2007 was due primarily to the $2.2 billion loss on
the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio in the fourth quarter of 2007.
Other Revenue
Other revenue increased 36% to $47.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The increase in other
revenue was due to an increase in the cash surrender value of Bank-Owned Life Insurance (BOLI), an increase in fees earned in connection with distribution
of shares during initial public offerings and software consulting fees from our Corporate Services business.
Expense Excluding Interest
The components of expense excluding interest and the year-over-year variances are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006

Compensation and benefits
Clearing and servicing
Advertising and marketing development
Communications
Professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Occupancy and equipment
Amortization of other intangibles
Impairment of goodwill
Facility restructuring and other exit activities
Other
Total expense excluding interest
*

$ 465,467
286,144
149,573
107,526
106,691
85,371
93,189
40,472
101,208
33,226
207,569
$1,676,436

$ 469,202
253,040
119,782
110,346
96,947
73,845
85,568
46,220
—
28,537
136,042
$1,419,529

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount
%

$ (3,735)
33,104
29,791
(2,820)
9,744
11,526
7,621
(5,748)
101,208
4,689
71,527
$256,907

(1)%
13 %
25 %
(3)%
10 %
16 %
9%
(12)%
*
16 %
53 %
18 %

Percentage not meaningful.

Expense excluding interest increased 18% to $1.7 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006. The increase in expense excluding
interest was driven primarily by increases in clearing and servicing, advertising and marketing development, impairment of goodwill and other expense.
Compensation and Benefits
Compensation and benefits decreased 1% to $465.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The slight
decrease resulted primarily from lower incentive based compensation in the current year.
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Clearing and Servicing
Clearing and servicing expense increased 13% to $286.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This
increase is due primarily to higher loan balances during the period, which resulted in higher servicing costs, and increased trading activity, which resulted in
higher clearing expenses.
Advertising and Market Development
Advertising and market development expense increased 25% to $149.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in
2006. This planned increase is a result of expanded efforts to promote our products and services to retail investors.
Impairment of Goodwill
Impairment of goodwill was $101.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This impairment represents the entire amount of goodwill
associated with our balance sheet management business, which had a significant decline in fair value during the fourth quarter of 2007.
Facility Restructuring and Other Exit Activities
Facility restructuring and other exit activities expense was $33.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The majority of this expense was
incurred during the fourth quarter of 2007 and was driven primarily by the shut down of the international portion of our institutional brokerage business.
Other
Other expense increased 53% to $207.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The increase for the year
ended December 31, 2007 is due primarily to higher expense for certain legal and regulatory matters and higher FDIC premiums.
Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) increased to an expense of $123.1 million for 2007 compared to an expense of $72.0 million for 2006, as shown in the
following table (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2007

Other income (expense):
Corporate interest income
Corporate interest expense
Gain on sales of investments, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Equity in income of investments and venture funds
Total other income (expense)

$

5,755
(172,482)
35,980
(19)
7,665
$(123,101)
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2006

$

8,433
(152,496)
70,796
(1,179)
2,451
$ (71,995)

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount
%

$ (2,678)
(19,986)
(34,816)
1,160
5,214
$(51,106)

(32)%
13 %
(49)%
(98)%
213 %
71 %
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Total other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2007 primarily consisted of corporate interest expense resulting from the senior notes
and mandatory convertible notes issued by the Company. We expect corporate interest expense to increase significantly in 2008 in connection with the $1.8
billion of 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes issued to Citadel. During 2007, we sold our investments in E*TRADE Australia and E*TRADE Korea, which resulted
in $37.0 million in gain on sales of investments, net. During 2006, we sold shares of our investments in SBI and International Securities Exchange Holdings,
Inc. (“ISE”) resulting in gains of $71.7 million.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
The income tax benefit from continuing operations was $736.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to an income tax expense of
$302.0 million for the same period in 2006. Our effective tax rate for 2007 was (33.8)% compared to 32.5% for 2006. For additional information, see Note 17
—Income Taxes to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company expects the 2008 effective tax rate to increase compared to the tax rates for 2006 and 2007. The two principal reasons for the increased
effective tax rate in 2008 are the non-deductibility of a portion of the interest expense on the 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes as well as a reduction in the
amount of tax-exempt interest earned on state and local fixed income securities. Specifically, we expect the 2008 effective tax rate to be based on a pro-forma
effective tax rate of approximately 37-38% plus an additional fixed amount of income tax expense of between $15 and $20 million.
2006 Compared to 2005
Net income from continuing operations increased 40% to $626.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. We experienced
strong growth in customer cash and deposits as well as in DARTs. We also experienced growth in customer margin balances. In addition, we were able to
achieve this growth while increasing our operating margin to 41% in 2006 from 38% when compared to prior year.
Revenue
Net Operating Interest Income After Provision for Loan Losses
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses increased 66% to $1.4 billion for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase in net operating
interest income was due primarily to growth in enterprise interest-earning assets coupled with an increase in enterprise net interest spread. The growth in
enterprise interest-earning assets was driven by increases in both loans, net and margin receivables. The increase in enterprise net interest spread was driven
by changes in our mix of lending and funding sources. Average loans, net and margin receivables as a percentage of average enterprise interest-earning assets
increased 8% to 64% for 2006 compared to 2005. Average retail deposits and customer payables as a percentage of average enterprise interest-bearing
liabilities increased 9% to 62% 2006 compared to 2005.
Provision for Loan Losses
Provision for loan losses decreased 17% to $45.0 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The decrease in the provision for loan losses was related
primarily to a lower provision for our consumer loan portfolio in connection with the decline in the overall size of the consumer loan portfolio.
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Commission
Retail and institutional commission revenue increased 36% to $625.3 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The primary factors that affect our
commission revenue are DARTs and average commission per trade, which is impacted by both trade types and the mix between our domestic and
international businesses. Each business has a different pricing structure, unique to its customer base and local market practices, and as a result, a change in the
relative numbers of executed trades in these businesses impacts average commission per trade. Each business also has different trade types (e.g. equities,
options, fixed income, ETFs, CFDs and mutual funds) that can have different commission rates. As a result, changes in the mix of trade types within either of
these businesses may impact average commission per trade.
DARTs increased 63% to 159,348 for 2006 compared to 2005. Our U.S. DART volume increased 65% from 2005, driven by both our acquisitions of
BrownCo and Harrisdirect as well as organic customer growth and engagement. Our international DARTs grew by 53% compared to 2005, driven entirely by
organic growth. In addition, option-related DARTs further increased as a percentage of total U.S. DARTs and represented 13% of trading volume versus 10%
in 2005.
Average commission per trade decreased 13% to $12.05 for 2006 compared to 2005. The decrease was primarily a function of the mix of customers.
Main Street Investors, who generally have a higher commission per trade, traded less during 2006 compared to 2005 which resulted in a heavier weighting of
Active Traders, who generally have a lower commission per trade.
Fees and Service Charges
Fees and service charges increased 22% to $238.8 million for 2006 compared to the 2005. The increase in service charges and fees for 2006 was due
primarily to an increase in the advisory service fee income and higher payment for order flow from improved option and equity trading volumes. This
increase was offset by a decrease in account maintenance fees as our retail customers became more engaged and a greater number of customers exceeded the
minimum activity levels required to avoid account maintenance fees.
Principal Transactions
Principal transactions increased 11% to $110.2 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase in principal transactions resulted from higher trading
volumes and market volatility which were offset slightly by a decrease in the average revenue earned per trade. Our principal transactions revenue is
influenced by overall trading volumes, the number of stocks for which we act as a market maker, the trading volumes of those specific stocks and the
performance of our proprietary trading activities.
Gain on Loans and Securities, Net
Gain on loans and securities, net decreased 43% to $56.0 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The decline in the total gain on loans and securities, net
during 2006 was due primarily to our lower sales of mortgage and consumer loans compared to 2005. We retained a greater number of originated mortgage
loans on the balance sheet in an effort to retain the customer relationship and drive growth in net operating interest income. The decline in gain on sales of
consumer loans was also due in part to the sale of our consumer finance business in 2005. The increase in gain on sales of securities, net resulted from higher
security sales volumes in 2006 compared to 2005.
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Other Revenue
Other revenue increased 5% to $35.0 million for 2006 compared to 2005, due primarily to an increase in our software consulting fees from our
Corporate Services business.
Expense Excluding Interest
Expense excluding interest increased 35% to $1.4 billion for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase in expense excluding interest was driven primarily
by an increase in the number of employees in our service organization, higher trading volumes and loan balances, facility restructuring activities and an
increase in fraud related losses.
Compensation and Benefits
Compensation and benefits increased 23% to $469.2 million for 2006 compared to 2005. This increase resulted primarily from a higher number of
employees in our service organization, a full year of expensing stock option expense(1) and increased variable and incentive compensation expense. These
increases in compensation are in line with the growth and performance of our business and our focus on enhancing customer service with additional
representatives.
Clearing and Servicing
Clearing and servicing expense increased 33% to $253.0 million for 2006 compared to 2005. This increase was a result of higher trading volumes and
higher loan balances during the period.
Communications
Communications expense increased 34% to $110.3 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase was due primarily to expenses associated with our
newly acquired customers from Harrisdirect and BrownCo. In addition, we experienced higher variable expenses, such as quote services and trade
confirmations, related to our increase in trading volume.
Professional Services
Professional services increased 25% to $96.9 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase was due primarily to third party support services,
including technology and transitional service agreements, associated with our acquisitions of Harrisdirect and BrownCo.
Facility Restructuring and Other Exit Activities
Facility and restructuring costs were $28.5 million for 2006. During the year, we relocated certain functions out of the state of California. This expense
represents certain facility costs as a result of ceasing operations at
these locations in addition to severance charges for those employees to whom we communicated our plans and who were terminated as part of this relocation
during the year.
(1)

In July 2005 we adopted SFAS No. 123 (R), Share-Based Payment, which requires the expensing of stock options. Stock option expense was $22.1 million for 2006 and $13.7 for 2005.
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Other
Other expenses increased 127% to $136.0 million for 2006 compared to 2005. These increases were due primarily to a 212% increase in fraud related
losses to $31.2 million for 2006 and the favorable settlement of the Nomura Securities, Inc. (“Nomura”) litigation, which reduced other expense by $35.0
million in 2005. The fraud related losses were primarily identity theft situations which arose from computer viruses that attacked the personal computers of
our customers. We did not suffer from a breach of the security of our systems. We reimbursed customers for their losses through our E*TRADE Complete
Protection Guarantee. These fraud schemes have impacted our industry as a whole. While we believe our systems remain safe and secure, we have
implemented technological and operational changes to deter unauthorized activity in our customer accounts.
Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) decreased to an expense of $72.0 million for 2006 compared to income of $26.3 million for 2005. Other expense for 2006
primarily consisted of corporate interest expense resulting from the funding of the Harrisdirect and BrownCo acquisitions beginning in late 2005. Offsetting
corporate interest expense was $70.8 million in gain on sales and impairment of investments. During 2006, we sold shares of our investments in SBI and
International Securities Exchange Holdings, Inc. (“ISE”) resulting in gains of $71.7 million.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense from continuing operations increased 31% to $302.0 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase in income tax expense was
principally related to the increase in pre-tax income over the comparable periods. Our effective tax rate for 2006 was 32.5% compared to 34.0% for 2005. The
decrease in the 2006 tax rate compared to the 2005 tax rate is primarily due to benefits recognized on state tax refunds filed in one of our jurisdictions as a
result of recent favorable court decisions, a reversal of valuation allowance recorded in prior years related to international operations and a continued
decrease in our overall effective state tax rate due to our changing geographic footprint.
Discontinued Operations
Our net gain (loss) from discontinued operations was $2.0 million for 2006. During 2006 and 2005, our discontinued operations included operating
results from our professional agency business E*TRADE Professional Trading, LLC and we recognized a gain of approximately $2.6 million, net of tax, in
2006. In 2005, discontinued operations also included operating losses from our consumer loan origination business and our proprietary trading business
E*TRADE Professional Securities, LLC, both of which were sold or discontinued during 2005.
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SEGMENT RESULTS REVIEW
Retail
The following table summarizes retail financial and key metrics for the periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (dollars in thousands, except
for key metrics):

2007

Retail segment income:
Net operating interest income
Commission
Fees and service charges
Gain on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Net segment revenue
Total segment expense
Total retail segment income
Key Metrics:
Retail client assets (dollars in billions)(1)
Customer cash and deposits (dollars in
billions)(1)
U.S. DARTs
International DARTs
DARTs
Average commission per trade
Average margin debt (dollars in billions)
(1)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount
%

2005

$ 986,657
546,228
240,881
10,609
40,725
1,825,100
1,035,840
$ 789,260

$ 883,563
479,876
215,640
36,698
38,348
1,654,125
958,882
$ 695,243

$ 445,124
339,654
176,809
63,705
52,129
1,077,421
618,664
$ 458,757

$103,094
66,352
25,241
(26,089)
2,377
170,975
76,958
$ 94,017

$

190.0

$

194.9

$

177.9

$

33.6
156,006
31,016
187,022
$
11.71
$
7.4

$

33.6
137,715
21,633
159,348
$
12.05
$
6.8

$

28.2
83,604
14,136
97,740
13.82
2.8

$

$

$
$

12 %
14 %
12 %
(71)%
6%
10 %
8%
14 %

(4.9)

(3)%

—
18,291
9,383
27,674
$ (0.34)
$
0.6

0%
13 %
43 %
17%
(3)%
9%

Total customer cash and deposits, as well as total retail client assets, have been re-presented to account for a methodology change in the metric to settlement date from trade date reporting as of
December 31, 2005, which reduced both metrics by $0.6 billion. This is not a methodology change in accounting policy and does not impact the reporting of these line items on our balance sheet.

Our retail segment generates revenue from trading, investing, banking and lending relationships with retail customers. These relationships essentially
drive five sources of revenue: net operating interest income; commission; fees and service charges; gain on loans and securities, net; and other revenue. Other
revenue includes results from our stock plan administration products and services, as we ultimately service retail customers through these corporate
relationships.
2007 Compared to 2006
For the first three quarters of 2007, our retail segment performed extremely well. The core drivers of the business, including net new accounts, customer
cash and deposits, DARTs, and retail client assets, were all on pace to end the year at record levels. However, we experienced a disruption in our customer
base in the fourth quarter of 2007 which caused a decline in these core drivers. We believe this disruption was due to the uncertainty surrounding the
Company in connection with the credit related losses in our institutional segment. While we continue to anticipate credit related losses, primarily in our
home equity loan portfolio, we believe our retail customer base has stabilized, and will return to growth in 2008.
Retail segment income increased 14% to $789.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This was due
primarily to the growth in commission revenue and net operating interest income, slightly offset by a decrease in gains on loans and securities, net.
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Retail net operating interest income increased 12% to $986.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This
increase was driven by customer cash and deposits, which generally translate into a lower cost of funds. The growth in customer cash and deposits during the
first three quarters of 2007 was largely offset by the decline in customer cash during the fourth quarter of 2007.
Retail commission revenue increased 14% to $546.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The increase
in commission revenue was primarily the result of increased trading volumes in the overall domestic equity market and in our international commissions
where DARTs increased 43% from 21,633 to 31,016 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. Retail commission revenue
represented 79% and 77% of total commission revenue for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Retail segment expense increased 8% to $1.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. This slight increase
related to our targeted growth in marketing spend as we expanded efforts to promote our products and services to retail investors.
As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 3.6 million active trading and investing accounts and 1.1 million active deposit and lending
accounts. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, our retail trading and investing products contributed 70% for both years, and our deposit
products contributed 24% and 22%, respectively, of total retail net revenue. All other products contributed less than 10% of total retail net revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.
2006 Compared to 2005
Our geographically dispersed retail accounts grew 3% from 2005 to 2006. As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 3.6 million active trading
and investing accounts and 0.8 million active lending and deposit accounts. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, our retail trading and
investing products contributed 70% and 66%, respectively, and our deposit products contributed 22% and 19%, respectively, of total retail net revenue. All
other products contributed less than 10% of total retail net revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.
The increase in retail segment income during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005 was due to an increase in net operating interest
income and commission revenue, offset by lower gain on sales of loans and securities, net. Retail net operating interest income after provision for loan losses
increased 98% to $883.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. Average margin receivables increased 143% to $6.8 billion for
2006 compared to 2005. Higher margin balances generally translate into a higher interest rate earned on interest-earning assets. Customer cash and deposits
increased 19% at December 31, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005. Higher customer cash and deposit balances generally translate into a lower cost of
funds as deposits increased in comparison to other borrowings. Net operating interest income growth included the impact of the Harrisdirect and BrownCo
acquisitions which occurred in the fourth quarter of 2005.
Retail commission revenue increased $140.2 million for 2006 compared to 2005 due to higher volumes (DARTs), offset by lower average commission
per trade. The increase in DART volumes was the result of the Harrisdirect and BrownCo acquisitions as well as strong organic growth in domestic equity,
international equity and option trades. Offsetting these increases were lower gains on loans and securities, net of $36.7 million for 2006.
Retail segment expense increased $340.2 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase for 2006 was related primarily to the $29.6 million
restructuring charge, an increase in the compensation expense due to an increased number of employees in our service organization and increased fraudrelated losses.
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Institutional
The following table summarizes institutional financial and key metrics for the periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (dollars in thousands,
except for key metrics):

2007

Institutional segment income (loss):
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income (expense) after provision for loan
losses
Commission
Fees and service charges
Principal transactions
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Net segment revenue
Total segment expense
Total institutional segment income (loss)
Key Metrics:
Nonperforming receivable loans as a percentage of gross loans
receivable
Average revenue capture per 1,000 equity shares
*

$

Year Ended December 31,
2006

622,398
(640,078)

(17,680)
147,882
26,928
103,229
(2,460,645)
7,287
(2,175,319)
650,864
$(2,843,863)

$

1.37%
0.494

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

2005

%

$516,469
(44,970)

$426,138
(54,016)

$

105,929
(595,108)

21 %
1323 %

471,499
145,389
30,646
110,235
19,288
392
777,449
471,900
$305,549

372,122
119,180
26,562
99,175
35,153
3,033
655,225
464,190
$191,035

(489,179)
2,493
(3,718)
(7,006)
(2,479,933)
6,895
(2,952,768)
178,964
$(3,149,412)

(104)%
2%
(12)%
(6)%
*
1759 %
*
38 %
*

$

0.28%
0.373

$

0.17%
0.458

$

—
0.121

1.09 %
32 %

Percentage not meaningful

Our institutional segment generates revenue from balance sheet management activities, market-making and global execution and settlement services.
Balance sheet management activities include purchasing loan receivables from the retail segment as well as third parties, and leveraging these loans and
retail customer cash and deposit relationships to generate additional net operating interest income. Retail trading order flow is leveraged by the institutional
segment to generate additional revenue for the Company.
2007 Compared to 2006
As a result of our exposure to the credit crisis in the residential real estate and credit markets, our institutional segment incurred a loss of $2.8 billion
for the year ended December 31, 2007. The loss was driven primarily by losses in our asset-backed securities portfolio of approximately $2.5 billion as well
as provision for loan losses for our loan portfolio of $640.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Following the Citadel transaction, we no longer
have exposure to asset-backed securities; as such, we do not anticipate losses of this level to occur in future periods. However, we do continue to have
exposure to mortgage loans and therefore expect the provision for loan losses to continue at historically high levels.
Net operating interest income increased 21% to $622.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The
increase in net operating interest income was due primarily to the increase in average interest earning assets of 26% to $57.0 as of December 31, 2007.
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses decreased 104% to a loss of $17.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared
to the same period in 2006. This decrease was due to the increase
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in the provision for loan losses which increased $595.1 million to $640.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in
2006. This increase was largely due to the deterioration in the performance of our home equity loan portfolio.
Institutional commission revenue increased 2% to $147.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The
increase was due to higher trading volumes as a result of volatility in global equity markets. Institutional commission revenue represented 21% and 23% of
total commission revenue for year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We expect our institutional commission revenue, which is primarily
earned through trade execution services, to decline significantly in future periods as we plan to discontinue providing institutional brokerage services.
Fees and service charges revenue decreased 12% to $26.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006. The
decrease for the year ended December 31, 2007 is related to a $4.5 million decline in service fee income as a result of lower rates and lower home equity,
credit card and CDO management fees.
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net decreased to a loss of $2.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. This decline was due primarily to the
$2.2 billion loss on the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio in the fourth quarter of 2007.
Total institutional segment expense increased 38% to $650.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 and
was due primarily to the impairment of goodwill associated with our balance sheet management business. The increase was also driven by the expenses
associated with certain legal and regulatory matters.
2006 Compared to 2005
Institutional segment income increased 60% to $305.5 million for 2006 compared to 2005. The increase was driven primarily by the growth in net
operating interest income after provision for loan losses and commission revenue.
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses increased 27% to $471.5 million for 2006 compared to 2005. This increase was primarily a
result of growth in interest-earning assets, which were funded primarily by retail customer cash and deposit balances.
Institutional commissions increased 22% to $145.4 million for 2006 compared to 2005. This increase was due to a more favorable trading environment
and the continued leveraging of our integrated institutional model with higher retail order flow.
The increase in net operating interest income after provision for loan losses and commission revenue was offset by a planned decrease in gain on loans
and securities, net of approximately $15.9 million for 2006 compared to 2005. During 2006, we determined that we would not sell securities at similar levels
as 2005 because we were focused on growing our balance sheet.
Total institutional segment expense increased 2% to $471.9 million for 2006 compared to 2005 and was predominantly volume-related. Compensation
and benefits expense increased due to increases in variable- and performance-based compensation and expensing of stock options. Clearing and servicing
expense increased due to increased overall trading volumes and the increase in our loan portfolio.
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BALANCE SHEET OVERVIEW
The following table sets forth the significant components of our consolidated balance sheet (dollars in thousands):
Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

December 31,
2007

2006

Assets:
Cash and equivalents(1)
Trading securities
Available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities
Loans held-for-sale
Margin receivables
Loans receivable, net
Investment in FHLB stock
Other assets(2)
Total assets

$ 2,113,075
130,018
11,255,048
100,539
7,179,175
30,038,843
338,585
5,690,654
$56,845,937

$ 1,493,856
178,600
13,677,771
283,496
6,828,448
26,372,697
244,212
4,660,223
$53,739,303

$

619,219
(48,582)
(2,422,723)
(182,957)
350,727
3,666,146
94,373
1,030,431
$ 3,106,634

41 %
(27)%
(18)%
(65)%
5%
14 %
39 %
22 %
6%

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Deposits
Wholesale borrowings(3)
Customer payables
Corporate debt
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$25,884,755
16,379,197
5,514,675
3,022,698
3,215,547
54,016,872
2,829,065
$56,845,937

$24,071,012
15,116,384
6,182,672
1,842,169
2,330,696
49,542,933
4,196,370
$53,739,303

$ 1,813,743
1,262,813
(667,997)
1,180,529
884,851
4,473,939
(1,367,305)
$ 3,106,634

8%
8%
(11)%
64 %
38 %
9%
(33)%
6%

(1)
(2)
(3)

%

Includes balance sheet line items cash and equivalents and cash and investments required to be segregated under Federal or other regulations.
Includes balance sheet line items property and equipment, net, goodwill, other intangibles, net and other assets.
Includes balance sheet line items securities sold under agreements to repurchase and other borrowings.

During the first quarter of 2007, we re-presented our balance sheet to report margin receivables and customer payables directly on the face of the
balance sheet. The remaining components of brokerage receivables and brokerage payables are now reported in the “Other assets” and “Accounts payable,
accrued and other liabilities” line items, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we re-presented our balance sheet to report “Investment in FHLB
stock” directly on the face of the balance sheet. This item was previously reported in the “Available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities” line
item.
The increase in total assets was attributable primarily to an increase of $3.7 billion in loans receivable, net. The increase in loans receivable, net was
due principally to growth in our one- to four-family real estate loan portfolio during the first and second quarters of 2007. Beginning in the second half of
2007, we altered our strategy and halted the focus on growing the balance sheet. For the foreseeable future, we plan to allow our interest earning assets,
particularly our mortgage-backed securities and home equity loans, to pay down, resulting in an overall decline in balance. During this period, we plan to
increase our excess regulatory capital levels at E*TRADE Bank as we focus on mitigating the credit risk inherent in our home equity loan portfolio.
The increase in total liabilities primarily was attributable to the increase in deposits, wholesale borrowings and corporate debt. The $1.8 billion
increase in deposits was due primarily to the significant growth in money
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market and savings accounts during the first three quarters of 2007, which was largely offset by the decline in deposits during the fourth quarter. The increase
in wholesale borrowings contributed to the growth of the loans receivable, net during the first and second quarters of 2007. The $1.2 billion increase in
corporate debt is due to the $1.8 billion of 12 1 / 2% springing lien notes issued to Citadel in the fourth quarter of 2007.
Loans Receivable, Net
Loans receivable, net are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

One- to four-family
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Commercial
Credit card
Other
Unamortized premiums, net
Allowance for loan losses
Total loans receivable, net

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

2007

2006

$15,506,529
11,901,324

$10,870,214
11,809,008

$4,636,315
92,316

%

43 %
1%

1,910,454
526,580
272,156
90,764
23,334
315,866
(508,164)
$30,038,843

2,292,356
651,764
219,008
128,583
81,239
388,153
(67,628)
$26,372,697

(381,902)
(125,184)
53,148
(37,819)
(57,905)
(72,287)
(440,536)
$3,666,146

(17)%
(19)%
24 %
(29)%
(71)%
(19)%
651 %
14 %

Loans receivable, net increased 14% to $30.0 billion at December 31, 2007 from $26.4 billion at December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily due
to growth in one- to four-family loans during the first and second quarters. Beginning in the second half of 2007, we altered our strategy and halted the focus
on growing the balance sheet. Therefore, we do not expect to grow our loan portfolio for the foreseeable future. In addition, we intend to allow our home
equity and consumer loan portfolios to decline over time.
As a general matter, we do not originate or purchase sub-prime(1) loans to hold on our balance sheet; however, in the normal course of purchasing large
pools of real estate loans, we invariably end up acquiring a de minimis amount of these loans. As of December 31, 2007, sub-prime real estate loans
represented less than one-fifth of one percent of our total real estate loan portfolio.
During the first quarter of 2007, we entered into a credit default swap (“CDS”) on $4.0 billion of our first-lien residential real estate loan portfolio
through a synthetic securitization structure. A CDS provides, for a fee, an assumption by a third party of a portion of the credit risk related to the underlying
loans. The CDS we entered into provides protection for losses in excess of 10 basis points, but not to exceed approximately 75 basis points. In addition, our
regulatory risk-weighted assets were reduced as a result of this transaction because we transferred a portion of our credit risk to an unaffiliated third party.
(1)

Defined as borrowers with FICO scores less than 620 at time of origination.
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Available-for-Sale Mortgage-Backed and Investment Securities
Available-for-sale securities are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

December 31,

Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. government sponsored and Federal agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Total mortgage-backed securities
Investment securities:
Asset-backed securities
Municipal bonds
Publicly traded equity securities:
Preferred stock
Corporate investments
Other
Total investment securities
Total available-for-sale securities

2007

2006

$ 9,330,129
1,123,255
10,453,384

$ 9,109,307
1,108,385
10,217,692

—
314,348

2,161,728
632,747

(2,161,728)
(318,399)

(100)%
(50)%

371,404
1,271
114,641
801,664
$11,255,048

458,674
24,139
182,791
3,460,079
$13,677,771

(87,270)
(22,868)
(68,150)
(2,658,415)
$(2,422,723)

(19)%
(95)%
(37)%
(77)%
(18)%

$

%

220,822
14,870
235,692

2%
1%
2%

Available-for-sale securities represented 20% and 25% of total assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Available-for-sale securities
decreased 18% to $11.3 billion at December 31, 2007 compared to December 31, 2006, due primarily to the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio in
the fourth quarter of 2007. Substantially all mortgage-backed securities backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies are “AAA” rated and the
majority of the asset-backed securities portfolio consisted of “AA” or higher rated securities. In the future, we plan to allow our mortgage-backed securities
portfolio to pay down, resulting in an overall decline in the available-for-sale securities balance.
Margin Receivables
The margin receivables balance is a component of the margin debt balance, which is reported as a key retail metric of $7.3 billion and $7.0 billion at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The total margin debt balance is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Margin receivables
Margin held by third parties and other
Margin debt
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2007

2006

$7,179,175
81,669
$7,260,844

$6,828,448
174,652
$7,003,100

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount
%

$350,727
(92,983)
$257,744

5%
(53)%
4%
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Deposits
Deposits are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

December 31,

Sweep deposit accounts
Money market and savings accounts
Certificates of deposit (1)
Brokered certificates of deposit (2)
Checking accounts
Total deposits
(1)
(2)

2007

2006

$10,112,123
10,028,115
4,156,674
1,092,225
495,618
$25,884,755

$10,837,124
7,634,241
4,737,253
483,777
378,617
$24,071,012

$ (725,001)
2,393,874
(580,579)
608,448
117,001
$1,813,743

%

(7)%
31 %
(12)%
126 %
31 %
8%

Includes retail brokered certificates of deposit.
Includes institutional brokered certificates of deposit.

Deposits represented 48% and 49% of total liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Deposits increased $1.8 billion to $25.9 billion at
December 31, 2007 compared to December 31, 2006, driven by a $2.4 billion increase in money market and savings accounts. Deposits generally provide us
the benefit of lower interest costs, compared with wholesale funding alternatives.
During the first three quarters of 2007, the deposits balance increased $5.1 billion, primarily the result of the growth in our Complete Savings Account.
This product created measurable growth in cash from new and existing customers; however, during the fourth quarter of 2007, we experienced a disruption in
our customer base and the customer deposit balances began to decline. We believe this disruption was due to the uncertainty surrounding the Company in
connection with the credit related losses in our institutional segment. While we continue to anticipate credit related losses, primarily in our home equity loan
portfolio, we believe our retail customer base has stabilized, and will return to growth in 2008.
The deposits balance is a component of the total customer cash and deposits balance reported as a customer activity metric of $33.6 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2007. The total customer cash and deposits balance is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Deposits
Less: brokered certificates of deposit
Deposits excluding brokered certificates of deposit
Customer payables
Customer cash balances held by third parties and other
Total customer cash and deposits
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2007

2006

$25,884,755
(1,092,225)
24,792,530
5,514,675
3,286,212
$33,593,417

$24,071,012
(483,777)
23,587,235
6,182,672
3,819,860
$33,589,767

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

$1,813,743
(608,448)
1,205,295
(667,997)
(533,648)
$
3,650

%

8%
126 %
5%
(11)%
(14)%
0%
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Wholesale Borrowings
Wholesale borrowings, which consist of securities sold under agreements to repurchase and other borrowings are summarized as follows (dollars in
thousands):
Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

December 31,
2007

2006

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase

$ 8,932,693

$ 9,792,422

$ (859,729)

(9)%

FHLB advances
Subordinated debentures
Other
Total other borrowings

$ 6,967,406
435,830
43,268
$ 7,446,504

$ 4,865,466
385,502
72,994
$ 5,323,962

$2,101,940
50,328
(29,726)
$2,122,542

43 %
13 %
(41)%
40 %

$16,379,197

$15,116,384

$1,262,813

Total wholesale borrowings

%

8%

Wholesale borrowings represented 30% and 31% of total liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The increase in other borrowings of
$2.1 billion during the year ended December 31, 2007 was due primarily to an increase in FHLB advances. Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
coupled with FHLB advances are the primary wholesale funding sources of the Bank. During the first and second quarters of 2007, the Bank used these
wholesale sources along with deposit growth to fund the increase in loans receivable. We expect total other borrowings to decline in future periods as we
focus on replacing this funding with growth in retail deposits.
Corporate Debt
Corporate debt is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Senior notes
Springing lien notes
Mandatory convertible notes
Total corporate debt
*

2007

2006

$1,272,742
1,304,391
445,565
$3,022,698

$1,401,592
—
440,577
$1,842,169

Variance
2007 vs. 2006
Amount

$ (128,850)
1,304,391
4,988
$ 1,180,529

%

(9)%
*
1%
64 %

Percentage not meaningful.

Corporate debt increased to $3.0 billion at December 31, 2007 compared to $1.8 billion at December 31, 2006. The increase is related to the $1.8
billion of 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes issued to Citadel at a discount of $481.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2007.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
We have established liquidity and capital policies. The objectives of these policies are to support the successful execution of our business strategies
while ensuring ongoing and sufficient liquidity through the business cycle and during periods of financial distress. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we
experienced a disruption in our customer base, which caused a significant decline in customer deposits. We believe this disruption was due to the uncertainty
surrounding the Company in connection with the credit related losses in our institutional segment. Deposits are the primary source of liquidity for E*TRADE
Bank, so this sudden and rapid decline created a substantial amount of liquidity risk. We followed our existing liquidity policies and contingency
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plans and successfully met our liquidity needs during this extraordinary period. We believe that our ability to meet liquidity needs during this time validates
the effectiveness of the liquidity policies and contingency plans.
Capital is generated primarily through our business operations and our capital market activities. During the second half of 2007, our institutional
segment incurred a significant amount of losses as a result of its exposure to the crisis in the residential real estate and credit markets. Consequently, this
segment required a significant capital infusion during the fourth quarter. The Company raised $2.5 billion in cash from the Citadel Investment, the majority
of which was used to provide capital to the intuitional segment. While this segment continues to have exposure to the crisis in the residential real estate and
credit markets, we believe that the proceeds from the Citadel Investment as well as capital generated in our retail segment will be sufficient to meet our
capital needs for at least the next twelve months.
Changes in Cash and Equivalents
In 2007, the consolidated cash and equivalents balance increased to $1.8 billion for the period ended December 31, 2007. Cash and equivalents at
E*TRADE Financial Corporation, on a standalone holding company basis, increased $112.1 million to $251.7 million due primarily to an increase in cash
provided by operating activities of $448.8 million and by financing activities of $1.4 billion offset by a decrease in net cash used in investing activities of
$1.8 billion. Additionally, Converging Arrows, Inc. (“Converging Arrows”), a subsidiary of the parent company, had $60.1 million of cash and investment
securities available as a source of liquidity for the parent company.
Corporate Debt
Our current senior debt ratings are Ba3 by Moody’s Investor Service, B (watch neg) by Standard & Poor’s and BB by Dominion Bond Rating Service
(“DBRS”). The Company’s long-term deposit ratings are Ba2 by Moody’s Investor Service, BB- (watch neg) by Standard & Poor’s and BB (high) by DBRS. A
significant change in these ratings may impact the rate and availability of future borrowings.
Liquidity Available from Subsidiaries
Liquidity available to the Company from its subsidiaries, other than Converging Arrows, is limited by regulatory requirements. At December 31, 2007,
Converging Arrows had $60.1 million of cash and investment securities available as a source of liquidity for the parent company. Converging Arrows is not
restricted in its dealings with the parent company and may transfer funds to the parent company without regulatory approval. In addition to Converging
Arrows, brokerage and banking subsidiaries may provide liquidity to the parent; however, they are restricted by regulatory guidelines.
E*TRADE Bank is prohibited by regulations from lending to the parent company. At December 31, 2007, E*TRADE Bank had approximately $435.1
million of capital above the “well capitalized” level. In the current credit environment, we plan to increase the excess capital at E*TRADE Bank in order to
increase our ability to absorb credit losses while still maintaining “well capitalized” status. Therefore, we do not expect to dividend this excess capital to the
parent during the foreseeable future. E*TRADE Bank is also required by Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”) regulations to maintain tangible capital of at
least 1.50% of tangible assets. E*TRADE Bank satisfied this requirement at December 31, 2007 and 2006. However, events beyond management’s control,
such as a continued deterioration in residential real estate and credit markets, could adversely affect future earnings and E*TRADE Bank’s ability to meet its
future capital requirements.
Brokerage subsidiaries are required to maintain net capital equal to the greater of $250,000 or 2% of aggregate debit balances arising from customer
transactions. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, all of our significant brokerage subsidiaries met their minimum net capital requirements. The Company’s
broker-dealer subsidiaries had excess net capital of $730.8 million at December 31, 2007, of which $509.6 million is available for dividend while still
maintaining a capital level above regulatory “early warning” guidelines.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We enter into various off-balance-sheet arrangements in the ordinary course of business, primarily to meet the needs of our clients and to reduce our
own exposure to interest rate risk. These arrangements include firm
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commitments to extend credit and letters of credit. Additionally, we enter into guarantees and other similar arrangements as part of transactions in the
ordinary course of business. For additional information on each of these arrangements, see Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Other Sources of Liquidity
In addition to the liquidity available from subsidiaries, the parent company held $251.7 million in cash available as a resource. We also maintain
$451.0 million in uncommitted financing to meet margin lending needs. There were no outstanding balances, and the full $451.0 million was available at
both December 31, 2007 and 2006.
We rely on borrowed funds, such as FHLB advances and securities sold under agreements to repurchase, to provide liquidity for the Bank. At
December 31, 2007, the Bank had approximately $10.5 billion in additional borrowing capacity with the FHLB.
We have the option to make the interest payments of approximately $605 million on our springing lien notes in the form of either cash or additional
springing lien notes through May 2010.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2007 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and
cash flow in future periods (dollars in thousands):
Payments Due by Period
Less Than
1 Year

Certificates of deposit (1)(2)
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase(2)
Other borrowings(2)(3)
Corporate debt (4)
Operating lease payments(5)
Purchase Obligations(6)
FIN 48 liabilities
Total contractual obligations
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

$

4,159,985
7,528,168
3,963,569
344,434
38,767
72,125
31,873
$ 16,138,921

1-3 Years

$

550,119
332,424
1,723,004
688,867
70,248
19,687
3,815
$ 3,388,164

3-5 Years

$

222,867
186,862
587,357
1,086,711
46,103
2,913
16,516
$ 2,149,329

Thereafter

$

600,733
1,330,275
2,913,664
4,340,819
67,686
—
31,242
$ 9,284,419

Total

$

5,533,704
9,377,729
9,187,594
6,460,831
222,804
94,725
83,446
$ 30,960,833

Does not include sweep deposit accounts, money market and savings accounts or checking accounts as there are no maturities and /or scheduled contractual payments.
Includes annual interest based on the contractual features of each transaction, using market rates at December 31, 2007. Interest rates are assumed to remain at current levels over the life of all adjustable rate
instruments.
For mandatorily redeemable preferred securities included in other borrowings, does not assume early redemption under current conversion provisions.
Includes annual interest payments; does not assume early redemption under current conversion and call provisions. See Note 15— Corporate Debt for further details.
Includes facilities restructuring leases and excludes estimated future sublease income.
Includes purchase obligations for goods and services covered by non-cancelable contracts and contracts including cancellation fees. Excluded from the table are purchase obligations expected to be settled in
cash within one year of the end of the reporting period.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $6.3 billion of unused lines of credit available to customers under home equity lines of credit and $0.5
billion of unused credit card and commercial lines. As of December 31, 2007, outstanding commitments to originate and sell loans totaled $0.4 billion and
$0.1 billion, respectively, while the Company had no commitments to purchase loans. The Company had a commitment to purchase and sell securities of
$0.5 billion and $2.0 billion, respectively. The Company also had equity funding commitments of $25.6 million as of December 31, 2007, based on
investment plans of venture capital funds, low income housing tax credit partnerships and joint ventures. Additional information related to commitments and
contingent liabilities is detailed in Note 23—Commitments, Contingencies and Other Regulatory Matters.
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Other Liquidity Matters
We currently anticipate that our available cash resources and credit will be sufficient to meet our anticipated working capital and capital expenditure
requirements for at least the next 12 months. We may need to raise additional funds in order to support regulatory capital needs at our Bank, reduce holding
company debt, support more rapid expansion, develop new or enhanced products and services, respond to competitive pressures, acquire businesses or
technologies or take advantage of unanticipated opportunities.
RISK MANAGEMENT
As a financial services company, we are exposed to risks in every component of our business. The identification and management of existing and
potential risks are the keys to effective risk management. Our risk management framework, principles and practices support decision-making, improve the
success rate for new initiatives and strengthen the organization. Our goal is to balance risks and rewards through effective risk management. Risks cannot be
completely eliminated; however, we do believe risks can be identified and managed within the Company’s risk tolerance.
We manage risk through a governance structure involving the various boards, senior management and several risk committees. We use management
level risk committees to help ensure that business decisions are executed within our desired risk profile.
The Corporate Risk Committee, consisting of senior management executives, monitors the risk process and significant risks throughout the Company.
In addition to this committee, various enterprise risk committees and departments throughout the Company aid in the identification and management of risks.
These departments include internal audit, compliance, finance, legal, treasury, credit and enterprise risk management.
Interest Rate Risk Management
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in interest rates. Interest rate risks are monitored and managed by the E*TRADE Bank’s Asset
Liability Committee (“ALCO”). The ALCO reviews balance sheet trends, market interest rate and sensitivity analyses. The analysis of interest sensitivity to
changes in market interest rates under various scenarios is reviewed by ALCO. The scenarios assume both parallel and non-parallel shifts in the yield curve.
See Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk for additional information about our interest rate risks.
Credit Risk Management
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from adverse changes in a borrower’s or counterparty’s ability to meet its financial obligations under agreed upon
terms. Our primary sources of credit risk are our loan and securities portfolios, where it results from extending credit to customers and purchasing securities,
respectively. The degree of credit risk associated with our loans and securities varies based on many factors including the size of the transaction, the credit
characteristics of the borrower, features of the loan product or security, the contractual terms of the related documents and the availability and quality of
collateral. Credit risk is one of the most common risks in financial services and is one of our most significant risks.
Credit risk is monitored by our Credit Risk Committee. The Credit Risk Committee’s duties include monitoring asset quality trends, evaluating market
conditions including those in residential real estate markets, determining the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses, establishing underwriting standards,
approving large credit exposures, approving large portfolio purchases and delegating credit approval authority. The Credit Risk Committee uses detailed
tracking and analysis to measure credit performance and reviews and modifies credit policies as appropriate.
Conditions in the residential real estate and credit markets deteriorated sharply during 2007, particularly in the second half of 2007. The significant
and abrupt evaporation of secondary market liquidity for various types of mortgage loans, particularly home equity loans, has decreased the overall
availability of housing credit. As a result, many borrowers, particularly those in markets with declining housing prices, have been unable to refinance
existing loans. This combination of a decline in the availability of credit and a decline in housing prices creates significant credit risk in our loan portfolio,
particularly in our home equity loan portfolio.
50

Table of Contents

Underwriting Standards—Originated Loans
We originate loans that generally fall into two categories:
• Mortgage Loans—Prime credit quality first-lien mortgage loans secured by single-family residences.
• Home Equity Loans—Prime credit quality second-lien mortgage loans, including home equity lines of credit, secured by single-family residences.
We originate loans primarily through our mortgage lending sales force. The loans are almost entirely secured by a primary residence for the purpose of
purchase money, refinance, debt consolidation, or home equity loans. We originate both amortizing and interest-only mortgage loans; however, we do not
originate negative amortization or option ARMs.
We price our loans based on the competitive environment as well as the risk elements inherent in the loan. We evaluate criteria such as, but not limited
to: borrower credit score, loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”), documentation type, occupancy type and other risk elements. In the second half of 2007, we adjusted
our loan origination practices and pricing to significantly curtail originations of higher risk loans, particularly home equity loans with FICO scores below
660 or a CLTV greater than 89%. In addition, during the second half of 2007, we exited our wholesale mortgage origination channel and no longer originate
loans through brokers.
Our underwriting guidelines were established with a focus on both the credit quality of the borrower as well as the adequacy of the collateral securing
the loan. We have designed our underwriting guidelines so that our one- to four-family loans are salable in the secondary market. These guidelines include
limitations on loan amount, loan-to-value ratio, debt-to-income ratio, documentation type and occupancy type. We also require borrowers to obtain mortgage
insurance on higher loan-to-value first lien mortgage loans.
The table below summarizes the underwriting guidelines for the major originated loan types that we offered as of December 31, 2007 (1). However, oneto four-family loans originated and held on our balance sheet, rather than sold to third party investors, are typically held to more stringent underwriting
criteria. In the fourth quarter of 2007, we retained approximately 10% of the total one- to four-family retail loans originated. All of our home equity loans
originations were retained in 2007 and 2006.
First Lien —
Full Documentation
Underwriting Requirement

Minimum Credit Score
Maximum Debt-to-Income
Maximum CLTV
No Bankruptcy/Foreclosures
(1)
(2)
(3)

First Lien —
Stated Income/Verified Asset

Conforming(2)

Non-conforming(3)

Conforming(2)

Non-conforming(3)

Home
Equity

620
50%
95%
4+ Years

620
40%
95%
4+ Years

680
50%
95%
4+ Years

680
50%
80%
5+ Years

660
50%
89%
5+ Years

The majority of loans are originated within the guidelines listed above; however, loans can be originated outside these guidelines if originated for sale under specific investor requirements or if there are
compensating factors that improve the overall credit quality of the loan.
Conforming loans conform to the standards set forth by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. The single family conforming loans limit was $417,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Non-conforming loans (or jumbo loans) have a loan amount greater than the standard set by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

Underwriting decisions are made based on the overall credit characteristics of the loan, and are not automatically approved if the loan meets the
individual criteria. Therefore, the average credit characteristics of the loans we originate are stronger than the minimum criteria summarized in the table
above. For example, in the fourth quarter of 2007, the average retail loan originated had a FICO of 750 and an average CLTV of 69%.
We supplement our loan underwriting process with a post-closing quality control process. Our quality control process consists of a re-verification of
loan documentation, an underwriting and appraisal review, and other underwriting guideline reviews. This combination of an underwriting process and a
quality control process allows us to evaluate and measure adherence to the prescribed underwriting guidelines.
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Underwriting Standards—Purchased Loans
Our underwriting policies for purchased loans focus primarily on ensuring (i) adherence to the underwriting policies of the originator of the loan and
(ii) that the loans meet certain minimum credit criteria.
In order to confirm adherence to the underwriting policies of the originator, we obtain a copy of the underwriting guidelines used to originate the loans
prior to purchase. We perform an analysis on a sample of the loans to ensure compliance with these guidelines, with a focus on: appraisal methodology and
type; equity methodology and calculation; debt-to-income methodology and calculation; credit characteristics, including documentation type and credit
score; employment and income requirements; and the exception policy of the originator. To the extent loans do not adhere to the underwriting policies of the
originator, they are excluded from the purchase.
When purchasing a portfolio of loans, primarily in the first half of 2007, our strategy was to attempt to exclude loans that we believe have a higher risk
of credit loss. We review a detailed listing of the credit characteristics of the portfolio prior to purchase and attempt to identify higher risk loans. Our review
criteria are not static and vary by purchase, but typically focus on excluding loans in the following categories: FICO scores below 640; combined loan-tovalue ratios above 100%; debt-to-income ratios above 50%; and investor property loans. Even though our strategy focuses on excluding loans with a lower
credit quality, we invariably end up purchasing an insignificant amount of loans that do not meet the credit criteria. This typically occurs in a portfolio
purchase where the seller of the loans requires the purchaser of the loans to buy all loans in the pool.
In the second half of 2007, we altered our business strategy and halted the focus on growing the balance sheet. As a result, we do not anticipate
purchasing a significant amount of loans in future periods. However, we have significantly tightened our underwriting policies for any future loan purchases
that do occur. These criteria focus on limiting the acquisition of loans with a high risk of credit loss and require the exclusion of loans with the following
attributes: second lien; home equity line of credit; combined loan-to-value ratio above 80%; FICO score below 700 at time of origination; and
documentation type is not full documentation.
Loan Portfolio
We track and review many factors to predict and monitor credit risk in our loan portfolios, which are primarily made up of loans secured by residential
real estate. These factors include, but are not limited to: borrowers’ debt-to income ratio when loans are made, borrowers’ credit scores when loans are made,
loan-to-value ratios, housing prices, documentation type, occupancy type, and loan type. In economic conditions in which housing prices generally
appreciate, we believe that loan type, loan-to-value ratios and credit scores are the key factors in determining future loan performance. In a deteriorating
housing market with declining home prices and less credit available for refinance, we believe the loan-to-value ratio becomes a more important factor in
predicting and monitoring credit risk.
We believe certain categories of loans inherently have a higher level of credit risk due to characteristics of the borrower and/or features of the loan.
Two of these categories are sub-prime and option ARM loans. As a general matter, we do not originate or purchase these loans to hold on our balance sheet;
however, in the normal course of purchasing large pools of real estate loans, we invariably end up acquiring a de minimis amount of sub-prime loans. As of
December 31, 2007, sub-prime real estate loans represented less than one-fifth of one percent of our total real estate loan portfolio and we held no option
ARM loans.
As noted above, we believe loan type, loan-to-value ratios and borrowers’ credit scores are key determinates of future loan performance. Our home
equity loan portfolio is primarily second lien loans(1) on residential real estate properties, which have a higher level of credit risk than first lien mortgage
loans. We believe home equity loans with a combined loan-to-value ratio (“CLTV”) of 90% or higher or a FICO score below 700 are the loans with the
highest levels of credit risk in our portfolios.
(1)

Approximately 14% of the home equity portfolio is in the first lien position. For home equity loans that are in a second lien position, we also hold the first lien position on the same residential real estate
property for less than 1% of the loans in this portfolio.
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The breakdowns by LTV/CLTV(1) and FICO score(2) of our two main loan portfolios, one-to four-family and home equity, are as follows (dollars in
thousands):
One- to
Four-Family
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

LTV/CLTV

<=70%
70% – 80%
80% – 90%
>90%
Total

$

6,666,212
8,450,977
202,133
187,207
$ 15,506,529

4,957,948
5,603,921
127,519
180,826
$ 10,870,214

$

3,628,619
2,086,277
3,871,249
2,315,179
$ 11,901,324

One- to
Four-Family
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

FICO

>=720
719 – 700
699 – 680
679 – 660
659 – 620
<620
Total

$

Home Equity
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

$ 10,373,807
2,089,014
1,585,613
943,538
503,573
10,984
$ 15,506,529

$

7,370,649
1,411,458
1,073,235
619,449
382,033
13,390
$ 10,870,214

$

3,877,377
2,055,692
3,400,903
2,475,036
$ 11,809,008

Home Equity
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

$

6,992,793
1,898,924
1,668,427
757,016
566,030
18,134
$ 11,901,324

$

7,058,794
1,802,172
1,434,947
830,433
659,063
23,599
$ 11,809,008

The increases in one- to four-family loans with FICO scores above 680 were driven predominantly by the purchase of loans in those categories during
the year ended December 31, 2007.
In addition to the factors described above, we monitor credit trends in loans by acquisition channel and vintage, which are summarized below as of
December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):
One- to
Four-Family
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

Acquisition Channel

Purchased from a third party
Originated by the Company
Total real estate loans

$ 12,904,759
2,601,770
$ 15,506,529

(1)
(2)

8,679,568
2,190,646
$ 10,870,214

$ 10,638,021
1,263,303
$ 11,901,324

One- to
Four-Family
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

Vintage Year

2003 and prior
2004
2005
2006
2007
Total real estate loans

$

Home Equity
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

$

844,670
1,669,492
3,084,336
5,829,146
4,078,885
$ 15,506,529

$

1,044,221
2,080,872
3,657,194
4,087,927
—
$ 10,870,214

Home Equity
December 31,
December 31,
2007
2006

$

901,240
1,156,867
2,790,423
5,760,906
1,291,888
$ 11,901,324

LTV/CLTV data is based on LTV/CLTV ratios at the time of loan origination, and has not been updated to reflect changes in property values since that time.
FICO score is based on FICO scores at the time of loan origination, and has not been updated to reflect changes in credit scores since that time.
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$ 10,541,250
1,267,758
$ 11,809,008

$

1,176,320
1,609,906
3,582,871
5,439,911
—
$ 11,809,008
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Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses is management’s estimate of credit losses inherent in our loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date. The estimate of the
allowance for loan losses is based on a variety of factors, including the composition and quality of the portfolio; delinquency levels and trends; probable
expected losses for the next twelve months; current and historical charge-off and loss experience; current industry charge-off and loss experience; the
condition of the real estate market and geographic concentrations within the loan portfolio; the interest rate climate; the overall availability of housing
credit; and general economic conditions. Determining the adequacy of the allowance is complex and requires judgment by management about the effect of
matters that are inherently uncertain. Subsequent evaluations of the loan portfolio, in light of the factors then prevailing, may result in significant changes in
the allowance for loan losses in future periods. We believe our allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2007 is representative of probable losses inherent in
the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date.
In determining the allowance for loan losses, we allocate a portion of the allowance to various loan products based on an analysis of individual loans
and pools of loans. However, the entire allowance is available to absorb credit losses inherent in the total loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date.
The following table presents the allowance for loan losses by major loan category (dollars in thousands):
One- to Four-Family
Allowance
as a %
of Loans
Allowance
Receivable(1)

December 31, 2007
December 31, 2006
(1)

$18,831
$ 7,760

0.12%
0.07%

Home Equity
Allowance
as a %
of Loans
Allowance
Receivable(1)

$459,167
$ 31,671

3.79%
0.26%

Consumer and Other
Allowance
as a %
of Loans
Allowance
Receivable(1)

$30,166
$28,197

1.05%
0.82%

Total

Allowance

$508,164
$ 67,628

Allowance
as a %
of Loans
Receivable(1)

1.66%
0.26%

Allowance as a percentage of loans receivable is calculated based on the gross loans receivable for each respective category.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the allowance for loan losses increased by $440.5 million from the level at December 31, 2006. This
increase was driven primarily by the increase in the allowance allocated to the home equity loan portfolio, which deteriorated significantly during the second
half of 2007. We believe this deterioration was caused by several factors, which are described below. First, the combined impact of rising mortgage interest
rates and home price depreciation in key markets contributed to the declining performance of our home equity loan portfolio. Second, concerns that began in
the sub-prime mortgage loan market spread to the broader credit markets beginning in the second half of 2007, resulting in a significant deterioration in the
overall credit markets. This deterioration led to a dramatic tightening of lending standards across the industry, and general liquidity pressure for many
mortgage lenders, some of whom ultimately ceased operations as a result. The factors described above dramatically reduced the ability of borrowers to
refinance their mortgage loans, specifically their home equity loans, therefore drastically increasing the risk of loss once a loan becomes delinquent. During
the second half of 2007, we also observed a decline in the percentage of delinquent loans that cure prior to charge-off or foreclosure once they have become
delinquent. We attribute this change in behavior to the factors described above, which have significantly limited borrowers’ alternatives to avoid defaulting
on their loans. In addition, because of the likely decline in value of the homes collateralizing our home equity loans, our ability to recover our investment by
foreclosing on the underlying properties has diminished as well.
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The following table provides an analysis of the allowance for loan losses and net charge-offs for the past five years (dollars in thousands):

Allowance for loan losses, beginning of period
Provision for loan losses
Allowance acquired through acquisitions(1)
Charge-offs:
One- to four-family
Home equity
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Credit card
Other
Total charge-offs
Recoveries:
One- to four-family
Home equity
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Credit card
Other
Total recoveries
Net charge-offs
Allowance for loan losses, end of period

2007

2006

$ 67,628
640,078
—

$ 63,286
44,970
—

$ 47,681
54,016
—

2004

2003

$ 37,847
38,121
1,547

$ 27,666
38,523
2,748

(5,661)
(168,163)
(32,566)
(8,766)
(11,608)
(915)
(227,679)

(616)
(15,372)
(25,253)
(6,463)
(11,371)
(2,768)
(61,843)

(936)
(3,929)
(20,592)
(8,009)
(17,286)
(6,095)
(56,847)

(186)
(1,464)
(18,419)
(6,003)
(10,313)
(13,956)
(50,341)

(364)
(75)
(20,341)
(7,369)
(919)
(24,666)
(53,734)

476
4,368
15,771
4,591
957
1,974
28,137
(199,542)
$ 508,164

167
822
11,959
4,091
750
3,426
21,215
(40,628)
$ 67,628

234
526
7,848
3,960
380
5,488
18,436
(38,411)
$ 63,286

—
310
9,088
3,225
141
7,743
20,507
(29,834)
$ 47,681

223
—
9,738
3,806
1
8,876
22,644
(31,090)
$ 37,847

Net charge-offs to average loans receivable
outstanding
(1)

Year Ended December 31,
2005

0.65%

0.18%

0.26%

0.30%

0.41%

Acquisition of credit card portfolio in 2004 and 2003.

The following table allocates the allowance for loan losses by loan category (dollars in thousands):
2007
Amount

One- to four- family
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Commercial
Credit card
Other
Total consumer and other loans
Total allowance for loan losses
(1)

December 31,
2005

2006
%(1)

Amount

%(1)

Amount

%(1)

2004
Amount

2003
%(1)

Amount

%(1)

$ 18,831
459,167

51.3%
39.4

$ 7,760
31,671

41.7%
45.3

$ 4,858
26,049

37.0%
42.3

$ 2,812
15,183

32.3%
31.9

$ 2,360
3,302

28.6%
19.1

12,622
4,171
2,407
10,123
843
30,166
$508,164

6.3
1.7
0.9
0.3
0.1
9.3
100.0%

11,077
3,648
1,635
10,611
1,226
28,197
$67,628

8.8
2.5
0.9
0.5
0.3
13.0
100.0%

13,465
4,590
669
11,714
1,941
32,379
$63,286

14.1
3.9
0.5
1.0
1.2
20.7
100.0%

11,343
4,116
22
9,078
5,127
29,686
$47,681

22.4
6.3
—
1.8
5.3
35.8
100.0%

11,386
2,503
4
5,583
12,709
32,185
$37,847

28.3
7.9
—
1.4
14.7
52.3
100.0%

Represents percentage of loans receivable in category to total loans receivable, excluding premium (discount).
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Loan losses are recognized when it is probable that a loss will be incurred. Our policy is to charge-off closed-end consumer loans when the loan is 120
days delinquent or when we determine that collection is not probable. For one- to four-family loans, a charge-off is recognized when we foreclose on the
property. For home equity loans, our policy is to charge-off loans when we foreclose on the property or when the loan has been delinquent for 180 days. For
credit cards, our policy is to charge-off loans when collection is not probable or the loan has been delinquent for 180 days.
Net charge-offs for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 increased by $158.9 million. The overall increase was
primarily due to higher net charge-offs on home equity loans, which was driven mainly by the same factors as described above. The continued pressure in the
residential real estate market, specifically home price depreciation combined with tighter mortgage lending guidelines, will likely lead to a higher level of
charge-offs in the future. The following graph illustrates the net charge-offs by quarter:

56

Table of Contents

Nonperforming Assets
We classify loans as nonperforming when they are 90 days past due. The following table shows the comparative data for nonperforming loans and
assets (dollars in thousands):

One- to four-family (1)
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Credit card
Other
Total consumer and other loans
Total nonperforming loans
Real estate owned (“REO”) and other repossessed
assets, net
Total nonperforming assets, net
Nonperforming loans receivable as a percentage of gross loans receivable
One- to four-family allowance for loan losses as a percentage of one- to fourfamily nonperforming loans receivable
Home equity allowance for loan losses as a percentage of home equity
nonperforming loans receivable
Consumer and other allowance for loan losses as a percentage of consumer
and other nonperforming loans receivable
Total allowance for loan losses as a percentage of total nonperforming loans
receivable
(1)

2007

2006

Year Ended December 31,
2005

2004

2003

$181,315
229,523

$33,588
32,216

$17,393
9,568

$ 8,009
2,755

$ 13,760
269

2,235
1,130
3,769
470
7,604
418,442

2,579
1,439
3,795
1,093
8,906
74,710

2,826
873
2,858
462
7,019
33,980

1,416
908
2,999
848
6,171
16,935

1,399
1,067
2,147
1,618
6,231
20,260

45,895
$464,337

12,904
$87,614

6,555
$40,535

5,367
$22,302

6,690
$ 26,950

1.37%

0.28%

0.17%

0.15%

0.25%

10.39%

23.10%

27.93%

35.11%

17.15%

200.05%

98.31%

272.25%

551.11%

1227.51%

396.71%

316.61%

461.31%

481.06%

516.53%

121.44%

90.52%

186.24%

281.55%

186.81%

One- to four-family excludes held-for-sale loans of $0.1 million, $0.6 million, $0.7 million, $3.0 million and $4.3 million at December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Loans heldfor-sale are accounted for at lower of cost or market value with adjustments recorded in the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net line item and are not considered in the allowance for loan losses.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, our nonperforming assets, net increased $376.7 million from $87.6 million at December 31, 2006. The
increase was attributed primarily to an increase in nonperforming one- to four-family loans of $147.7 million and home equity loans of $197.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007 when compared to December 31, 2006. We expect nonperforming loan levels to increase over time due to the weak conditions
in the residential real estate and credit markets.
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The following graph illustrates the nonperforming loans by quarter:

The allowance as a percentage of total nonperforming loans receivable, net increased from 91% at December 31, 2006 to 121% at December 31, 2007.
This increase was driven primarily by the allowance for loan losses in our home equity loan portfolio.
In addition to nonperforming assets in the table above, we monitor loans where a borrower’s past credit history casts doubt on their ability to repay a
loan (“Special Mention” loans). Special Mention loans represented $612.2 million, or 2%, and $259.0 million, or 1%, of the total loan portfolio at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and are generally secured by real estate assets, reducing the potential loss should they become nonperforming.
These loans are actively monitored, continue to accrue interest and remain a component of the loans receivable balance. The increase in Special Mention
loans was due primarily to an increase in the 30-day delinquency category of real estate loans. We expect migration from this category to more serious
delinquency classifications to continue due to the weak conditions in the residential real estate and credit markets.
Loss Mitigation
Given the deterioration in the performance of our loan portfolio, particularly in our home equity loan portfolio, we formed a special credit management
team to focus on the mitigation of potential losses in the home equity loan portfolio.
This group is focused on providing loan modification alternatives to borrowers who qualify through our servicers. These programs include forbearance
arrangements, rate and term modifications, re-aging programs and short sale options. During 2007, an insignificant number of borrowers have utilized these
programs.
We are also focused on managing the exposure of undrawn home equity lines of credit. These efforts include, but are not limited to:
• Restricting lines of credit from additional draws when a borrower fails to make a timely payment. The criteria applied vary by loan servicer, but they
generally range between 15 days past due and 30 days past due.
• Additional line management strategies under development that would restrict additional draws on open lines of credit for nonperforming loans
based on a change in the property value of the collateral securing the loan, or a significant change in the borrower’s financial condition and ability
to repay the loan.
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In addition, we are reviewing our purchased home equity loan portfolio in order to identify loans to be repurchased by the originator. More
specifically, home equity loans that become 30 days delinquent are reviewed for early payment defaults, violations of transaction representations and
warranties, or material misrepresentation on the part of the seller. Any loans identified with these deficiencies are submitted to the original seller for
repurchase. Historically, the majority of these repurchase requests were honored by the original seller; however, beginning in the third quarter of 2007 our
repurchase rate declined substantially.
Securities
We focus primarily on security type and credit rating to monitor credit risk in our securities portfolios. We believe asset-backed securities represent our
highest concentration of credit risk. The table below details the average credit ratings by type of asset as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 (dollars in
thousands):
AA or
Higher

December 31, 2007

Mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate bonds, municipal bonds and preferred stock
Total

$

$

10,896,343
—
1,271,105
12,167,448

$

$

AA or
Higher

December 31, 2006

Mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate bonds, municipal bonds and preferred stock
Total

A

$

$

469
—
8,342
8,811

$

$

3,771
780,639
63,061
$ 847,471

—
—
—
—

$

A

10,531,264
948,309
1,412,150
12,891,723

Below
Investment
Grade

BBB

BBB

$

10,370
452,992
30,632
$ 493,994

$

$

—
64
—
64

Below
Investment
Grade

$

4,800
22,966
—
$ 27,766

Non-Rated

$

$

—
58
—
58

Total

$

$

Non-Rated

$

2,667
34,159
—
$ 36,826

10,896,812
122
1,279,447
12,176,381

Total

$

$

10,552,872
2,239,065
1,505,843
14,297,780

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we sold substantially all of our asset-backed securities portfolio in connection with the Citadel transaction
on November 29, 2007. This sale was the primary reason for the decline in available-for-sale securities rated below “AA”.
Operational Risk Management
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from fraud, inadequate controls or the failure of the internal control process, third party vendor issues,
processing issues and external events. Operational risks exist in most areas of the Company from advertising to customer service. While we make every effort
to protect against failures in the internal controls system, no system is completely fail proof.
The failure of a third party vendor to adequately meet its responsibilities could result in financial losses and reputation risks. The Vendor Risk
Management group monitors our vendor relationships. Third party vendor arrangements are overseen by the Vendor Risk Management group. The vendor
risk identification process includes evaluating contracts, renewal options and vendor performance. To ensure the financial soundness of providers, we
conduct financial reviews of our large providers. In addition, onsite operational audits are conducted annually for significant providers.
Fraud losses result from unauthorized use of customer and corporate funds and resources. We monitor customer transactions and attempt to identify
fraudulent transactions. However, new techniques are constantly being developed by perpetrators to commit fraud.
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Among other security measures, we offer customers token based security. The tokens display a six digit code that changes every sixty seconds. The
number on the display and a password must be used together to access the customers account. This system is an extremely effective tool for preventing
unauthorized access to a customer’s account.
Processing issues and external events may result in opportunity loss or actual losses depending on the situation. These types of losses include issues
resulting from inadequate staffing, equipment failures, significant weather events or other related types of events. External events resulting in opportunity or
actual losses could include the failure of a competitor to meet its customers’ needs, Internet performance issues, legal, reputation, public policy and strategic
risks.
SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Note 1—Organization, Basis of Presentation and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements contains a summary of our significant accounting policies, many of
which require the use of estimates and assumptions. We believe that of our significant accounting policies, the following are noteworthy because they are
based on estimates and assumptions that require complex, subjective judgments by management, which can materially impact reported results. Changes in
these estimates or assumptions could materially impact our financial condition and results of operation.
Allowances for Loan Losses
Description
The allowance for loan losses is management’s estimate of credit losses inherent in our loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date. At December 31,
2007, our allowance for loan losses was $508.2 million on $30.2 billion of loans designated as held-for-investment. In addition to our banking loans, we
extend credit to brokerage customers in the form of margin receivables.
Judgments
The estimate of the allowance is based on a variety of factors, including the composition and quality of the portfolio, delinquency levels and trends,
expected losses for the next twelve months, current and historical charge-off and loss experience, current industry charge-off and loss experience, the
condition of the real estate market and geographic concentrations within the loan portfolio, the interest rate climate as it affects adjustable-rate loans and
general economic conditions. Determining the adequacy of the allowance is complex and requires judgment by management about the effect of matters that
are inherently uncertain. Subsequent evaluations of the loan portfolio, in light of the factors then prevailing, may result in significant changes in the
allowance for loan losses in future periods.
Effects if Actual Results Differ
Although we have considerable experience in performing these reviews, if management’s underlying assumptions prove to be inaccurate, the
allowance for loan losses could be insufficient to cover actual losses. If our estimates understate probable losses inherent in the portfolio, this would result in
additional expense. A 10% increase or decrease in the allowances would result in a $50.8 million charge or credit to income, respectively.
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Classification and Valuation of Certain Investments
Description
We generally classify our investments in debt instruments (including corporate, government and municipal bonds), mortgage-backed securities, assetbacked securities and marketable equity securities as either available-for-sale or trading. We have not classified any investments as held-to-maturity. The
classification of an investment determines its accounting treatment. Both unrealized and realized gains and losses on trading securities held by our banking
subsidiaries are recognized in gain on sales of loans and securities, net. Securities held by our brokerage subsidiaries are for market-making purposes and
gains and losses are recorded as principal transactions revenue. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income. Declines in fair value that we believe to be other-than-temporary are included in gain on sales of loans and securities, net for our
banking investments and gain on sales and impairment of investments for our brokerage (other than those held for market-making purposes) and corporate
investments. We have investments in certain publicly-traded and privately-held companies, which we evaluate for other-than-temporary declines in market
value. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we recognized $168.7 million, $2.8 million and $40.3 million, respectively, of losses from
other-than-temporary declines in market value related to our investments.
Judgments
When possible, the fair value of securities is determined by obtaining quoted market prices. For illiquid securities, fair value is estimated by obtaining
market price quotes on similar liquid securities and adjusting the price to reflect differences. For securities where market quotes and similar securities are not
available, we use discounted cash flows. We also make estimates about the fair value of investments and the timing for recognizing losses based on market
conditions and other factors. Other-than-temporary impairment is recorded based on management judgment. Management evaluates securities based on
market conditions and all available information about the issuer or underlying collateral. This information is used to determine if impairment is other-thantemporary. The determination that impairment is other-than-temporary is judgmental. Based on the facts and circumstances, companies could have different
conclusions regarding when securities are other-than-temporarily impaired. Impairment of mortgage-backed or asset-backed securities is recognized when
management estimates the fair value of a security is less than its amortized cost and if the current present value of estimated cash flows has decreased since
the last periodic estimate. If the security meets both criterion, we write the security down to fair value in the current period. Similarly, preferred stock is
considered to be impaired and written down to fair value in the current period when in a continued loss position for a prolonged period of time and that loss
position is deemed to be significant by management. We assess securities for impairment at each reported balance sheet date.
Effects if Actual Results Differ
Earnings could be influenced by the timing of management’s decisions to recognize a security as other-than-temporarily impaired. Our estimates are
based on the best available information. Over time additional information may become available and may influence future write-downs. If all securities with
fair values lower than amortized book were written-down, we would record a loss of $501.2 million. Management believes that its estimates of other-thantemporary impairment are supportable and reasonable. See Note 6—Available-For-Sale Mortgage-Backed and Investment Securities to the consolidated
financial statements for additional information regarding securities.
Valuation and Accounting for Financial Derivatives
Description
The Bank’s principal assets are residential mortgages and mortgage-backed securities, which typically pay a fixed interest rate over an extended period
of time. However, the principal sources of funds for the Bank are
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customer deposits and other short-term borrowings with interest rates that are fixed for a shorter period of time, if at all. The Bank purchases interest rate
derivatives, including interest rate swaps, caps and floors, to manage this difference between long-term and short-term interest rates and to convert fixed-rate
assets or liabilities to variable rates.
Accounting for derivatives differs significantly depending on whether a derivative is designated as a hedge, which is a transaction intended to reduce a
risk associated with a specific balance sheet item or future expected cash flow. In order to qualify for hedge accounting treatment, documentation must
indicate the intention to designate the derivative as a hedge of a specific asset or liability or a future cash flow. Effectiveness of the hedge must be monitored
over the life of the derivative. Substantially all derivatives held on December 31, 2007 were designated as hedges. As of December 31, 2007, we had
derivative assets of $133.1 million and derivative liabilities of $200.3 million. As of December 31, 2006, we had derivative assets of $208.1 million and
derivative liabilities of $78.7 million.
Judgments
Hedge accounting is complex and involves the interpretation of a significant amount of accounting literature. From time to time, new interpretations
are issued, which result in new accounting methods applied to existing and new transactions. The implementation of SFAS No. 133, as amended, involves
numerous judgments and Company-level interpretations. We must make assumptions and judgments about the continued effectiveness of our hedging
strategies and the nature and timing of forecasted transactions. Judgment is necessary to determine the accounting for our hedging strategies.
Effects if Actual Results Differ
If our hedging strategies were to become significantly ineffective or our assumptions about the nature and timing of forecasted transactions were to be
inaccurate, we could no longer apply hedge accounting and our reported results would be significantly affected. Revised accounting interpretations of
existing literature could materially impact our financial results. If 10% of the fair value of derivatives classified in liabilities were determined to relate to
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, the adjustment would reduce income by $20.0 million before taxes. Similarly, if 10% of the
fair value of derivatives included in assets were determined to not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, the result would be $13.3 million in additional
pre-tax income. The most significant effect of not qualifying for hedge accounting treatment is the earnings volatility that would be created by marking the
derivatives to market as interest rates change.
Estimates of Effective Tax Rates, Deferred Taxes and Valuation Allowances
Description
In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we calculate our income tax expense based on our interpretation of the tax laws in the various
jurisdictions where we conduct business. This requires us to estimate our current tax obligations and the realizability of uncertain tax positions and to assess
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. These differences result in deferred tax
assets and liabilities, the net amount of which we show as other assets or other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. We must also assess the
likelihood that each of our deferred tax assets will be realized. To the extent we believe that realization is not more likely than not, we establish a valuation
allowance. When we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a reporting period, we generally record a corresponding tax expense in our
consolidated statement of income. Conversely, to the extent circumstances indicate that a valuation allowance is no longer necessary, that portion of the
valuation allowance is reversed, which generally reduces our overall income tax expense. At December 31, 2007 we had a net deferred tax asset of $550.2
million, net of a valuation allowance of $91.8 million. At December 31, 2006 we had a net deferred tax liability of $58.5 million, net of a valuation
allowance of $38.3 million.
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Judgments
Management must make significant judgments to determine our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation
allowance to be recorded against our net deferred tax asset. Changes in our estimate of these taxes occur periodically due to changes in the tax rates, changes
in our business operations, implementation of tax planning strategies, the expiration of relevant statutes of limitations, resolution with taxing authorities of
uncertain tax positions and newly enacted statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance. These changes in judgment as well as differences between our
estimates and actual amount of taxes ultimately due, when they occur, affect accrued taxes and can be material to our operating results for any particular
reporting period.
Effects if Actual Results Differ
These changes, when they occur, affect accrued taxes and can be material to our operating results for any particular reporting period.
Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Description
We review goodwill and purchased intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually and whenever events or changes indicate the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 142. Our recorded goodwill at December 31, 2007 was $1.9 billion, and we
will continue to evaluate it for impairment at least annually. Our recorded intangible assets at December 31, 2007 were $430.0 million, which have useful
lives between three and thirty years.
Judgments
In connection with our annual impairment test of goodwill, the entire amount of goodwill associated with our balance sheet management business,
which had a significant decline in fair value during the fourth quarter of 2007, was determined to be impaired. We also evaluate the remaining useful lives on
intangible assets each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization in
accordance with SFAS No. 142. Our estimates of fair value of goodwill and other intangible assets depend on a number of factors, including estimates of
future market growth and trends, forecasted revenue and costs, expected useful lives of the assets, appropriate discount rates and other variables.
Effects if Actual Results Differ
If our estimates of goodwill fair value change due to changes in our businesses or other factors, we may determine that an impairment charge is
necessary. Estimates of fair value are determined based on a complex model using cash flows and company comparisons. If management’s estimates of future
cash flows are inaccurate, the fair value determined could be inaccurate and impairment not recognized in a timely manner. Intangible assets are amortized
over their estimated useful lives. If changes in the estimated underlying revenues occurs, impairment or a change in the remaining life may need to be
recognized.
Valuation and Expensing of Share-Based Payments
Description
We value and expense employee share-based payments, which is primarily stock options, in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). We value each granted
option using an option pricing model using assumptions that match the characteristics of the granted options. We then assume a forfeiture rate that is used to
calculate each period’s compensation expense attributed to these options.
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Judgments
We estimate the value of employee stock options using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. Assumptions necessary for the calculation of
fair value include expected term and expected volatility. These assumptions are management’s best estimate of the characteristics of the options.
Additionally, forfeiture rates are estimated based on prior option vesting experience.
Effects if Actual Results Differ
If our estimates of employees’ forfeiture rates are not correct at the end of the term of the option, we will record either additional expense or a reduction
in expense in the period it completely vests. This adjustment may be material to the period in which it is recorded. In addition, option fair value is based on
estimates of volatility determined by us. Many methods are available to determine volatility, so the determination is subjective. Applying a different method
to determine volatility could impact earnings. A 10% change in volatility would increase or decrease stock option fair value by approximately 7%. A change
in fair value would affect all amortization periods.
REQUIRED STATISTICAL DISCLOSURE BY BANK HOLDING COMPANIES
The following table outlines the information required by the SEC’s Industry Guide 3, “Statistical Disclosure by Bank Holding Companies.” These
disclosures are at the enterprise level.
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Loan Portfolio
Loans by Type
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Past Due Interest
Policy for Nonaccrual
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Interest Rates and Operating Interest Differential
Increases and decreases in operating interest income and operating interest expense result from changes in average balances (volume) of interestearning banking assets and liabilities, as well as changes in average interest rates (rate). The following table shows the effect that these factors had on the
interest earned on our interest- earning banking assets and the interest incurred on our interest-bearing banking liabilities. The effect of changes in volume is
determined by multiplying the change in volume by the previous year’s average yield/cost. Similarly, the effect of rate changes is calculated by multiplying
the change in average yield/cost by the previous year’s volume. Changes applicable to both volume and rate have been allocated proportionately (dollars in
thousands):
2007 Compared to 2006
Increase (Decrease) Due To
Volume
Rate
Total

Interest-earning banking assets:
Loans, net (1)
Margin receivables
Mortgage-backed and related available-for-sale securities
Available-for-sale investment securities
Trading securities
Cash and cash equivalents
Stock borrow and other
Total interest-earning banking assets(2)
Interest-bearing banking liabilities:
Retail deposits
Brokered certificates of deposit
Customer payables
Repurchase agreements and other borrowings
FHLB advances
Stock loan and other
Total interest-bearing banking liabilities
Change in net operating interest income
(1)
(2)

2006 Compared to 2005
Increase (Decrease) Due To
Volume
Rate
Total

$ 556,446
42,688
45,934
69,977
(2,029)
5,023
21,547
739,586

$ 64,715
1,911
14,445
7,091
2,148
869
3,328
94,507

$ 621,161
44,599
60,379
77,068
119
5,892
24,875
834,093

$ 398,605
291,489
100,043
19,350
(8,241)
(9,826)
5,176
796,596

$ 137,551
23,569
88,687
30,791
7,287
17,987
14,063
319,935

170,150
(1,107)
2,562
66,280
183,552
7,122
428,559
$ 311,027

119,912
1,783
13,223
28,017
15,345
(1,700)
176,580
$ (82,073)

290,062
676
15,785
94,297
198,897
5,422
605,139
$ 228,954

157,493
3,329
24,480
34,185
9,301
15,617
244,405
$ 552,191

132,366
5,717
28,385
140,563
29,749
10,862
347,642
$ (27,707)

Nonaccrual loans are included in the respective average loan balances. Income on such nonaccrual loans is recognized on a cash basis.
Amount includes a taxable equivalent increase in operating interest income of $30.9 million and $19.3 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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$

536,156
315,058
188,730
50,141
(954)
8,161
19,239
1,116,531
289,859
9,046
52,865
174,748
39,050
26,479
592,047
524,484
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Lending Activities
The following table presents the balance and associated percentage of each major loan category in our portfolio (dollars in thousands):

One- to four-family
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Commercial
Credit card
Other
Total consumer and other loans
Total loans(1)
Adjustments:
Premiums (discounts) and deferred fees on loans
Allowance for loan losses
Total adjustments
Loans, net(1)
(1)

2007

2006

Balance
$ 15,607,427
11,901,324

%(1)
Balance
51.5% $ 11,149,958
39.2
11,809,069

1,910,454
526,580
272,156
90,764
23,334

6.3
1.7
0.9
0.3
0.1

December 31,
2005
%(1)
Balance
42.4% $ 7,178,897
44.8
8,106,894

2,292,356
651,764
219,008
128,583
81,239

8.7
2.5
0.8
0.5
0.3

2,692,055
752,645
89,098
188,600
243,726

2004

%(1)
Balance
37.3% $ 3,914,187
42.1
3,621,835
14.0
3.9
0.5
1.0
1.2

2,567,891
724,125
3,012
203,169
599,870

2003
%(1)
Balance
33.6% $ 3,255,530
31.1
1,524,215
22.1
6.2
0.0
1.8
5.2

2,285,451
627,975
179
113,434
1,178,378

%(1)
36.2%
17.0
25.4
7.0
0.0
1.3
13.1

2,823,288

9.3

3,372,950

12.8

3,966,124

20.6

4,098,067

35.3

4,205,417

46.8

30,332,039

100.0%

26,331,977

100.0%

19,251,915

100.0%

11,634,089

100.0%

8,985,162

100.0%

315,507
(508,164)

391,844
(67,628)

(192,657)
$ 30,139,382

323,637
(63,286)

198,627
(47,681)

184,078
(37,847)

324,216

260,351

150,946

146,231

$ 26,656,193

$ 19,512,266

$ 11,785,035

$ 9,131,393

Includes loans held-for-sale, principally one- to four-family real estate loans. These loans were $0.1 billion, $0.3 billion, $0.1 billion, $0.3 billion and $1.0 billion at December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Approximately 38% and 36% of the Company’s real estate loans were concentrated in California at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. No
other state had concentrations of real estate loans that represented 10% or more of the Company’s real estate portfolio.
The following table shows the contractual maturities of our loan portfolio at December 31, 2007, including scheduled principal repayments. This table
does not, however, include any estimate of prepayments. These prepayments could significantly shorten the average loan lives and cause the actual timing of
the loan repayments to differ from those shown in the following table (dollars in thousands):
<1 Year

One- to four-family
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Commercial
Credit card
Other
Total consumer and other loans
Total loans
(1)

Due in (1)
1-5 Years

>5 Years

Total

$ 216,771
260,377

$ 1,011,950
1,278,439

$ 14,378,706
10,362,508

$ 15,607,427
11,901,324

103,614
26,604
64,833
90,764
18,251
304,066
$ 781,214

482,923
124,695
207,323
—
5,083
820,024
$ 3,110,413

1,323,917
375,281
—
—
—
1,699,198
$ 26,440,412

1,910,454
526,580
272,156
90,764
23,334
2,823,288
$ 30,332,039

Estimated scheduled principal repayments are calculated using weighted-average interest rate and weighted-average remaining maturity of each loan portfolio.
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The following table shows the distribution of those loans that mature in more than one year between fixed and adjustable interest rate loans at
December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):
Fixed

One- to four-family
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Commercial
Other
Total consumer and other loans
Total loans

Interest Rate Type
Adjustable

Total

$ 3,699,424
3,399,747

$ 11,691,232
8,241,200

$ 15,390,656
11,640,947

1,806,840
499,976
—
5,083
2,311,899
$ 9,411,070

—
—
207,323
—
207,323
$ 20,139,755

1,806,840
499,976
207,323
5,083
2,519,222
$ 29,550,825

Available-for-Sale and Trading Securities
Our portfolios of mortgage-backed securities and investments are classified into three categories in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities: trading, available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. None of our mortgage-backed securities or other
investments was classified as held-to-maturity during 2007, 2006 and 2005.
Our mortgage-backed securities portfolio is composed primarily of:
• Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) participation certificates, guaranteed by Fannie Mae;
• Government National Mortgage Association participation certificates, guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States;
• Collateralized Mortgage Obligations;
• Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) participation certificates, guaranteed by Freddie Mac; and
• Privately insured mortgage pass-through securities;.
We buy and hold mortgage-backed trading securities principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. These securities are carried at market
value and any realized or unrealized gains and losses are reflected in our consolidated statement of income as gain on sales of loans and securities, net.
Our investments classified as available-for-sale are carried at estimated fair value with the unrealized gains and losses reflected as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive loss.
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The following table shows the cost basis and fair value of our mortgage-backed securities and investment portfolio that the Bank held and classified as
available-for-sale (dollars in thousands):
December 31,
2006

2007
Cost
Basis

Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal Agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Total mortgage-backed securities
Investment securities:
Asset-backed securities
Municipal bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Publicly traded equity securities:
Preferred stock
Corporate investments
Retained interest from securitizations
Total investment securities
Total available-for-sale securities

Fair
Value

Cost
Basis

2005

Fair
Value

Cost
Basis

Fair
Value

$ 9,638,676 $ 9,330,129 $ 9,375,444 $ 9,109,307 $ 9,687,666 $ 9,427,521
1,170,360
1,123,255
1,127,650
1,108,385
1,014,582
995,891
10,809,036 10,453,384 10,503,094 10,217,692 10,702,248 10,423,412
—
320,521
36,557
78,836

—
314,348
35,279
77,291

2,163,538
620,261
105,692
80,623

2,161,728
632,747
104,518
74,880

1,376,315
168,682
74,931
78,989

1,365,754
169,684
72,760
73,485

505,498
371,404
455,801
458,674
290,240
288,365
1,460
1,271
12,040
24,139
53,152
147,400
980
2,071
2,930
3,393
22,444
23,878
943,852
801,664
3,440,885
3,460,079
2,064,753
2,141,326
$11,752,888 $11,255,048 $13,943,979 $13,677,771 $12,767,001 $12,564,738

The following table shows the scheduled maturities, carrying values and current yields for the Bank’s available-for-sale and trading investment
portfolio at December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):

Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Total mortgage-backed securities

Within One Year
Weighted
Balance
Average
Due
Yield

After One But
Within Five Years
Weighted
Balance
Average
Due
Yield

After Five But
Within Ten Years
Weighted
Balance
Average
Due
Yield

$

$

$

—
—

N/A
N/A

—

—
28

N/A
8.33%

28

—
169

N/A
9.79%

169

After Ten Years
Weighted
Balance
Average
Due
Yield
$ 9,638,676
1,170,163

5.06%
5.42%

10,808,839

Total
Balance
Due
$ 9,638,676
1,170,360

Weighted
Average
Yield
5.06%
5.42%

10,809,036

Investment securities:
Municipal bonds(1)
Corporate debt
Other debt securities
Publicly traded equity securities
Preferred stock(2)
Corporate investments(3)
Retained interests from securitizations
Total investment securities
Total available-for-sale securities
(1)
(2)
(3)

266
11,211
609
—
—
—

3.24%
2.38%
3.47%

211
—
249

2.56%
N/A
4.00%

N/A
N/A
N/A

—
—
—

N/A
N/A
N/A

12,086
$ 12,086

$

12
—
77,978
—
—
—

4.06%
N/A
4.38%

320,032
25,346
—

4.59%
5.71%
N/A

320,521
36,557
78,836

4.59%
4.69%
4.37%

N/A
N/A
N/A

505,498
1,460
980

5.42%
4.42%
2.00%

505,498
1,460
980

5.42%
4.42%
2.00%

460

77,990

853,316

943,852

488

$ 78,159

$11,662,155

$11,752,888

Yields on tax-exempt obligations are computed on a tax-equivalent basis.
Preferred stock in Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, no stated maturity date.
Corporate investments, no stated maturity date.
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Borrowings
Deposits represent a significant component of our current funds. In addition, we borrow from the FHLB and sell securities under repurchase agreements.
We are a member of, and own capital stock in, the FHLB system. In part, the FHLB provides us with reserve credit capacity and authorizes us to apply
for advances on the security of FHLB stock and various home mortgages and other assets—principally securities that are obligations of, or guaranteed by, the
United States government—provided we meet certain creditworthiness standards. At December 31, 2007, our outstanding advances from the FHLB totaled
$7.0 billion at interest rates ranging from 3.71% to 5.56% and at a weighted-average rate of 4.80%.
We also raise funds by selling securities to nationally recognized investment banking firms under agreements to repurchase the same securities. The
investment banking firms hold the securities in custody. We treat repurchase agreements as borrowings and secure them with designated fixed- and variablerate securities. We also participate in the Federal Reserve Bank’s term investment option and treasury, tax and loan borrowing programs. We use the proceeds
from these transactions to meet our cash flow or asset/liability matching needs.
The following table sets forth information regarding the weighted-average interest rates and the highest and average month-end balances of our shortterm borrowings (dollars in thousands):
Ending
Balance

At or for the year ended December 31, 2007:
Advances from the FHLB
Securities sold under agreement to repurchase and other
borrowings(2)
At or for the year ended December 31, 2006:
Advances from the FHLB
Securities sold under agreement to repurchase and other
borrowings(2)
At or for the year ended December 31, 2005:
Advances from the FHLB
Securities sold under agreement to repurchase and other
borrowings(2)
(1)
(2)

WeightedAverage
Rate(1)

Maximum
Amount At
Month-End

Yearly WeightedAverage
Balance
Rate

$ 6,967,406

4.80%

$ 9,959,297

$ 7,071,762

5.15%

$ 9,371,975

5.11%

$14,593,923

$12,261,145

5.25%

$ 4,865,466

5.15%

$ 5,053,982

$ 3,488,184

4.75%

$10,212,993

5.17%

$12,483,929

$10,980,134

5.00%

$ 3,856,106

4.09%

$ 4,316,683

$ 3,260,556

3.88%

$11,412,028

4.15%

$11,412,028

$10,115,764

3.70%

Excludes hedging costs.
Excludes other borrowings of the parent company of $39.8 million, $37.9 million and $38.5 million at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which do not generate operating interest expense.
These liabilities generate corporate interest expense.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Active Trader—The customer segment that includes those who execute 30 or more trades per quarter.
Adjusted total assets—Bank-only assets composed of total assets plus/(less) unrealized losses (gains) on available-for-sale securities, less deferred tax
assets, goodwill and certain other intangible assets.
Average commission per trade—Total retail segment commission revenue divided by total number of retail trades.
Average equity to average total assets—Average total shareholders’ equity divided by average total assets.
Bank—ETB Holdings, Inc. (“ETBH”), the entity that is our bank holding company and parent to E*TRADE Bank.
Basis point—One one-hundredth of a percentage point.
Cash flow hedge—A financial derivative instrument designated in a hedging relationship that mitigates exposure to variability in expected future cash
flows attributable to a particular risk.
Charge-off—The result of removing a loan or portion of a loan from an entity’s balance sheet because the loan is considered to be uncollectible.
Compensation and benefits as a percentage of revenue—Total compensation and benefits expense divided by total net revenue.
Contract for difference (“CFDs”)—A derivative based on an underlying stock or index that covers the difference between the nominal value at the
opening of a trade and at the close of a trade. A CFD is researched and traded in the same manner as a stock.
Corporate investments—Primarily equity investments held at the parent company level that are not related to the ongoing business of the Company’s
operating subsidiaries.
Customer cash and deposits—Customer cash, deposits, customer payables and money market balances, including those held by third parties.
Daily average revenue trades (“DARTs”)—Total revenue trades in a period divided by the number of trading days during that period.
Derivative—A financial instrument or other contract, the price of which is directly dependent upon the value of one or more underlying securities,
interest rates or any agreed upon pricing index. Derivatives cover a wide assortment of financial contracts, including forward contracts, options and swaps.
E*TRADE Complete—An integrated trading, investing, banking and lending product that allows customers to manage their relationships with the
Company through one account. E*TRADE Complete helps customers optimize cash and credit by utilizing tools designed to inform them of whether or not
they are receiving the most appropriate rates for their cash and paying the most appropriate rates for credit.
Enterprise interest-bearing liabilities—Liabilities such as customer deposits, repurchase agreements, other borrowings and advances from the FHLB,
certain customer credit balances and stock loan programs on which the Company pays interest; excludes customer money market balances held by third
parties.
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Enterprise interest-earning assets—Consists of the primary interest-earning assets of the Company and includes: loans receivable, mortgage-backed
and available-for-sale securities, margin receivables, stock borrow balances, and cash required to be segregated under regulatory guidelines that earn interest
for the Company.
Enterprise net interest income—The taxable equivalent basis net operating interest income excluding corporate interest income and corporate interest
expense, stock conduit interest income and expense and interest earned on customer cash held by third parties.
Enterprise net interest spread—The taxable equivalent rate earned on average enterprise interest-earning assets less the rate paid on average enterprise
interest-bearing liabilities, excluding corporate interest-earning assets and liabilities, stock conduit and cash held by third parties.
Exchange-traded funds—A fund that invests in a group of securities and trades like an individual stock on an exchange.
Fair value hedge—A financial derivative instrument designated in a hedging relationship that mitigates exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognized asset or liability or a firm commitment.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”)—Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Interest rate cap—An options contract that puts an upper limit on a floating exchange rate. The writer of the cap has to pay the holder of the cap the
difference between the floating rate and the upper limit when that upper limit is breached. There is usually a premium paid by the buyer of such a contract.
Interest rate floor—An options contract that puts a lower limit on a floating exchange rate. The writer of the floor has to pay the holder of the floor the
difference between the floating rate and the lower limit when that lower limit is breached. There is usually a premium paid by the buyer of such a contract.
Interest rate swaps—Contracts that are entered into primarily as an asset/liability management strategy to reduce interest rate risk. Interest rate swap
contracts are exchanges of interest rate payments, such as fixed-rate payments for floating-rate payments, based on notional principal amounts.
Main Street Investor—The customer segment that includes those who execute less than 30 trades per quarter and hold less than $50,000 in assets in
combined retail accounts.
Margin debt—The extension of credit to brokerage customers of the Company, on and off balance sheet, where the loan is secured with securities
owned by the customer.
Mass Affluent—The customer segment that includes those who hold $50,000 or more in assets in combined retail accounts.
Net Present Value of Equity (“NPVE”)—The present value of expected cash inflows from existing assets, minus the present value of expected cash
outflows from existing liabilities, plus the expected cash inflows and outflows from existing derivatives and forward commitments. This calculation is
performed for E*TRADE Bank.
Nonperforming assets—Assets that do not earn income, including those originally acquired to earn income (delinquent loans) and those not intended
to earn income (REO). Loans are classified as nonperforming when full and timely collection of interest and principal becomes uncertain or when the loans
are 90 days past due.
Notional amount—The specified dollar amount underlying a derivative on which the calculated payments are based.
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Operating expenses—Total expense excluding interest, as shown on the Company’s consolidated statement of income (loss).
Operating margin—Income before other income (expense), income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of
accounting change.
Operating margin (%)—Percentage of net revenue that goes to income before other income (expense), income taxes, minority interest, discontinued
operations and cumulative effect of accounting change. It is calculated by dividing our income before other income (expense), income taxes, minority
interest, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of accounting change by our total net revenue.
Option adjustable-rate mortgage (“ARM”) loan—An adjustable-rate mortgage loan that provides the borrower with the option to make a fullyamortizing, interest-only, or minimum payment each month. The minimum payment on an Option ARM loan is usually based on the interest rate charged
during the introductory period. This introductory rate is usually significantly below the fully-indexed rate for loans with short duration introductory periods.
Options—Contracts that grant the purchaser, for a premium payment, the right, but not the obligation, to either purchase or sell the associated financial
instrument at a set price during a period or at a specified date in the future.
Organic—Business related to new and existing customers as opposed to acquisitions.
Principal transactions—Transactions that primarily consist of revenue from market-making activities.
Real-estate owned repossessed assets (“REO”)—Ownership of real property by the Company, generally acquired as a result of foreclosure.
Repurchase agreement—An agreement giving the seller of an asset the right or obligation to buy back the same or similar securities at a specified price
on a given date. These agreements are generally collateralized by mortgage-backed or investment-grade securities.
Retail client assets—Market value of all client assets held by the Company including security holdings, customer cash and deposits and vested
unexercised options.
Retail deposits—Balances of retail customer cash held at the Bank; excludes brokered certificates of deposit.
Return on average total assets—Annualized net income from continuing operations divided by average assets.
Return on average total shareholders’ equity—Annualized net income from continuing operations divided by average shareholders’ equity.
Revenue growth—The difference between the current and prior comparable period total net revenue divided by the prior comparable period total net
revenue.
Risk-weighted assets—Primarily computed by the assignment of specific risk-weightings assigned by the OTS to assets and off-balance sheet
instruments for capital adequacy calculations. This calculation is for E*TRADE Bank only.
Stock conduit—The borrowing of shares from a Broker-Dealer and subsequently lending the same shares to another Broker-Dealer netting a fee.
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Sweep deposit accounts—Accounts with the functionality to transfer brokerage cash balances to and from an FDIC-insured money market account at
the Bank.
Taxable equivalent interest adjustment—The operating interest income earned on certain assets is completely or partially exempt from federal and/or
state income tax. As such, these tax-exempt instruments typically yield lower returns than a taxable investment. To provide more meaningful comparison of
yields and margins for all interest-earning assets, the interest income earned on tax exempt assets is increased to make it fully equivalent to interest income
on other taxable investments. This adjustment is done for the analytic purposes in the net enterprise interest income/spread calculation and is not made on
the consolidated statement of income (loss), as that is not permitted under GAAP.
Tier 1 Capital—Adjusted equity capital used in the calculation of capital adequacy ratios at E*TRADE Bank as required by the OTS. Tier 1 capital
equals: total shareholder’s equity at E*TRADE Bank, plus/(less) unrealized losses (gains) on available-for-sale securities and cash flow hedges, less deferred
tax assets, goodwill and certain other intangible assets.
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ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion about our market risk disclosure includes forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially from those
projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth in Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” Market risk
is our exposure to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity and commodity prices. Our exposure to interest rate risk is related primarily to
interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.
Interest Rate Risk
The management of interest rate risk is essential to profitability. Interest rate risk is our exposure to changes in interest rates. In general, we manage our
interest rate risk by balancing variable-rate and fixed-rate assets and liabilities and we utilize derivatives in a way that reduces our overall exposure to
changes in interest rates. In recent years, we have managed our interest rate risk to achieve a minimum to moderate risk profile with limited exposure to
earnings volatility resulting from interest rate fluctuations. Exposure to interest rate risk requires management to make complex assumptions regarding
maturities, market interest rates and customer behavior. Changes in interest rates, including the following, could impact interest income and expense:
• Interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities may re-price at different times or by different amounts creating a mismatch.
• The yield curve may flatten or change shape affecting the spread between short- and long-term rates. Widening or narrowing spreads could impact
net interest income.
• Market interest rates may influence prepayments resulting in maturity mismatches. In addition, prepayments could impact yields as premium and
discounts amortize.
Exposure to market risk is dependent upon the distribution and composition of interest-earning assets, interest-bearing liabilities and derivatives. The
differing risk characteristics of each product are managed to mitigate our exposure to interest rate fluctuations. At December 31, 2007, 92% of our total assets
were enterprise interest-earning assets.
At December 31, 2007, approximately 67% of our total assets were residential real estate loans and available-for-sale mortgage-backed securities. The
values of these assets are sensitive to changes in interest rates, as well as expected prepayment levels. As interest rates increase, fixed rate residential real
estate loans and mortgage-backed securities tend to exhibit lower prepayments. The inverse is true in a falling rate environment.
When real estate loans prepay, unamortized premiums are written off. Depending on the timing of the prepayment, the write-offs of unamortized
premiums may result in lower than anticipated yields. E*TRADE Bank’s Asset Liability Committee (“ALCO”) reviews estimates of the impact of changing
market rates on loan production volumes and prepayments. This information is incorporated into our interest rate risk management strategy.
Our liability structure consists of transactional deposit relationships, such as savings and money market accounts; certificates of deposit; securities sold
under agreements to repurchase; customer payables; wholesale collateralized borrowings from the FHLB and other entities; and long term notes. Our
transactional deposit accounts and customer payables tend to be less rate-sensitive than wholesale borrowings. Agreements to repurchase securities and
money market accounts re-price as interest rates change. Certificates of deposit re-price over time depending on maturities. FHLB advances and long-term
notes generally have fixed rates.
Derivative Financial Instruments
We use derivative financial instruments to help manage our interest rate risk. Interest rate swaps involve the exchange of fixed-rate and variable-rate
interest payments between two parties based on a contractual underlying
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notional amount, but do not involve the exchange of the underlying notional amounts. Option products are utilized primarily to decrease the market value
changes resulting from the prepayment dynamics of the mortgage portfolio, as well as to protect against increases in funding costs. The types of options
employed include Cap Options (“Caps”) and Floor Options (“Floors”), “Payor Swaptions” and “Receiver Swaptions.” Caps mitigate the market risk
associated with increases in interest rates while Floors mitigate the risk associated with decreases in market interest rates. Similarly, Payor and Receiver
Swaptions mitigate the market risk associated with the respective increases and decreases in interest rates. See derivative financial instruments discussion at
Note 8—Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
For mortgage loans intended to be sold, Interest Rate Lock Commitments (“IRLCs”) are considered derivatives with changes in fair value recorded in
earnings. IRLCs are commitments issued to borrowers that lock in an interest rate now for a loan closing in one to three months. These locks, initially
recorded with a fair value of zero, will fluctuate in value during the lock period as market interest rates change. See mortgage banking activities discussion at
Note 8—Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Scenario Analysis
Scenario analysis is an advanced approach to estimating interest rate risk exposure. Under the Net Present Value of Equity (“NPVE”) approach, the
present value of all existing assets, liabilities, derivatives and forward commitments are estimated and then combined to produce a NPVE figure. The
sensitivity of this value to changes in interest rates is then determined by applying alternative interest rate scenarios, which include, but are not limited to,
instantaneous parallel shifts up 100, 200 and 300 basis points and down 100 and 200 basis points. The NPVE method is used at the E*TRADE Bank level
and not for the Company. During the first quarter of 2007, E*TRADE Clearing LLC (“ETC”) became a wholly-owned operating subsidiary of E*TRADE
Bank.
E*TRADE Bank has 96% and 81% of our enterprise interest-earning assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and holds 96% and 79% of
our enterprise interest-bearing liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The sensitivity of NPVE at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the
limits established by E*TRADE Bank’s Board of Directors are listed below (dollars in thousands):
Change in NPVE
December 31,
2007(1)
Parallel Change in Interest Rates (bps)

+300
+200
+100
-100
-200
(1)

Amount

$(434,303)
$(323,193)
$(174,280)
$ 99,245
$ (63,785)

2006
Percentage

(17)%
(12)%
(7)%
4%
(2)%

Amount

$ (52,325)
$ (32,680)
$ (15,303)
$(159,618)
$(560,142)

Percentage

(2)%
(1)%
(1)%
(6)%
(20)%

Board
Limit

(55)%
(30)%
(20)%
(20)%
(30)%

Amounts and percentages include ETC.

Under criteria published by the OTS, E*TRADE Bank’s overall interest rate risk exposure at December 31, 2007 was characterized as “minimum.” We
actively manage our interest rate risk positions. As interest rates change, we will re-adjust our strategy and mix of assets, liabilities and derivatives to
optimize our position. For example, a 100 basis points increase in rates may not result in a change in value as indicated above. The ALCO monitors
E*TRADE Bank’s interest rate risk position.
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Other Market Risk
Equity Security Risk
Equity securities risk is the risk of potential loss from investing in public and private equity securities including foreign currency exchange risk. We
hold equity securities for corporate investment purposes and in trading securities for market-making purposes. The foreign currency exchange risk associated
with these investments is not material to the Company. For corporate investment purposes, we currently hold publicly traded equity securities, in which we
had an estimated fair value of $1.3 million as of December 31, 2007. See the corporate investments line item in the publicly traded equity securities section
in Note 6—Available-for-Sale Mortgage-Backed and Investment Securities in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The management of E*TRADE Financial Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. E*TRADE Financial Corporation’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the company’s management and board
of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers and effected by the company’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and
includes those policies and procedures that:
• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company;
• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and
• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on its financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections or evaluations of
effectiveness regarding future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
E*TRADE Financial Corporation’s management assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal
Control—Integrated Framework.” Based on management’s assessment, management believes as of December 31, 2007, that E*TRADE Financial
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.
E*TRADE Financial Corporation’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an audit report regarding
E*TRADE Financial Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting. The report of Deloitte & Touche LLP appears on the next page.
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
E*TRADE Financial Corporation
Arlington, Virginia
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of E*TRADE Financial Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override
of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on
the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007 of the Company and our report dated February 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of new accounting standards.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2008
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
E*TRADE Financial Corporation
Arlington, Virginia
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of E*TRADE Financial Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of E*TRADE Financial Corporation
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation
No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, as of January 1, 2007, and the Company adopted FASB
Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, on July 1, 2005.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2008
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
2007
Revenue:
Operating interest income
Operating interest expense

$

Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses
Commission
Fees and service charges
Principal transactions
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Total non-interest income (expense)
Total net revenue
Expense excluding interest:
Compensation and benefits
Clearing and servicing
Advertising and market development
Communications
Professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Occupancy and equipment
Amortization of other intangibles
Impairment of goodwill
Facility restructuring and other exit activities
Other
Total expense excluding interest
Income (loss) before other income (expense), income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of accounting change
Other income (expense):
Corporate interest income
Corporate interest expense
Gain on sales of investments, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Equity in income of investments and venture funds

Year Ended December 31,
2006

3,569,711
(1,960,656)

$

$

1,650,264
(779,164)

1,609,055
(640,078)

1,400,032
(44,970)

871,100
(54,016)

968,977

1,355,062

817,084

694,110
258,075
103,229
(2,450,036)
47,478

625,265
238,760
110,235
55,986
35,013

458,834
196,257
99,336
98,858
33,476

(1,347,144)

1,065,259

886,761

(378,167)

2,420,321

1,703,845

465,467
286,144
149,573
107,526
106,691
85,371
93,189
40,472
101,208
33,226
207,569

469,202
253,040
119,782
110,346
96,947
73,845
85,568
46,220
—
28,537
136,042

1,676,436

1,419,529

1,054,053

(2,054,603)

1,000,792

649,792

5,755
(172,482)
35,980
(19)
7,665

Total other income (expense)

2,774,679
(1,374,647)

2005

380,803
189,736
105,935
82,485
77,416
74,981
69,089
43,765
—
(30,017)
59,860

8,433
(152,496)
70,796
(1,179)
2,451

(123,101)

11,043
(73,956)
83,144
—
6,103

(71,995)

26,334

Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of accounting change
Income tax expense (benefit)
Minority interest in subsidiaries

(2,177,704)
(735,950)
—

928,797
301,983
—

676,126
229,823
65

Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of tax:
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations

(1,441,754)

626,814

446,238

Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax

—
—

(721)
2,766

(21,495)
4,023

—
—

2,045
—

(17,472)
1,646

Net income (loss)

$ (1,441,754)

$

628,859

$

Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
Basic earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Basic earnings per share from cumulative effect of accounting change

$

(3.40)
—
—

$

1.49
0.00
—

$

1.20
(0.04)
0.00

Basic net earnings (loss) per share

$

(3.40)

$

1.49

$

1.16

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings per share from cumulative effect of accounting change

$

(3.40)
—
—

$

1.44
0.00
—

$

1.16
(0.04)
0.00

Diluted net earnings (loss) per share

$

(3.40)

$

1.44

$

1.12

Shares used in computation of per share data:
Basic
Diluted

424,439
424,439

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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421,127
436,357

430,412

371,468
384,630
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In thousands, except share amounts)
December 31,
2007

2006

$ 1,778,244
334,831
130,018

$ 1,212,234
281,622
178,600

11,255,048
100,539
7,179,175

13,677,771
283,496
6,828,448

30,038,843
338,585
355,433
1,933,368
430,007
2,971,846
$ 56,845,937

26,372,697
244,212
318,389
2,072,920
471,933
1,796,981
$ 53,739,303

$ 25,884,755
8,932,693
5,514,675
7,446,504
3,022,698
3,215,547
54,016,872

$ 24,071,012
9,792,422
6,182,672
5,323,962
1,842,169
2,330,696
49,542,933

4,609
3,463,220
(247,368)
(391,396)
2,829,065
$ 56,845,937

4,263
3,184,290
1,209,289
(201,472)
4,196,370
$ 53,739,303

ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Cash and investments required to be segregated under Federal or other regulations
Trading securities
Available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities (includes securities pledged to creditors with the right to
sell or repledge of $10,074,082 and $11,087,961 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively)
Loans held-for-sale
Margin receivables
Loans receivable, net (net of allowance for loan losses of $508,164 and $67,628 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively)
Investment in FHLB stock
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangibles, net
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:
Deposits
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Customer payables
Other borrowings
Corporate debt
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, shares authorized: 600,000,000; shares issued and outstanding: 460,897,875 and
426,304,136 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively
Additional paid-in capital (“APIC”)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)
2007

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive loss:
Available-for-sale securities:
Unrealized gains (losses), net
Reclassification into earnings, net
Net change from available-for-sale securities
Cash flow hedging instruments:
Unrealized gains (losses), net
Reclassifications into earnings, net
Net change from cash flow hedging instruments
Foreign currency translation gains (losses)
Other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive income (loss)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$(1,441,754)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$628,859

2005

$430,412

(478,538)
361,569
(116,969)

172
(80,387)
(80,215)

12,946
(77,858)
(64,912)

(116,101)
11,722
(104,379)
31,424
(189,924)
$(1,631,678)

36,409
6,578
42,987
11,468
(25,760)
$603,099

7,032
40,155
47,187
(16,788)
(34,513)
$395,899
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2004
Net income
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Other comprehensive loss
Exercise of stock options and purchase plans, including tax benefit
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of forward contract
Employee stock purchase plan
Repurchases of common stock
Issuance of common stock upon acquisition
Issuance of common stock BrownCo Financing
Issuance of restricted stock
Cancellation of restricted stock
Amortization of deferred stock compensation prior to adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R), net of cancellations and retirements
Amortization of deferred share-based compensation to APIC under
SFAS No. 123(R)
Conversion of Exchangeable Shares to common stock
Other

Shares
Exchangeable into
Common Stock
Shares
Amount
1,303
$
13
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
369,624
$ 3,696
—
—
—
—
—
—
7,779
78
—
—
902
9
(4,548)
(45)
1,632
17
39,722
397
830
8
(516)
(5)

—

—
(1,303)
—

—
(13)
—

(46)

(1)

—
1,303
(100)

—
13
(1)

Balance, December 31, 2005

—

Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Exercise of stock options and purchase plans, including tax benefit
Issuance of common stock upon conversion of 6% convertible debt
Issuance of common stock upon acquisition
Repurchases of common stock
Issuance of restricted stock
Cancellation of restricted stock
Retirement of restricted stock to pay taxes
Amortization of deferred share-based compensation to APIC under
SFAS No. 123(R)
Other

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
5,931
7,772
847
(5,267)
640
(103)
(98)

—
—

—
—

—
—

Balance, December 31, 2006

—

$

$

—

—

416,582

426,304

$ 4,166
—
—
60
78
8
(53)
6
(1)
(1)
—
—
$ 4,263

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 2,215,674
—
(2,777)
—
77,657
14,479
8,377
(58,170)
26,634
691,385
(8)
5

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss
$
(141,199)
—
—
(34,513)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$
2,228,202
430,412
(2,777)
(34,513)
77,735
14,479
8,386
(58,215)
26,651
691,782
—
—

1,265

—

—

1,264

16,276
—
(121)

—
—
—

—
—
—

16,276
—
(122)

$ 2,990,676

$

—
—
82,824
183,333
19,742
(122,548)
(6)
1
(2,364)

$ 3,184,290

580,430

$

628,859
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

32,584
48

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)
$
150,018
430,412
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
$

1,209,289

$

(175,712)

$

3,399,560

—
(25,760)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

628,859
(25,760)
82,884
183,411
19,750
(122,601)
—
—
(2,365)

—
—

32,584
48

(201,472)

$

4,196,370
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY — (Continued)
(In thousands)
Common Stock
Shares
426,304
—

Balance, December 31, 2006
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN 48
Adjusted balance
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock related to the Citadel Investment(1)
Exercise of stock options and purchase plans, including tax benefit
Repurchases of common stock
Issuance of restricted stock
Cancellation of restricted stock
Retirement of restricted stock to pay taxes
Amortization of deferred share-based compensation to APIC under SFAS
No. 123(R)
Other
Balance, December 31, 2007
(1)

Amount
$ 4,263
—

426,304
—
—
38,023
4,260
(7,228)
836
(1,196)
(198)

4,263
—
—
380
43
(72)
8
(12)
(2)

—
97
460,898

—
$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 3,184,290
—

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)
$
1,209,289
(14,903)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss
$
(201,472)
—

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$
4,196,370
(14,903)

1,194,386
(1,441,754)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(201,472)
—
(189,924)
—
—
—
—
—
—

4,181,467
(1,441,754)
(189,924)
338,978
55,891
(148,632)
—
—
(4,157)

3,184,290
—
—
338,598
55,848
(148,560)
(8)
12
(4,155)

1

34,983
2,212

4,609

$ 3,463,220

—
—
$

(247,368)

—
—
$

(391,396)

34,983
2,213
$

2,829,065

Additional paid-in capital includes the proceeds received on November 29, 2007 for the 46.7 million shares of common stock that are expected to be issued in the first quarter of 2008 in connection with
the Citadel Investment. Common stock does not include these shares as they had not been issued as of December 31, 2007.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
2007

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax
Provision for loan losses
Depreciation and amortization (including discount amortization and accretion)
(Gain) loss on loans and securities, net and (gain) loss on sales of investments, net
Impairment of goodwill
Gain on sale of Consumer Finance Corporation
Minority interest in subsidiaries and equity in income of investments and venture funds
Non-cash facility restructuring costs and other exit activities
Share-based compensation
Tax benefit from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense
Other
Net effect of changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in cash and investments required to be segregated under Federal or other
regulations
Increase in margin receivables
Increase (decrease) in customer payables
Proceeds from sales, repayments and maturities of loans held-for-sale
Purchases and originations of loans held-for-sale
Proceeds from sales, repayments and maturities of trading securities
Purchases of trading securities
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Facility restructuring liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities
Proceeds from sales, maturities of and principal payments on available-for-sale mortgagebacked and investment securities
Net increase in loans receivable
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash used in business acquisitions, net
Net cash flow from derivatives hedging assets
Proceeds from sales of discontinued businesses
Other
Net cash used in investing activities

$ (1,441,754)

$

628,859

2005

$

430,412

—
640,078
282,491
2,414,056
101,208
—
(7,665)
14,349
34,982
(19,910)
2,940

—
44,970
286,841
(125,953)
—
—
(2,451)
20,712
32,584
(30,166)
3,635

(1,646)
54,016
362,965
(174,798)
—
(46,099)
(6,289)
6,528
18,253
(24,530)
(7,132)

(22,045)
(284,267)
(987,620)
1,418,313
(1,261,980)
2,831,736
(2,777,449)
16,968
(158,949)
(241)
795,241

357,204
(1,135,243)
511,550
1,506,896
(1,836,108)
1,943,977
(1,978,687)
572,010
76,250
(16,325)
860,555

525,102
(534,883)
30,976
7,182,775
(3,717,745)
3,779,503
(6,751,698)
(499,870)
243,156
(5,053)
863,943

(13,113,671)

(15,416,233)

(14,320,762)

13,805,661
(5,275,866)
(129,295)
(5,974)
6,848
—
(72,812)
$ (4,785,109)

14,181,506
(6,969,132)
(109,493)
(806)
(64,600)
3,470
(46,744)
$ (8,422,032)

14,059,538
(7,887,040)
(79,014)
(2,218,932)
(34,696)
56,902
19,376
$ (10,404,628)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS—(Continued)
(In thousands)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Net increase (decrease) in deposits
Net increase (decrease) in securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Net increase (decrease) in other borrowed funds
Advances from other long-term borrowings
Payments on advances from other long-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of springing lien notes
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes
Proceeds from issuance of mandatory convertible notes
Proceeds from issuance of common stock to Citadel (1)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon acquisitions
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debentures and trust preferred securities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from employee stock transactions
Tax benefit from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense recognition
Repurchases of common stock
Net cash flow from derivative hedging liabilities
Deferred financing fees
Other
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect Of Exchange Rates On Cash
Increase (decrease) In Cash And Equivalents
Cash And Equivalents, Beginning Of Period
Cash And Equivalents, End Of Period
Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Transfers from loans to other real estate owned and repossessed assets
Reclassification of loans held-for-sale to loans held-for-investment
Exchange of senior notes for springing lien notes
Issuance of common stock to retire debentures
(1)

2007

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

$ 1,806,961
(855,054)
(23,034)
21,422,913
(19,327,723)
1,193,767
—
—
338,978
—
41,000
35,981
19,910
(148,632)
(28,590)
(7,371)
17,407
4,486,513
69,365
566,010
1,212,234
$ 1,778,244

$ 8,095,971
(1,317,025)
26,469
5,978,100
(4,969,100)
—
—
—
—
—
79,900
52,718
30,166
(122,601)
56,156
—
(1,754)
7,909,000
20,523
368,046
844,188
$ 1,212,234

$ 3,668,914
1,181,832
(12,151)
19,638,000
(17,267,000)
—
992,064
436,500
—
691,783
50,000
61,351
24,530
(58,215)
45,056
—
(490)
9,452,174
(7,207)
(95,718)
939,906
$
844,188

$ 2,204,505
$
123,005

$ 1,348,636
$ 151,851

$
$

723,718
206,494

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

50,191
178,347
—
—

114,124
35,672
139,745
—

56,476
202,269
—
183,411

Includes the proceeds received on November 29, 2007 for the 46.7 million shares of common stock that are expected to be issued in the first quarter of 2008 in connection with the Citadel Investment.
These shares had not been issued as of December 31, 2007.
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E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization—E*TRADE Financial Corporation (together with its subsidiaries, “E*TRADE” or the “Company”) is a global financial services
company offering a wide range of financial solutions to consumers under the brand “E*TRADE Financial.” The Company offers trading, investing, banking
and lending products and services to its retail and institutional customers.
Basis of Presentation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Entities in
which the Company holds at least a 20% ownership or in which there are other indicators of significant influence are generally accounted for by the equity
method. Entities in which the Company holds less than 20% ownership and does not have the ability to exercise significant influence are generally carried at
cost. Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The Company evaluates investments including joint ventures, low income
housing tax credit partnerships and other limited partnerships to determine if the Company is required to consolidate the entities under the guidance of FASB
Interpretation No. 46 revised, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities-an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (“FIN 46R”).
Certain prior period items in these consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. As discussed
in Note 3—Discontinued Operations, the operations of certain businesses have been accounted for as discontinued operations in accordance with the SFAS
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. Accordingly, results of operations from prior periods have been reclassified to
discontinued operations. Unless noted, discussions herein pertain to the Company’s continuing operations.
The Company reports corporate interest income and expense separately from operating interest income and expense. The Company believes reporting
these two items separately provides a clearer picture of the financial performance of the Company’s operations than would a presentation that combined these
two items. Operating interest income and expense is generated from the operations of the Company and is a broad indicator of the Company’s success in its
banking, lending and balance sheet management businesses. Corporate debt, which is the primary source of the corporate interest expense has been issued
primarily in connection with the Citadel Investment and acquisitions, such as Harrisdirect and BrownCo.
Similarly, the Company reports gain (loss) on sales of investments, net separately from gain (loss) on loans and securities, net. The Company believes
reporting these two items separately provides a clearer picture of the financial performance of its operations than would a presentation that combined these
two items. Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net are the result of activities in the Company’s operations, namely its lending and balance sheet management
businesses, including impairment on our available-for sale mortgage-backed and investment securities portfolio. Gain (loss) on sales of investments, net
relates to historical equity investments of the Company at the corporate level and are not related to the ongoing business of the Company’s operating
subsidiaries.
New Income Statement Reporting Format—During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company re-defined the line item “Service charges and
fees” by reclassifying certain fee-like revenue items formerly reported in “Other revenue” into the “Service charges and fees” line item, now called “Fees and
service charges.” The fee-like revenue streams moved include payment for order flow, foreign exchange margin revenue, 12b-1 fees after rebates, fixed
income product revenues and management fee revenue.
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New Balance Sheet Reporting Format—During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company re-presented its balance sheet to report margin
receivables and customer payables directly on the face of the balance sheet. The remaining components of brokerage receivables and brokerage payables are
now reported in the “Other assets” and “Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities” line items, respectively. The Company also re-presented its balance
sheet to report “Investment in FHLB stock” directly on the face of the balance sheet. This item was previously reported in the “Available-for-sale mortgagebacked and investment securities” line item.
Use of Estimates—The financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes for the periods presented. Actual results could differ from management’s
estimates. Material estimates in which management believes near-term changes could reasonably occur include allowance for loan losses and uncollectible
margin receivables; classification and valuation of certain investments; valuation of certain debt instruments; valuation and accounting for financial
derivatives; estimates of effective tax rates; deferred taxes and valuation allowances; valuation of goodwill and other intangibles; and valuation and
expensing of share-based payments.
Citadel Investment—The operating environment during 2007, particularly during the second half of the year, was extremely challenging as the
Company’s exposure to the crisis in the residential real estate and credit markets adversely impacted its financial performance and led to a disruption in its
customer base. As a result, the Company believes it was necessary to obtain a significant infusion of cash, which would in turn stabilize its balance sheet and
its customer base.
On November 29, 2007, the Company entered into an agreement to receive a $2.5 billion cash infusion from Citadel. In consideration for the cash
infusion, Citadel received three primary items: substantially all of our asset-backed securities portfolio (approximately $3.0 billion in amortized cost),
84.7 million shares of common stock (1) in the Company and approximately $1.8 billion in 12 1/ 2% springing lien notes(2).
The items in this transaction were negotiated at arms length and transacted simultaneously and in contemplation of one another. As a result, the $2.5
billion in proceeds were allocated to each item based on their relative fair values at the time of the transaction.
The key components of our accounting for this transaction were as follows:
• Asset-backed securities portfolio sale, which resulted in a pre-tax loss on sale of approximately $2.2 billion;
• Issuance of common stock, which resulted in an increase to common stock/paid in capital of approximately $340 million; and
• Issuance of springing lien notes, which had approximately $500 million of discount assigned to them and will be amortized as an increase to
interest expense using the effective interest method over the 10 year term of the notes.
Financial Statement Descriptions and Related Accounting Policies—Below are descriptions and accounting policies for the Company’s financial
statement categories.
Cash and Equivalents—For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments with original or remaining
maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase that are not
(1)
(2)

The 84.7 million shares of common stock were issued in increments: 14.8 million upon initial closing in November 2007; 23.2 million upon Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act approval in
December 2007; and 46.7 million shares are expected to be issued in the first quarter of 2008 as the Company has received all necessary regulatory approvals.
Included in the $1.8 billion issuance is the issuance of $186 million of 12 1/2% springing lien notes in exchange for $186 million of the Company’s senior notes that were owned by Citadel. The $1.8
billion in 12 ½% springing lien notes includes $100 million in notes issued to BlackRock in connection with the transaction. The $1.8 billion in 12 ½% springing lien notes represents the amount
outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and does not include the additional $150 million of springing lien notes issued in January 2008 in accordance with the terms of the agreement with Citadel.

88

Table of Contents

required to be segregated under Federal or other regulations to be cash equivalents. Cash and equivalents are composed of interest-bearing and non-interestbearing deposits, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, funds due from banks and Federal funds. Cash and equivalents included $54.2 million and
$4.9 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, of overnight cash deposits that the Company is required to maintain with the Federal Reserve
Bank.
Cash and Investments Required to be Segregated Under Federal or Other Regulations—Cash and investments required to be segregated under Federal
or other regulations consist primarily of interest-bearing cash accounts. Certain cash balances, related to collateralized financing transactions by our
brokerage subsidiaries, are required to be segregated for the exclusive benefit of our brokerage customers.
Trading Securities—Certain trading securities and financial derivative instruments, that are not designated for hedge accounting, are bought and held
principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term and are carried at estimated fair value based on quoted market prices. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses on securities classified as trading held by the Bank are included in the gain (loss) of loans and securities, net line item and are derived using
the specific identification cost method. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading securities held by broker-dealers are recorded in the principal
transactions line item and are also derived by the specific identification method.
Available-for-Sale Mortgage-Backed and Investment Securities—The Company classified its debt, mortgage-backed securities and marketable equity
securities as either trading or available-for-sale. None of the Company’s mortgage-backed or investment securities were classified as held-to-maturity at
December 31, 2007 or 2006.
Available-for-sale securities consist of mortgage-backed securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds, publicly traded equity securities, retained
interests from securitizations and other debt securities. Securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses
reflected as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”), net of tax. Fair value is based on quoted market prices, when available. For
illiquid securities, fair value is estimated by obtaining market price quotes on similar liquid securities and adjusting the price quotes to reflect differences
between the two securities, such as credit risk, liquidity, term, coupon, payment characteristics and other information. Realized and unrealized gains or losses
on available-for-sale securities, except for publicly traded equity securities, are computed using the specific identification cost method. Realized and
unrealized gains or losses on publicly traded equity securities are computed using the average cost method. Amortization or accretion of premiums and
discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the life of the security. Realized gains and losses and declines in fair value judged
to be other-than-temporary are included in gain (loss) on loans and securities, net; other amounts relating to corporate investments are included in gain on
sales of investments, net line item in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Interest earned is included in operating interest income for banking, lending
and balance sheet management operations or corporate interest income for corporate investments.
The Company regularly analyzes certain available-for-sale investments for other-than-temporary impairment when the fair value of the investment is
lower than its book value. The Company’s methodology for determining impairment involves projecting cash flows relating to each investment and using
assumptions as to future prepayment speeds, losses and loss severities over the life of the underlying collateral pool. Assumptions about future performance
are derived from actual performance to date and the Company’s view on how the collateral will perform in the future. In projecting future performance, the
Company incorporates the views of industry analysts, rating agencies and the management of the issuer, along with its own independent analysis of the issuer
of the securities, the servicer, the economy and the relevant sector as a whole. If the Company determines impairment is other-than-temporary, it reduces the
recorded book value of the investment by the amount of the impairment and recognizes a realized loss on the investment. The Company does not, however,
adjust the recorded book value for declines in fair value that it believes are temporary. Management continues to monitor and evaluate these securities
closely for impairment that is other-than-temporary.
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Mortgage- and asset-backed securities that both have an unrealized loss and are rated below “AA” by at least half of the agencies that rate the
securities, as well as interest-only securities that have unrealized losses, are evaluated for impairment in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) 99-20, Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets (“EITF 9920”). Accordingly, when the present value of a security’s anticipated cash flows declines below the last periodic estimate, the Company recognizes an
impairment charge in the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net line item in the consolidated statement of income (loss).
Asset Securitization and Retained Interests—An asset securitization involves the transfer of financial assets to another entity in exchange for cash
and/or beneficial interests in the assets transferred. Asset transfers in which the Company surrenders control over the financial assets are accounted for as sales
to the extent that consideration, other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets, is received in the exchange in accordance with SFAS No. 140,
Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. The carrying amount of the assets transferred is allocated
between the assets sold in these transactions and the retained beneficial interests, based on their relative fair values at the date of the transfer. The Company
records gains or losses for the difference between the allocated carrying amount of the assets sold and the net cash proceeds received. These gains or losses are
recorded in the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net line item in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Fair value is determined based on quoted
market prices, if available. Generally, quoted market prices are not available for beneficial interests; therefore, the Company estimates the fair value based on
the present value of the associated expected future cash flows. In determining the present value of the associated expected future cash flows, management is
required to make estimates and assumptions. Key estimates and assumptions include future default rates, credit losses, discount rates, prepayment speeds and
collateral repayment rates. Retained beneficial interests are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities and EITF 99-20 and are included in the available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities and trading securities in the
consolidated balance sheet.
Loans Held-for-Sale—Loans held-for-sale consist of mortgages acquired and loans originated by the Company that are intended for sale in the
secondary market. These loans are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value, as determined on an aggregate basis, based on quoted market price for
loans with similar characteristics. Net unrealized losses are recognized in a valuation allowance by charges to income. Premiums and discounts on loans heldfor-sale are deferred and recognized as part of gain (loss) on sales of loans held-for-sale, which is reported in the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net line
item in the consolidated statement of income (loss), and are not accreted or amortized.
Margin Receivables—Margin receivables represent credit extended to customers and non-customers to finance their purchases of securities by
borrowing against securities they currently own. Receivables from non-customers represent credit extended to principal officers and directors of the Company
to finance their purchase of securities by borrowing against securities owned by them. Margin receivables to the Company’s principal officers totaled less
than $1.0 million and $6.3 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Securities owned by customers and non-customers are held as collateral
for amounts due on the margin receivables, the value of which is not reflected in the consolidated balance sheet. In many cases, the Company is permitted to
sell or re-pledge these securities held as collateral and use the securities to enter into securities lending transactions, to collateralize borrowings or for
delivery to counterparties to cover customer short positions. At December 31, 2007, the fair value of securities that the Company received as collateral in
connection with margin receivables and stock borrowing activities, where the Company is permitted to sell or re-pledge the securities, was approximately
$9.6 billion. Of this amount, $3.3 billion had been pledged or sold at December 31, 2007 in connection with securities loans, bank borrowings and deposits
with clearing organizations.
Loans Receivable, Net—Loans receivable, net consists of real estate and consumer loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the
foreseeable future or until maturity. These loans are carried at amortized
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cost adjusted for charge-offs, net, allowance for loan losses, deferred fees or costs on originated loans and unamortized premiums or discounts on purchased
loans. Loan fees and certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and the net fee or cost is recognized in interest income using the interest method over
the contractual life of the loans. Premiums and discounts on purchased loans are amortized or accreted into income using the interest method over the
remaining period to contractual maturity and adjusted for actual prepayments. The Company classifies loans as nonperforming when full and timely
collection of interest or principal becomes uncertain or when they are 90 days past due. Interest previously accrued, but not collected, is reversed against
current income when a loan is placed on nonaccrual status and is considered nonperforming. Accretion of deferred fees is discontinued for nonperforming
loans. Payments received on nonperforming loans are recognized as interest income when the loan is considered collectible and applied to principal when it
is doubtful that full payment will be collected. One- to four-family loans are charged off to the extent that the carrying value of the loan exceeds the
estimated net realizable value of the underlying collateral at the time of foreclosure. Home equity loans are charged-off at time of foreclosure or when the
loan has been delinquent for 180 days. Credit cards are charged-off when the loan has been delinquent for 180 days. Consumer loans are charged-off when
the loan has been delinquent for 120 days.
Allowance for Loan Losses—The allowance for loan losses is management’s estimate of credit losses inherent in the Company’s loan portfolio as of the
balance sheet date. The estimate of the allowance is based on a variety of factors, including the composition and quality of the portfolio, delinquency levels
and trends, probable expected losses for the next twelve months, current and historical charge-off and loss experience, current industry charge-off and loss
experience, the condition of the real estate market and geographic concentrations within the loan portfolio, the interest rate climate; the overall availability
of housing credit; and general economic conditions. Determining the adequacy of the allowance is complex and requires judgment by management about the
effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Subsequent evaluations of the loan portfolio, in light of the factors then prevailing, may result in significant
changes in the allowance for loan losses in future periods. In general, the allowance for loan losses should be at least equal to twelve months of projected
losses for all loan types. Management believes this level is representative of probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. Loan
losses are charged and recoveries are credited to the allowance for loan losses.
Property and Equipment, Net—Property and equipment are carried at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
generally three to ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or lease terms. Buildings are depreciated
over forty years. Land is carried at cost. Technology development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Technology development costs include costs
incurred in the development and enhancement of software used in connection with services provided by the Company that do not otherwise qualify for
capitalization treatment as internally developed software costs in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.
In accordance with SOP 98-1, the cost of internally developed software is capitalized and included in property and equipment at the point at which the
conceptual formulation, design and testing of possible software project alternatives are complete and management authorizes and commits to funding the
project. The Company does not capitalize pilot projects and projects where it believes that future economic benefits are less than probable. Internally
developed software costs include the cost of software tools and licenses used in the development of the Company’s systems, as well as specifically identified
payroll and consulting costs.
Goodwill and Other Intangibles, Net—Goodwill and other intangibles, net represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net
tangible assets acquired through the Company’s business combinations. The Company tests goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for
impairment on at least an annual basis or when certain events occur. The Company evaluates the remaining useful lives of other intangible assets with finite
lives each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization.
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Servicing Rights—Servicing assets are recognized when the Company sells a loan and retains the related servicing rights. In March 2006, the FASB
issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets, an amendment of SFAS No. 140. This statement establishes, among other things, the
accounting for all separately recognized servicing assets and liabilities. The Company adopted this statement on January 1, 2007 and the impact was not
material to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. SFAS No. 156 amends SFAS No. 140 to require that all separately
recognized servicing assets and liabilities be initially measured at fair value. For subsequent measurements, SFAS No. 156 permits companies to choose
between using an amortization method or a fair value measurement method for reporting purposes. As of December 31, 2007, the Company continued to
account for servicing rights under the amortization method. The fair value of the servicing retained is estimated based on market quotes for similar servicing
assets. Servicing assets are amortized in proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing income. The Company measures impairment by
stratifying the servicing assets based on the characteristics of the underlying loans and by interest rates. Impairment is recognized through a valuation
allowance for each stratum. The valuation allowance is adjusted to reflect the excess of the servicing assets’ cost basis for a given stratum over its fair value.
Any fair value in excess of the cost basis of servicing assets for a given stratum is not recognized. The Company estimates the fair value of each stratum based
on an industry standard present value of cash flows model. The Company recognizes both amortization of servicing rights and impairment charges in service
charges and fees in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Servicing assets are included in the other assets line item in the consolidated balance sheet.
As of January 1, 2008, the Company elected to account for servicing rights under the fair value measurement method. The transition adjustment to opening
retained earnings as of January 1, 2008 related to the fair value measurement election did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition.
In addition, the Company does not expect the fair value measurement election to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows in future periods.
Real Estate Owned and Repossessed Assets—Included in the other assets line item in the consolidated balance sheet is real estate acquired through
foreclosure and repossessed consumer assets. Real estate properties acquired through foreclosures, commonly referred to as REO and repossessed assets, are
recorded at fair value, less estimated selling costs at acquisition.
Income Taxes—The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, which prescribes the use of
the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax asset or liability account balances are calculated at the balance sheet date using current tax laws and rates
in effect. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of a given
deferred tax asset will not be realized. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, income tax expense includes (i) deferred tax expense, which generally represents the
net change in the deferred tax asset or liability balance during the year plus any change in valuation allowances and (ii) current tax expense, which represents
the amount of tax currently payable to or receivable from a taxing authority. Uncertain tax positions are only recognized to the extent they satisfy the criteria
under Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”), which states that an uncertain tax position must be more likely than not
of being sustained upon examination. The amount of tax benefit recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than fifty percent likely of being
sustained on ultimate settlement of an uncertain tax position.
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase—Securities sold under agreements to repurchase similar securities, also known as repurchase
agreements, are collateralized by fixed- and variable-rate mortgage-backed securities or investment grade securities. Repurchase agreements are treated as
financings for financial statement purposes and the obligations to repurchase securities sold are reflected as such in the consolidated balance sheet.
Customer Payables—Customer payables to customers and non-customers represent credit balances in customer accounts arising from deposits of funds
and sales of securities and other funds pending completion of securities transactions. The Company pays interest on certain customer payables balances.
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Mandatory Convertible Debt—The Company accounts for its mandatory convertible debt by allocating the proceeds using the relative fair value of
the stock purchase contracts and the debt securities on the date of issuance. The issue costs are deferred and allocated to the debt securities and the stock
purchase contracts based on their relative fair values at issuance date. The portion of issuance costs allocated to the debt is amortized to corporate interest
expense over the life of the debt using the interest method.
The value of the stock purchase contracts is included in equity based on the requirements of SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, and EITF Issue No. 00-19, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and
Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock. The Company evaluated the mandatory convertible debt under SFAS No. 150 and EITF No. 00-19. In order
for the stock purchase contracts to be included in equity, the following statements must be met.
• The obligation settlement amount is not based on a fixed monetary amount known at inception;
• The stock purchase commitment is based on the fair value of the issuer’s equity shares;
• The Company could not be required to net cash settle the stock purchase contract;
• The Company has sufficient authorized and unissued shares available to settle the stock purchase contract; and
• There is an explicit limit on the number of shares of common stock required to be delivered under the stock purchase contract.
Based on the Company’s review of the above criterion and other relevant technical requirements, the stock purchase contracts are included in equity.
Foreign Currency Translation—Assets and liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated into
U.S. dollars, the functional currency of the Company, using the exchange rate in effect at each period end. Revenues and expenses are translated at the
weighted average exchange rate during the period. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments arising from differences in exchange rates from
period to period are deferred and included in AOCI for subsidiaries whose functional currency is their local currency. Currency transaction gains or losses,
derived on monetary assets and liabilities stated in a currency other than the functional currency, are recognized in current operations and have not been
significant to the Company’s operating results in any period.
Advertising and Market Development—Advertising production costs are expensed when the initial advertisement is run. Costs of print advertising are
expensed as the services are received.
Share-Based Payments—Effective July 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment and Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107, Share-Based Payment, using the modified prospective application method to account for its share-based compensation plans. On November 10,
2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3 – Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment
Awards, which the Company has elected to adopt. This allows the Company to use the alternative transition method provided for calculating the tax effects
of share-based compensation pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R).
Under this transition method, compensation cost includes the portion of options and awards vesting in the period for (1) all share-based payments
granted prior to but not vested as of July 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and (2) all share-based payments granted subsequent to July 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation cost for options granted prior to July 1, 2005 is recognized on an accelerated
amortization method over the vesting period of the options using an estimated forfeiture rate. Compensation cost for options granted on or after July 1, 2005
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period using an estimated forfeiture rate.
93

Table of Contents

Upon adoption, the Company began expensing options as compensation and benefits with a one-time pre-tax credit of $2.8 million in cumulative
effect of accounting change related to estimated forfeitures on restricted stock awards. Results for prior periods have not been restated. Prior to July 1, 2005,
the Company accounted for its employee stock options and awards under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees, and related interpretations, and accordingly, did not record compensation costs for option grants to employees if the exercise price equaled the
fair market value on the grant date. Additionally, for restricted stock awards, compensation was recorded on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the
awards with forfeitures recorded as they occurred.
The following table illustrates the effect on the Company’s reported net income and net income per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation in periods prior to July 1, 2005 (dollars in thousands, except per share
amounts):
Year Ended
December 31,
2005

Net income, as reported
Add back: Stock-based employee compensation expense, net of tax included in reported net income, net of tax
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value-based method for all awards, net of tax
Pro forma net income

$ 430,412
11,356
(18,733)
$ 423,035

Income per share:
Basic—as reported

$

1.16

Basic—pro forma

$

1.14

Diluted—as reported

$

1.12

Diluted—pro forma

$

1.10

The underlying assumptions to these fair value calculations are discussed in Note 20—Employee Share-Based Payments and Other Benefits.
Comprehensive Income—The Company’s comprehensive income is comprised of net income (loss), foreign currency cumulative translation
adjustments, unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities and the effective portion of the unrealized gains
(losses) on financial derivatives in cash flow hedge relationships, net of reclassification adjustments and related taxes.
Earnings Per Share—Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average common shares outstanding
for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were
exercised or converted into common stock. The mandatory convertible notes, as discussed in Note 15—Corporate Debt, will be reflected in diluted earnings
(loss) per share calculations using the treasury stock method as defined by SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. Under this method, the number of shares of
common stock used in calculating diluted earnings per share (based on the settlement formula applied at the end of the reporting period) is deemed to be
increased by the excess, if any, of the number of shares that would be issued upon settlement of the purchase contracts less the number of shares that could be
purchased by the Company in the market at the average market price during the period.
Financial Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—The Company enters into derivative transactions to hedge against the risk of market price
or interest rate movements on the value of certain assets, liabilities and future cash flows. The Company must also recognize certain contracts and
commitments as derivatives, whether freestanding or embedded, when the characteristics of those contracts and commitments meet the definition of a
derivative promulgated by SFAS No. 133, as amended.
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Each derivative is recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as a freestanding asset or liability. Financial derivative instruments in hedging
relationships that mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of assets or liabilities are considered fair value hedges under SFAS No. 133, as amended.
Financial derivative instruments designated in hedging relationships that mitigate the exposure to the variability in expected future cash flows or other
forecasted transactions are considered cash flow hedges. The Company formally documents at inception all relationships between hedging instruments and
hedged items and the risk management objective and strategy for each hedge transaction.
Fair value hedges are accounted for by recording the fair value of the financial derivative instrument and the change in fair value of the asset or
liability being hedged on the consolidated balance sheet with the net difference, or hedge ineffectiveness, reported as fair value adjustments of financial
derivatives in other expense excluding interest in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Cash payments or receipts and related accruals during the
reporting period on derivatives included in fair value hedge relationships are recorded as an adjustment to interest income on the hedged asset or liability. If
a financial derivative in a fair value hedging relationship is no longer effective, de-designated from its hedging relationship or terminated, the Company
discontinues fair value hedge accounting for the derivative and the hedged item. Changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments no longer
designated in an accounting hedge relationship are recorded in gain (loss) on loans and securities, net, in the consolidated statement of income (loss). The
accumulated adjustment of the carrying amount of the hedged interest-earning asset or liability is recognized in earnings as an adjustment to interest income
over the expected remaining life of the asset using the effective interest method.
Cash flow hedges are accounted for by recording the fair value of the financial derivative instrument as either a freestanding asset or a freestanding
liability in the consolidated balance sheet, with the effective portion of the change in fair value of the financial derivative recorded in AOCI, net of tax in the
consolidated balance sheet. Amounts are then included in operating interest expense as a yield adjustment in the same period the hedged forecasted
transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the financial derivative is reported as fair value adjustments of financial
derivatives in other expense excluding interest in the consolidated statement of income (loss). If it becomes probable that a hedged forecasted transaction
will not occur, amounts included in AOCI related to the specific hedging instruments are reported as gain (loss) on loans and securities, net in the
consolidated statement of income (loss). Derivative gains and losses that are not held as accounting hedges are recognized as gain (loss) on loans and
securities, net in the consolidated statement of income (loss) as these derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, as amended. If a
financial derivative ceases to be highly effective as a hedge, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively and the financial derivative instrument
continues to be recorded at fair value with changes in fair value being reported in the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net line item in the consolidated
statement of income (loss).
Revenue Recognition
Operating Interest Income—Operating interest income is recognized as earned on interest-earning assets, customer margin receivable balances, stock
borrow balances, cash required to be segregated under regulatory guidelines and fees on customer assets invested in money market funds. Operating interest
income includes the effect of hedges on interest-earning assets.
Operating Interest Expense—Operating interest expense is recognized as incurred on interest-bearing liabilities, customer credit balances, interest paid
to banks and interest paid to other broker-dealers through a subsidiary’s stock loan program. Operating interest expense includes the effect of hedges on
interest-bearing liabilities.
Commission—The Company derives commission revenue from its retail and institutional customers. Commission revenue from securities transactions
are recognized on a trade date basis. The Company receives commissions for providing certain institutional customers with market research and other
information, which is a common industry practice. Direct costs from these arrangements are expensed as the commissions are received, in proportion to the
cost of the total arrangement. As a result, payments for independent research are deferred or accrued to properly match expenses at the time commission
revenue is earned. For these arrangements, payments
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for independent research of $2.9 million were deferred and costs of $6.1 million were accrued at December 31, 2007 and payments of $5.2 million were
deferred and costs of $16.6 million were accrued at December 31, 2006.
Fees and Service Charges—Fees and service charges consist of account maintenance fees, servicing fee income, payments for order flow, foreign
exchange margin revenue, 12b-1 fees after rebates, fixed income product revenue and management fee revenue. Account maintenance fees are charges to the
customer either quarterly or annually and are accrued as earned. Payments for order flow are accrued in the same period in which the related securities
transactions are completed or related services are rendered.
Principal Transactions—Principal transactions consist primarily of revenue from market-making activities. Market-making activities are the matching
of buyers and sellers of securities and include transactions where the Company will purchase securities for its balance sheet with the intention of resale to
transact the customer’s buy or sell order.
Gain (Loss) on Loans and Securities, Net—Gains or losses on sales of originated loans are recognized at the date of settlement and are based on the
difference between the cash received and the carrying value of the related loans sold, less related transaction costs. In cases where the Company retains the
servicing rights associated with loans sold, the gain (loss) recognized is the difference between cash received and the allocated basis of the loans sold, less the
related transaction costs. In accordance with SFAS No. 140, the allocated basis of the loans, which is determined at the sale date, is the result of the allocation
of basis between the loans sold and the associated servicing right, based on the relative fair values of the loans at the date of transfer.
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net includes gains or losses resulting from sales of loans purchased for resale; the sale or impairment of availablefor-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities; and gains or losses on financial derivatives that are not accounted for as hedging instruments under
SFAS No. 133, as amended. Gains or losses resulting from the sale of loans are recognized at the date of settlement and are based on the difference between
the cash received and the carrying value of the related loans, less related transaction costs. Nonrefundable fees and direct costs associated with the origination
of mortgage loans are deferred and recognized when the related loans are sold. Gains or losses resulting from the sale of available-for-sale securities are
recognized at the trade date, based on the difference between the anticipated proceeds and the amortized cost of the specific securities sold.
Other Revenue—Other revenue primarily consists of stock plan administration services and other revenue ancillary to the Company’s retail customer
transactions. Stock plan administration services are recognized in accordance with applicable accounting guidance, including Statement of Position 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition.
New Accounting Standards—Below are the new accounting pronouncements that relate to activities in which the Company is engaged.
SFAS No. 157—Fair Value Measurements
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This statement establishes, among other things, a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosure requirements as they relate to fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value as the exchange price
that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are to be applied prospectively, except for
changes in fair value measurements that result from the initial application of SFAS No. 157 to existing derivative financial instruments measured under EITF
Issue No. 02-3, existing hybrid instruments measured at fair value and block discounts, which are to be recorded as an adjustment to opening retained
earnings in the year of adoption. The Company adopted this statement on January 1, 2008 for financial assets and financial liabilities and for nonfinancial
assets and nonfinancial liabilities
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that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the effects of which were not material to the financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows. The Company elected to defer adoption of this statement until January 1, 2009 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial
liabilities that are not recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, for which, the Company does not expect the
adoption of this statement to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in future periods.
SFAS No. 159—The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This Statement provides an
option under which a company may irrevocably elect fair value as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for certain financial assets and financial
liabilities. This fair value option will be available on a contract-by-contract basis with changes in fair value recognized in earnings as those changes occur.
The Company adopted this statement on January 1, 2008. The Company elected the fair value option for Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”)
and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”) preferred stock. The impact of this adoption was an after-tax decrease to opening retained
earnings as of January 1, 2008 of approximately $86.9 million.
FIN No. 48—Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement 109
In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, which became effective for the Company on January 1, 2007. The interpretation prescribes a recognition
threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The amount
recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company’s
reassessment of its tax positions in accordance with FIN 48 did not have a material impact on the results of operations, financial condition or liquidity. The
impact of adoption was a $14.9 million reduction to beginning retained earnings. For additional information regarding the adoption of FIN 48, see Note 17—
Income Taxes.
Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 109—Written Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through Earnings
In November 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 109, Written Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through Earnings (“SAB
No. 109”), which becomes effective for the Company January 1, 2008. SAB No. 109 supersedes SAB No. 105, Application of Accounting Principles to Loan
Commitments (“SAB No. 105”), and states, consistent with the guidance in SFAS No. 156 and SFAS No. 159, that the expected net future cash flows related to
the associated servicing of the loan should be included in the measurement of all written loan commitments that are accounted for at fair value through
earnings. SAB No. 109 retains the view expressed in SAB No. 105 that internally developed intangible assets (such as customer relationship intangible
assets) should not be recorded as part of the fair value of a derivative loan commitment and broadens its application to all written loan commitments that are
accounted for at fair value through earnings. The Company does not expect the adoption of SAB No. 109 to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
NOTE 2—BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The Company did not complete any business combinations in 2007. During 2006 and 2005, the Company completed several business combinations
and asset acquisitions which were all accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase prices have been allocated to the net assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The results of operations of each are included in the
Company’s consolidated statement of income from the date of each acquisition.
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2006 Acquisitions
Retirement Advisors of America
On August 1, 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of RAA, a Dallas, Texas-based investment advisor managing over $1 billion in assets. The
aggregate purchase price of approximately $24.9 million included $19.8 million, or 0.8 million shares, in common stock issued and $5.1 million in cash. At
acquisition, the purchase price included approximately $0.1 million in net assets acquired, $9.5 million in customer list and other intangibles and $1.6
million held in escrow, with the remaining $13.7 million recorded as goodwill. As of December 31, 2007, none of the purchase price remained in escrow. The
intangible assets will be amortized over approximately 18 years on an accelerated basis from the date of acquisition.
2005 Acquisitions
BrownCo
On November 30, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of BrownCo, an online discount brokerage business with approximately 186,000
customer accounts, from JP Morgan Chase & Co. for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $1,629.7 million in cash including $691.8 million, or
39.7 million shares, in common stock issued. At acquisition, the purchase price included approximately $306.6 million in net assets acquired, $269.7 million
in customer list and noncompete intangibles, $9.0 million in contracts and employee termination liabilities, with the remaining $1,062.4 million recorded as
goodwill. Regulatory capital of $294.5 million was included in the purchase price. The intangible assets will be amortized over approximately 21 years on an
accelerated basis from the date of acquisition.
Harrisdirect
On October 6, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of Harrisdirect, a U.S.-based online discount brokerage business with approximately
425,000 customer accounts, from BMO Financial Group for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $709.0 million in cash. At acquisition, the
purchase price included approximately $22.3 million in net assets acquired, $156.4 million in customer list and noncompete intangibles, $11.1 million in
contract and employee termination liabilities, with the remaining $541.4 million recorded as goodwill. Regulatory capital of $16.0 million was included in
the purchase price. The intangible assets will be amortized over approximately 19 years on an accelerated basis from the date of acquisition.
Wealth Management Advisors
The Company acquired Kobren on November 2, 2005 and Howard Capital on January 1, 2005. Both companies are registered investment advisory
firms. At acquisition, the companies combined had over $1.5 billion in assets under management. The Company recorded $24.6 million of intangible assets
and $7.6 million of goodwill related to the acquisitions. The intangible assets will be amortized over approximately 20 years on an accelerated basis from the
date of acquisition. In accordance with the terms of the acquisitions, the Company may pay additional cash and stock if certain revenue and earnings targets
are met. As of December 31, 2007, the Company estimates it will pay an additional $31.8 million related to these milestones, based on the most current
projections.
NOTE 3—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The Company had no discontinued operations in 2007. In 2006, the Company completed the sale of E*TRADE Professional Trading, LLC. In 2005,
the Company sold its Consumer Finance Corporation and exited the institutional proprietary trading business conducted by E*TRADE Professional
Securities, LLC. All of these transactions, except Consumer Finance Corporation’s servicing operations, were accounted for as discontinued operations as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005.
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Below is a table summarizing the gains (losses), net of taxes, resulting from the sale and closure of discontinued operations (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,

E*TRADE Professional (1)
Consumer Finance Corporation-origination business(2)
Gain, net of tax, on disposal of discontinued operations
(1)
(2)

2006

2005

$2,593
173
$2,766

$(2,421)
6,444
$ 4,023

The sale of E*TRADE Professional Trading, LLC and the exit of the institutional proprietary trading business conducted by E*TRADE Professional Securities, LLC were included in the results of the
institutional segment.
The sale of Consumer Finance Corporation was included in the results of the retail segment. The gain on the servicing business, which was not accounted for as a discontinued operation, is recorded in
facility restructuring and other exit activities.

E*TRADE Professional Securities, LLC and E*TRADE Professional Trading, LLC
In May 2005, the Company closed E*TRADE Professional Securities, LLC, a unit that conducted proprietary trading operations. This closure resulted
in a $2.4 million loss, net of tax, on disposal of discontinued operations, which included employee terminations, facility closure and impairment of goodwill
and other intangibles. In December 2005, the Company decided to sell its professional agency business, E*TRADE Professional Trading, LLC. The Company
executed and settled this transaction during the year ended December 31, 2006 and recorded approximately $2.6 million in gain, net of tax, on the sale.
The Company does not have significant continuing involvement in the operations of either its proprietary trading or its professional agency businesses
and does not continue any significant revenue-producing or cost-generating activities of these businesses. Therefore, the Company’s results of operations, net
of income taxes, include these businesses as discontinued operations on the Company’s consolidated statement of income for all periods presented.
The following table summarizes the results of discontinued operations for the proprietary and agency trading businesses (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2006

2005

Net revenue

$ 5,526

$ 21,408

Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax benefit
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

$(1,181)
(460)
$ (721)

$(11,103)
(3,784)
$ (7,319)

Consumer Finance Corporation
In October 2005, the Company completed the sale of the servicing and origination businesses of Consumer Finance Corporation. The exit of the
servicing business did not qualify as a discontinued operation; however, the origination business did qualify as a discontinued operation. The sale resulted in
a pre-tax gain of $46.1 million upon close, $35.5 million relating to the servicing business and $10.6 million ($6.4 million, net of tax), relating to the
origination business. In September 2006, the Company finalized certain post sale contingencies with the purchaser which resulted in a $0.2 million gain, net
of tax.
The Company has not had significant continuing involvement in the operations of the servicing business but continues to have significant costgenerating activities in the form of a servicing agreement. As such, the
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servicing business does not qualify as a discontinued operation. The Company does not have significant continuing involvement in the operations of the
origination business and does not continue any significant revenue-producing or cost-generating activities of the origination business. Therefore, the results
of operations, net of income taxes, of this origination business are presented as discontinued operations on the Company’s consolidated statement of income
for all periods presented.
The following table summarizes the results of discontinued operations for the origination business (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2005

Net loss

$

(7,750)

Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax benefit
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

$ (22,959)
(8,783)
$ (14,176)

NOTE 4—FACILITY RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER EXIT ACTIVITIES
Restructuring liabilities are included in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. The following table
summarizes the expense recognized by the Company as facility restructuring and other exit activities for the periods presented (dollars in thousands):
2007

Restructuring of institutional equity business
Exit of wholesale mortgage origination channel
2003 Restructuring Plan
2001 Restructuring Plan
Exit of Consumer Finance Corporation—servicing business
Other exit activities
Total facility restructuring and other exit activities

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$17,094
3,621
11
(500)
—
13,000
$33,226

$

—
—
(963)
(367)
—
29,867
$28,537

2005

$

—
—
2,002
1,096
(35,496)
2,381
$(30,017)

Exit of Non-Core Operations
Toward the end of the third quarter in 2007, the Company announced a plan to simplify and streamline the business by exiting and/or restructuring
certain non-core operations, including the wholesale mortgage origination channel and the institutional equity business.
Institutional Equity Business
In institutional, the Company has taken steps to restructure the institutional equity business to focus on areas that complement order flow generated by
retail customers. As a result of this exit, the Company incurred costs of $9.1 million for facilities consolidation and asset write-off costs, $7.0 million in
severance costs and $1.0 million of other costs related to the exit for the year ended December 31, 2007. The total charge for this exit activity is expected to
be between $20.0 million and $25.0 million, all of which will be recorded to the institutional segment.
Wholesale Mortgage Origination Channel
In lending, the Company exited its wholesale mortgage origination channel, and repositioned the lending business to focus on direct retail
originations. As a result of this exit, the Company incurred costs of $2.7 million
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for facilities consolidation and asset write-off costs and $0.9 million in severance costs for the year ended December 31, 2007. The facility consolidation
charge primarily related to charges to exit the facilities located in San Ramon, CA, Englewood, CO and Melville, NY. The total charge for this exit activity
was $3.6 million, majority of which has been recorded in the retail segment. The Company expects to incur charges in future periods as it periodically
evaluates the estimates made in connection with this activity; however, the Company does not expect those costs to be significant.
2003 Restructuring Plan
In April 2003, the Company announced a restructuring plan (“2003 Restructuring Plan”) exiting and consolidating leased facilities and exiting and
disposing of certain unprofitable product offerings and initiatives. The original 2003 facility consolidation charge primarily related to charges to exit the
E*TRADE Financial Center in New York and consolidation of excess facilities located in Menlo Park and Rancho Cordova, California. The E*TRADE
Financial Center in New York, encompassing approximately 31,000 square feet, was used by customers to access the Company’s products and services and
served as an introduction point for new customers to the Company’s products and services. The Company exited this center as it was not cost effective to
engage in these activities within a facility of its size, and subsequently, opened an approximately 2,000 square foot new center in New York that was more
cost effective. The leased California facilities were used for corporate and administrative functions and were exited as the Company consolidated employees
into nearby offices and moved certain functions to its offices in Virginia.
The other charges related to the exit or write-off of unprofitable product lines and the early termination of certain contracts, such as the revenue sharing
agreements associated with 43 E*TRADE Zones located in Target stores. These unprofitable product lines consisted of our Stock Basket product offered to
customers and our online advisory service, eAdvisor, a joint initiative with Enlight Holdings, LLC. The Company terminated its revenue sharing agreements
associated with its Zones in Target stores to focus on other methods of reaching its current and potential customers.
In 2004, the Company completed its exit of the Enlight Holdings, LLC product offering resulting in adjustments to estimated costs associated with its
exit. In 2007 and 2006, the Company made additional adjustments to previously estimated costs associated with the consolidation of facilities in California.
The rollforward of the 2003 Restructuring Plan reserve is presented below (dollars in thousands):
Facility
Consolidation

Total 2003 Restructuring Reserve, originally recorded in 2003
Activity through December 31, 2005:
Adjustments and additional charges
Cash payments
Non-cash charges
Restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2005
Activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:
Adjustments and additional charges
Cash payments
Restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2006
Activity for the year ended December 31, 2007:
Adjustments and additional charges
Non-cash charges
Cash payments
Total facility restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2007

$

55,010

Other

Total

$ 57,960

$112,970

4,500
(21,539)
(19,254)
18,717

$
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(641)
(18,949)
(38,370)
—

3,859
(40,488)
(57,624)
18,717

(963)
(4,832)
12,922

—
—
—

(963)
(4,832)
12,922

11
92
(5,287)
7,738

—
—
—
—

11
92
(5,287)
$ 7,738

$
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2001 Restructuring Plan
In August 2001, the Company announced a restructuring plan (“2001 Restructuring Plan”) aimed at streamlining operations primarily by
consolidating facilities in the United States and Europe. The restructuring was designed to consolidate certain facilities, bring together key decision-makers
and streamline operations. The original 2001 restructuring charge related to facility consolidation represents the undiscounted value of ongoing lease
commitments, offset by anticipated third-party sublease revenues, the write-off of capitalized software, hardware and other fixed assets and other costs.
Subsequent to 2001, the Company recognized additional facility consolidation adjustments, as a result of updated estimates of sublease income and sublease
start dates, driven by economic circumstances. The rollforward of the 2001 Restructuring Plan reserve is presented below (dollars in thousands):

Total 2001 Restructuring Reserve, originally recorded in 2001
Activity through December 31, 2005:
Adjustments and additional charges
Cash payments
Non-cash charges
Restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2005
Activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:
Adjustments and additional charges
Cash payments
Restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2006
Activity for the year ended December 31, 2007:
Adjustments and additional charges
Non-cash charges
Cash payments
Total facility restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2007

Facility
Consolidation

Asset
Write-Off

Other

Total

$ 128,469

$ 52,532

$ 21,764

$ 202,765

21,947
(101,698)
(41,263)
7,455

$

1,852
(507)
(53,877)
—

4,272
(19,434)
(5,810)
792

28,071
(121,639)
(100,950)
8,247

(732)
(2,030)
4,693

—
—
—

365
(1,073)
84

(367)
(3,103)
4,777

(416)
(37)
(993)
3,247

—
—
—
—

(84)
—
—
—

(500)
(37)
(993)
3,247

$

$

$

Exit of Consumer Finance Business
On October 31, 2005, the Company’s retail segment completed the sale of the servicing and origination businesses of Consumer Finance Corporation
to GE Capital resulting in a pre-tax gain of $46.1 million. The pre-tax gain from the servicing business of $35.5 million is reflected in other exit activity as
the servicing business was not deemed to be a discontinued operation. (See Note 3—Discontinued Operations for additional information).
Other Exit Activities
In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company decided to consolidate and relocate certain of its facilities. The Company incurred $9.2 million related to
facilities consolidation and relocation primarily related to the operating leases in Arlington, VA and Tampa, FL. Additionally, the Company incurred $3.1
million in connection with reorganizing the management structure of the Balance Sheet Management business, including changing the nature and focus of
its operations.
In 2006, the Company decided to relocate certain functions out of the state of California as well as outsource certain clearing operations and costs
related to the relocation of certain accounting functions. The Company incurred charges of $0.9 million and $29.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively, related to costs for exiting those facilities. The total charge for this exit activity was $30.1 million,
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all of which has been recorded in the retail segment. The Company expects to incur charges in future periods as it periodically evaluates the estimates made
in connection with this activity; however, the Company does not expect those costs to be significant.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, other exit activities were primarily related to the liquidation of the E*TRADE Money Market Funds, partially
offset by the revision of previous estimates of various exit activities. The liquidation costs primarily related to customer notification, severance and
reimbursement of losses taken on sales of securities.
Facility Consolidation Obligations
The components of the facility consolidation restructuring liabilities for the 2003 and 2001 Restructuring Plans and other exit activities at
December 31, 2007 and their timing are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Sublease Income

Years ending December 31,
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total future facility consolidation obligations

Discounted
Rents and
Sublease

Facilities
Obligations

Contracted

Estimate

$ 15,722
11,533
7,861
1,694
1,708
773
$ 39,291

$ (1,837)
(1,683)
(838)
—
—
—
$ (4,358)

$ (2,431)
(4,530)
(3,977)
(1,502)
(1,518)
(627)
$(14,585)

$

(818)
(386)
(121)
(35)
(21)
(5)
$ (1,386)

Net

$10,636
4,934
2,925
157
169
141
$18,962

NOTE 5—OPERATING INTEREST INCOME AND OPERATING INTEREST EXPENSE
The following table shows the components of operating interest income and operating interest expense (dollars in thousands):

Operating interest income:
Loans, net
Mortgage-backed and investment securities
Margin receivables
Other
Total operating interest income
Operating interest expense:
Deposits
Repurchase agreements and other borrowings
FHLB advances
Other
Total operating interest expense
Net operating interest income
103

2007

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

$ 1,986,034
880,217
519,099
184,361
3,569,711

$ 1,364,873
754,340
474,500
180,966
2,774,679

$ 828,717
524,243
159,442
137,862
1,650,264

(821,955)
(643,382)
(364,442)
(130,877)
(1,960,656)
$ 1,609,055

(531,217)
(549,085)
(165,545)
(128,800)
(1,374,647)
$ 1,400,032

(232,312)
(374,337)
(126,495)
(46,020)
(779,164)
$ 871,100
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NOTE 6—AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE MORTGAGE-BACKED AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES
The amortized cost basis and estimated fair values of available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities are shown in the following tables
(dollars in thousands):
Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Estimated
Fair Values

86
2
88

$ (308,633)
(47,107)
(355,740)

$ 9,330,129
1,123,255
10,453,384

320,521
36,557
78,836
435,914

58
2,134
1
2,193

(6,231)
(3,412)
(1,546)
(11,189)

314,348
35,279
77,291
426,918

505,498
1,460
980
943,852
$ 11,752,888

—
—
1,091
3,284
$ 3,372

(134,094)
(189)
—
(145,472)
$ (501,212)

371,404
1,271
2,071
801,664
$ 11,255,048

$ 9,375,444
1,127,650
10,503,094

$

688
296
984

$ (266,825)
(19,561)
(286,386)

$ 9,109,307
1,108,385
10,217,692

2,163,538
620,261
105,692
80,623
2,970,114

9,929
13,316
481
—
23,726

(11,739)
(830)
(1,655)
(5,743)
(19,967)

2,161,728
632,747
104,518
74,880
2,973,873

455,801
12,040
2,930
3,440,885
$ 13,943,979

4,905
13,691
463
42,785
$ 43,769

(2,032)
(1,592)
—
(23,591)
$ (309,977)

458,674
24,139
3,393
3,460,079
$ 13,677,771

Amortized
Cost

December 31, 2007:
Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Total mortgage-backed securities
Investment securities:
Debt securities:
Municipal bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Total debt securities
Publicly traded equity securities:
Preferred stock
Corporate investments
Retained interests from securitizations
Total investment securities
Total available-for-sale securities

$ 9,638,676
1,170,360
10,809,036

December 31, 2006:
Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Total mortgage-backed securities
Investment securities:
Debt securities:
Asset-backed securities
Municipal bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Total debt securities
Publicly traded equity securities:
Preferred stock
Corporate investments
Retained interests from securitizations
Total investment securities
Total available-for-sale securities
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Contractual Maturities
The contractual maturities of available-for-sale debt securities, including mortgage-backed and debt securities, at December 31, 2007 are shown below
(dollars in thousands):
Amortized
Cost

Due within one year
Due within one to five years
Due within five to ten years
Due after ten years
Total available-for-sale debt securities

$

12,086
488
78,159
11,154,217
$ 11,244,950

Estimated
Fair Value

$

14,212
482
76,613
10,788,995
$ 10,880,302

The Company pledged $10.1 billion and $11.1 billion at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, of available-for-sale securities as collateral for
federal reserves, repurchase agreements and short-term borrowings.
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Investments
The following tables show the fair values and unrealized losses on investments, aggregated by investment category, and the length of time that
individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position (dollars in thousands):
Less than 12 Months
Fair
Unrealized
Values
Losses

December 31, 2007:
Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Debt securities:
Municipal bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Publicly traded equity securities:
Preferred stock
Corporate investments
Total temporarily impaired securities
December 31, 2006:
Mortgage-backed securities:
Backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies
Collateralized mortgage obligations and other
Debt securities:
Asset-backed securities
Municipal bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Publicly traded equity securities:
Preferred stock
Corporate investments
Total temporarily impaired securities

$1,394,002
537,522

Total
Fair
Values

Unrealized
Losses

(6,802)
(25,415)

$7,849,331
585,629

$(301,831)
(21,692)

$ 9,243,333
1,123,151

$(308,633)
(47,107)

272,698
—
—

(4,898)
—
—

29,052
21,935
76,433

(1,333)
(3,412)
(1,546)

301,750
21,935
76,433

(6,231)
(3,412)
(1,546)

355,942
—
$2,560,164

(134,094)
—
$(171,209)

—
173
$8,562,553

—
(189)
$(330,003)

355,942
173
$11,122,717

(134,094)
(189)
$(501,212)

$1,482,684
399,779

$ (38,671)
(2,258)

$7,551,572
640,811

$(228,154)
(17,303)

$ 9,034,256
1,040,590

$(266,825)
(19,561)

358,628
58,548
765
—

(2,520)
(467)
(23)
—

629,889
28,326
72,661
72,750

(9,219)
(363)
(1,632)
(5,743)

988,517
86,874
73,426
72,750

(11,739)
(830)
(1,655)
(5,743)

37,663
8,486
$2,346,553

(420)
(1,386)
$ (45,745)

25,971
156
$9,022,136

(1,612)
(206)
$(264,232)

63,634
8,642
$11,368,689

(2,032)
(1,592)
$(309,977)
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The Company does not believe that any individual unrealized loss as of December 31, 2007 represents an other-than-temporary impairment. The
majority of the unrealized losses on mortgage-backed securities are attributable to changes in interest rates and a re-pricing of risk in the market.
Substantially all mortgage-backed securities backed by U.S. Government sponsored and Federal agencies are “AAA” rated. The Company has the intent and
ability to hold the securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007 until the market value recovers or the securities mature. Municipal bonds,
corporate bonds and other debt securities are evaluated by reviewing the credit-worthiness of the issuer and general market conditions.
Within the securities portfolio, the asset-backed securities portfolio had the greatest exposure to the crisis in the residential real estate and credit
markets. Based on its evaluation, the Company recorded other-than-temporary impairment charges for its asset-backed securities of $168.7 million in the
second half of 2007. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we observed a significant decline in the fair value of our entire asset-backed securities portfolio. The
declines in fair value followed a series of rating agency downgrades of securities in this sector, which we believe led to a substantial decline in secondary
market liquidity for these securities.
In connection with the Citadel Investment in the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company sold the entire asset-backed securities portfolio for a loss of $2.2
billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The Company recorded $2.8 million and $40.3 million of impairment charges in its securities portfolios for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The detailed components of the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net and gain on sales of investments, net line items on the consolidated statement of
income (loss) are shown below.
Gain (Loss) on Loans and Securities, Net
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net are as follows (dollars in thousands):
2007

Realized gain on sales of originated loans
Realized loss on sales of loans held-for-sale
Gain (loss) on securities, net
Realized gains on sales of available-for-sale securities
Realized losses on sales of available-for-sale securities
Realized loss on asset-backed securities sale to Citadel
Losses on impairment
Gains (loss) on sales of trading securities
Total gain (loss) on securities, net
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net

$

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

5,227
(9,141)

$ 12,018
(6,775)

$ 54,847
(1,208)

23,399
(26,310)
(2,241,031)
(168,739)
(33,441)
(2,446,122)
$(2,450,036)

70,710
(17,494)
—
(1,504)
(969)
50,743
$ 55,986

171,767
(98,603)
—
(38,343)
10,398
45,219
$ 98,858

Gain on Sales of Investments, Net
Gain on sales of investments, net are as follows (dollars in thousands):
2007

Realized gain on sales of publicly traded equity securities
Other(1)
Gain on sales of investments, net
(1)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$36,053
(73)
$35,980

$71,815
(1,019)
$70,796

2005

$82,667
477
$83,144

Includes realized gain of $1.0 million and $2.5 million and impairments on retained interests from securitizations of $1.3 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. There was no activity related to retained interests in 2007.
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In 2007, the gain on sales of publicly traded equity securities was primarily a result of the sales of the Company’s holdings in E*TRADE Australia and
E*TRADE Korea. In 2006, the gains on sales of publicly traded equity securities primarily included the sales of the Company’s holdings in International
Securities Exchange and Softbank Investment Corporation of $64.2 million and $7.5 million respectively. In 2005 the gain primarily included the sale of the
Company’s holdings in Softbank Investment Corporation.
NOTE 7—LOANS, NET
Loans, net are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,
2007

Loans held-for-sale
Loans receivable, net:
One- to four-family
Home equity
Consumer and other loans:
Recreational vehicle
Marine
Commercial
Credit card
Other
Total consumer and other loans
Total loans receivable
Unamortized premiums, net
Allowance for loan losses
Total loans receivable, net
Total loans, net

$

100,539
15,506,529
11,901,324

1,910,454
526,580
272,156
90,764
23,334
2,823,288
30,231,141
315,866
(508,164)
30,038,843
$ 30,139,382

2006

$

283,496
10,870,214
11,809,008

2,292,356
651,764
219,008
128,583
81,239
3,372,950
26,052,172
388,153
(67,628)
26,372,697
$ 26,656,193

In addition to these loans, the Company had commitments to originate, buy and sell loans at December 31, 2007 (see Note 23—Commitments,
Contingencies and Other Regulatory Matters).
The following table shows the percentage of adjustable and fixed-rate loans in the Company’s portfolio (dollars in thousands):
December 31, 2007
$ Amount
% of Total

Adjustable rate loans:
One- to four-family
Home equity
Consumer and other
Total adjustable rate loans
Fixed rate loans
Total loans(1)
(1)

$11,853,216
8,367,860
363,482
20,584,558
9,747,481
$30,332,039

39.1%
27.6
1.2
67.9
32.1
100.0%

December 31, 2006
$ Amount
% of Total

$ 5,425,627
8,005,452
347,591
13,778,670
12,553,307
$26,331,977

20.6%
30.4
1.3
52.3
47.7
100.0%

Includes the principal of held-for-sale loans of $0.1 billion and $0.3 billion at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

The weighted-average remaining maturity of mortgage loans secured by one- to four-family residences was 337 and 340 months at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. Additionally, all mortgage loans outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006 in the held-for-investment portfolio were serviced by
other companies.
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The Company actively sells loans including loans that it originally purchased from third parties. A summary of these activities is presented below
(dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

Loans sold:
Originated
Purchased
Total loans sold
Gain (loss) on sales of loans:
Originated
Purchased
Total gain (loss) on sales of loans, net

2005

$ 1,354,523
885,026
$ 2,239,549

$

907,524
590,211
$ 1,497,735

$ 2,728,094
1,028,747
$ 3,756,841

$

$

$

$

5,227
(9,141)
(3,914)

$

12,018
(6,775)
5,243

$

54,847
(1,208)
53,639

Activity in the allowance for loan losses is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
2007

Allowance for loan losses, beginning of period
Provision for loan losses
Charge-offs
Recoveries
Net charge-offs
Allowance for loan losses, end of period

$ 67,628
640,078
(227,679)
28,137
(199,542)
$ 508,164

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$ 63,286
44,970
(61,843)
21,215
(40,628)
$ 67,628

2005

$ 47,681
54,016
(56,847)
18,436
(38,411)
$ 63,286

During 2007, the allowance for loan losses increased by $440.5 million. This increase was driven primarily by an increase of $427.5 million in the
allowance allocated to the home equity loan portfolio, which deteriorated significantly during the second half of 2007.
Net charge-offs for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by $158.9 million compared to the same period in 2006. The overall increase was
primarily due to higher net charge-offs on home equity loans, which was driven mainly by the deterioration of the home equity loan portfolio, described
above.
We classify loans as nonperforming when full and timely collection of interest or principal becomes uncertain or when they are 90 days past due. The
following table provides the breakout of nonperforming loans by type (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

One- to four-family (1)
Home equity
Credit card
Recreational vehicle
Other
Total nonperforming loans
(1)

One- to four-family excludes held-for-sale loans of $0.1 million and $0.6 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
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2007

2006

$ 181,315
229,523
3,769
2,235
1,600
$ 418,442

$ 33,588
32,216
3,795
2,579
2,532
$ 74,710
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If the Company’s nonperforming loans at December 31, 2007 had been performing in accordance with their terms, the Company would have recorded
additional interest income of approximately $19.9 million, $1.9 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. During 2007, we recognized $18.4 million in interest on loans that were in nonperforming status at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, there were no commitments to lend additional funds to any of these borrowers.
During the first quarter of 2007, the Company entered into a credit default swap (“CDS”) on $4.0 billion of its first-lien residential real estate loan
portfolio through a synthetic securitization structure. A CDS provides, for a fee, an assumption by a third party of a portion of the credit risk related to the
underlying loans. The CDS the Company entered into provides protection for losses in excess of 10 basis points, but not to exceed approximately 75 basis
points. In addition, the Company’s regulatory risk-weighted assets were reduced as a result of this transaction because it transferred a portion of the
Company’s credit risk to an unaffiliated third party.
NOTE 8—
FOR DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
ACCOUNTING
The Company enters into derivative transactions to protect against the risk of market price or interest rate movements on the value of certain assets,
liabilities and future cash flows. The Company is also required to recognize certain contracts and commitments as derivatives when the characteristics of
those contracts and commitments meet the definition of a derivative as promulgated by SFAS No. 133, as amended.
Fair Value Hedges
Overview of Fair Value Hedges
The Company uses a combination of interest rate swaps, forward-starting swaps and purchased options on swaps to offset its exposure to changes in
value of certain fixed-rate assets and liabilities. Changes in the fair value of the derivatives and the related hedged items are recognized currently in earnings.
To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, the changes in the fair values will not offset and the difference, or hedge ineffectiveness, is reflected in other
expense excluding interest in the consolidated statement of income (loss).
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The following table summarizes information related to financial derivatives in fair value hedge relationships (dollars in thousands):
Fair Value of Derivatives

Notional
Amount of
Derivatives

December 31, 2007:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps:
Mortgage-backed securities
Receive-fixed interest rate swaps:
Corporate debt
Brokered certificates of deposit
FHLB advances
Purchased interest rate options(1):
Swaptions(2)
Total fair value hedges
December 31, 2006:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps:
Mortgage-backed securities
Recreational vehicle loans
Home equity loans
Investment securities
Asset backed securities
Receive-fixed interest rate swaps:
Brokered certificates of deposit
FHLB advances
Purchased interest rate options(1):
Caps
Swaptions(2)
Floors
Total fair value hedges
(1)
(2)

$

Asset

527,000

$

—

Pay
Rate

Weighted-Average
Receive
Strike
Rate
Rate

Remaining
Life (Years)

Liability

Net

$(21,318)

$(21,318)

5.11%

5.16%

N/A

7.00

57,760
(1,343)
(194)

7.04%
4.97%
5.03%

7.71%
5.33%
3.64%

N/A
N/A
N/A

5.32
11.46
1.79
10.20
7.29

1,214,000
110,948
100,000

57,760
—
—

—
(1,343)
(194)

905,000
$ 2,856,948

17,881
$ 75,641

—
$(22,855)

17,881
$ 52,786

N/A
6.30%

N/A
6.68%

5.40%
5.40%

$ 4,774,000
2,030,000
490,000
335,162
232,000

$ 22,399
—
—
1,128
1,013

$(25,894)
(8,046)
(2,625)
(2,887)
—

$ (3,495)
(8,046)
(2,625)
(1,759)
1,013

5.12%
5.46%
5.40%
5.07%
5.08%

5.36%
5.35%
5.35%
5.37%
5.37%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

4.20
1.62
2.16
6.69
6.52

(3,392)
(3,534)

(3,392)
(3,534)

5.31%
5.35%

5.21%
3.64%

N/A
N/A

11.41
2.79

N/A
N/A
N/A
5.22%

N/A
N/A
N/A
5.34%

5.36%
5.37%
4.74%
5.30%

2.18
10.69
4.81
4.44

127,138
100,000

—
—

6,720,000
3,338,000
1,200,000
$19,346,300

38,237
50,218
19,786
$132,781

—
—
—
$(46,378)

38,237
50,218
19,786
$ 86,403

Purchased interest rate options were used to hedge mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities.
Swaptions are options to enter swaps starting on a given day.

De-designated Fair Value Hedges
During the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, certain fair value hedges were de-designated; therefore, hedge accounting was discontinued
during those periods. The net gain or loss on the underlying transactions being hedged is amortized to operating interest expense or operating interest
income over the original forecasted period at the time of de-designation. Changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments after de-designation of fair
value hedge accounting were recorded in the gain (loss) on loans and securities, net line item in the consolidated statement of income (loss).
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Cash Flow Hedges
Overview of Cash Flow Hedges
The Company uses a combination of interest rate swaps, forward-starting swaps and purchased options on caps and floors to hedge the variability of
future cash flows associated with existing variable-rate liabilities and assets and forecasted issuances of liabilities. These cash flow hedge relationships are
treated as effective hedges as long as the future issuances of liabilities remain probable and the hedges continue to meet the requirements of SFAS No. 133, as
amended. The Company also enters into interest rate swaps to hedge changes in the future variability of cash flows of certain investment securities resulting
from changes in a benchmark interest rate. Additionally, the Company enters into forward purchase and sale agreements, which are considered cash flow
hedges, when the terms of the commitments exactly match the terms of the securities purchased or sold.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that hedge cash flows associated with repurchase agreements, FHLB advances and home equity lines of credit
are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income as unrealized gains or losses. The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income are then
included in operating interest expense or operating interest income as a yield adjustment during the same periods in which the related interest on the funding
affects earnings. During the upcoming twelve months, the Company expects to include a pre-tax amount of approximately $53.1 million of net unrealized
gains that are currently reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income in operating interest expense as a yield adjustment in the same periods in
which the related items affect earnings.
The following table summarizes information related to our financial derivatives in cash flow hedge relationships, hedging variable-rate assets and
liabilities and the forecasted issuances of liabilities (dollars in thousands):
Fair Value of Derivatives

Notional
Amount of
Derivatives

December 31, 2007:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps:
Repurchase agreements
FHLB advances
Purchased interest rate options(1):
Caps
Floors
Total cash flow hedges
December 31, 2006:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps:
Repurchase agreements
FHLB advances
Purchased interest rate options(1):
Caps
Floors
Total cash flow hedges
(1)

Asset

—
—

Pay
Rate

Weighted-Average
Receive
Strike
Rate
Rate

Liability

Net

$(136,867)
(37,748)

$(136,867)
(37,748)

5.47%
5.25%

5.13%
5.15%

N/A
N/A

Remaining
Life (Years)

$ 2,105,000
800,000

$

11.38
9.65

4,410,000
1,400,000
$ 8,715,000

26,260
31,205
$57,465

—
—
$(174,615)

26,260
31,205
$(117,150)

N/A
N/A
5.41%

N/A
N/A
5.14%

5.06%
6.86%
5.50%

2.62
2.61
5.38

$ 3,435,000
730,000

$ 7,683
3,671

$ (21,823)
(3,301)

$ (14,140)
370

5.36%
5.16%

5.36%
5.37%

N/A
N/A

5.90
8.56

4,690,000
1,900,000
$10,755,000

62,710
643
$74,707

—
—
$ (25,124)

62,710
643
$ 49,583

N/A
N/A
5.33%

N/A
N/A
5.36%

5.05%
4.05%
4.76%

3.36
2.09
4.30

Caps are used to hedge repurchase agreements and FHLB advances. Floors are used to hedge home equity lines of credit.

Under SFAS No. 133, as amended, the Company is required to record the fair value of gains and losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in
accumulated other comprehensive income in the consolidated balance sheet. In addition, during the normal course of business, the Company terminates
certain interest rate swaps and options.
111

Table of Contents

The following tables show: 1) amounts recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to derivative instruments accounted for as cash flow
hedges; 2) the notional amounts and fair values of derivatives terminated for the periods presented; and 3) the amortization of terminated interest rate swaps
included in operating interest expense and operating interest income (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

Impact on accumulated other comprehensive loss (net of taxes):
Beginning balance
Unrealized gains (losses), net
Reclassifications into earnings, net
Ending balance

$

$

Derivatives terminated during the period:
Notional
Fair value of net gains (losses) recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss
Amortization of terminated interest rate swaps and options included in operating interest expense
and operating interest income

(27,844)
(116,101)
11,722
(132,223)

$

$

(70,831)
36,409
6,578
(27,844)

2005

$

$

(118,018)
7,032
40,155
(70,831)

$11,435,000
$
(17,530)

$10,675,000
$
80,198

$17,920,000
$
2,228

$

$

$

1,090

10,043

65,110

The gains (losses) accumulated in other comprehensive loss on the derivative instruments terminated shown in the preceding table will be included in
operating interest expense and operating interest income over the periods the variable rate liabilities and hedged forecasted issuance of liabilities will affect
earnings, ranging from 16 days to more than 14 years.
The following table shows the balance in accumulated other comprehensive loss attributable to open cash flow hedges and discontinued cash flow
hedges (dollars in thousands):
2007

Accumulated other comprehensive loss balance (net of taxes) related to:
Open cash flow hedges
Discontinued cash flow hedges
Total cash flow hedges

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$(144,337)
12,114
$(132,223)

$(50,158)
22,314
$(27,844)

2005

$(36,736)
(34,095)
$(70,831)

Hedge Ineffectiveness
In accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended, the Company recognizes hedge ineffectiveness on both fair value and cash flow hedge relationships.
The amount of ineffectiveness recorded in earnings for cash flow hedges is equal to the excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the actual
derivative over the cumulative change in the fair value of a hypothetical derivative which is created to match the exact terms of the underlying instruments
being hedged. These amounts are reflected in the other expense excluding interest line item in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Cash flow and fair
value ineffectiveness are re-measured on a quarterly basis. The following table summarizes income (expense) recognized by the Company as fair value and
cash flow hedge ineffectiveness (dollars in thousands):
2007

Fair value hedges
Cash flow hedges
Total hedge ineffectiveness

Year Ended December 31,
2006
2005

$(4,673)
(336)
$(5,009)
112

$(1,409)
(93)
$(1,502)

$(4,937)
45
$(4,892)
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Mortgage Banking Activities
The Company enters into commitments to originate loans whereby the interest rate on the loan is determined prior to funding. These commitments are
referred to as Interest Rate Lock Commitments (“IRLCs”). IRLCs on loans that the Company intends to sell are considered to be derivatives and are, therefore,
recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. For purposes of determining fair value, the Company estimates the fair value of an IRLC
based on the estimated fair value of the underlying mortgage loan and the probability that the mortgage loan will fund within the terms of the IRLC. The fair
value excludes the market value associated with the anticipated sale of servicing rights related to each loan commitment. The fair value of these IRLCs was a
$0.06 million and a $0.02 million liability at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The Company also designates fair value relationships of closed loans held-for-sale against a combination of mortgage forwards and short treasury
positions. Short treasury relationships are economic hedges, rather than fair value or cash flow hedges. Short treasury positions are marked-to-market, but do
not receive hedge accounting treatment under SFAS No. 133, as amended. The mark-to-market of the mortgage forwards is included in the net change of the
IRLCs and the related hedging instruments. The fair value of the mark-to-market on closed loans was a $1.2 thousand and $1.7 million asset at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively.
IRLCs, as well as closed loans held-for-sale, expose the Company to interest rate risk. The Company manages this risk by selling mortgages or
mortgage-backed securities on a forward basis referred to as forward sale agreements. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are included as gain (loss)
on loans and securities, net in the consolidated statement of income (loss). The net change in IRLCs, closed loans, mortgage forwards and the short treasury
positions generated a net loss of $2.4 million in 2007, a net gain of $1.6 million in 2006 and a net loss of $0.4 million in 2005.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is managed by limiting activity to approved counterparties and setting aggregate exposure limits for each approved counterparty. The credit
risk, or maximum exposure, which results from interest rate swaps and purchased interest rate options is represented by the fair value of contracts that have
unrealized gains at the reporting date. Conversely, we have $197.5 million of derivative contracts with unrealized losses at December 31, 2007. The
Company pledged approximately $87.4 million of its mortgage-backed securities as collateral of derivative contracts.
While the Company does not expect that any counterparty will fail to perform, the following table shows the maximum exposure associated with each
counterparty to interest rate swaps and purchased interest rate options at December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):
Credit
Risk

Counterparty

Bank of America
Lehman Brothers
JP Morgan
Union Bank of Switzerland
Credit Suisse First Boston
Royal Bank of Scotland
Morgan Stanley
Salomon Brothers
Total exposure

$

48,161
29,136
18,878
15,562
11,047
6,164
2,215
1,943
$ 133,106
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NOTE 9—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consists of the following (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Software
Equipment and transportation (1)
Leasehold improvements
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Land
Total property and equipment, gross
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net
(1)

2007

2006

$ 464,384
216,853
115,199
71,927
33,333
3,853
905,549
(550,116)
$ 355,433

$ 390,091
197,295
92,648
72,352
31,749
3,428
787,563
(469,174)
$ 318,389

As of December 31, 2007, this includes $47.4 million of aircraft that met the criteria and are being accounted for as being held-for-sale in accordance with SFAS No. 144. The net book value of the aircraft
was $30.9 million and $34.1 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $85.4 million, $73.8 million and $75.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Software includes capitalized internally developed software costs. These costs were $64.1 million, $37.3 million and $34.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Completed projects are carried at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, generally four years. Amortization expense for the capitalized amounts was $28.8 million, $26.1 million and $31.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Also included in software at December 31, 2007 is $39.9 million of internally developed software in the process of
development for which amortization has not begun.
NOTE 10—GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES, NET
The following table discloses the changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the periods presented (dollars in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2005
Purchase accounting adjustments related to 2005 acquisitions
Additions from 2006 acquisition of RAA(1)
Additions from equity method investment in Investsmart (2)
Other adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2006
Impairment of goodwill
Reclass of equity method investment in Investsmart (2)
Write off of goodwill related to exit activities
Purchase accounting and other adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2007
(1)
(2)

$ 2,003,456
11,953
14,116
42,964
431
2,072,920
(101,208)
(42,964)
(3,741)
8,361
$ 1,933,368

Includes purchase accounting adjustments as of December 31, 2006.
The $43.0 million of goodwill related to Investsmart was reclassified to the other assets line item during 2007. See Note 11—Other Assets for further discussion.
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The following table discloses the changes in the carrying value of goodwill that occurred in the retail and institutional segments (dollars in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2005
Purchase accounting adjustments related to 2005 acquisitions
Additions from 2006 acquisition of RAA(1)
Additions from equity method investment in Investsmart (2)
Other adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2006
Impairment of goodwill
Reclass of equity method investment in Investsmart (2)
Write off of goodwill related to exit activities
Purchase accounting and other adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2007
(1)
(2)

Retail

Institutional

Total

$1,761,848
11,953
14,116
38,668
1,500
1,828,085
—
(38,668)
—
6,191
$1,795,608

$ 241,608
—
—
4,296
(1,069)
244,835
(101,208)
(4,296)
(3,741)
2,170
$ 137,760

$2,003,456
11,953
14,116
42,964
431
2,072,920
(101,208)
(42,964)
(3,741)
8,361
$1,933,368

Includes purchase accounting adjustments as of December 31, 2006.
The $43.0 million of goodwill related to Investsmart was reclassified to the other assets line item during 2007. See Note 11—Other Assets for further discussion.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the changes in the carrying value of goodwill are the result of the Company recognizing an impairment of
goodwill related the Company’s Balance Sheet Management business. The impairment of goodwill for this business occurred during the fourth quarter of
2007, and was due primarily to the crisis in the residential real-estate and credit markets. The method used for determining the fair value of Balance Sheet
Management was a combination of prices for comparable businesses and the expected present value of future cash flows of the business. In addition, there
was a write-off of goodwill related to certain exit activities (see Note 3—Facility Restructuring and Other Exit Activities for further discussion). These
decreases were slightly offset by purchase accounting adjustments related to earn outs and escrow releases on prior acquisitions that were made by the
Company.
For the year ended December 31, 2006, the changes in the carrying value of goodwill are the result of the Company’s completion of the purchase of
RAA (see Note 2—Business Combinations for further discussion). An additional $12.0 million of goodwill, primarily due to purchase accounting
adjustments related to the 2005 acquisitions of BrownCo and Harrisdirect, was also recorded during 2006.
Other intangible assets with finite lives, which are primarily amortized on an accelerated basis, consist of the following (dollars in thousands):
December 31, 2007
Weighted
Average
Useful Life
(Years)

Customer list
Specialist books
Active accounts
Other
Total other intangible assets(1)
(1)

20
30
7
6

December 31, 2006

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Amount

$ 461,639
61,820
69,023
6,000
$ 598,482

$ (75,074)
(32,214)
(57,153)
(4,034)
$ (168,475)

$ 386,565
29,606
11,870
1,966
$ 430,007

Fully amortized other intangible assets not included in the table above.
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Weighted
Average
Useful Life
(Years)

20
30
8
6

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Amount

$ 461,639
61,820
69,023
6,000
$ 598,482

$ (43,076)
(30,641)
(50,325)
(2,507)
$ (126,549)

$ 418,563
31,179
18,698
3,493
$ 471,933
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As part of the Company’s purchase of RAA in 2006, the Company assigned $9.5 million to intangible assets with finite lives, of which $9.2 million
was assigned to the customer list intangible asset class.
Assuming no future impairments of these assets or additional acquisitions, annual amortization expense will be as follows (dollars in thousands):
Years ending December 31,
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total future amortization expense

$

35,689
31,378
29,232
28,077
27,005
278,626
$ 430,007

Amortization of other intangibles was $40.5 million, $46.2 million and $43.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
NOTE 11—OTHER ASSETS
Other assets consist of the following (dollars in thousands):
December 31,
2007

Deferred tax asset
Income tax receivable
Deposit paid for securities borrowed
Accrued interest receivable
Net settlements and deposits with clearing organizations
Bank owned life insurance policy (1)
Other investments
Other receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Derivative assets
Third party loan servicing receivable
Fails to deliver
Real estate owned and repossessed assets
Prepaids
Deferred compensation plan
Other
Total other assets
(1)

$

550,234
365,069
348,337
296,903
249,065
247,054
229,207
213,541
133,106
101,571
84,015
45,895
36,170
21,752
49,927
$ 2,971,846

2006

$

—
—
448,047
182,265
137,571
—
138,006
72,596
208,136
241,511
86,517
12,904
41,216
20,584
207,628
$ 1,796,981

Amount represents the cash surrender value as of December 31, 2007.

Other Investments
The Company has made investments in low income housing tax credit partnerships, venture funds and several non-public, venture capital-backed, high
technology companies. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $25.6 million in commitments to fund low income housing tax credit partnerships,
venture funds and joint ventures.
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Equity Method Investments
Equity method investments are reported as part of the other investments balance within the other assets line item on the consolidated balance sheet and
consist of the following (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Investsmart (1) (2)
Arrowpath Fund II, L.P.
MMA Mid-Atlantic Affordable Housing Fund III
Softbank Capital Partners Inc.
International Securities Exchange
KAP Group, L.L.C.
Other
Total equity method investments
(1)
(2)

2007

2006

$ 158,236
25,311
3,859
5,520
2,516
225
12,167
$ 207,834

$ 61,815
19,861
4,188
4,050
4,000
3,507
8,681
$ 106,102

Investsmart is an India-based financial services organization providing individuals and corporations with customized financial management solutions.
Includes $77.0 million of goodwill recorded at December 31, 2007. There was $43.0 million of goodwill at December 31, 2006 that was recorded in the goodwill line item on the balance sheet, prior to
being reclassified to the other assets line item during 2007.

NOTE 12—ASSET SECURITIZATION
Collateralized Debt Obligations (“CDO”)
As of December 31, 2007, there were five outstanding CDOs issued by the Company (CDOs I, III, IV, V and VI; CDO II was called on November 1,
2006) with a combined carrying and fair value of approximately $0.1 million. CDOs I and III are static CDOs involving qualifying special purpose entities.
CDOs IV-VI are managed CDOs involving special purpose entities in which the Company is not the primary beneficiary and did not have a variable interest
that would absorb a majority of the entity’s expected losses. The Company purchased only 20% of the equity interests (i.e., preference shares) in CDOs IV-VI
and as Collateral Manager has the right to receive collateral management fees under each deal.
During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company reached an agreement to sell all of its residual interests in the CDOs as well as the collateral
management agreements under which they serve as Collateral Manager to a third party. The closing of this sale is expected to occur in the first quarter of
2008.
NOTE 13—DEPOSITS
Deposits are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
WeightedAverage
Rate
December 31,
2007
2006

Sweep deposit accounts(1)
Money market and savings accounts
Certificates of deposit (2)
Brokered certificates of deposit (3)
Checking accounts
Total deposits
(1)
(2)
(3)

0.87%
4.55%
4.93%
4.51%
1.79%
3.12%

0.94%
4.33%
5.02%
3.95%
1.06%
2.88%

Amount
December 31,
2007

2006

$10,112,123
10,028,115
4,156,674
1,092,225
495,618
$25,884,755

$10,837,124
7,634,241
4,737,253
483,777
378,617
$24,071,012

Percentage
to Total
December 31,
2007
2006

39.1%
38.7
16.1
4.2
1.9
100.0%

45.0%
31.7
19.7
2.0
1.6
100.0%

A sweep product that transfers brokerage customer balances to the Bank, who holds these funds as customer deposits in FDIC-insured Negotiable Order of Withdrawal and money market deposit accounts.
Includes retail brokered certificates of deposit.
Includes institutional brokered certificates of deposit.
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Deposits, classified by rates are as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,
2007

Less than 1.99%
2.00%–3.99%
4.00%–5.99%
6.00% and above
Subtotal
Fair value adjustments
Total deposits

2006

$ 9,665,937
3,490,918
12,707,002
21,640
25,885,497
(742)
$ 25,884,755

$

9,401,233
3,103,313
11,547,219
23,047
24,074,812
(3,800)
$ 24,071,012

At December 31, 2007, scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit and brokered certificates of deposit were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Less than 4.00%
4.00%–5.99%
6.00%–9.99%
Subtotal

<1 Year

1-2 Years

220,591
3,778,203
1,716
$ 4,000,510

$ 50,622
297,594
544
$ 348,760

$

2-3 Years

3-4 Years

6,084
142,402
158
$ 148,644

$ 34,275
97,576
920
$ 132,771

$

4-5 Years

$

200
68,335
3
$ 68,538

>5 Years

$

12,406
526,461
18,447
$ 557,314

Fair value adjustments
Unamortized discount, net
Total certificates of deposit and brokered certificates of deposit

Total

$

324,178
4,910,571
21,788
5,256,537

(742)
(6,896)
$ 5,248,899

Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit and brokered certificates of deposit with denominations greater than or equal to $100,000 were as
follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,
2007

Three months or less
Three through six months
Six through twelve months
Over twelve months
Total certificates of deposit

$

535,290
560,121
759,840
472,836
$ 2,328,087

2006

$

721,392
479,166
287,593
458,292
$ 1,946,443

Interest expense on deposits is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Sweep deposit account
Money market and savings accounts
Certificates of deposit
Brokered certificates of deposit
Checking accounts
Total interest expense

2007

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

$ 102,131
464,084
224,649
25,402
5,689
$ 821,955

$ 87,714
231,602
183,828
24,726
3,347
$ 531,217

$ 36,147
89,073
88,733
15,680
2,679
$ 232,312

Accrued interest payable on these deposits, which is included in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities, was $15.6 million and $13.3 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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NOTE 14—SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE AND OTHER BORROWINGS
The maturities of borrowings at December 31, 2007 and total borrowings at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are shown below (dollars in thousands):
Repurchase
Agreements

Other Borrowings
FHLB
Advances
Other

Total

Weighted
Average
Interest Rate

Years Ending December 31,
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Subtotal
Fair value adjustments
Total borrowings at December 31, 2007

$7,374,028
251,151
—
—
100,382
1,207,132
8,932,693
—
$8,932,693

$3,670,000
1,244,000
150,000
—
350,000
1,553,600
6,967,600
(194)
$6,967,406

$ 14,217
22,371
15,110
—
—
427,400
479,098
—
$479,098

$11,058,245
1,517,522
165,110
—
450,382
3,188,132
16,379,391
(194)
$16,379,197

5.02%
4.45%
4.62%
— %
4.82%
5.10%
4.98%

Total borrowings at December 31, 2006

$9,792,422

$4,865,466

$458,496

$15,116,384

5.16%

4.98%

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase
The Company sells repurchase agreements which are collateralized by fixed- and variable-rate mortgage-backed securities or investment grade
securities. Repurchase agreements are treated as financings for financial statement purposes and obligations to repurchase securities sold are reflected as
borrowings in the consolidated balance sheet. The brokers retain possession of the securities collateralizing the repurchase agreements until maturity. At
December 31, 2007, there were no counterparties with whom the Company’s amount at risk exceeded 10% of its shareholders’ equity.
Below is a summary of repurchase agreements and collateral associated with the repurchase agreements at December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):
Collateral

Contractual Maturity

Up to 30 days
30 to 90 days
Over 90 days
Total

Repurchase Agreements
Weighted
Average
Interest Rate
Amount

5.16%
4.92%
5.03%
5.08%

$ 4,455,917
1,056,390
3,420,386
$ 8,932,693

U.S. Government Sponsored
Enterprise Obligations

Amortized Cost

Fair Value

$ 4,737,602
1,052,779
3,026,738
$ 8,817,119

$ 4,585,332
1,008,906
2,900,605
$ 8,494,843

Collateralized Mortgage
Obligations and Other

Amortized Cost

$

$

32,872
164,358
723,175
920,405

Fair Value

$ 31,401
157,007
690,831
$ 879,239

Other Borrowings
FHLB Advances—The Company had $1.7 billion floating-rate and $5.3 billion fixed-rate FHLB advances at December 31, 2007. The floating-rate
advances adjust quarterly based on the LIBOR. The Company is required to be a member of the FHLB System and maintain a FHLB investment at least equal
to the greater of: one
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percent of the unpaid principal balance of its residential mortgage loans; one percent of 30 percent of its total assets; or one-twentieth of its outstanding
FHLB advances. In addition, the Company must maintain qualified collateral equal to 110 to 115 percent of its advances, depending on the collateral type.
These advances are secured with specific mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company pledged
$16.8 billion and $12.9 billion, respectively, of the one- to four-family and home equity loans as collateral.
Other—ETBH raises capital through the formation of trusts, which sell trust preferred stock in the capital markets. The capital securities must be
redeemed in whole at the due date, which is generally 30 years after issuance. Each trust issued Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred Securities, at par with a
liquidation amount of $1,000 per capital security. The trusts use the proceeds from the sale of issuances to purchase Floating Rate Junior Subordinated
Debentures issued by ETBH, which guarantees the trust obligations and contributes proceeds from the sale of its subordinated debentures to E*TRADE Bank
in the form of a capital contribution.
During 2007, ETBH formed three trusts, ETBH Capital Trust XXVIII, ETBH Capital Trust XXIX and ETBH Capital Trust XXX. These trusts issued a
total of 60,000 shares of Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred Securities for a total of $60.0 million. Net proceeds from these issuances were invested in
Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures that mature in 2037 and have variable rates of 1.90%, 1.95%, or 2.10% above the three-month LIBOR,
payable quarterly.
During 2006, ETBH formed five trusts, ETBH Capital Trust XXIII through ETBH Capital Trust XXVII. These trusts issued a total of 95,000 shares of
Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred Securities for a total of $95 million. Net proceeds from these issuances were invested in Floating Rate Junior
Subordinated Debentures that mature in 2036 or 2037 and have variable rates of 1.95% or 2.10% above the three-month LIBOR, payable quarterly.
In April 2007, ETBH called ETBH Capital Trust IV which had sold $10.0 million of trust preferred stock in the capital markets in 2002 and generated a
loss of $0.3 million. In June 2007, ETBH called Telebank Capital Trust I which had sold $9.0 million of trust preferred stock in the capital markets in 1997,
and generated a loss of $0.9 million. In December 2006, ETBH called ETBH Capital Trust III which had sold $15.0 million of trust preferred stock in the
capital markets in 2001, and generated a loss of $0.5 million.
The face values of outstanding trusts at December 31, 2007 are shown below (dollars in thousands):
Trusts

ETBH Capital Trust II
ETBH Capital Trust I
ETBH Capital Trust V, VI, VIII
ETBH Capital Trust VII, IX—XII
ETBH Capital Trust XIII—XVIII, XX
ETBH Capital Trust XIX, XXI, XXII
ETBH Capital Trust XXIII—XXIV
ETBH Capital Trust XXV—XXX

Face
Value

$ 5,000
$ 20,000
$ 51,000
$ 65,000
$ 77,000
$ 60,000
$ 45,000
$ 110,000

Maturity
Date

2031
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037

Annual Interest Rate

10.25%
3.75% above 6-month LIBOR
3.25%-3.65% above 3-month LIBOR
3.00%-3.30% above 3-month LIBOR
2.45%-2.90% above 3-month LIBOR
2.20%-2.40% above 3-month LIBOR
2.10% above 3-month LIBOR
1.90%-2.00% above 3-month LIBOR

The Company also has multiple term loans from financial institutions. These loans are collateralized by equipment. Borrowings under these term loans
bear interest at 1% above LIBOR, 0.68% above LIBOR or 9.30%. The Company had approximately $40 million of principal outstanding under these loans at
December 31, 2007.
Other borrowings also includes $12.0 million of overnight and other short-term borrowings in connection with the Federal Reserve Bank’s term
investment option and treasury, tax and loan programs. The Company pledged $12.0 million of securities to secure these borrowings from the Federal
Reserve Bank.
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NOTE 15—CORPORATE DEBT
The Company’s corporate debt by type is shown below (dollars in thousands):
December 31, 2007

Face Value

Senior notes:
8% Notes, due 2011
7 3/ 8% Notes, due 2013
7 7/ 8% Notes, due 2015
Total senior notes
Springing lien notes 12 1/ 2%, due 2017
Mandatory convertible notes 6 1/ 8%, due 2018
Total corporate debt

$ 453,815
512,160
248,177
1,214,152
1,786,000
450,000
$ 3,450,152

December 31, 2006

Face Value

Senior notes:
8% Notes, due 2011
7 3/ 8% Notes, due 2013
7 7/ 8% Notes, due 2015
Total senior notes
Mandatory convertible notes 6 1/ 8%, due 2018
Total corporate debt
(1)

$ 500,000
600,000
300,000
1,400,000
450,000
$ 1,850,000

Premium /
(Discount)

$

1,884
(1,555)
—
329
(481,609)
(4,435)
$ (485,715)
Premium /
(Discount)

$

$

2,675
(2,141)
—
534
(9,423)
(8,889)

Fair Value
Adjustment(1)

$

$

15,422
31,001
11,838
58,261
—
—
58,261

Net

$

471,121
541,606
260,015
1,272,742
1,304,391
445,565
$ 3,022,698

Fair Value
Adjustment (1)

$

$

1,058
—
—
1,058
—
1,058

Net

$

503,733
597,859
300,000
1,401,592
440,577
$ 1,842,169

The fair value adjustment is related to changes in fair value of the debt while in a fair value hedge relationship in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended.

Senior Notes
All of the Company’s senior notes are unsecured and will rank equal in right of payment with all of the Company’s existing and future unsubordinated
indebtedness and will rank senior in right of payment to all our existing and future subordinated indebtedness.
8% Senior Notes Due June 2011
In 2005 and 2004, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of $100 million and $400 million in senior notes due June 2011 (“8% Notes”),
respectively. Interest is payable semi-annually and notes are non-callable for four years and may then be called by the Company at a premium, which declines
over time. Debt issuance costs of $9.6 million are being amortized over the term of the senior notes.
In November 2007, $46.2 million of the 8% Notes were exchanged for an equal amount of the 12 1/ 2% Springing Lien notes discussed below.
7 3/ 8% Senior Notes due September 2013
In 2005, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of $600 million in senior notes due September 2013 (“7 3/ 8% Notes”). Interest is payable
semi-annually and the notes are non-callable for four years and may then be called by the Company at a premium, which declines over time. Debt issuance
costs of $8.0 million are being amortized over the term of the notes.
In November 2007, $87.8 million of the 7 3/ 8% Notes were exchanged for an equal amount of the 12 1/ 2 % Springing Lien notes discussed below.
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7 7/ 8% Senior Notes Due December 2015
In 2005, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of $300 million in senior notes due December 2015 (“7 7/ 8% Notes”). Interest is payable
semi-annually and the notes are non-callable for four years and may then be called by the Company at a premium, which declines over time. Debt issuance
costs of $3.7 million are being amortized over the term of the notes.
In November 2007, $51.8 million of the 7 7/ 8% Notes were exchanged for an equal amount of the 12 1/ 2% Springing Lien notes discussed below.
Springing Lien Notes
12 1/ 2% Springing Lien Notes Due November 2017
In November 2007, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of $1.8 billion in springing lien notes due November 2017 (“12 1/ 2% Notes”).
Interest is payable semi-annually and the notes are non-callable for five years and may then be called by the Company at a premium, which declines over
time. Debt issuance costs of $56.8 million are included in the discount of $481.6 million recorded on the notes and are being amortized over the term of the
notes.
The indenture for the Company’s 12 1/ 2% Notes requires the Company to secure the 12 1/ 2% Notes with the property and assets of the Company and
any future subsidiary guarantors (subject to certain exceptions). The requirement to secure the 12 1/ 2% Notes will occur on the earlier of: (1) the date on which
the 8% Notes are redeemed or (2) the first date on which the Company is allowed to grant liens in excess of $300 million under the 8% Notes. The
requirement to secure the 12 1/ 2% Notes is limited to the amount of debt under the 12 1 / 2% Notes that would not trigger a requirement for the Company to
equally and ratably secure the existing 8% Notes, 7 3/ 8% Notes and the 7 7/ 8% Notes.
Mandatory Convertible Notes
6 1/ 8% Mandatory Convertible Notes Due November 2018
In November 2005, the Company issued 18.0 million of mandatory convertible notes (“Units”) with a face value of $450 million (“6 1/ 8% Notes”). Each
Unit consists of a purchase contract and a 6 1/ 8% subordinated note. The interest on the 6 1/ 8% Notes is payable quarterly until November 2008, at which point
the interest becomes payable semi-annually. The Company recorded the purchase contracts and subordinated notes at fair value, with $15 million recorded in
equity and $435 million in debt, respectively. Debt issuance costs allocated to the 6 1/ 8% Notes of $14.2 million are being amortized over the expected life of
the 6 1/ 8% Notes.
Each purchase contract obligates the holder to purchase, and the Company to sell, at a purchase price of $25.00 in cash, a variable number of shares of
the Company’s common stock. The stock conversion ratio varies depending on the average closing price of the Company’s common stock over a 20-day
trading period ending on the third trading day immediately preceding November 18, 2008 (“Reference Price”). If the Reference Price is equal to or greater
than $21.816 per share, the settlement rate will be 1.1459 shares of common stock. If the Reference Price is less than $21.816 per share but greater than
$18.00 per share, the settlement rate is equal to $25.00 divided by the Reference Price. If the Reference Price is less than or equal to $18.00 per share, the
settlement rate will be 1.3889 shares of common stock. The Company is obligated under the purchase contract to sell shares of its common stock under the
agreement in November 2008. In November 2008, the aggregate principal amount of the subordinated notes will be remarketed, which may result in a change
in the interest rate and maturity date of the subordinated notes. If the Company is unable to remarket the 6 1/ 8% Notes, the face value of the 6 1/ 8% Notes will
be repaid through the Units conversion, which will, in effect, convert these notes to equity.
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Before the purchase in November 2008, the Units will be reflected in diluted earnings per share calculations using the treasury stock method as defined
by SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. Under this method, the number of shares of common stock used in calculating diluted earnings per share (based on the
settlement formula applied at the end of the reporting period) is deemed to be increased by the excess, if any, of the number of shares that would be issued
upon settlement of the purchase contracts less the number of shares that could be purchased by the Company in the market at the average market price during
the period using the proceeds to be received upon settlement. Therefore, dilution will occur for periods when the average market price of the Company’s
common stock for the reporting period is above $21.816.
Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, the Company entered into a $250 million, three-year senior secured revolving credit facility. As a result of the Citadel Investment
in November 2007, the facility was terminated and all unamortized debt issuance costs were expensed.
Corporate Debt Covenants
Certain of the Company’s corporate debt described above have terms which include customary financial covenants. As of December 31, 2007, the
Company was in compliance with all such covenants.
Early Extinguishment of Debt
In 2006, the Company called the entire remaining $185.2 million principal amount of its 6% Notes for redemption. The Company recorded a $0.7
million loss on early extinguishment of debt relating to the write-off of the unamortized debt offering costs. The Company did not have any early
extinguishments of debt in 2005.
Other Corporate Debt
The Company also has multiple term loans from financial institutions. These loans are collateralized by equipment and are included within other
borrowings on the consolidated balance sheet. See Note 14—Securities Sold Under Agreement to Repurchase and Other Borrowings.
Future Maturities of Corporate Debt
Scheduled principal payments of corporate debt as of December 31, 2007 are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Years ending December 31,
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total future principal payments of corporate debt
Unamortized discount, net
Total corporate debt

$

—
—
—
453,815
—
2,996,337
3,450,152
(427,454)
$3,022,698
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NOTE 16—ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities consist of the following (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Deposits received for securities loaned
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Derivative liabilities
Subserviced loan advances
Fails to receive
Senior and convertible debt accrued interest
Facility restructuring and other exit activities liability
Deferred tax liabilities
Other
Total accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities

2007

2006

$ 2,014,151
366,891
295,600
200,293
73,212
51,177
35,581
26,651
—
151,991
$ 3,215,547

$ 1,012,831
335,117
350,221
78,710
44,780
84,864
20,125
26,892
58,545
318,611
$ 2,330,696

NOTE 17—INCOME TAXES
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48. As a result of the implementation, the Company recognized a $14.9 million increase to its
liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction to the beginning balance of retained earnings. The total amount of gross
unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1, 2007 was $150.4 million. Of this total amount at January 1, 2007, $51.6 million (net of the federal benefit on state
issues) represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax rate in future periods. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (dollars in thousands):
Balance at January 1, 2007
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior years
Reductions based on tax positions related to the current year
Settlements with taxing authorities
Statue of limitations lapses
Balance at December 31, 2007

$150,428
1,402
8,687
(136)
(79,551)
(5,472)
(505)
$ 74,853

At December 31, 2007, the unrecognized tax benefit was $74.9 million. Of this total amount, $52.5 million (net of federal benefits on state issues)
represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax in future periods.
The following table summarizes the tax years that are either currently under examination or remain open under the statute of limitations and subject to
examination by the major tax jurisdictions in which the Company operates:
Jurisdiction

Open Tax Year

Canada
Hong Kong
United Kingdom
United States
Various States(1)
(1)

2002 – 2007
1997 – 2007
2005 – 2007
2004 – 2007
1999 – 2007

Includes California, Georgia, Illinois, New Jersey, New York and Virginia.
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It is likely that certain examinations may be settled or the statute of limitations could expire with regards to other tax filings, in the next twelve
months. In addition, proposed legislation could favorably impact certain of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits. Such events would generally reduce
the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits, either because the tax positions are sustained or because the Company agrees to the disallowance, by as much as
$30.4 million, of which $28.8 million could affect the Company’s total tax provision or the effective tax rate.
The Company’s continuing practice is to recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to income tax matters in income tax expense. After the
adoption of FIN 48, the Company has total gross reserves for interest and penalties of $15.1 million and $8.6 million as of January 1, 2007 and December 31,
2007, respectively. The tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes a reduction in the accrual for interest of $6.5 million, principally related to
the reduction for reserves due to the filing of tax accounting method change requests with the IRS.
The components of income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations are as follows (dollars in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

Current:
Federal
Foreign
State
Tax benefit recognized for FIN 48 uncertainties in the statement of income (loss)
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
Foreign
State
Total deferred
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations

2005

$(315,229)
12,589
7,904
(3,327)
(298,063)

$211,984
(56)
8,394
—
220,322

$158,050
3,518
19,237
—
180,805

(434,626)
2,867
(6,128)
(437,887)
$(735,950)

82,433
(5,996)
5,224
81,661
$301,983

45,200
(1,264)
5,082
49,018
$229,823

The components of income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of accounting change are as
follows (dollars in thousands):
2007

Domestic
Foreign
Total income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations
and cumulative effect of accounting change
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Years Ended December 31,
2006

2005

$ (2,213,880)
36,176

$ 893,382
35,415

$ 653,131
22,995

$ (2,177,704)

$ 928,797

$ 676,126
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Deferred income taxes are recorded when revenues and expenses are recognized in different periods for financial statement and tax return purposes.
Prior year balances for the deferred tax asset and liabilities have been re-presented to ensure consistency between periods. The adjustments relate to the
presentation of the federal benefit of the state deferred assets and liabilities. The temporary differences and tax carry-forwards that created deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31,

Deferred tax assets:
Reserves and allowances, net
Net unrealized loss on equity investments and Bank assets held-for-sale
Net operating loss carry-forwards
Deferred compensation
Capitalized technology development
Tax credits
Restructuring reserve and related write-downs
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Internally developed software
Acquired intangibles
Basis differences in investments
Loan fees
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset (liability)

2007

2006

$ 203,260
226,527
624,730
24,155
2,654
24,709
53,510
1,159,545

$ 29,690
94,129
64,299
19,285
1,887
—
44,823
254,113

(34,861)
(7,974)
(340,432)
(5,010)
(123,060)
(6,143)
(517,480)
(91,831)
$ 550,234

(23,330)
(22,219)
(113,306)
(4,488)
(92,825)
(18,135)
(274,303)
(38,295)
$ (58,485)

The Company maintains a valuation allowance of $91.8 million and $38.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, against certain of its
deferred tax assets, as it is more likely than not that they will not be fully realized. The Company’s valuation allowance increased by $53.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The principal components of the deferred tax assets for which a valuation allowance has been established include the
following state and foreign country net operating loss carry-forwards and excess tax bases in certain illiquid investments:
• At December 31, 2007, the Company had foreign country net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $112 million for which a deferred tax
asset of approximately $32 million was established. The foreign net operating losses represent the foreign tax loss carry-forwards in numerous
foreign countries, some of which are subject to expiration from in 2008. In most of these foreign countries, the Company has historical tax losses,
and the Company continues to project to incur operating losses in most of these countries. Accordingly, the Company has provided a valuation
allowance of $24 million against such deferred tax asset at December 31, 2007.
• At December 31, 2007, the Company had gross state net operating loss carry-forwards of $1.67 billion that expire between 2008 and 2026, most of
which are subject to reduction for apportionment when utilized. A deferred tax asset of approximately $68.5 million has been established related to
these state net operating loss carry-forwards with a valuation allowance of $52 million against such deferred tax asset at December 31, 2007.
• At December 31, 2007, the Company maintains a valuation allowance against the excess tax basis in certain capital assets of approximately $8.3
million. The capital assets in question are certain investments
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in e-commerce and Internet startup venture funds that have no ready market or liquidity at December 31, 2007. The Company has concluded that
the realization of these excess tax benefits on these capital assets are uncertain and not in the control of the Company, as there is no ready market or
liquidity for these investments.
During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company generated a federal net operating loss of approximately $2.4 billion. Of the $2.4 billion net
operating loss, $970 million will be carried back to prior years, generating expected federal tax refunds of $320 million. The remaining $1.4 billion net
operating loss will be carried forward and generally can be used to offset future taxable income. The Company has an additional federal net operating loss
carryforward of $54 million relating to pre-acquisition losses from acquired subsidiaries which are subject to annual limitations in their use of $4.9 million
per year in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 382. No valuation allowance has been provided for the $1.5 billion in carry-forwards of net
operating losses. The carry-forwards expire through 2027. The extent to which the loss carry-forwards can be used to offset future taxable income may be
limited, depending upon the extent of ownership changes within any three-year period. Accordingly, the extent to which the loss carry-forwards can be used
to offset future taxable income may be limited.
The Company has provided for $8 million of deferred income taxes on certain earnings and profits of selected foreign subsidiaries that are expected to
be distributed in 2008. The Company has not provided $15.7 million of deferred income taxes on $44.8 of undistributed earnings and profits in its foreign
subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 since the Company intends to permanently reinvest such earnings.
The effective tax rates differed from the Federal statutory rates as follows:
2007

Federal statutory rate
State income taxes, net of Federal tax benefit
Difference between statutory rate and foreign effective tax rate and establishment of valuation
allowance for foreign deferred tax assets
Tax exempt income
Impairment of goodwill
Change in valuation allowance
Other
Effective tax rate

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

(35.0)%
(2.4)

35.0 %
1.3

35.0 %
2.3

0.2
(1.0)
1.2
2.3
0.9
(33.8)%

(0.2)
(1.0)
—
(0.9)
(1.7)
32.5 %

(0.9)
(1.2)
—
(0.3)
(0.9)
34.0 %

NOTE 18—SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock
The Company has 1.0 million shares authorized in preferred stock. None were issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
Issuance of Common Stock
In 2007, the Company issued $339.0 million or 38.0 million shares of common stock in conjunction with the Citadel Investment. The 38.0 million
shares of common stock were issued in increments: 14.8 million upon initial closing in November 2007 and 23.2 million upon Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act approval in December 2007. The Company expects to issue the remaining 46.7 million shares of common stock in the first quarter of 2008
as the Company has received regulatory approvals.
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Mandatory Convertible Notes
In November 2005, the Company issued 18.0 million Units that are convertible into up to 25.0 million shares of common stock, on or before the
purchase in November 2008. The conversion ratio depends on the market price of our common stock 20 trading days prior to conversion. Units are generally
convertible only on or near the purchase in November 2008. (See Note 15—Corporate Debt for additional details on the transaction.)
Share Repurchases
On April 18, 2007, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized an additional $250.0 million common stock repurchase program
(the “April 2007 Plan”). The April 2007 Plan is open-ended and allows for the repurchase of common stock on the open market, in private transactions or a
combination of both.
During 2007, the Company repurchased common stock under the April 2007 Plan and a $200.0 million repurchase program approved by the Board in
December 2004 (the “December 2004 Plan”). During the second quarter of 2007, the Company completed the December 2004 Plan. The table below shows
the timing and impact of the repurchases during the year ended December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended

March 31, 2007
June 30, 2007
September 30, 2007
December 31, 2007

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Aggregate
Price

Average Price
Paid
per Share

Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares That
May Yet be
Purchased Under the
April 2007 and
December 2004 Plan

1,030,000
3,128,625
3,069,185
—

$23,022
$72,883
$52,727
$
—

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
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22.35
23.30
17.18
—

34,142
211,259
158,532
158,532
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NOTE 19—EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The following table is a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts):
2007

Basic:
Numerator:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax
Net income (loss)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$ (1,441,754)
—
—
$ (1,441,754)

Denominator:
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding

$ 626,814
2,045
—
$ 628,859

424,439

Diluted:
Numerator:
Net income (loss)

Per Share:
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Earnings per share from cumulative effect of accounting change
Net earnings (loss) per share

$

$

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Earnings per share from cumulative effect of accounting change
Net earnings (loss) per share

$

$

$ 446,238
(17,472)
1,646
$ 430,412

421,127

371,468

$ 628,859

$ 430,412

424,439

421,127

371,468

—
—
—
—
424,439

13,358
248
1,624
—
436,357

11,137
2,025
—
—
384,630

$ (1,441,754)

Denominator:
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Weighted-average options and restricted stock issued to employees
Weighted-average warrants and contingent shares outstanding
Weighted-average mandatory convertible notes
Shares issuable for assumed conversion of convertible subordinated notes
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding

2005

(3.40)
—
—
(3.40)

$

(3.40)
—
—
(3.40)

$

$

$

1.49
0.00
—
1.49

$

1.44
0.00
—
1.44

$

$

$

1.20
(0.04)
0.00
1.16
1.16
(0.04)
0.00
1.12

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings per share 21.0 million shares of stock options,
restricted stock awards and restricted stock units that would have been anti-dilutive, including 9.6 million shares that were anti-dilutive because of the
Company’s net loss for the period. Additionally, there were 46.7 million shares for the year ended December 31, 2007 that had not been issued in connection
with the Citadel Investment of which 3.9 million shares were anti-dilutive because of the Company’s net loss for the period. The Company excluded from the
calculations of diluted earnings per share 5.3 million and 7.2 million shares of stock options that would have been anti-dilutive for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings per share are 2.2 million and 7.8 million shares of common stock for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, issuable under convertible subordinated notes as the effect of applying the treasury stock method on an if-converted basis
would be anti-dilutive. There were not any shares issuable under convertible subordinated notes excluded from the year ended 2007, as all convertible
subordinated notes outstanding had been redeemed in 2006. In addition, in 2005, 25.0 million shares of common stock potentially issuable related to the
conversion of mandatory convertible notes were excluded from the calculations because it would be anti-dilutive.
NOTE 20—EMPLOYEE SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND OTHER BENEFITS
Adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)
As discussed in Note 1—Organization, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, effective July 1, 2005, the Company
adopted SFAS No. 123(R). The adoption resulted in the recognition of or changes to the recognition method of expense for the Company’s employee stock
option plans, restricted stock awards and employee stock purchase plan. The combined impact of the adoption in 2005 was as follows: $13.7 million in
compensation expense for stock options; $0.4 million compensation expense for the stock purchase plan; and a pre-tax credit of $2.8 million in cumulative
effect of accounting change for 2005. Results for prior periods have not been restated. Total compensation expense for share-based compensation also
includes $4.2 million for restricted stock awards, which were previously expensed by the Company under APB Opinion No. 25, prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R).
Employee Stock Option Plans
In 2005, the Company adopted and the shareholders approved the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (“2005 Plan”) to replace the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan
(“1996 Plan”) which provides for the grant of nonqualified or incentive stock options to officers, directors, key employees and consultants for the purchase of
newly issued shares of the Company’s common stock at a price determined by the Board at the date the option is granted. Options are generally exercisable
ratably over a four-year period from the date the option is granted and expire within ten years from the date of grant. Beginning in 2006, most options that
were granted have a contractual term of seven years. Certain options provide for accelerated vesting upon a change in control. Exercise prices are generally
equal to the fair market value of the shares on the grant date. A total of 85.4 million shares had been authorized under the 1996 Plan. Under the 2005 Plan, the
remaining unissued authorized shares of the 1996 Plan, up to 42.0 million shares, were authorized for issuance. Additionally, any shares that had been
awarded but remained unissued under the 1996 Plan that were subsequently canceled, would be authorized for issuance under the 2005 Plan, up to
39.0 million shares. As of December 31, 2007, 27.1 million shares were available for grant under the 2005 Plan.
The Company recognized $25.4 million, $22.1 million and $13.7 million in compensation expense for stock options for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company recognized a tax benefit of $8.2 million, $7.8 million and $5.0 million related to the stock options for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model based on the assumptions
noted in the table below. Expected volatility is based on a combination of historical volatility of the Company’s stock and implied volatility of publicly
traded options on the Company’s stock. The expected term represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The expected
term is estimated using employees’ actual historical behavior and projected future behavior based on expected exercise patterns. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bond where the remaining term equals the expected term. Dividend yield is zero as the Company has not, nor does it
currently plan to, issue dividends to its shareholders.
2007

Expected volatility
Expected term (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

32%
4.5
5%
—

Year Ended December 31,
2006

34%
4.5
5%
—

2005

34%
4.9
4%
—

The weighted-average fair values of options granted were $7.48, $8.60 and $4.57 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Intrinsic value of options exercised were $50.6 million, $89.1 million and $67.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
A summary of options activity under the 2005 Plan is presented below:

Shares
(in thousands)

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2006
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2007

35,755
5,561
(4,095)
(4,465)
32,756

$
$
$
$
$

12.72
21.61
7.94
18.75
14.02

5.92

$ 370,368

4.43

$

18

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2007

29,897

$ 13.48

4.27

$

18

Exercisable at December 31, 2007

22,318

$ 11.29

3.62

$

18

As of December 31, 2007, there was $40.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options. This cost is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.
Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units
The Company issues restricted stock awards to its officers and senior executives and restricted stock units to international officers. These awards are
issued at the fair market value on the date of grant and generally vest ratably over four years. However, certain awards vest on the fifth anniversary of the date
of grant. The fair value is calculated as the market price upon issuance.
The Company recorded $9.4 million, $10.5 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in
compensation expense related to restricted stock awards and restricted stock units. The Company recognized a tax benefit of $3.2 million, $4.0 million and
$1.6 million related to restricted stock awards and restricted stock units for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Prior to its adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company recorded compensation expense for restricted stock awards on a straight-line basis over their
vesting period. If an employee forfeited the award prior to vesting, the Company reversed out the previously expensed amounts in the period of forfeiture. As
required upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company must base its accruals of compensation expense on the estimated number of awards for which the
requisite service period is expected to be rendered. Actual forfeitures are no longer recorded in the period of forfeiture. In 2005, the Company recorded a pretax credit of $2.8 million in cumulative effect of accounting change, that represents the amount by which compensation expense would have been reduced in
periods prior to adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) for restricted stock awards outstanding on July 1, 2005 that are anticipated to be forfeited.
A summary of non-vested restricted stock award and restricted stock unit activity is presented below:

Shares
(in thousands)

Non-vested at December 31, 2006:
Issued
Released (vested)
Canceled
Non-vested at December 31, 2007:

2,878
830
(514)
(1,197)
1,997

WeightedAverage
Grant
Date Fair
Value

$
$
$
$
$

13.01
22.85
15.93
13.75
15.91

As of December 31, 2007, there was $15.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested awards. This cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. The total fair value of restricted shares and restricted stock units vested was $11.0 million, $7.5
million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The shareholders of the Company previously approved the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2002 Purchase Plan”), and reserved 5,000,000 shares
of common stock for sale to employees at a price no less than 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock at the beginning of the one-year
offering period or the end of each of the six-month purchase periods. Under SFAS No. 123(R), the 2002 Purchase Plan was considered compensatory.
Effective August 1, 2005, the Company changed the terms of its purchase plan to reduce the discount to 5% and discontinued the look-back provision. As a
result, the purchase plan was not compensatory beginning August 1, 2005.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded $0.4 million in compensation expense for its employee stock purchase plan for the
period in which the 2002 Plan was considered compensatory until the terms were changed August 1, 2005. At December 31, 2007, 757,123 shares were
available for purchase under the 2002 Purchase Plan.
401(k) Plan
The Company has a 401(k) salary deferral program for eligible employees who have met certain service requirements. The Company matches certain
employee contributions; additional contributions to this plan are at the discretion of the Company. Total contribution expense under this plan was $5.7
million, $5.7 million and $5.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTE 21—REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Registered Broker-Dealers
The Company’s U.S. broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to the Uniform Net Capital Rule (the “Rule”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
administered by the SEC and FINRA, which requires the maintenance of minimum net capital. The minimum net capital requirements can be met under either
the Aggregate Indebtedness method or the Alternative method. Under the Aggregate Indebtedness method, a broker-dealer is required to maintain minimum
net capital of the greater of 6 2/ 3% of its aggregate indebtedness, as defined, or a minimum dollar amount. Under the Alternative method, a broker-dealer is
required to maintain net capital equal to the greater of $250,000 or 2% of aggregate debit balances arising from customer transactions. The method used
depends on the individual U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary. The Company’s international broker-dealer subsidiaries, located in Canada, Europe and Asia, are
subject to capital requirements determined by their respective regulators.
As of December 31, 2007, all of the Company’s significant broker-dealer subsidiaries met minimum net capital requirements. Total required net capital
was $0.2 billion at December 31, 2007. In addition, the Company’s broker-dealer subsidiaries had excess net capital of $0.7 billion at December 31, 2007.
The table below summarizes the minimum excess capital requirements for the Company’s broker-dealer subsidiaries (dollars in thousands):
December 31, 2007

E*TRADE Clearing LLC (1)
E*TRADE Securities LLC (1)
E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC (2)
E*TRADE Global Asset Management, Inc.(2)(3)
International broker-dealers
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)

Required
Net
Capital

Net
Capital

Excess
Net
Capital

$ 144,471
250
2,858
155
41,742
$ 189,476

$ 690,240
21,307
20,944
38,459
149,360
$ 920,310

$ 545,769
21,057
18,086
38,304
107,618
$ 730,834

Elected to use the Alternative method to compute net capital.
Elected to use the Aggregate Indebtedness method to compute net capital.
Broker-dealer registration withdrawal effective January 1, 2008.

Banking
During the first quarter of 2007, ETC became a wholly-owned operating subsidiary of E*TRADE Bank. ETC continues to be an SEC-registered brokerdealer and is included in the minimum net capital requirements under the Rule. E*TRADE Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements
administered by Federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can trigger certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary
actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on E*TRADE Bank’s financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines
and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, E*TRADE Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of
E*TRADE Bank’s assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. E*TRADE Bank’s capital
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require E*TRADE Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Total
and Tier I Capital to Risk-weighted assets and Tier I Capital to Adjusted total assets. As shown in the table below, at December 31, 2007, the OTS categorized
E*TRADE Bank
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as “well capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. E*TRADE Bank is also required by OTS regulations to maintain tangible
capital of at least 1.50% of tangible assets. E*TRADE Bank satisfied this requirement at both December 31, 2007 and 2006. However, events beyond
management’s control, such as a continued deterioration in residential real estate and credit markets, could adversely affect future earnings and E*TRADE
Bank’s ability to meet its future capital requirements.
E*TRADE Bank’s required actual capital amounts and ratios are presented in the table below (dollars in thousands):

Actual
Amount

December 31, 2007 (1):
Total Capital to risk-weighted assets
Tier I Capital to risk-weighted assets
Tier I Capital to adjusted total assets
December 31, 2006:
Total Capital to risk-weighted assets
Tier I Capital to risk-weighted assets
Tier I Capital to adjusted total assets
(1)

Ratio

Minimum Required to
be Well Capitalized
Under Prompt
Corrective
Action Provisions
Amount
Ratio

Minimum Required to
Qualify as Adequately
Capitalized
Amount
Ratio

$3,618,454
$3,219,176
$3,219,176

11.37%
10.11%
6.22%

>$2,546,669
>$1,273,335
>$2,070,287

>8.0%
>4.0%
>4.0%

>$3,183,336
>$1,910,002
>$2,587,858

>10.0%
> 6.0%
> 5.0%

$2,593,081
$2,525,453
$2,525,453

10.55%
10.27%
6.07%

>$1,967,129
>$ 983,565
>$1,665,062

>8.0%
>4.0%
>4.0%

>$2,458,911
>$1,475,347
>$2,081,328

>10.0%
> 6.0%
> 5.0%

Capital amounts and ratios include ETC.

NOTE 22—LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for facilities through 2024. Future minimum lease payments and sublease proceeds under these
leases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Years ending December 31,
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
Total future minimum lease payments

Minimum
Lease
Payments

Sublease
Proceeds

$ 47,790
43,440
35,507
24,008
22,151
67,686
$240,582

$ (9,023)
(7,287)
(1,412)
(56)
—
—
$(17,778)

Net Lease
Commitments

$

38,767
36,153
34,095
23,952
22,151
67,686
$ 222,804

Certain leases contain provisions for renewal options and rent escalations based on increases in certain costs incurred by the lessor. Rent expense, net
of sublease income, was $30.2 million, $28.6 million and $22.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTE 23—COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER REGULATORY MATTERS
Legal Matters
Litigation Matters
In June 2002, the Company acquired from MarketXT Holdings, Inc. (formerly known as “Tradescape Corporation”) the following entities: Tradescape
Securities, LLC; Tradescape Technologies, LLC; and Momentum Securities, LLC. Disputes subsequently arose between the parties regarding the
responsibility for liabilities that first became known to the Company after the sale. On April 8, 2004, MarketXT filed a complaint in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and other third parties, including SBI and Softbank
Corporation, alleging that defendants were preventing plaintiffs from obtaining certain contingent payments allegedly due, and as a result, claiming damages
of $1.5 billion. On April 9, 2004, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against certain
directors and officers of MarketXT seeking declaratory relief and unspecified monetary damages for defendants’ fraud in connection with the 2002 sale,
including, but not limited to, having presented the Company with fraudulent financial statements regarding the condition of Momentum Securities, LLC
during the due diligence process. Subsequently, MarketXT was placed into bankruptcy, and the Company filed an adversary proceeding against MarketXT
and others in January 2005, seeking declaratory relief, compensatory and punitive damages, in those Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York entitled, “In re MarketXT Holdings Corp., Debtor.” In that same court, the Company filed a separate
adversary proceeding against Omar Amanat in those Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceedings entitled, “In re Amanat, Omar Shariff.” In October 2005, MarketXT
answered the Company’s adversary proceeding and asserted its counterclaims, subsequently amending its claims in 2006 to add a $326.0 million claim for
“promissory estoppel” in which MarketXT alleged, for the first time, that the Company breached a prior promise to purchase the acquired entities in 19992000. In April 2006, Omar Amanat answered the Company’s separate adversary proceeding against him and asserted his counterclaims. In separate motions
before the Bankruptcy Court, the Company has moved to dismiss certain counterclaims brought by MarketXT including those described above, as well as
certain counterclaims brought by Mr. Amanat. In a ruling dated September 29, 2006, the Bankruptcy Court in the MarketXT case granted the Company’s
motion to dismiss four of the six bases upon which MarketXT asserts its fraud claims against the Company; its conversion claim; and its demand for punitive
damages. In the same ruling, the Bankruptcy Court denied in its entirety MarketXT’s competing motion to dismiss the Company’s claims against it. On
October 26, 2006, the Bankruptcy Court subsequently dismissed MarketXT’s “promissory estoppel” claim. By order dated December 18, 2007, the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York approved a settlement agreement between the parties under the terms of which the Company
agreed, without admitting liability, to pay $3,995,000 to the Trustee for the bankruptcy estate of MarketXT in exchange for a general release from MarketXT
as well as its promise to defend and indemnify the Company in certain other actions up to a maximum of $3,995,000. By order dated January 8, 2008, the
same Court subsequently approved a separate settlement agreement between the Company and the Trustee for the bankruptcy estate of Omar Amanat under
the terms of which the Company paid to said Trustee the sum of $50,000 in exchange for a general release. Accordingly, these cases have been resolved, and
the Company will no longer report them in its subsequent filings.
On October 27, 2000, a complaint was filed in the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Santa Clara, entitled, “Ajaxo, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, Plaintiff, versus E*TRADE GROUP, INC., a Delaware corporation; and Everypath, Inc., a California corporation; and Does 1 through 50,
inclusively, Defendants.” Through this complaint, Ajaxo sought damages and certain non-monetary relief for the Company’s alleged breach of a nondisclosure agreement with Ajaxo pertaining to certain wireless technology offered to the Company by Ajaxo as well as damages and other relief against both
the Company and defendant Everypath, Inc., for their alleged misappropriation of Ajaxo’s trade secrets. Following a jury trial, a judgment was entered in
2003 in favor of Ajaxo against the Company for $1.3 million dollars for breach of the Ajaxo non-disclosure agreement. Although the jury also found in favor
of Ajaxo on its misappropriation of trade secrets claim against the Company and defendant Everypath, the trial court subsequently denied Ajaxo’s requests
for additional damages and relief on these claims. Thereafter, all parties appealed, and on December 21, 2005, the California Court of
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Appeal affirmed the above-described award against the Company for breach of the nondisclosure agreement but remanded the case to the trial court for the
limited purpose of determining what, if any, additional damages Ajaxo may be entitled to as a result of the jury’s previous finding in favor of Ajaxo on its
misappropriation of trade secrets claim against the Company and defendant Everypath. Following the foregoing ruling by the Court of Appeal, defendant
Everypath ceased operations and made an assignment for the benefit of its creditors in January, 2006. As a result, defendant Everypath is no longer defending
the case. Although the Company paid Ajaxo the full amount due on the judgment against it above, the case, consistent with the rulings issued by the Court of
Appeal, has now been remanded back to the trial court, and the re-trial of this case is now set to commence on April 7, 2008, solely on the issue of what, if
any, additional damages Ajaxo may be entitled to receive on its misappropriation of trade secrets claim. In specific, Ajaxo continues to seek unstated
monetary damages and injunctive relief, lost profits in the amount of $500,000 per month since November, 1999, and punitive damages. The Company
denies that Ajaxo is entitled to any further damages or relief of any kind and will vigorously defend itself against Ajaxo’s renewed damage claims.
On October 2, 2007, a class action complaint alleging violations of the federal securities laws was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York against the Company and its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer entitled, “Larry Freudenberg, Individually
and on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, Plaintiff, versus E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Mitchell H. Caplan and Robert J. Simmons, Defendants.”
Plaintiff contends, among other things, that between December 14, 2006, and September 25, 2007 (the “class period”) defendants issued materially false and
misleading statements and failed to disclose that the Company was experiencing a rise in delinquency rates in its mortgage and home equity portfolios;
failed to timely record an impairment on its mortgage and home equity portfolios; materially overvalued its securities portfolio, which includes assets backed
by mortgages; and based on the foregoing, lacked a reasonable basis for the positive statements it made about the Company’s earnings and prospects.
Plaintiff seeks to recover damages in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. Four additional class action complaints
alleging similar violations of the federal securities laws and alleging either the same or somewhat longer class periods were filed in the same court between
October 12, 2007 and November 21, 2007 by named plaintiffs William Boston, Robert D. Thulman, Wendy M. Davidson, and Joshua Ferenc, respectively.
On January 23, 2008, the trial court heard motions from various plaintiffs seeking to be appointed lead plaintiff in these actions but has yet to issue its
decision. Once the court rules on the lead plaintiff motions, the cases are to be consolidated. A consolidated amended complaint is expected to be filed
within 60 days of the court’s ruling. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against these claims.
Based upon the same facts and circumstances alleged in the Freudenberg class action complaint above, a verified shareholder derivative complaint was
filed in United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on October 4, 2007, against the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
President/Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and individual members of its board of directors entitled, “Catherine Rubery, Derivatively on
behalf of E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Plaintiff, versus Mitchell H. Caplan, R. Jarrett Lilien, Robert J. Simmons, George A. Hayter, Daryl Brewster,
Ronald D. Fisher, Michael K. Parks, C. Catherine Raffaeli, Lewis E. Randall, Donna L. Weaver, and Stephen H. Willard, Defendants, -and- E*TRADE
Financial Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Nominal Defendant.” Plaintiff alleges, among other things, causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty, waste
of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, and violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The above shareholder
derivative complaint has been consolidated with another shareholder derivative complaint brought in the same court and against the same named defendants
entitled, “Marilyn Clark, Derivatively On Behalf of E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Plaintiff, versus Mitchell H. Caplan, et al., Defendants” (collectively,
with the Rubery case, the “federal derivative actions”). Three similar derivative actions, based on the same facts and circumstances as the federal derivative
actions but alleging exclusively state causes of action, have been filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County. These three cases
have been ordered consolidated in that court under the caption “In re: E*Trade Financial Corporation Derivative Litigation, Lead Index No. 07-603736” (the
“state derivative actions”). The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the claims raised in the federal derivative actions and state derivative
actions.
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In addition to the matters described above, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of business
which could have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. In each pending matter, the Company contests
liability or the amount of claimed damages. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases where claimants
seek substantial or indeterminate damages, or where investigation or discovery have yet to be completed, the Company cannot predict with certainty the loss
or range of loss related to such matters, how such matters will be resolved, when they will ultimately be resolved, or what any eventual settlement, fine,
penalty or other relief might be. Subject to the foregoing, the Company believes that the outcome of any such pending matter will not have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company, although the outcome could be material to the Company’s or a business segment’s operating
results in the future, depending, among other things, upon the Company’s or business segment’s income for such period.
An unfavorable outcome in any matter that is not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, even if the ultimate outcomes are resolved in the Company’s favor, the defense of such litigation
could entail considerable cost or the diversion of the efforts of management, either of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operation.
Regulatory Matters
The securities and banking industries are subject to extensive regulation under Federal, state and applicable international laws. As a result, the
Company is required to comply with many complex laws and rules, and its ability to comply is dependent in part on the establishment and maintenance of a
qualified compliance system. From time to time, the Company has been threatened with or named as a defendant in, lawsuits, arbitrations and administrative
claims involving securities, banking and other matters. The Company is also subject to periodic regulatory audits and inspections. Compliance and trading
problems that are reported to regulators, such as the SEC, FINRA or OTS by dissatisfied customers or others are investigated by such regulators, and may, if
pursued, result in formal claims being filed against the Company by customers or disciplinary action being taken against the Company or its employees by
regulators. Any such claims or disciplinary actions that are decided against the Company could have a material impact on the financial results of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
The SEC, in conjunction with various regional securities exchanges, is conducting an inquiry into the trading activities of certain specialist firms,
including the Company’s subsidiary E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC (“ETCM”), on various regional exchanges in order to determine whether such firms
executed proprietary orders in a given security prior to a customer order in the same security (a practice commonly known as “trading ahead”) during the
period 1999-2005. ETCM was a specialist on the Chicago Stock Exchange during the period under review. The SEC has indicated that it will seek
disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and penalties from any firm found to have engaged in trading ahead activity to the detriment of its customers during that
time period. It is possible that such sanctions, if imposed against ETCM, could have a material impact on the financial results of the Company during the
period in which such sanctions are imposed. The Company and ETCM are cooperating with the investigation.
On October 17, 2007, the SEC initiated an informal inquiry into matters related to the Company’s loan and securities portfolios. That inquiry is
continuing. The Company is cooperating fully with the SEC in this matter.
Insurance
The Company maintains insurance coverage that management believes is reasonable and prudent. The principal insurance coverage it maintains covers
commercial general liability; property damage; hardware/software damage; cyber liability; directors and officers; employment practices liability; certain
criminal acts against the Company; and errors and omissions. The Company believes that such insurance coverage is adequate for the purpose of its business.
The Company’s ability to maintain this level of insurance coverage in the future, however, is subject to the availability of affordable insurance in the
marketplace.
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Reserves
For all legal matters, reserves are established in accordance with SFAS No. 5. Once established, reserves are adjusted based on available information
when an event occurs requiring an adjustment.
Commitments
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments to extend credit and incur contingent liabilities that are not reflected in the
consolidated balance sheet. Significant changes in the economy or interest rates influence the impact that these commitments and contingencies have on the
Company in the future.
Loans
The Company had the following mortgage loan commitments (dollars in thousands):

Originate loans
Sell loans
(1)

Fixed Rate

December 31, 2007(1)
Variable Rate

Total

$ 294,283
$ 88,155

$ 107,891
$
4,500

$ 402,174
$ 92,655

The Company had no commitments to purchase loans at December 31, 2007.

Securities, Unused Lines of Credit and Certificates of Deposit
At December 31, 2007, the Company had commitments to purchase $0.5 billion and sell $2.0 billion in securities. In addition, the Company had
approximately $4.0 billion of certificates of deposit scheduled to mature in less than one year and $6.8 billion of unfunded commitments to extend credit.
Guarantees
The Company provides guarantees to investors purchasing mortgage loans, which are considered standard representations and warranties within the
mortgage industry. The primary guarantees are as follows:
• The mortgage and the mortgage note have been duly executed and each is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in
accordance with its terms. The mortgage has been duly acknowledged and recorded and is valid. The mortgage and the mortgage note are not
subject to any right of rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense, including, without limitation, the defense of usury, and no such right of
rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense has been asserted with respect thereto. If these claims prove to be untrue, the investor can require the
Company to repurchase the loan and return all loan purchase and servicing release premiums.
• Should any eligible mortgage loan delivered pay off prior to the receipt of the first payment, the loan purchase and servicing release premiums shall
be fully refunded.
• Should any eligible mortgage loan delivered to an investor pay off between the receipt of the first payment and a contractually designated period of
time (typically 60—120 days from the date of purchase), the servicing release premiums shall be fully refunded.
Management has determined that quantifying the potential liability exposure is not meaningful due to the nature of the standard representations and
warranties, which rarely result in loan repurchases. The current carrying amount of the liability recorded at December 31, 2007 is $0.2 million, which we
consider adequate based upon analysis of historical trends and current economic conditions for these guarantees.
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ETBH raises capital through the formation of trusts, which sell trust preferred stock in the capital markets. The capital securities are mandatorily
redeemable in whole at the due date, which is generally 30 years after issuance. Each trust issues Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred Securities at par, with a
liquidation amount of $1,000 per capital security. The proceeds from the sale of issuances are invested in ETBH’s Floating Rate Junior Subordinated
Debentures.
During the 30-year period prior to the redemption of the Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred Securities, ETBH guarantees the accrued and unpaid
distributions on these securities, as well as the redemption price of the securities and certain costs that may be incurred in liquidating, terminating or
dissolving the trusts (all of which would otherwise be payable by the trusts). At December 31, 2007, management estimated that the maximum potential
liability under this arrangement is equal to approximately $441.5 million or the total face value of these securities plus dividends, which may be unpaid at
the termination of the trust arrangement.
NOTE 24—SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
The segments presented below reflect the manner in which the Company’s chief operating decision maker assesses the Company’s performance. The
Company has two segments: retail and institutional.
Retail includes:
• trading, investing, banking and lending products and services to individuals; and
• stock plan administration products and services.
Institutional includes:
• balance sheet management activities including generation of institutional net interest spread, gain on loans and securities, net and management
income;
• market-making; and
• global equity execution and settlement services.
The retail segment originates loans through lending activities. Retail segment loan originations that are not sold directly to outside parties are sold at
arm’s length prices to the institutional segment which manages the Company’s balance sheet. The Company evaluates the performance of its segments based
on segment contribution (net revenue less expense excluding operating interest). All corporate overhead, administrative and technology charges are
allocated to segments either in proportion to their respective direct costs or based upon specific operating criteria.
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Financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is presented in the following tables (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenue:
Operating interest income
Operating interest expense
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income (expense) after provision for loan losses
Commission
Fees and service charges
Principal transactions
Gain (loss) on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Total non-interest income (expense)
Total net revenue
Expense excluding interest:
Compensation and benefits
Clearing and servicing
Advertising and market development
Communications
Professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Occupancy and equipment
Amortization of other intangibles
Impairment of goodwill
Facility restructuring and other exit activities
Other
Total expense excluding interest
Segment income (loss)
(1)

Retail

Institutional

Eliminations(1)

Total

$ 2,012,446
(1,025,789)
986,657
—
986,657
546,228
240,881
—
10,609
40,725
838,443
1,825,100

$ 2,924,017
(2,301,619)
622,398
(640,078)
(17,680)
147,882
26,928
103,229
(2,460,645)
7,287
(2,175,319)
(2,192,999)

$ (1,366,752)
1,366,752
—
—
—
—
(9,734)
—
—
(534)
(10,268)
(10,268)

$ 3,569,711
(1,960,656)
1,609,055
(640,078)
968,977
694,110
258,075
103,229
(2,450,036)
47,478
(1,347,144)
(378,167)

316,097
91,075
146,224
94,056
70,198
64,114
82,921
37,897
—
11,898
121,360
1,035,840
$ 789,260

149,370
205,337
3,349
13,470
36,493
21,257
10,268
2,575
101,208
21,328
86,209
650,864
$ (2,843,863)

—
(10,268)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(10,268)
—

465,467
286,144
149,573
107,526
106,691
85,371
93,189
40,472
101,208
33,226
207,569
1,676,436
$ (2,054,603)

Reflects elimination of transactions between retail and institutional segments, which includes deposit and free credit transfer pricing and order flow rebates.
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Year Ended December 31, 2006

Revenue:
Operating interest income
Operating interest expense
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses
Commission
Fees and service charges
Principal transactions
Gain on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Total non-interest income
Total net revenue
Expense excluding interest:
Compensation and benefits
Clearing and servicing
Advertising and market development
Communications
Professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Occupancy and equipment
Amortization of other intangibles
Facility restructuring and other exit activities
Other
Total expense excluding interest
Segment income
(1)

Retail

Institutional

Eliminations(1)

Total

$1,522,811
(639,248)
883,563
—
883,563
479,876
215,640
—
36,698
38,348
770,562
1,654,125

$ 2,163,127
(1,646,658)
516,469
(44,970)
471,499
145,389
30,646
110,235
19,288
392
305,950
777,449

$ (911,259)
911,259
—
—
—
—
(7,526)
—
—
(3,727)
(11,253)
(11,253)

$ 2,774,679
(1,374,647)
1,400,032
(44,970)
1,355,062
625,265
238,760
110,235
55,986
35,013
1,065,259
2,420,321

162,208
189,810
7,059
12,994
28,850
16,694
8,620
6,618
(1,051)
40,098
471,900
305,549

—
(11,253)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(11,253)
—

306,994
74,483
112,723
97,352
68,097
57,151
76,948
39,602
29,588
95,944
958,882
$ 695,243

$

Reflects elimination of transactions between retail and institutional segments, which includes deposit transfer pricing, servicing and order flow rebates.
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469,202
253,040
119,782
110,346
96,947
73,845
85,568
46,220
28,537
136,042
1,419,529
$ 1,000,792
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Year Ended December 31, 2005

Revenue:
Operating interest income
Operating interest expense
Net operating interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net operating interest income after provision for loan losses
Commission
Fees and service charges
Principal transactions
Gain on loans and securities, net
Other revenue
Total non-interest income
Total net revenue
Expense excluding interest:
Compensation and benefits
Clearing and servicing
Advertising and market development
Communications
Professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Occupancy and equipment
Amortization of other intangibles
Facility restructuring and other exit activities
Other
Total expense excluding interest
Segment income
(1)

Retail

Institutional

Eliminations(1)

Total

$ 685,067
(239,943)
445,124
—
445,124
339,654
176,809
—
63,705
52,129
632,297
1,077,421

$1,395,769
(969,631)
426,138
(54,016)
372,122
119,180
26,562
99,175
35,153
3,033
283,103
655,225

$ (430,572)
430,410
(162)
—
(162)
—
(7,114)
161
—
(21,686)
(28,639)
(28,801)

$1,650,264
(779,164)
871,100
(54,016)
817,084
458,834
196,257
99,336
98,858
33,476
886,761
1,703,845

232,494
47,618
96,918
71,693
56,238
60,604
57,869
13,894
(32,754)
14,090
618,664
$ 458,757

148,309
170,919
9,017
10,792
21,178
14,377
11,220
29,871
2,737
45,770
464,190
$ 191,035

—
(28,801)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(28,801)
—

380,803
189,736
105,935
82,485
77,416
74,981
69,089
43,765
(30,017)
59,860
1,054,053
$ 649,792

$

Reflects elimination of transactions between retail and institutional segments, which includes deposit transfer pricing, servicing and order flow rebates.

Segment Assets
Total assets for each segment are shown in the following table (dollars in thousands):
At December 31, 2007
At December 31, 2006

Retail

Institutional

$13,446,832
$13,864,334

$ 43,399,105
$ 39,874,969
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—
—

Total

$ 56,845,937
$ 53,739,303
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Geographic Information
The Company operates in both United States and international markets. The Company’s international operations are conducted through offices in
Europe, Asia and Canada. The following information provides a representation of each region’s contribution to the consolidated amounts (dollars in
thousands):
Total net revenue:
Year ended December 31, 2007
Year ended December 31, 2006
Year ended December 31, 2005
Long-lived assets:
At December 31, 2007
At December 31, 2006

United States

Europe

Asia

Canada

Total

$ (695,919)
$ 2,152,253
$ 1,496,204

$ 162,981
$ 147,768
$ 80,505

$ 61,903
$ 53,505
$ 71,683

$ 92,868
$ 66,795
$ 55,453

$ (378,167)
$ 2,420,321
$ 1,703,845

$ 337,625
$ 302,409

$
$

$ 1,927
$ 2,722

$ 9,669
$ 7,003

$
$

6,212
6,255

355,433
318,389

No single customer accounted for greater than 10% of gross revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
NOTE 25—FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires the disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments. The
following disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 is made by the Company using available market
information and valuation methods which management believes are appropriate for each instrument. Quoted market prices, if available, are utilized as
estimates of the fair value of financial instruments. If quoted market prices are not available, management estimates fair value based on the quoted market
price of a financial instrument with similar characteristics or based on other valuation techniques. The estimation methods for individual classifications of
financial instruments are described more fully below. Different market assumptions and estimation methodologies could significantly affect estimated fair
value amounts.
The fair value of financial instruments whose estimated fair values were their carrying values is summarized as follows:
• Cash and equivalents, cash and investments required to be segregated, margin receivables and customer payables—Fair value is estimated to be
carrying value.
• Trading securities, available-for-sale mortgage-backed and investment securities—Fair value is estimated by using quoted market prices for most
securities. For illiquid securities, market prices are estimated by obtaining market price quotes on similar liquid securities and adjusting the price to
reflect differences between the two securities, such as credit risk, liquidity, term coupon, payment characteristics and other information.
• Investment in FHLB stock—FHLB stock is carried at cost, which is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value.
• Financial derivatives—Fair value is the amount the Company would pay or receive to terminate the agreement as determined from quoted market
prices, which is equal to the carrying value. The fair value of commitments to originate loans is estimated by calculating the estimated fair value of
the underlying mortgage loan and the probability that the mortgage loan will fund within the terms of the IRLCs. See derivative financial
instruments discussion at Note 8—Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities.
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The fair value of financial instruments whose estimated fair values were different from their carrying values is summarized below (dollars in thousands):
December 31, 2007
Carrying
Value
Fair Value

Assets:
Loans, net
Liabilities:
Deposits
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Other borrowings
Corporate debt

December 31, 2006
Carrying
Value
Fair Value

$ 30,139,382

$ 29,415,679

$ 26,656,193

$ 26,416,079

$ 25,884,755
$ 8,932,693
$ 7,446,504
$ 3,002,698

$ 25,864,725
$ 8,937,647
$ 7,495,949
$ 2,800,758

$ 24,071,012
$ 9,792,422
$ 5,323,962
$ 1,842,169

$ 23,320,015
$ 9,809,313
$ 5,345,326
$ 1,996,560

• Loans, net—For loans held-for sale, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities backed by similar types of loans, dealer rate
sheets and dealer commitments to purchase loans. The carrying value of closed loans held-for-sale designated in fair value hedge relationships
approximates fair value. For the held-for-investment portfolio, including one- to four-family, home equity, recreational vehicle, marine and auto
loans, fair value is estimated by differentiating loans based on their individual characteristics, such as product classification, loan category, pricing
features and remaining maturity. Management adjusts assumptions for expected losses, prepayments and discount rates to reflect the individual
characteristics of the loans, such as credit risk, coupon, term, and payment characteristics, as well as the secondary market conditions for these types
of loans. For commercial and credit card loans, fair value is estimated based on both individual and portfolio characteristics and recent market
transactions.
• Deposits—For sweep deposit accounts, money market and savings accounts and checking accounts, fair value is the amount payable on demand at
the reporting date. For certificates of deposit and brokered certificates of deposits, fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the
currently offered rates for deposits of similar remaining maturities.
• Securities sold under agreements to repurchase—Fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows at the rate implied for other similar
instruments with similar remaining maturities.
• Other borrowings—For FHLB advances, fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the currently offered rates for borrowings of
similar remaining maturities. For trust preferred stock, fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the rate implied by dealer pricing
quotes for other similar instruments, adjusting the price to reflect differences between the securities, such as credit risk, liquidity, term coupon,
payment characteristics and other information. For margin collateral, overnight and other short-term borrowings and collateralized borrowings, fair
value is estimated to be carrying value.
• Corporate debt—Fair value is estimated using quoted market prices or dealer pricing quotes.
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments to extend credit and incur contingent liabilities that are not reflected in the
consolidated balance sheet. Significant changes in the economy or interest rates influence the impact that these commitments and contingencies have on the
Company in the future. Information related to such commitments and contingent liabilities is detailed in Note 23—Commitments, Contingencies and Other
Regulatory Matters.
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NOTE 26—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
The following presents the Parent’s condensed statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), balance sheet and cash flows:
STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)
2007

Revenue:
Management fees from subsidiaries
Total net revenue
Expense excluding interest:
Compensation and benefits
Clearing and servicing
Advertising and market development
Communications
Professional services
Depreciation and amortization
Occupancy and equipment
Facility restructuring and other exit activities
Intercompany allocations and charges
Other
Total expense excluding interest
Income (loss) before other income (expense), income taxes, discontinued operations, cumulative effect
of accounting change and equity in income (loss) of other consolidated subsidiaries
Other income (expense):
Corporate interest income
Corporate interest expense
Gain (loss) on sales of investments, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Equity in income (loss) of investments and venture funds
Total other income (expense)
Loss before income taxes, discontinued operations, cumulative effect of accounting change and equity
in income (loss) of other consolidated subsidiaries
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Gain from discontinued operations, net of tax
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax
Equity in income (loss) of other consolidated subsidiaries
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive income (loss)
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190,156
190,156
135,356
(2,318)
8,979
24,856
51,039
70,125
35,173
3,215
(190,294)
30,037
166,168
23,988

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$ 181,621
181,621
139,056
(1,089)
9,036
25,455
35,296
54,621
24,559
20,279
(147,798)
24,281
183,696
(2,075)

2005

$ 224,894
224,894
130,081
206
13,498
18,973
27,647
50,528
25,036
2,991
(120,598)
17,545
165,907
58,987

2,169
(169,475)
(3)
—
5,590
(161,719)

2,617
(149,700)
—
(703)
(989)
(148,775)

2,265
(71,510)
982
—
6,247
(62,016)

(137,731)
18,231
(155,962)
—
—
(1,285,792)
(1,441,754)
(189,924)
$(1,631,678)

(150,850)
(143,845)
(7,005)
2,593
—
633,271
628,859
(25,760)
$ 603,099

(3,029)
(10,806)
7,777
—
1,646
420,989
430,412
(34,513)
$ 395,899
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BALANCE SHEET
(In thousands)
December 31,
2007

2006

ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Property and equipment, net
Investment in other consolidated subsidiaries
Receivable from subsidiaries
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:
Corporate debt
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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251,663
273,894
5,287,423
35,544
259,997
$ 6,108,521

$

139,542
230,120
5,529,008
107,031
201,495
$ 6,207,196

$ 3,022,698
256,758
3,279,456
2,829,065
$ 6,108,521

$ 1,842,170
168,656
2,010,826
4,196,370
$ 6,207,196
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sales of investments, net
Equity in undistributed income of other subsidiaries
Equity in income of investments and venture funds
Non-cash restructuring costs and other exit activities
Share-based compensation
Tax benefit from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense
Other
Other changes, net:
Other assets and liabilities, net
Facility restructuring liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash used in business acquisitions
Cash contributions to subsidiaries
Return of capital from subsidiaries
Other
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of springing lien notes
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes
Proceeds from issuance of mandatory convertible notes
Proceeds from issuance of common stock to Citadel (1)
Tax benefit from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense recognition
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from employee stock transactions
Repurchases of common stock
Deferred financing fees
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase (decrease) in Cash and Equivalents
Cash and Equivalents, Beginning of Period
Cash and Equivalents, End of Period
(1)

2007

Year Ended December 31,
2006

$(1,441,754)

$ 628,859

2005

$

430,412

—
75,057
(951)
1,727,862
(5,590)
672
15,084
(8,214)
3,527

—
54,621
—
(307,623)
989
20,279
8,848
(12,410)
(1,213)

(1,646)
50,528
(946)
(55,210)
(6,247)
2,991
6,916
(10,352)
1,459

91,542
(8,412)
448,823

(63,350)
(798)
328,202

(73,131)
(4,581)
340,193

(114,838)
(3,813)
(1,641,000)
—
(13,405)
(1,773,056)

(87,400)
(15,259)
(167,978)
44,014
5,424
(221,199)

(66,191)
(2,312,879)
(80,000)
—
10,039
(2,449,031)

1,193,767
—
—
338,978
8,214
35,981
(148,632)
(7,371)
15,417
1,436,354
112,121
139,542
$ 251,663

—
—
—
—
12,410
52,720
(122,601)
—
(3,504)
(60,975)
46,028
93,514
$ 139,542

—
992,064
436,500
—
10,352
753,134
(58,215)
—
(490)
2,133,345
24,507
69,007
$
93,514

Includes the proceeds received on November 29, 2007 for the 46.7 million shares of common stock that are expected to be issued in the first quarter of
2008 in connection with the Citadel Investment. These shares had not been issued as of December 31, 2007.
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Parent Company Guarantees
Guarantees are contingent commitments issued by the Company for the purpose of guaranteeing the financial obligations of a subsidiary to a financial
institution. The collective obligation of the corporation does not change by the existence of corporate guarantees. Rather, the guarantees shift ultimate
payment responsibility of an existing financial obligation from a subsidiary to the parent company.
In support of the Company’s brokerage business, the Company has provided guarantees on the settlement of its subsidiaries’ financial obligations with
several financial institutions related to its securities lending activities. Terms and conditions of the guarantees, although typically undefined in the
guarantees themselves, are governed by the conditions of the underlying obligation that the guarantee covers. Thus, the Company’s obligation to pay under
these guarantees coincides exactly with the terms and conditions of those underlying obligations. At December 31, 2007, no claims had been filed with the
Company for payment under any guarantees. These guarantees are not collateralized.
In addition to guarantees issued on behalf of subsidiaries participating in securities lending programs, the Company also issues guarantees for the
settlement of foreign exchange transactions. If a subsidiary fails to deliver currency on the settlement date of a foreign exchange arrangement, the beneficiary
financial institution may seek payment from the Company. Terms are undefined, and are governed by the terms of the underlying financial obligation. At
December 31, 2007, no claims had been made on the Company under these guarantees and thus, no obligations had been recorded. These guarantees are not
collateralized.
NOTE 27—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2008, the Company issued an additional $150.0 million of springing lien notes in accordance with the terms of the agreement with Citadel.
This is the final issuance under this agreement and brings the total springing lien notes to $1.9 billion. In connection with this issuance, the Company
received $150.0 million in cash. Additionally, the Company received all required regulatory approvals in order to issue the remaining 46.7 million shares of
common stock.
The Company entered into a definitive asset purchase agreement to sell substantially all of the assets of RAA to PHH Investments, Ltd for
approximately $25 million. This transaction is subject to normal closing conditions and is expected to close in the second quarter of 2008.
NOTE 28—QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)
The information presented below reflects all adjustments, which, in the opinion of management, are of a normal and recurring nature necessary to
present fairly the results of operations for the periods presented (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):
2007
Total net revenue
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
Net earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

2006

1st
$ 644,998
$ 169,410
$ 169,410

2nd
$ 663,549
$ 159,129
$ 159,129

3rd
$ 321,232
$ (58,448)
$ (58,448)

4th
$ (2,007,946)
$ (1,711,845)
$ (1,711,845)

1st
$ 598,349
$ 142,984
$ 142,471

2nd
$ 611,358
$ 156,692
$ 156,484

3rd
$ 581,766
$ 150,228
$ 153,249

4th
$ 628,848
$ 176,910
$ 176,655

$
$

0.40
0.39

$
$

0.38
0.37

$
$

(0.14)
(0.14)

$
$

(3.98)
(3.98)

$
$

0.34
0.33

$
$

0.37
0.36

$
$

0.35
0.34

$
$

0.42
0.40

$
$

0.40
0.39

$
$

0.38
0.37

$
$

(0.14)
(0.14)

$
$

(3.98)
(3.98)

$
$

0.34
0.33

$
$

0.37
0.36

$
$

0.36
0.35

$
$

0.42
0.40

The operating environment during 2007, particularly during the second half of the year, was extremely challenging as the crisis in the residential real
estate and credit markets adversely impacted our financial performance. The decrease in net income for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2007 was due
principally to the $2.2 billion loss on the sale of our asset-backed securities portfolio and $402.3 million in provision for loan losses.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a)

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s “disclosure controls and
procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective based on their evaluation of these
controls and procedures required by paragraph (b) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15.

(b)

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the changes to the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during our last fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, as required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and
15d-15, and have concluded that there were no such changes that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. The Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the Reports of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
PART III
The Company’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders which, when filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, will be incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, provides the
information required under Part III (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14).
PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present, or not present in amounts, sufficient to
require submission of the schedules or because the required information is provided in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated September 28, 2005, by and among the Company, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. and J.P. Morgan Invest
Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2005.)

2.2

First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated October 6, 2005, by and among Harris Financial Corp, Harrisdirect LLC and
E*TRADE Financial Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 7, 2005.)

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of E*TRADE Financial Corporation as currently in effect. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 7, 2003.)

3.2

Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred Stock of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Amendment No. 1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration Statement No. 333-41628.)

3.3

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
November 9, 2000.)

3.4

Certificate of Designation of Series B Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
of the Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001.)

4.1

Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration Statement No. 333-05525.)

4.2

Reference is hereby made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3.

4.3

Indenture, dated February 1, 2000, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration Statement No. 333-35802.)

4.4

Indenture dated May 29, 2001 by and between the Company and The Bank of New York (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration Statement No. 333-64102.)

4.5

Rights Agreement dated at July 9, 2001 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as
Rights Agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 9, 2001.)

4.6

Indenture dated June 8, 2004 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and the Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2004.)

4.7

Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement dated November 22, 2005 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and The Bank of New
York (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2006.)

4.8

Form of Corporate Unit (included in Exhibit 4.7—Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the
Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2006.)

4.9

Form of Treasury Unit (included in Exhibit 4.7—Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the
Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1,2006.)

4.10

Subordinated Indenture dated November 22, 2005 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and The Bank of New York (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2006.)

4.11

Supplemental Indenture No. 1 dated November 22, 2005 to the Subordinated Indenture between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and
The Bank of New York (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2006.)
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4.12

Form of Subordinated Note (included in Exhibit 4.11—Supplemental Indenture No. 1 to the Subordinated Indenture) (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1,2006.)

4.13

Indenture dated November 22, 2005 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and The Bank of New York (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2006.)

4.14

Form of Senior Note (included in Exhibit 4.13—Indenture dated November 22, 2005) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the
Company’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2006.)

4.15

First Supplemental Indenture dated September 19, 2005 by and between the Company and the Bank of New York, as Trustee
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 1, 2005.)

4.16

Indenture dated September 19, 2005 by and between the Company and the Bank of New York, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 1, 2005.)

4.17

Supplemental Indenture dated November 10, 2005, between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and the Bank of New York, as Trustee
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 15, 2005.)

4.18

Common Stock Underwriting Agreement among E*TRADE Financial Corporation and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc., as representatives of the underwriters named therein, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., as forward sellers, and Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
forward counterparties, dated November 16, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 18, 2005.)

4.19

Notes Underwriting Agreement among E*TRADE Financial Corporation and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., as representatives of the underwriters therein, dated November 16, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 18, 2005.)

4.20

Equity Units Underwriting Agreement among E*TRADE Financial Corporation and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., as representatives of the underwriters named therein, dated November 16, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.3 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 18, 2005.)

4.21

Confirmation of Forward Stock Sale Transaction between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and Morgan Stanley & Co. International
Limited dated November 16, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 18, 2005.)

4.22

Confirmation of Forward Stock Sale Transaction between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association dated November 16, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 18, 2005.)

4.23

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and between Wingate Capital Ltd. and E*TRADE Financial
Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 4, 2007.)

4.24

Indenture, dated November 29, 2007 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation as issuer and the Bank of New York as Trustee (includes
form of note) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 4, 2007.)

4.25

First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated November 29, 2007, by and Between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, as rights agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on December 4, 2007.)
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10.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Registrant and its directors and certain officers (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration Statement No. 333-05525.)

10.2

401(k) Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration Statement No.
333-05525.)

10.3

Employee Bonus Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration
Statement No. 333-05525.)

10.4

Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 5, 1998 by and between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and SOFTBANK Holdings, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 12, 1998.)

10.5

Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 9, 1998 by and between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and SOFTBANK Holdings, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 17, 1998.)

10.6

E*TRADE Ventures I, LLC, Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s
Form 10-Q/A filed on April 17, 2000.)

10.7

E*TRADE eCommerce Fund, L.P., Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the
Company’s Form 10-Q/A filed on April 17, 2000.)

10.8

E*TRADE Ventures II, LLC, Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed November 9, 2000.)

10.9

E*TRADE eCommerce Fund II, L.P., Limited Partnership Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Form 10Q filed on August 14, 2000.)

10.10

[redacted] Amended and Restated Strategic Alliance Agreement dated September 26, 2000 by and between the Company and Wit
SoundView Group, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Company’s Form 10-Q/A filed on October 25, 2000.)

10.11

Agreement Regarding Increase of Capital Commitment of the Company and Modification of Order of Fund Distribution by and between the
Company and ArrowPath Venture Partners I, LLC dated October 1, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form
10-Q filed November 6, 2001.)

10.12

Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of E*TRADE eCommerce Fund L.P. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 6, 2001.)

10.13

[redacted] Master Service Agreement and Global Services Schedule, dated April 9, 2003, between E*TRADE Group, Inc. and ADP Financial
Information Services, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 8, 2003.)

10.14

E*TRADE FINANCIAL Sweep Deposit Account Brokerage and Servicing Agreement, dated September 12, 2003, by and between
E*TRADE Bank and E*TRADE Clearing LLC. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on
November 7, 2003.)

10.15

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2003, between Deutsche Bank AG, a German Corporation and E*TRADE Bank, a
federal savings bank under the laws of United States (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
January 7, 2003.)
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10.16

Form of Employment dated September 1, 2004, by and between the Company and each of Mitchell H. Caplan, R. Jarrett Lilien, Arlen W.
Gelbard, Louis Klobuchar, Joshua Levine, Robert J. Simmons and Russell S. Elmer (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 of the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 5, 2004.)

10.17

Code of Conduct (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2006.)

10.18

Remarketing Agreement dated November 22, 2005 among E*TRADE and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and The Bank of New York
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2006.)

10.19

2005 Equity Incentive Plan and Forms of Award Agreements (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2005.)

10.20

Executive Bonus Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2005.)

10.21

Credit Agreement dated September 19, 2005 between the Company and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent
(Incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 in Form 10-Q filed November 1, 2005.)

10.22

Amendment No. 1 dated July 24, 2007, to the Credit Agreement dated September 19, 2007 between the Company and JPMorgan Chase
Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

10.23

Master Investment and Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 29, 2007 by and between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and
Wingate Capital Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 4, 2007.)

10.24

First Amendment to Master Investment and Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2007, by and between Wingate
Capital Ltd. and E*TRADE Financial Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 of the Schedule 13D filed by Citadel Limited
Partnership et al. with respect to E*TRADE Financial Corporation on December 7, 2007.)

10.25

Second Amendment to Master Investment and Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2008, by and between Wingate
Capital Ltd. and E*TRADE Financial Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.12 of the Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13D
filed by Citadel Limited Partnership et al. with respect to E*TRADE Financial Corporation on January 24, 2008.)

10.26

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 29, 2007 among E*TRADE Financial Corporation, Investment Partners (A), LLC and the
additional investors party thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 4, 2007.)

10.27

ABS Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among E*TRADE Financial Corporation, E*TRADE Bank, E*TRADE
Global Asset Management, Inc. and Citadel Equity Fund Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on December 4, 2007.)

10.28

Separation Agreement Between E*TRADE Financial Corporation and Mitchell Caplan, dated as of December 27, 2007, by and between
E*TRADE Financial Corporation and Mitchell Caplan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 2, 2008.)
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*10.29

(redacted) Equities and Options Order Handling Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among E*TRADE Financial
Corporation, E*TRADE Securities LLC, and Citadel Derivatives Group LLC

*12.1

Statement of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

*21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

*23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

*31.1

Certification—Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley.

*31.2

Certification—Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley.

*32.1

Certification—Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley.

* Filed herein.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: February 28, 2008
E*TRADE FINANCIAL C ORPORATION
(Registrant)
By:

/ S/ R. JARRETT LILIEN
R. Jarrett Lilien
Acting Chief Executive Officer

By:

/ S/ R OBERT J. SIMMONS
Robert J. Simmons
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

/ S/ DONALD H. LAYTON

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board

February 28, 2008

Acting Chief Executive Officer (principal executive
officer) and Director

February 28, 2008

Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and
accounting officer)

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

(Donald H. Layton)

/ S/ R. JARRETT LILIEN
(R. Jarrett Lilien)

/ S/ ROBERT J. SIMMONS
(Robert J. Simmons)

/ S/ DARYL G. BREWSTER
(Daryl G. Brewster)

Director
(Robert Druskin)

/ S/ RONALD D. FISHER

Director

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

Director

February 28, 2008

(Ronald D. Fisher)

/ S/ GEORGE A. HAYTER
(George A. Hayter)

/ S/ MICHAEL K. PARKS
(Michael K. Parks)

/ S/ C. CATHLEEN RAFFAELI
(C. Cathleen Raffaeli)

/ S/ LEWIS E. RANDALL
(Lewis E. Randall)

/ S/ DONNA L. WEAVER
(Donna L. Weaver)

/ S/ STEPHEN H. WILLARD
(Stephen H. Willard)
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EXECUTION VERSION
EQUITIES AND OPTIONS ORDER HANDLING AGREEMENT
dated as of November 29, 2007
by and among
E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION,
E*TRADE SECURITIES LLC, and
CITADEL DERIVATIVES GROUP LLC
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EQUITIES AND OPTIONS ORDER HANDLING AGREEMENT
This EQUITIES AND OPTIONS ORDER HANDLING AGREEMENT, dated as of November 29, 2007 (this “Agreement”), by and among
CITADEL DERIVATIVES GROUP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“the “Company”), E*TRADE SECURITIES LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“E*TRADE Securities”), and E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”) (each individually a “Party” and
together the “Parties”).
WHEREAS, Parent and Affiliates of the Company have entered into that certain Investment and Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of
November 29, 2007 (the “Investment Agreement”), which provides for, among other things, the issuance by Parent to Affiliates of the Company of certain
debt and equity securities and the purchase by an Affiliate of the Company of certain assets from the bank Affiliate of Parent; and
WHEREAS, Parent and the Company at the Initial Closing (as defined in the Investment Agreement) are entering into this Agreement which sets
forth the terms upon which Parent and its Affiliates will route Covered Orders to the Company and the Company will provide to Parent and its Affiliates
routing, order handling and execution services for such Covered Orders (the “Company Services”).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and in the Investment
Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound,
the Parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE I.
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1 Certain Definitions. In this Agreement, the following words and phrases shall have the following meanings:
(a) “Adverse Reputational Event” shall mean, with respect to a Person, (i) a conviction of such Person for a felony or a plea of guilty or nolo
contendere to a felony by such Person, which in either case is final and non-appealable, or a disqualification, suspension or temporary or permanent bar
imposed on such Person by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any SRO for misconduct that prohibits such Person from acting generally as a
Broker-Dealer, if such disqualification or bar continues for more than 90 days or (ii) a plea or consent to the entry of an order by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, a court of competent jurisdiction, an SRO or a state securities regulator that includes a finding that such Person engaged in intentional
wrongdoing (with scienter) or fraud (with scienter) in the execution of customer orders as a market maker or order router.

(b) “Affiliate” of a Person shall mean any Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such Person.
(c) “Broker-Dealer” shall mean a Person registered as a broker or dealer under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act.
(d) “Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday or other day on which banks located in New York, New York are authorized or
required by law to close.
(e) “Change in Control of E*TRADE Capital Markets” shall mean a direct or indirect change in control of E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC or an
Affiliate of E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC that has the effect of disposing of more than fifty percent (50%) of the assets of its market making business for
Covered Orders to a Person (other than an Affiliate of E*TRADE Capital Markets).
(f) “Change of Control of the Company” means a direct or indirect change of control of the Company or an Affiliate of the Company that has the
effect of disposing of more than fifty percent (50%) of the assets of the execution business for Covered Orders (i) to a Person (other than an Affiliate of the
Company) that is a direct competitor of Parent in a business segment which represents twenty-five percent (25%) or more of Parent’s gross annual revenues
and twenty-five percent (25%) or more of such Person’s gross annual revenues, or (ii) to a Person (other than an Affiliate of the Company) that is not of sound
financial standing and business reputation.
(g) “Change of Control of Parent” shall mean an event where Parent consummates a merger, consolidation, reorganization or similar transaction
or series of related transactions, including a third-party tender offer, whether direct or indirect, with another Person, including such other Person’s Affiliates
(the “Acquiring Person”), in which fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the combined company following
such transaction is held by Persons who were shareholders of the Acquiring Person immediately prior to such transaction.
(h) “Confidential Information” shall mean all information disclosed in connection with, or arising out of a Party’s obligations under this
Agreement including (i) technology and intellectual property, such as systems, source code, databases (including their design), hardware, software, programs,
applications, engine protocols, routines, manuals, displays, designs, descriptions, procedures, formulas, discoveries, inventions, specifications, drawings,
sketches, models, samples, codes, improvements, concepts, ideas and past, present and future research and development; (ii) any unpublished information
concerning research activities and plans, marketing or sales plans, pricing or pricing strategies, operational techniques, strategic plans, and unpublished
financial information, including information concerning revenues, profits and profit margins; (iii) this Agreement including its terms; and (iv) Customer
Information; provided that “confidential information” shall not include any information or material set forth in Section 4.1(c) of this Agreement.
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(i) “Covered Order” shall mean an instruction, other than an instruction with respect to an Excluded Order, to buy or sell that is placed with
Parent or an Affiliate of Parent by, for or on behalf of a Parent Customer, for (i) any NMS Security; or (ii) any other type of security mutually agreed upon by
the Company or Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, as defined below in paragraph 1.1(y), NMS Security includes both equities and Options.
(j) “Customer Information” shall mean (i) all information disclosed by or to the Company, on the one hand, to or by Parent, on the other hand, in
connection with this Agreement, which identifies Parent Customers or the Company’s customer(s), including account numbers, or (ii) any information
collected by the Company through the Company Services described herein, which identifies customer(s) individually or in the aggregate, including any data
regarding Covered Orders, individually or in the aggregate.
(k) “Directed Order” shall mean a Covered Order where a Parent Customer or Registered Representative (based on an instruction from a Parent
Customer) placing such Covered Order specifically instructs (through electronic, telephonic or other means) that such Covered Order be routed to a particular
venue or platform for execution (e.g., an Exchange, a market center or a Broker-Dealer) other than the Company or any of its Affiliates.
(l) “Exchange” shall mean any national securities exchange registered under Section 6 of the Securities Exchange Act and any national
securities association within the meaning of Section 15A of the Securities Exchange Act.
(m) “Excluded Order” shall mean (i) any Order placed by, for, or on behalf of any “investment company” that is registered under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended, that is advised or managed by Parent or any of its Affiliates; or (ii) any Order placed by a Parent Customer that is an
investment adviser affiliated with Parent, to the extent that the routing of such Order to the Company under this Agreement would be prohibited under
applicable law.
(n) “Execution Quality Service Levels” shall mean the service levels set forth on Schedule A to this Agreement (which is incorporated herein by
reference), as may be amended from time to time by the Parties in accordance with this Agreement, including Schedule A to this Agreement.
(o) “Existing Order Flow” shall mean Orders routed by Parent and its Affiliates for the twelve (12) months prior to the date of this Agreement.
(p) “Existing Products” shall mean the product types offered by Parent and its Affiliates on the date of this Agreement.
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(q) “Failure Notice” shall mean a written communication from E*TRADE Securities to the Company, which is explicitly identified as a Failure
Notice, and which states E*TRADE Securities’ reasonable belief that the Company’s execution performance has been unsatisfactory.
(r) “Governmental Entity” shall mean any court, administrative agency or commission or other governmental, prosecutorial or regulatory
authority or instrumentality or SRO.
(s) “Insolvency Event” shall mean any of the following: (i) a court or Governmental Entity having jurisdiction shall have entered a decree or
order for relief in respect of a Party in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or shall
have appointed a receiver, liquidator, trustee (or similar official) for a Party or for any substantial part of its or their property or ordered the winding up or
liquidation of its affairs, or (ii) there shall have been commenced against a Party an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other
similar law now or hereafter in effect, or any case, proceeding or other action for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, trustee (or similar official) for a
Party or for any substantial part of its or their property or for the winding up or liquidation of its or their affairs, and such involuntary case or other case,
proceeding or other action shall remain undismissed or undischarged for a period of sixty (60) consecutive calendar days following the filing date thereof or
(iii) a Party shall have commenced a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or consented
to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or consented to the appointment or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator,
trustee (or similar official) for a Party or for any substantial part of its or their property or made any general assignment for the benefit of creditors.
(t) “Legal Proceeding” shall mean any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative
or appellate proceeding), hearing, inquiry, audit, examination or investigation commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving,
any court or other Governmental Entity or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.
(u) “Legal Requirements” shall mean any national, state, local or similar laws (whether under statute, rule, regulation or otherwise); requirements
of Governmental Entities (including any requirement imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any SRO of which a Party is a member); federal
and state privacy, confidentiality, consumer protection, advertising, electronic mail and data security laws and regulations, whether in effect now or in the
future; and requirements under permits, orders, decrees or directives that are binding on the Person in question.
(v) “Material Legal Shift” shall mean any Legal Requirement that does not exist as of the date of this Agreement (whether by reason of the
adoption,
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amendment or promulgation of any law, regulation or order, the repeal, lapse or striking down of any law, regulation or order, or any change in the
interpretation of any law, regulation or order by any Governmental Entity) and that prohibits or materially restricts or limits (i) the routing or execution of
Covered Orders as provided in this Agreement, (ii) payments pursuant to Article III, or (iii) any other material term of this Agreement. For the avoidance of
doubt, a Material Legal Shift may include material changes to the pricing methodologies of Exchanges or market practices with respect to payment for order
flow.
(w) “Material Transaction” shall mean, with respect to Parent, an acquisition of assets or stock of another Person, whether pursuant to a merger or
similar transaction (other than a Change of Control of Parent), a partnership, joint venture or similar business combination or relationship with another
Person.
(x) “Minimum Covered Orders” shall mean, with respect to any time period, at least (i) ninety-seven and a half percent (97.5%) of Covered
Orders in Options, and (ii) forty percent (40%) of Covered Orders in NMS Stocks for such time period.
(y) “NMS Security” shall have the same definition as in Rule 600(b)(46) of Regulation NMS under the Securities Exchange Act, which for the
avoidance of doubt includes both equity securities for which transaction reports are collected, processed and made available pursuant to an effective
transaction reporting plan, and Options.
(z) “NMS Stock” shall have the same definition as in Rule 600(b)(47) of Regulation NMS under the Securities Exchange Act, which for the
avoidance of doubt includes equity securities for which transaction reports are collected, processed and made available pursuant to an effective transaction
reporting plan, but excludes Options.
(aa) “Option” shall mean any option contract that is listed on an Exchange.
(bb) “Order” shall mean an instruction to buy or sell securities that is placed with Parent or an Affiliate of Parent by, for or on behalf of a Parent
Customer.
(cc) “Parent Customer” shall mean a customer or client of Parent or an Affiliate of Parent, including any investment adviser with customer
accounts custodied at Parent or an Affiliate of Parent.
(dd) “Partial Termination” shall mean a termination of this Agreement with respect to either (i) NMS Stock, or (ii) Options, pursuant to
Section 8.2(k), 8.2(l), or 8.2(m). For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a Partial Termination, this Agreement will continue in all other respects
concerning the class of securities (either NMS Stock or Options) that was not the subject of such Partial Termination.
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(ee) “Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture, trust, Governmental
Entity or other entity or organization.
(ff) “Registered Representative” shall mean a registered representative of a Broker-Dealer.
(gg) “Securities Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the rules and regulations thereunder.
(hh) “SRO” shall mean any securities industry self-regulatory organization, as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Securities Exchange Act.
(ii) “Successor Entity” shall mean (i) with respect to a Change of Control of Parent, the surviving entity resulting from such Change of Control of
Parent; or (ii) with respect to a Material Transaction, the combined entity resulting from the consummation of such Material Transaction by Parent.
Section 1.2 Additional Definitions. In addition, the following defined terms have the meaning set forth in the indicated Section:
Location

Term

Acquiring Person

Section 1.1(g)

Agreement

Preamble

Company

Preamble

Company Indemnified Parties

Section 6.2

Company Services

Preamble

Cure Period

Section 8.2(a)

Disclosing Party

Section 4.1(a)

E*TRADE Securities

Preamble

End Date

Section 8.4

Execution Quality Committee

Section 2.3(c)

Force Majeure

Section 9.12

Indemnification Notice

Section 6.3
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Indemnified Parties

Section 6.2

Indemnifying Party

Section 6.3

Investment Agreement

Preamble

Liquidated Damages Amount

Section 5.7(a)

Losses

Section 6.1

Order Flow Change

Section 2.3(d)

Other Parties

Section 9.12

Parent

Preamble

Parent Cure Period

Section 8.2(b)

Parent Indemnified Parties

Section 6.1

Parties

Preamble

Party

Preamble

Proceeding

Section 9.10

Products Change

Section 2.3(e)

Receiving Party

Section 4.1(a)

Security Breach

Section 7.2

Term

Section 8.1

Termination Election Period

Section 5.5(a)

Third Party Claim

Section 6.3
ARTICLE II.
ORDER FLOW

Section 2.1 Direction and Routing of Orders.
(a) Covered Orders and Company Services. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement or in Schedule A, Parent shall, and shall cause its
Affiliates to,
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route at least the Minimum Covered Orders to the Company for the Company Services and the Company shall, in its sole discretion, determine to execute
such Covered Orders either as principal or by acting as riskless principal or agent, including, where applicable, determining the market center for execution of
such Covered Orders, in any case in accordance with Section 2.3. The Company shall provide the Company Services for the Covered Orders that are routed to
it in accordance with this Section 2.1(a). Nothing herein shall limit the ability of Parent to route Covered Orders in excess of the Minimum Covered Orders to
the Company.
(b) Parent’s Alternate Connectivity. Parent may maintain alternate connectivity for routing of Covered Orders in NMS Stocks or Options to
Exchanges, market centers or other Broker-Dealers, and Parent shall be permitted to route to such Exchanges, market centers or other Broker-Dealers the
minimum number of Covered Orders needed to maintain such connectivity; provided, that Parent and its Affiliates route to the Company at least the
Minimum Covered Orders in accordance with Section 2.1(a). The composition of Covered Orders in Options for such alternate routing shall be a neutral
sample representative of the broad cross section of all Covered Orders in Options. Any Covered Orders in Options that are routed to any Exchange, market
center or Broker-Dealer pursuant to this Section 2.1(b) shall count toward the two and one half percent (2.5%) of Covered Orders in Options that Parent is
permitted to exclude from the Covered Orders in Options that Parent and its Affiliates are required to route to the Company and its Affiliates under this
Agreement. Any Covered Orders in NMS Stocks that are routed to any Exchange, market center or Broker-Dealer pursuant to this Section 2.1(b) shall count
toward the sixty percent (60%) of Covered Orders in NMS Stocks that Parent is permitted to exclude from the Covered Orders in NMS Stocks that Parent and
its Affiliates are required to route to the Company and its Affiliates under this Agreement.
(c) Securities Exchange Act Compliance. The Company covenants and agrees to provide to Parent or any of its Affiliates such information as it
requires to prepare and publish its disclosures required by Rule 606 of Regulation NMS of the Securities Exchange Act with respect to the routing of Covered
Orders to the Company. Further, the Company and Parent shall cooperate to design their respective order routing and reporting processes such that the venues
where Covered Orders (or portions thereof) are ultimately executed can be identified and reported on Parent’s or any of its Affiliate’s required disclosures
pursuant to Rule 606 of Regulation NMS of the Securities Exchange Act consistent with Legal Requirements.
(d) Order Book. The Company shall maintain a good-til-cancelled order book for open Orders that remain in effect until executed or cancelled.
(e) NMS Stock Orders in Excess of Minimum Covered Orders. Parent shall not, and shall ensure that its Affiliates do not, directly or indirectly
accept any “payment for order flow” (as defined in Rule 10b-10(d)(8) of the Securities Exchange Act) from any market maker, other than the Company, with
respect to Covered Orders in
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NMS Stocks. For the avoidance of doubt, Parent shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, take any actions that are intended, designed or that would
reasonably be expected to circumvent the terms or intention of this Section 2.1(e).
Section 2.2 Customer Complaints. The Company shall cooperate in good faith with Parent to attempt to resolve any complaints from Parent
Customers or Registered Representatives.
Section 2.3 Execution Quality Service Levels.
(a) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with its duty of best execution, to obtain the most favorable terms
reasonably available for Covered Orders to fulfill the Execution Quality Service Levels set forth in Schedule A to this Agreement as may be modified
pursuant to this Section 2.3 or Schedule A to this Agreement.
(b) The Company and Parent and/or E*TRADE Securities may, from time to time, mutually agree in writing on changes to the Execution Quality
Service Levels, including those changes contemplated by Schedule A to this Agreement.
(c) The Company and Parent shall establish a committee (the “Execution Quality Committee”) to provide a forum for discussion regarding
routing and execution practices and resolution of disputes with respect to Covered Orders. In no event shall the Execution Quality Committee have the power
to bind any Party (including the power to amend or otherwise alter the terms of this Agreement).
(d) Following the date of this Agreement, if the aggregate mix of Covered Order types or the aggregate mix of the types of securities, customers
or commission levels underlying the Covered Orders routed to the Company shall materially change from the Existing Order Flow (such material change, an
“Order Flow Change”), the Company and Parent and/or E*TRADE Securities shall discuss in good faith and reasonably agree in writing on changes to this
Agreement, including the Execution Quality Service Levels, that would allow them to preserve, as equitably as possible, their respective commercial
expectations in respect of this Agreement as of the date of this Agreement, notwithstanding such Order Flow Change. It is understood that the Parties, in
agreeing to such changes to this Agreement, shall also reasonably agree in writing to modify the definition of Existing Order Flow to reflect the Order Flow
Change.
(e) Following the date of this Agreement, if the transaction product types offered or otherwise made available by Parent or any of its Affiliates
shall materially change from the Existing Products (such material change, a “Products Change”) the Company and Parent and/or E*TRADE Securities shall
discuss in good faith and reasonably agree in writing on changes to this Agreement, including the Execution Quality Service Levels, that would allow them
to preserve, as equitably as possible, their respective commercial expectations in respect of this Agreement as of the date of this Agreement, notwithstanding
such Products Change. It is understood that the Parties, in agreeing to such changes to this Agreement, shall also reasonably agree in writing to modify the
definition of Existing Products to reflect the Products Change.
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(f) Following the date of this Agreement, if there shall occur a Material Legal Shift that materially affects the commercial expectations of the
parties hereto in respect of this Agreement, including the Execution Quality Service Levels, the Company and Parent and/or E*TRADE Securities shall
discuss in good faith and reasonably agree in writing on changes to this Agreement, including the Execution Quality Service Levels, that would allow them
to preserve, as equitably as possible, their respective commercial expectations in respect of this Agreement as of the date of this Agreement, notwithstanding
such Material Legal Shift. For the avoidance of doubt, a Material Legal Shift may include an increase in the number of Option classes that are generally
quoted in penny increments, or material changes to the pricing methodologies of Exchanges.
(g) In the event that, following good faith discussions pursuant to any of Section 2.3(d), Section 2.3(e) and Section 2.3(f), the Company and
Parent and/or E*TRADE Securities are unable to reasonably agree on the appropriate changes to this Agreement or any part hereof, any Party hereto shall be
entitled to terminate this Agreement by providing written notice of such termination to the other Parties; provided, that upon any such termination, Parent
shall pay to the Company, and the Company shall be entitled to receive, the Liquidated Damages Amount pursuant to Section 5.7.
(h) Parent and Company shall assess Company Services in accordance with the methodology set forth in Schedule A to this Agreement in
conformance with their respective duties of best execution.
Section 2.4 Customer Disclosure, Segregation and Responsibility.
(a) The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to publish or make any communication or take any other action that would
reasonably lead a Parent Customer to conclude that such Parent Customer is a customer of the Company or any of its Affiliates.
(b) As between Parent and the Company, when Parent or any of its Affiliates routes a Covered Order to the Company,
(i) the Covered Order shall be originated by, and for the account of, a Parent Customer or other account holder of Parent;
(ii) for purposes of all Legal Requirements (except as otherwise expressly provided therein), the accounts for which Covered Orders are
routed are “customers” of Parent or an Affiliate thereof and not of the Company; and
(iii) Parent shall be solely responsible for all obligations relating to the opening and maintenance of customer accounts, including
without limitation compliance with “know your customer,” confirmation and account statement delivery, and anti-money laundering requirements.
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Section 2.5 Order Transmission Procedures and Requirements.
(a) Parent shall transmit Covered Orders to the Company using existing data formats, transmission protocols and methods, except as otherwise
mutually agreed upon in writing by Parent and the Company.
(b) Parent shall be solely responsible for all acts and omissions of persons transmitting Covered Orders on its behalf and shall be bound by the
terms of all Covered Orders transmitted to the Company.
(c) Parent acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that any Covered Order transmitted to the Company complies with all Legal
Requirements (including short sale rules under the Securities Exchange Act and applicable SRO rules) and policies or interpretations thereof. Parent shall be
responsible for properly designating any short sale as “short” and for obtaining a “locate” or affirmative determination of securities for delivery prior to
transmitting any Covered Order.
(d) Parent shall be solely responsible for the cost of hardware, software communications equipment and communications lines, including any
data lines or internet access necessary to maintain connectivity to the Company’s systems for receipt of Covered Orders. The Company shall be solely
responsible for the cost of hardware, software, communications equipment and communications lines, including any data lines or internet access necessary to
operate the routing and executions system for Covered Orders received by the Company and to maintain connectivity to Exchanges and other market centers.
(e) Parent shall ensure that all Covered Orders in Options are transmitted to the Company in a random manner, such that the composition of
Covered Orders in Options received by the Company is representative of a broad cross section of Covered Orders in Options handled by Parent or any of its
Affiliates.
ARTICLE III.
PAYMENTS
Section 3.1 Timing and Amount of Payments by the Company. During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall make a volume-based
payment to Parent on a monthly basis as provided for in Schedule B within thirty (30) days after the last day of each month.
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Section 3.2 Reports and Other Information.
(a) Subject to Article IV, the Company shall provide to Parent, on the one hand, or Parent shall provide to the Company, on the other hand, such
data as Parent or the Company, as the case may be, reasonably requests to confirm the calculations with respect to Covered Orders pursuant to the provisions
of this Agreement.
(b) Following the date of this Agreement, Parent shall, as promptly as practicable, provide the Company with reasonably detailed information of
any development or other fact that has caused or would be reasonably expected to cause an Order Flow Change or a Products Change, as well as reasonably
detailed information to assess any such Order Flow Change or Products Change.
Section 3.3 Manner of Payments. All sums due to Parent under this Article III shall be paid in U.S. Dollars by bank wire transfer in immediately
available funds to such bank account(s) as Parent shall designate from time to time by giving notice to the Company.
Section 3.4 Interest on Late Payments. If the Company shall fail to make a timely payment pursuant to this Article III, such late payment shall
bear interest, to the greatest extent permitted by applicable law, at the prime rate (as published in the New York edition of the Wall Street Journal or a
comparable publication if not reported in the New York edition of the Wall Street Journal for the date the payment was due), effective for the first date on
which payment was delinquent and calculated on the number of days such payment is overdue.
Section 3.5 Books of Account. Each of the Company and Parent shall maintain true and complete books of account containing an accurate
record of all data necessary for reports due hereunder and for the proper computation of payments due from it or charges made by it under this Agreement.
ARTICLE IV.
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
Section 4.1 Confidential Information.
(a) In furtherance of this Agreement, Parent may disclose Confidential Information, including Customer Information, to the Company, and the
Company and its Affiliates may disclose Confidential Information, including Customer Information, to Parent. Confidential Information shall be deemed
confidential and proprietary to the Party disclosing the Confidential Information (the “Disclosing Party”), regardless of whether such information was
disclosed intentionally or unintentionally or marked as “confidential” or “proprietary.” Confidential Information, including copies, shall be deemed to be the
exclusive property of the Disclosing Party. The Disclosing Party’s disclosure of Confidential Information shall not constitute an express or implied grant to
the Party receiving the Confidential Information (the “Receiving Party”) of any rights to or under the Disclosing Party’s patents, patent applications,
copyrights, trade secrets, trademarks or other intellectual property rights.
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(b) The Receiving Party covenants that it shall not use the Confidential Information, including Customer Information, of the Disclosing Party for
any purpose other than in performance of this Agreement or with respect to the Company’s operations and shall not disclose the same to any other Person
other than to such of its Affiliates, employees, agents, advisers, representatives, consultants and counsel who have a need to know such Confidential
Information as it relates to the purpose or subject matter of this Agreement. Each Party shall bear responsibility for a breach of confidentiality obligations
contained in this Article IV by its Affiliates, employees, agents, representatives or consultants. The Receiving Party shall be entitled to retain copies of
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party to the extent required to comply with applicable Legal Requirements or to the extent consistent with the
Receiving Party’s standard internal record retention policies. Upon termination of this Agreement, or earlier if so requested in writing by the Disclosing Party,
except as permitted in the previous sentence, and except with respect to email, the Receiving Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to return or
destroy all Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party and any documents, paper, tapes or other media or material which may contain (or such portions
of the foregoing containing) Confidential Information in its possession.
(c) Confidential Information shall not include any information or material, or any element thereof, to the extent that any such information or
material, or any element thereof:
(i) is in the public domain at the time of disclosure hereunder or subsequently comes within the public domain other than in violation of
this Agreement or any other confidentiality obligation that the Party is aware of;
(ii) has been or is hereafter rightfully obtained by the Receiving Party from a third Person without restriction on disclosure and without a
breach of duty of confidentiality to the Disclosing Party;
(iii) has been independently developed by the Receiving Party without using the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party; or
(iv) is required to be disclosed in connection with a Legal Proceeding or pursuant to applicable Legal Requirements, provided that the
Receiving Party shall provide prior notice to the Disclosing Party of such disclosure to the extent practicable.
Section 4.2 Communications with Regulators. Any Party may disclose the existence or terms of this Agreement and the identity of the other
Parties hereto to the Securities and Exchange Commission, any SRO of which it is a member, to which it has applied for membership or to which it is
otherwise subject to jurisdiction, provided that such Party shall have used its commercially reasonable efforts to seek, to the greatest extent possible, any
confidential treatment that may be available.
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Section 4.3 Identification of Parent Customers.
(a) Unless the Company consents in writing, Parent shall not provide the Company with any information that would reveal the identity of the
underlying Parent Customer except to the extent required to resolve a trade dispute or in connection with a Legal Proceeding; provided, however, that Parent
shall provide for each Covered Order (i) a unique descriptor code (that may be a coded or scrambled account number) allowing recognition of the Parent
Customer placing such Covered Order in a manner that does not reveal any information relating to the identity of such Parent Customer and (ii) a category
descriptor that allows the Company to determine what class of account and account range is assigned to such Parent Customer; provided, however, to the
extent that Parent does not, as of the date of the Investment Agreement, provide the information specified in clause (ii) to the Company, Parent shall, to the
extent reasonably practicable, use its commercially reasonable efforts to provide such information specified in clause (ii) to the Company following the date
hereof.
(b) If the Company receives any Customer Information of Parent, or Parent receives any Customer Information of the Company, it shall not use
such Customer Information to target or solicit customers of the other (including investment advisors with accounts custodied at Parent), as such, on behalf of
itself or any third party. Neither the Company, on the one hand, nor Parent, on the other hand, shall sell, distribute, share, rent or otherwise transfer any
Customer Information of the other except for distribution, sharing or transferring to its Affiliates, employees, agents, advisers, representatives, consultants or
counsel thereof who have a need to know such Customer Information as it relates to the purpose or subject matter of this Agreement. Nothing contained
herein shall preclude either the Company or Parent or any of their respective Affiliates from providing services to any Person who independently contacts the
Company or Parent or any of their respective Affiliates, as the case may be, or who is responding to a general solicitation not targeted at any specific Person,
or who is contacted by the Company or Parent or any of their respective Affiliates based on information independently derived by such Person and/or its
Affiliates without the use of any Customer Information.
ARTICLE V.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; COVENANTS; LIMITATION ON LIABILITY
Section 5.1 Representations and Warranties. Each Party acknowledges that the Parties have entered into this Agreement in reliance upon the
representations and warranties made in the Investment Agreement.
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Section 5.2 Limitation on Liability. In no event shall any Party be liable to any other Party for, and each Party shall procure that none of its
Affiliates shall make any claim against any other Party (or any of its Affiliates) for, any lost profits, diminution in value, loss of business, loss of contracts,
diminished goodwill, diminished reputation, or consequential, indirect, incidental, special or punitive damages arising under or in connection with this
Agreement. This Section 5.2 shall not be construed to limit a Party’s right to indemnification for payments required to be made by it to third parties in respect
of damages (of any kind or type, including, but not limited to, direct or consequential) for third party claims which are subject to indemnification under
Article VI. This Section 5.2 shall not be construed to limit the Company’s right to receive the Liquidated Damages Amount from Parent in accordance with
the terms of this Agreement.
Section 5.3 Disclaimer Of Warranties. EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
INVESTMENT AGREEMENT, NO PARTY MAKES ANY OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING THIS AGREEMENT, THE
PERFORMANCE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS OR THE PRODUCTS OR SERVICES THAT IT PROVIDES HEREUNDER. IN PARTICULAR, EXCEPT FOR THE
EXPRESS WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THE INVESTMENT AGREEMENT, EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY AND
SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS AND WAIVES ALL OTHER WARRANTIES EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE IMPLIED
WARRANTIES OF TITLE, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT.
Section 5.4 Covenants.
(a) Each of the Parties hereby agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it shall not, and shall ensure that its Affiliates shall not, enter into
any agreement with a third party that will materially limit its ability to perform hereunder.
(b) Each of the Parties hereby agrees that it shall provide such information and cooperation as may be reasonably requested of it by another Party
in connection with customer complaints and inquiries, and Legal Proceedings brought against such Person by a third party that arises out of or relates to
Covered Orders, unless the sharing of such information or cooperation would be reasonably likely to void any legal privilege.
(c) Parent shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, take any actions that are intended, designed or that would reasonably be expected to
circumvent the terms or intention of this Agreement including, without limitation, transferring or reclassifying accounts.
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Section 5.5 Change of Control of Parent.
(a) Upon the consummation of a Change of Control of Parent, Parent (or the Successor Entity) or the Company may within 10 calendar days
thereafter (the “Termination Election Period”), by written notice to the other Party, terminate this Agreement and Parent shall pay to the Company within
thirty calendar days an amount in cash equal to the sum of the Liquidated Damages Amount. If neither Parent (or the Successor Entity) nor the Company
terminates this Agreement pursuant to this Section 5.5(a) within the Termination Election Period, then this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect
and Parent (or the Successor Entity) shall confirm such continuation in writing.
(b) In the event that Parent (or the Successor Entity) does not terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.5(a), upon the consummation of a
Change of Control of Parent, Parent (or the Successor Entity) and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend the terms of this Agreement to include
any additional order flow resulting from such Change of Control of Parent within the scope of this Agreement upon terms to be mutually agreed by the
Company and Parent (or the Successor Entity). If the Parties are unable reasonably to agree on such amendment, Parent (or the Successor Entity) shall
continue to comply with the provisions of this Agreement with respect to Parent’s order flow as if such Change of Control of Parent had not occurred and
without regard to any additional order flow resulting from the Change of Control of Parent.
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 5.5(a) and Section 5.5(b), following a Change of Control of Parent, Parent (or the
Successor Entity) may elect to keep the order flow business of Parent separate from any additional order flow resulting from such Change of Control of Parent
and if Parent (or the Successor Entity) so elect, Parent (or the Successor Entity) shall continue to comply with the provisions of this Agreement with respect to
Parent’s order flow as if such Change of Control of Parent had not occurred and without regard to any additional order flow resulting from the Change of
Control of Parent.
Section 5.6 Material Transactions.
(a) Upon the consummation of a Material Transaction and subject to the terms of any agreements or other arrangements binding on the
counterparty in such Material Transaction, if Parent (or the Successor Entity) wishes to route any Orders that are not within the scope of this Agreement to the
Company, Parent (or the Successor Entity) shall provide the Company with written notice of such proposed routing of order flow and the material terms on
which Parent (or the Successor Entity) intends to route such order flow to the Company. Following the receipt of such notice, Parent (or the Successor Entity)
and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend the terms of this Agreement to include such order flow within the scope of this Agreement upon
terms to be mutually agreed by the Parties. If the Parties are unable reasonably to agree on such amendment, Parent (or the Successor Entity) shall continue to
comply with the provisions of this Agreement with respect to Parent’s order flow as if such Material Transaction had not occurred and without regard to any
additional order flow resulting from the Material Transaction.
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(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 5.6(a), following the consummation of a Material Transaction, to the extent reasonably
practicable, Parent (or the Successor Entity) may elect to keep the order flow business of Parent separate from any additional order flow resulting from such
Material Transaction and if Parent (or the Successor Entity) so elect, Parent (or the Successor Entity) shall continue to comply with the provisions of this
Agreement with respect to Parent’s order flow as if such Material Transaction had not occurred and without regard to any additional order flow resulting from
the Material Transaction.
Section 5.7 Liquidated Damages.
(a) If this Agreement is terminated (i) by Parent for any reason other than as provided for in Section 8.2(a), 8.2(c), or 8.2(m), or (ii) by Company
for any reason other than as provided for in Section 8.2(k) or 8.2(l), then Parent shall pay to the Company an amount to be calculated in accordance with the
following (the “Liquidated Damages Amount”):
If terminated prior to December 31, 2008
If terminated between January 1, 2009 and December 31, 2009
If terminated between January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010

$75 million
$50 million
$25 million

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) Parent shall not be obligated to pay the Liquidated Damages Amount as a result of a Partial Termination, but (ii) Parent shall
be obligated to pay the Liquidated Damages Amount to the extent required by this Section 5.7(a) if there is a termination subsequent to a Partial Termination.
(b) The Parties agree that the Company’s actual damages in the event of the occurrence of any of the types of situations set forth in Section 5.7(a)
(and the other provisions of this Agreement referenced therein) would be extremely difficult or impracticable to determine. After negotiation, the Parties have
agreed that, considering all the circumstances existing on the date of this Agreement, the amounts of the payments set forth in Section 5.7(a) represent a
reasonable estimation of the damages that the Company would incur if any such events were to occur. None of the payments set forth in Section 5.7(a) are
intended as a penalty. Each of the Parties agrees to the accuracy of the statements made in this paragraph, the reasonableness of the amount of liquidated
damages agreed upon, and the fact that each Party was represented by counsel who explained, at the time this Agreement was made, the consequences of the
foregoing provisions.
17

(c) All payments required under Section 5.5(a) shall be made within thirty calendar days of this Agreement being terminated and the payment
shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company.
ARTICLE VI.
INDEMNIFICATION
Section 6.1 Company Indemnification. The Company hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Parent and its Affiliates, directors,
officers, general partners, managers, members, employees and other agents and representatives (the “Parent Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all
claims for liabilities, judgments, claims, settlements, losses, reasonable fees (including attorneys’ fees, fees and disbursements of experts, and arbitration and
court fees and costs), liens, taxes, penalties, obligations, expenses and any required payments made to third parties (collectively, “Losses”) incurred or
suffered by any Parent Indemnified Party arising from, by reason of or in connection with (i) any dishonest, fraudulent, grossly negligent or criminal act or
omission on the part of the Company’s officers, directors, employees or agents or (ii) without limiting clause (i), any breach of any covenant (other than those
for which an express remedy is provided for by the terms of Schedule A or Schedule B to this Agreement) made by the Company pursuant to this Agreement.
Section 6.2 Parent Indemnification. Parent hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company and its Affiliates, directors,
officers, general partners, managers, members, employees and other agents and representatives (the “Company Indemnified Parties” and together with the
Parent Indemnified Parties, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all claims for Losses incurred or suffered by any such person or entity arising
from, by reason of or in connection with (i) any dishonest, fraudulent, grossly negligent or criminal act or omission on the part of Parent or any of its Affiliates
or any of their respective officers, directors, partners, employees or agents, (ii) all investigations, claims and damages arising out of the acts and trading
activities of Parent Customers or any Legal Proceeding brought against the Company or any of its Affiliates by a Parent Customer, other than as a result of a
dishonest, fraudulent, grossly negligent or criminal act or omission on the part of the Company’s officers, directors, employees or agents or (iii) any breach of
the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.1 or of any covenant made by Parent pursuant to this Agreement. This Section 6.2 shall not limit any
obligations the Company may have to Parent under the express remedies provided in Schedule A.
Section 6.3 Procedures Relating to Third Party Claims. An Indemnified Party shall give reasonably prompt notice to the Party from whom such
18

indemnification is sought (the “Indemnifying Party”) of the assertion of any claim or assessment, or the commencement of any action, suit or proceeding, by a
third party in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder (a “Third Party Claim”) and shall give the Indemnifying Party such information with
respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request, but no failure to give such notice shall relieve the Indemnifying Party of any liability
hereunder (except to the extent the Indemnifying Party has been actually prejudiced thereby). The Indemnifying Party shall have the right, exercisable by
written notice (the “Indemnification Notice”) to the Indemnified Party within 30 days of receipt of notice from the Indemnified Party of commencement of or
assertion of any Third Party Claim, to assume the defense of such Third Party Claim using counsel of its choice, and the Indemnified Party may participate in
such defense at the Indemnified Party’s expense, which shall include counsel of its own choice. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to defend the Indemnified
Party against such Third Party Claim, whether by failure of the Indemnifying Party to provide the Indemnification Notice or otherwise, or the Indemnified
Party has received advice from its external legal counsel that under applicable standards of professional responsibility a conflict will arise in the event both
the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party are represented by the same counsel with respect to the Third Party Claim, then the Indemnified Party,
without waiving any rights against the Indemnifying Party, may employ counsel of its own choice and at the expense of the Indemnifying Party. The
Indemnifying Party may not settle any matter (in whole or in part) without the consent in writing of the Indemnified Party (which shall not be unreasonably
withheld), unless such settlement does not involve any relief other than the payment of monetary damages, includes a complete and unconditional release of
the Indemnified Party, does not admit liability on the part of or attribute fault to any Party or its Affiliates, and contains a provision requiring confidentiality
with respect to the facts and circumstances of the dispute and of the existence and amount of the settlement. The Indemnified Party shall make its employees
available and furnish such information regarding itself or the claim in question as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request in writing and as shall be
reasonably required in connection with the defense of such claim and Legal Proceeding resulting therefrom.
Section 6.4 Survival. The provisions of this Article VI shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
Section 6.5 Limitation on Recovery. The Parties acknowledge that this Article VI is modified by Section 5.2, in accordance with its terms.
Section 6.6 Exclusive Remedy. Except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement, this Article VI shall provide the exclusive
remedy for any of the matters addressed herein or other claims arising out of this Agreement, other than for fraud and other than for the remedies of specific
performance, injunctive relief or other non-monetary equitable remedies.
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ARTICLE VII.
SECURITY
Section 7.1 In General. The Company and Parent shall each use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and enforce safety and physical
security procedures with respect to access to and maintenance of Customer Information that are in accordance with industry acceptable information security
practices. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the Company and Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to secure and defend its
location and equipment against “hackers” and others who may seek, without authorization, to modify its systems or access the information found therein in
accordance with industry acceptable information security practices, using any combination of access lists, unique user identifiers and credentials,
authentication procedures, and/or other safeguards as it reasonably believes are appropriate.
Section 7.2 Security Breaches. Each of the Company and Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts in accordance with industry
acceptable information security practices to monitor its systems for Security Breaches. For purposes of this Section 7.2, a “Security Breach” shall mean an
event that may lead to unauthorized disclosure, access, corruption, or destruction of Customer Information, including an insider accessing information
inappropriately, an outsider penetrating or attempting to penetrate security controls, and a virus (or other piece of malware or destructive software). Each of
the Company and Parent shall report to the other promptly any Security Breach of its systems of which it becomes aware relating to the other Party’s systems
or Confidential Information and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts in accordance with industry acceptable information security practices to remedy
such Security Breach in a timely manner.
Section 7.3 Storage of Customer Information. Each of the Company and Parent, and their respective Affiliates, shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to implement and follow a plan to store Customer Information in accordance with industry acceptable information security practices.
ARTICLE VIII.
TERM AND TERMINATION
Section 8.1 Term. Unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 8.2, this Agreement shall expire on December 31, 2010. The term of this
Agreement (the “Term”) shall be the period from the earlier of (i) the Initial Closing, if the Initial Closing occurs on a Monday, or (ii) if the Initial Closing
does not occur on a Monday, the Monday immediately following the Initial Closing, until its expiration.
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Section 8.2 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated in the following circumstances:
(a) Material Breach by the Company. By Parent, in the event that the Company commits a material breach of this Agreement (other than a breach
of payment obligations under this Agreement or a breach of Section 2.4), and (i) the breach is incurable or (ii) the Company fails to cure such breach within
90 calendar days of receiving a notice of default from Parent (or such longer period as Parent may reasonably agree if said breach is incapable of cure within
such 90 calendar days) (the “Cure Period”), by giving a notice of termination to the Company within 30 calendar days of first becoming aware of such breach
(if such breach is incurable) or in the 30 calendar day period commencing at the end of the Cure Period, with termination of this Agreement to become
effective upon delivery of the notice.
(b) Material Breach by Parent. By the Company, in the event that Parent commits a material breach of this Agreement and (i) the breach is
incurable or (ii) Parent fails to cure such breach within 90 calendar days of receiving a notice of default from the Company (or such longer period as the
Company may reasonably agree if said breach is incapable of cure within such 90 calendar days) (the “Parent Cure Period”), by giving a notice of termination
to Parent within 30 calendar days of first becoming aware of such breach (if such breach is incurable) or in the 30 calendar day period commencing upon of
the end of the Parent Cure Period, with termination of this Agreement to become effective upon delivery of the notice.
(c) Material Breach of Payment Obligations. By Parent, in the event that the Company is in material breach of a payment obligation under this
Agreement, Parent has provided written notice to the Company specifying such material breach, the Company does not in good faith dispute whether the
amounts alleged to be unpaid are due and payable pursuant to this Agreement, and the Company fails to cure such breach within 90 calendar days of
receiving written notice of such breach from Parent, by the Parent giving a notice of termination to the Company within 10 calendar days of the end of such
Cure Period, with termination of this Agreement to become effective upon delivery of the notice.
(d) Failure to Route the Minimum Covered Orders. By the Company, in the event Parent fails to route the Minimum Covered Orders to the
Company during any calendar month, unless there is a Failure Notice outstanding during such month pursuant to Schedule A, and Parent fails to cure such
failure within the month following the failure, by routing a higher percentage of Covered Orders to cure the under-routing.
(e) Routing Away by Parent. By the Company, if:
(i) E*TRADE Securities shall have routed away a number of Covered Orders representing fifteen percent (15%) or more of the Minimum
Covered Orders (for NMS Stocks or Options) for a period of three consecutive months;
(ii) E*TRADE Securities shall have routed away a number of Covered Orders representing thirty percent (30%) or more of the Minimum
Covered Orders (for NMS Stocks or Options) for a period of two consecutive months; or
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(iii) E*TRADE Securities shall have failed to route to the Company, in the aggregate, at least ninety percent (90%) of all Minimum
Covered Orders over the period of any twelve (12) consecutive months.
For the avoidance of doubt, the Company may terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.2(e) regardless of whether a Failure Notice is outstanding.
(f) Persistent Failure Notice. By Parent, if a Failure Notice is outstanding for an uninterrupted period of five (5) months, by providing written
notice of such termination to the Company.
(g) Company Insolvency. By Parent, in the event the Company experiences an Insolvency Event, by giving notice to the Company, with
termination of this Agreement to become effective upon delivery of the notice.
(h) Parent Insolvency. By the Company, in the event Parent experiences an Insolvency Event, by giving notice to Parent, with termination of this
Agreement to become effective upon delivery of the notice.
(i) Material Misconduct. By either the Company or Parent, if the other has suffered an Adverse Reputational Event that has or would be
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on (i) the financial condition, properties, prospects, business or results of operations of the Party seeking to
effect such termination or (ii) the reputation, brand, goodwill or image of the Party seeking to effect such termination.
(j) Change of Control of the Company. By Parent, upon a Change of Control of the Company that has or would be reasonably likely to have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, properties, business or results of operations of Parent.
(k) Partial Termination for NMS Stocks. By Company, at any time with 90 days written notice to Parent, with respect to its obligations to accept
Covered Orders in NMS Stocks routed by Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Company effectuates a Partial Termination for NMS Stocks under this
Section 8.2(k), this Agreement would remain in effect with respect to the routing of Covered Orders in Options by Parent to Company, unless the Company
has previously effectuated a Partial Termination of this Agreement with respect to the Routing of Covered Orders in Options pursuant to Section 8.2(l).
(l) Partial Termination for Options. By Company, at any time with 120 days written notice to Parent, with respect to its obligations to accept
Covered Orders in Options routed by Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Company effectuates a Partial Termination for Options under this
Section 8.2(l), this Agreement would remain in effect with respect to the routing of Covered Orders in NMS Stocks by Parent to Company, unless the
Company has previously effectuated a Partial Termination with respect to the Routing of Covered Orders in NMS Stocks pursuant to Section 8.2(k) or Parent
has previously effectuated a Partial Termination for NMS Stocks under Section 8.2(m).
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(m) Partial Termination Upon Change in Control of E*TRADE Capital Markets. By Parent, upon a Change in Control of E*TRADE Capital
Markets, with respect to Parent’s obligation to route Covered Orders in NMS Stocks to the Company, with 90 days prior written notice. For the avoidance of
doubt, if Parent effectuates a Partial Termination for NMS Stocks under this Section 8.2(m), this Agreement would remain in effect with respect to the routing
of Covered Orders for Options by Parent to Company, unless the Company has previously effectuated a Partial Termination with respect to the routing of
Covered Orders in Options pursuant to Section 8.2(l).
(n) Other Terminations. By any Party pursuant to Section 2.3, any Party (or the Successor Entity to Parent) pursuant to Section 5.5(a), or any
Party pursuant to Section 9.7(b).
Section 8.3 Effects of Termination on Accrued Rights. Termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to:
(a) The rights of the Parties to any payments due under this Agreement to the date of termination;
(b) any remedies which either Party may then have arising out of or relating to this Agreement; and
(c) either Party’s right to obtain performance of any obligations provided for in this Agreement which survive termination by their express terms.
Section 8.4 Continuation of Routing Service. Upon termination pursuant to Section 8.2 (other than termination pursuant to Section 8.2(g)
(Company Insolvency), Section 8.2(h) (Parent Insolvency) or Section 8.2(i) (Material Misconduct)); Parent may elect, by written notice to the Company, to
have the Company provide (in which case the Company shall provide) Company Services from the date of termination to a date specified in such notice (the
“End Date”), which End Date shall in no event be later than six months after the date of termination, upon payment to Company by Parent of usual and
customary fees prevailing in the industry; provided, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein the Company’s obligation to pay Parent pursuant to
Section 3.1 shall cease immediately upon any termination of this Agreement; provided, further, that in addition to the payment of usual and customary fees,
Parent shall reimburse the Company for any cost in excess of de minimis cost that the Company shall incur in connection with this Section 8.4.
Section 8.5 Survival. The following provisions shall survive termination of this Agreement: Article IV (Confidential Information), Section 5.3
(Disclaimer Of Warranties), Article VI (Indemnification), Section 8.3 (Effects of Termination on Accrued Rights), Section 8.4 (Continuation of Routing
Service), this Section 8.5 (Survival) and Article IX (Miscellaneous). All other provisions of this Agreement shall terminate effective upon the termination of
this Agreement.
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ARTICLE IX.
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 9.1 Use of Names/Marks. No Party shall acquire the right to use, and shall not use, without the other Party’s prior written consent, the
intellectual property, names, trade names, trademarks, service marks, artwork, designs, or copyrighted materials, of the other Party, its related or subsidiary
companies, parent, employees, directors, shareholders, assigns, successors or licensees: (a) in any advertising, publicity, press release, client list, presentation
or promotion; (b) to express or to imply any endorsement of the other Party or the other Party’s services; or (c) other than as expressly permitted in accordance
with this Agreement. Further, no Party shall use, without the other Parties’ prior written consent, the terms or existence of this Agreement: (a) in any
advertising, publicity, press release, client list, presentation or promotion; (b) to express or to imply any endorsement of any other Party or such other Party’s
services; or (c) other than as expressly permitted in accordance with this Agreement.
Section 9.2 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Schedules hereto and the Investment Agreement contain the entire agreement among the
Parties with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and supersede all prior agreements or understandings among the Parties.
Section 9.3 Descriptive Headings; Certain Interpretations.
(a) Descriptive headings are for convenience only and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.
(b) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation apply to this Agreement: (i) “or” and “any”
are not exclusive and “include” and “including” are not limiting; (ii) a reference to a law includes any amendment or modification to such law and any rules
or regulations issued thereunder and (iii) a reference to a person or entity includes its permitted successors and assigns.
(c) Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, (i) words of one gender include the other gender, (ii) words using the singular or
plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively, (iii) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby,” and derivative or similar words refer to this
entire Agreement and (iv) the terms “Article” and “Section” refer to the specified Article and Section of this Agreement. Whenever this Agreement refers to a
number of days, unless otherwise specified, such number shall refer to calendar days. References to this “Agreement” shall mean this Agreement and any
annexes, exhibits, schedules or attachments hereto.
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(d) The Parties agree that they have been represented by counsel during the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and,
therefore no rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document shall be construed against the Party drafting such agreement
or document shall apply to this Agreement.
Section 9.4 Notices. All notices, requests and other communications to any Party hereunder shall be in writing and sufficient if delivered
personally, sent by telecopy (with telephone confirmation of receipt or followed by overnight delivery service) or by registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:
If to the Company:

Citadel Derivatives Group LLC
c/o Citadel Limited Partnership
131 South Dearborn Street
Chicago, IL 60603
Attention: Adam Cooper, Esq.
Fax: (312) 267-7444

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP
One New York Plaza
New York, NY 10004
Attention: Robert C. Schwenkel, Esq.
Fax: (212) 859-4000

If to Parent or its Affiliates:

E*TRADE Financial Corporation
671 N. Glebe Road
Arlington, VA 22203
Attention: Arlen W. Gelbard, Esq.
Chief Administrative Officer & General Counsel
Fax: (703) 236-7223

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Davis Polk & Wardwell
450 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 10017
Attention: Daniel G. Kelly, Jr.
John D. Amorosi
Fax: (212) 450-3800

or to such other address or telecopy number as the Party to whom notice is to be given may have furnished to the other Parties in writing in accordance
herewith. Each such notice, request or communication shall be effective when received or, if given by mail, when delivered at the address specified in this
Section 9.4.
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Section 9.5 Counterparts; Fax Signatures. This Agreement may be executed by telecopy and in any number of counterparts, each of which shall
be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument. Any signature page delivered by a telecopy machine shall be binding to the same
extent as an original signature page, with regard to this Agreement or any amendment hereto. A Party who delivers such a signature page agrees to later
deliver an original counterpart to the other Party upon request.
Section 9.6 Benefits of Agreement. Subject to Section 9.8, all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the Parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties hereto and not for the benefit
of any third party.
Section 9.7 Amendments and Waivers.
(a) No modification, amendment or waiver of any provision of, or consent required by, this Agreement, nor any consent to any departure
herefrom, shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the Company and Parent. Such modification, amendment, waiver or consent shall be effective
only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.
(b) Consistent with Section 2.3(f), the Parties agree to negotiate in good faith regarding amendments to this Agreement required due to a Material
Legal Shift (including, but not limited to, requirements by a Governmental Entity due to applicable Legal Requirements). If the Parties fail to reach a mutual
agreement as to such amendments, they may terminate this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, termination of the Agreement under this Section 9.7(b)
would require Parent to pay to the Company the Liquidated Damages Amount pursuant to Section 5.7 of this Agreement.
Section 9.8 Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and obligations hereunder shall not be assignable or transferable by the Parties hereto
without the prior written consent of the other Parties; provided, however, that either the Company or Parent may assign its rights hereunder to an Affiliate, but
no such assignment shall relieve the assigning party of its obligations or liabilities hereunder. Any instrument purporting to make an assignment in violation
of this Section 9.8 shall be void ab initio.
Section 9.9 Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
Section 9.10 Consent to Jurisdiction. WITH RESPECT TO ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT (EACH,
A “PROCEEDING”), EACH PARTY HERETO IRREVOCABLY (I) AGREES AND
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CONSENTS TO BE SUBJECT TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF
NEW YORK OR ANY COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK LOCATED IN THE COUNTY OF NEW YORK AND (II) WAIVES ANY OBJECTION WHICH
IT MAY HAVE AT ANY TIME TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT
SUCH PROCEEDING HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM AND FURTHER WAIVES THE RIGHT TO OBJECT, WITH RESPECT TO
SUCH PROCEEDING, THAT SUCH COURT DOES NOT HAVE ANY JURISDICTION OVER SUCH PARTY.
Section 9.11 Registration and Filing of this Agreement. To the extent, if any, that any Party concludes in good faith that it is required by
applicable Legal Requirements to file or register this Agreement or a notification thereof with any governmental or self-regulatory authority, including the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, such Party shall inform the other Parties thereof and the Parties shall cooperate with one another each at its own
expense in such filing or notification and shall execute all documents reasonably required in connection therewith. In such filing or registration, the Parties
shall request confidential treatment of sensitive provisions of this Agreement, to the extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements. The Parties shall
promptly inform one another as to the activities or inquiries of any such governmental or self-regulatory authority relating to this Agreement, and shall
cooperate to respond to any request for further information therefrom on a timely basis.
Section 9.12 Force Majeure. Without limiting any right that any Party may have under Section 8.2 (and the other provisions of this Agreement
referenced therein), the occurrence of an event which materially interferes with the ability of a Party to perform its obligations or duties hereunder which is
not within the reasonable control of the Party affected and not due to malfeasance (“Force Majeure”), including, but not limited to, an injunction, order or
other action by a governmental authority, fire, accident, labor difficulty, strike, riot, civil commotion, act of God or change in law, shall not excuse such Party
from the performance of its obligations or duties under this Agreement, but shall merely suspend such performance during the continuation of Force Majeure.
The Party prevented from performing its obligations or duties because of Force Majeure shall promptly notify the other Parties hereto (the “Other Parties”) of
the occurrence and particulars of such Force Majeure and shall provide the Other Parties, from time to time, with its best estimate of the duration of such Force
Majeure and with notice of the termination thereof. The Party so affected shall use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid or remove such causes of
nonperformance. Upon termination of Force Majeure, the performance of any suspended obligation or duty shall promptly recommence. If a Force Majeure
event occurs that materially interferes with the Company’s ability to route Covered Orders for execution, Parent may elect to route any Covered Orders that
would otherwise be required to be routed to the Company pursuant to Section 2.1 to a Broker-Dealer or execution venue other than the Company during the
term of the Force Majeure event.
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Section 9.13 Waiver. Any term or condition of this Agreement may be waived at any time by the Party that is entitled to the benefit thereof, but
no such waiver shall be effective unless set forth in a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of the Party waiving such term or condition. No waiver
by any Party of any term or condition of this Agreement, in any one or more instances, shall be deemed to be or construed as a waiver of the same or any other
term or condition of this Agreement on any future occasion. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by law or otherwise afforded, will be cumulative and
not alternative.
Section 9.14 Relationship of the Parties. Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute the Company as an employee, or general representative of
Parent. This Agreement shall not constitute any Party as the legal representative of any other Party, nor shall any Party have the right or authority to assume,
create or incur any liability or any obligation of any kind, express or implied, against, or in the name of or on behalf of, any other Party. This Agreement shall
not constitute, create or in any way be interpreted as a joint venture, partnership or formal business organization of any kind.
Section 9.15 Bona Fide Customers. Parent agrees that, without the Company’s written consent, it shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to,
sell or otherwise make available the routing services for Covered Orders contemplated by this Agreement to third parties except to third parties that are bona
fide brokerage customers of Parent or its Affiliates.
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first above
written.
CITADEL DERIVATIVES GROUP LLC
By: Citadel Limited Partnership, its Manager
By: Citadel Investment Group, L.L.C., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Adam Cooper
Name: Adam Cooper
Title: Senior Managing Director & General Counsel
E*TRADE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
By:
/s/ R. Jarrett Lilien
Name: R. Jarrett Lilien
Title: President & COO
E*TRADE SECURITIES LLC
By:
/s/ R. Jarrett Lilien
Name: R. Jarrett Lilien
Title: President & COO
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Schedule A
Execution Quality Service Levels
I.

II.

General.
A.

This Schedule A specifies the execution quality requirements applicable to the execution services to be provided by the Company (the
“Execution Quality Service Levels”). For purposes of the Agreement and this Schedule A, execution quality shall be assessed based on the
standards of E*TRADE Securities and comparable industry practices for achieving best execution and performance during the term of this
Agreement.

B.

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein are defined as set forth in the Agreement.

Execution Standards for Covered Orders.
A.

In accordance with Legal Requirements, including Regulation NMS to the extent applicable, the Company will exercise commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain the most favorable terms for Covered Orders reasonably available under the circumstances.

B.

In the event that a customer of E*TRADE Securities directs an Order to be executed on or by a specified Exchange, market center or BrokerDealer (other than the Company), E*TRADE Securities shall route such Order to the Company and communicate its customer’s directions to the
Company and the Company shall follow such directions.

C.

With respect to each calendar month, commencing with the first trading day of the month and ending on the last trading day of the month (each a
“Performance Period”), the Company’s execution performance on the aggregate Covered Orders in NMS Stocks and Options, respectively, shall
be assessed based on the following Evaluation Criterion (as defined below) against agreed upon Execution Performance Standards (as defined
below).
a.

Execution Performance Standard for NMS Stocks. Except as otherwise specified herein, the “Execution Performance Standard for
NMS Stocks” for each particular Evaluation Criterion shall mean performance at or better than the volume-weighted aggregated
Execution Score of the comparable market comprised of the Comparable Market Centers (“Comparable Market Standard”). Due to
the one month delay in availability of public Regulation NMS Rule 605 order execution data, the Comparable Market Standard for
each Performance Period will be based on the volume-weighted results of the three consecutive months prior to the Performance
Period. For
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example, the Comparable Market Standard for September 2007 would be based upon the volume-weighted aggregated Execution
Score of the Comparable Market Centers for June, July, and August 2007. The Execution Scores for the Comparable Market Centers
shall be determined by data provided to the SEC pursuant to Regulation NMS and as defined by a common transaction analysis
vendor mutually agreed upon by the Parties, such as Transaction Auditing Group (TAG), Thomson Transaction Analytics (TTA), or
Quantum 5 Analytics.
b.

Execution Performance Standard for Options. The “Execution Performance Standard for Options” shall mean that the Company shall
exercise reasonable diligence to obtain the best market available under the circumstances consistent with industry practice.

c.

In this Schedule A, “Evaluation Criterion” shall mean:
i.

Effective/Quoted Spread (%) Ratio — The ratio of the share-weighted average between the execution price and the midpoint
of the National Best Bid or Offer (“NBBO”) (“Effective Spread”) to the difference between the national best bid and the
national best offer (“Quoted Spread”) at the time of order receipt (lower is better).

ii.

Average Order Execution Speed — The average elapsed time between market order receipt and execution (lower is better).

iii.

At or Better — The percentage of market order trades executed at or inside the NBBO (higher is better).

iv.

Price Improvement — The percentage of trades executed at a price better than the prevailing NBBO (higher is better).

d.

In this Schedule A, “Execution Scores” shall mean the volume-weighted performance statistics for the Comparable Market Centers
in respect of each Evaluation Criterion.

e.

In this Schedule A, “Comparable Market Centers” shall mean all market centers that trade NMS Stocks and are required to publish
execution quality statistics pursuant to Rule 605 of the Securities Exchange Act.

f.

In this Schedule A, “Evaluation Period” shall mean the Evaluation Period for each Performance Period representing that calendar
month plus the prior two months. For example, the Evaluation Period for the Performance Period of September 2007 will include the
Company’s
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execution performance on the aggregate Covered Orders with respect to each Evaluation Criterion during the months of July,
August, and September 2007.
III.

Execution Data Requirements.
A.

IV.

Delivery of Execution Performance Data.
1.

The Company shall provide to E*TRADE Securities such execution quality data and/or statistics regarding NMS Stocks (“Execution
Performance Data”) as the Company and E*TRADE Securities agree and are reasonable in light of current industry standards and
information provided by the Company to its other clients. For the avoidance of doubt, evaluation of the Company’s execution
performance, including the performance of Comparable Market Centers, shall be conducted with transaction level information provided
by the Company. The Company agrees to utilize a common transaction analysis vendor mutually agreed upon by the Parties, such as
Transaction Auditing Group (TAG), Thompson Transaction Group (TTA), or Quantum 5 Analytics.

2.

If E*TRADE Securities reasonably believes that additional data collection or analysis of the Company’s execution performance with
respect to Covered Orders and the quality of competing markets should be conducted to satisfy its best execution obligations or industry
best practice, then E*TRADE Securities may propose such additional review or analysis to be conducted by the Company, and
E*TRADE Securities and the Company shall discuss in good faith whether such review or analysis should be conducted.

Remedies for Unsatisfactory Execution Performance.
1.

If the Company’s execution performance has not met the Execution Performance Standard for NMS Stocks during a Performance Period
or E*TRADE reasonably believes that performance has been unsatisfactory for Options, then E*TRADE Securities shall send to the
Company a Failure Notice. After communication of a Failure Notice, E*TRADE and the Company shall in good faith discuss the
concerns of E*TRADE Securities in an effort to address and resolve those concerns. Any concerns set forth in a Failure Notice with
respect to NMS Stocks shall be assessed by E*TRADE and the Company independent of the Company’s execution performance with
respect to Options. Similarly, any concerns set forth in a Failure Notice with respect to Options shall be assessed by E*TRADE and the
Company independent of the Company’s execution performance with respect to NMS Stocks. For avoidance of doubt, execution quality
performance will be judged over time periods and in security groupings determined in good faith by the Parties based on industry
standards and execution quality data provided by the Company to its other clients.
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2.

If the Company agrees that its execution performance in one or more areas has been unsatisfactory, it shall make bona fide commercially
reasonable efforts to improve its execution performance.

3.

If E*TRADE Securities and the Company mutually determine, that the Company’s execution performance and/or the efforts undertaken
by the Company to improve execution performance are satisfactory, then E*TRADE Securities shall immediately withdraw its Failure
Notice by sending a written withdrawal notice to the Company.

4.

If a Failure Notice is outstanding for an uninterrupted period of two (2) months, then E*TRADE Securities shall be entitled to route away
a number of Covered Orders representing up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the Minimum Covered Orders in Options and up to twelve
and one half percent (12.5%) of the Minimum Covered Orders in NMS Stocks, as the case may be, until E*TRADE Securities withdraws
the Failure Notice; provided, that any Orders that E*TRADE Securities routes away shall consist of a representative cross-section of all
Covered Orders.

5.

If a Failure Notice is outstanding for an uninterrupted period of three (3) months, then E*TRADE Securities shall be entitled to route
away a number of Covered Orders representing up to fifty percent (50%) of the Minimum Covered Orders in Options and up to twenty
five percent (25%) of the Minimum Covered Orders in NMS Stocks, as the case may be, until E*TRADE Securities withdraws the Failure
Notice; provided, that any Orders that E*TRADE Securities routes away shall consist of a representative cross-section of all Covered
Orders.

6.

If a Failure Notice is outstanding for an uninterrupted period of four (4) months, then E*TRADE Securities shall be entitled to route away
a number of Covered Orders representing up to seventy five percent (75%) of the Minimum Covered Orders in Options and up to seventy
five percent (75%) of the Minimum Covered Orders in NMS Stocks, as the case may be, until E*TRADE Securities withdraws the Failure
Notice; provided, that any Orders that E*TRADE Securities routes away shall consist of a representative cross-section of all Covered
Orders.

7.

If a Failure Notice is outstanding for an uninterrupted period of five (5) months, then Parent may terminate this Agreement immediately
upon written notice to the Company.

8.

Any Covered Orders that are routed away to any Exchange, market maker or Broker-dealer pursuant to this Schedule A shall count
toward the two and one-half percent (2.5%) of Covered Orders in Options or sixty percent (60%) in NMS Stocks that Parent is permitted
to exclude from the Minimum Covered Orders that Parent and its Affiliates are required to route to the Company and its Affiliates under
this Agreement.
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IV.

Execution Speed Guarantee.
A.

B.

Standard.
1.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) execute all Eligible
Orders (as defined below) within the specified time limit (measured from time that E*TRADE Securities receives an Eligible Order to the
time that E*TRADE Securities is notified of the execution by the Company) under E*TRADE Securities’ order execution guarantee as in
effect at the time of signing of the Investment Agreement and set forth on Attachment 1 to this Schedule A (the “Execution Guarantee”),
which may be amended from time-to-time as mutually agreed upon by the Parties, and (b) provide the necessary mechanisms to allow
E*TRADE Securities’ customers to track the execution speed of Covered Orders subject to the Execution Guarantee.

2.

“Eligible Orders” shall mean Covered Orders that are market Orders in Equity Securities included within the S&P Index or any exchangetraded fund, available through E*TRADE Securities to buy, sell or buy-to-cover from 100 to 500 shares, received between 9:45 a.m.
(Eastern Time) and 3:59 p.m. (Eastern Time) (subject to adjustment if the applicable market opens late or closes early).

3.

“Ineligible Orders” shall mean (a) all Covered Orders that are not Eligible Orders and (b) all Eligible Orders that are also short sales,
canceled or changed Orders, Orders entered within 20 seconds on the same security on the same side of the market, sell Orders which the
account has a short option position, extended-hours Orders, Directed Orders, the stock leg of complex option Orders, buy Orders for
under $1 and broker-assisted Orders.

Customer Reimbursement.
If E*TRADE Securities is notified by any of its customers that the execution of such customer’s Eligible Order failed to meet the Execution
Guarantee, E*TRADE Securities shall investigate such claim with the Company. If E*TRADE Securities and the Company mutually determine
in good faith that (a) such customer’s complaint is valid, (b) the failure to meet the Execution Guarantee is proximately caused by a delay of the
Company and (c) E*TRADE Securities is obligated, under the terms of the Execution Guarantee, to provide the customer with one or more
commission-free trades, E*TRADE Securities may provide such commission-free trades, and the Company shall reimburse E*TRADE Securities
for the amount of those commission credits. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the Company be obligated to
reimburse E*TRADE Securities for any refund if the applicable Covered Order is an Ineligible Order or if:
1.

there were interruptions to communications or other systems that impacted execution,
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C.

2.

the relevant Covered Order was stopped for price improvement,

3.

the relevant Covered Order was subject to locked, crossed or halted market conditions,

4.

the relevant Covered Order, if executed, would have constituted a new intraday high or low, or

5.

the relevant Covered Order was made during fast market conditions.

Reporting Plan.
E*TRADE Securities and the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to create an effective reporting plan to monitor and audit the
Company’s performance in connection with the Execution Guarantee.

V.

Miscellaneous.
A.

Customer Complaints/Requests. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Parent shall be entitled to route away all Covered Orders for a
particular customer to another market center in the event that Parent is notified by the customer that the customer wants Parent to route to a
market center other than the Company; provided, however, that any Covered Orders that are routed away pursuant to this Section V.A. of
Schedule A shall count toward the two and one-half percent (2.5%) of Covered Orders in Options or sixty percent (60%) in NMS Stocks that
Parent is permitted to exclude from the Minimum Covered Orders that Parent and its Affiliates are required to route to the Company and its
Affiliates under this Agreement.

B.

Odd Lots and Blocks. In routing and executing Covered Orders of odd lots (less than 100 shares) and oversized trades (10,000 shares or more) in
NMS Stocks, the Company shall exercise reasonable diligence to obtain the best available market under the circumstances consistent with good
market practice. The Company shall provide to Parent within thirty (30) calendar days following the end of each calendar month such data
and/or statistics for each calendar month as the Company and Parent agree and are generally available concerning the execution quality for such
Covered Orders.
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Attachment 1
Learn about the E*TRADE Securities 2-Second Execution Guarantee
Under our execution guarantee program, if you place a qualified market order for an S&P 500 stock or an ETF and it doesn’t fill within 2 seconds, we’ll give
you a free commission on a future trade.
Eligible orders
•

Know which orders are eligible

•

Know which stocks and ETFs are eligible

•

Learn where I can place orders

Ineligible orders
•

Know which orders are ineligible

•

Understand how short options positions affect the guarantee

•

Understand how halted, locked, or crossed markets affect the guarantee

•

Learn how orders stopped for price improvement affect the guarantee

•

Learn how fast markets can affect the guarantee

•

Learn how multiple, like orders affect the guarantee

•

Understand how regional exchanges affect the guarantee

•

Know how system interruptions affect the guarantee

Order status and commission credits
•

Know why an order is “under review”

•

Learn how E*TRADE Securities determines execution time for the guarantee

•

Know if I get a commission credit for a guaranteed execution order

•

Find out how many commission credits I have

•

Use my commission credits

Know which orders are eligible
Our guarantee means that any qualifying stock or ETF order you place will be executed in 2 seconds or less – and if it isn’t, we’ll give you a commission
credit to use on a future qualifying order.
For an order to be eligible for the 2-Second Execution Guarantee, it must be:
•

A market order for anywhere between 100 and 500 shares

•

For a stock in the S&P 500 Index or ETFs available through E*TRADE Securities

•

A buy, sell, or buy-to-cover order (no sell-short orders)

•

Received by E*TRADE Securities between 9:45 a.m. and 3:59 p.m. ET (if the market opens late or closes early, these times will be adjusted
accordingly)

•

Placed through the E*TRADE Web site, Power E*TRADE Pro, Power E*TRADE MarketTrader, Trading Desk, a wireless device, or the Voice Browser
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Note:
There are certain conditions that make an order ineligible for the guarantee.
Know which stocks and ETFs are eligible
Our 2-Second Execution Guarantee is available for stocks in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (SPX) and the ETFs available through E*TRADE Securities. If
you have questions about which stocks comprise the S&P 500, you can view our current S&P 500 list.
Any market order for these securities that also meets the other qualifications will be guaranteed an execution in 2 seconds or less.
Note:
The securities comprising the S&P 500 Index and the ETFs available through E*TRADE Securities change from time to time.
Learn where I can place orders
The 2-Second Execution Guarantee is applicable to qualifying orders placed through any of the following gateways:
•

The E*TRADE Web site (us.etrade.com)

•

Power E*TRADE MarketTrader

•

Power E*TRADE Pro (auto-routing only)

•

Power E*TRADE Trading Desk

•

Wireless devices

•

Voice browser

However, if you place your order through Power E*TRADE Pro, a wireless device, or the voice browser, you’ll need to go to the E*TRADE Web site to check
the status of the order – either by viewing your Smart Alerts or by going to the Execution Guarantee section of the View Orders screen.
Know which orders are ineligible
The following orders are not eligible for the guarantee:
•

Sell orders for stocks or ETFs in which the account has a short option position (such as a covered call)

•

Orders entered as short sells

•

Orders routed directly to a specific ECN

•

Extended Hours trades

•

Buy orders for stocks or ETFs trading under $1

•

Orders you later try to change or cancel

•

The stock leg of complex options orders

•

Orders placed through a live broker

•

Orders for stocks in which the market is halted, locked, or crossed

•

Orders stopped for price improvement

•

Orders for stocks trading in a fast market

•

Orders entered within 20 seconds on the same security, on the same side of the market

•

Some orders for listed stocks or ETFs making a new intraday high or low

•

Orders live during communications or other system interruptions

Understand how short options positions affect the guarantee
If you’re holding short options positions in your account (you have written covered call or put contracts), any order you place for the underlying security will
not qualify for the execution guarantee. This also applies to orders for shares where you’ve entered options orders that have not yet executed.
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For example, if you’re holding 500 shares of XYZ, and have either written two covered calls or have an order to write some covered calls, no order you placed
for any of the shares is eligible for the guarantee.
Note:
If an order you place involves a short option position, we’ll send a message to your account before market open on the next trading day.
Understand how halted, locked, or crossed markets affect the guarantee
Your order will be disqualified for the 2-Second Execution Guarantee if there is a:
•

Trading halt: The security is not currently being traded by the exchange.

•

Locked market: The bid and ask for the security are the same.

•

Crossed market: The ask and bid prices are reversed (i.e. the bid price is higher than the ask price).

Note:
If an order you place is disqualified because one of these conditions occurs, we’ll send a message to your account before market open of the next trading day.
Learn how orders stopped for price improvement affect the guarantee
If a qualifying order you place is stopped for price improvement, it won’t be eligible for the guarantee. Price improvement occurs when your order is held
briefly because a better price than that which is currently quoted may be available elsewhere.
Note:
If an order you place should be stopped for price improvement, we’ll send a message to your account before market open of the next trading day.
Learn how fast markets can affect the guarantee
If you place an order for a security considered to be in a fast market when the order is live, it will not be eligible for the 2-Second Execution Guarantee.
Should this happen, we’ll send a message to your account before market open of the next trading day.
Fast markets are characterized by heavy trading and highly volatile prices for a particular stock. These usually occur as a result of an imbalance in trade
orders. In addition, fast market conditions can occur across entire markets. This occurs only rarely, but if fast conditions occur market-wide, you will see a
notice to this effect on your Order Preview and Confirmation screens.
Note:
Determining whether a security is trading in a fast market, or whether fast conditions exist market-wide, is at the sole discretion of E*TRADE Securities.
Learn how multiple, like orders affect the guarantee
If you place orders on the same stock and the same side of the market within 20 seconds, only the first order will be eligible for the execution guarantee.
For example, if you place a buy order for a given stock, and place another buy order for the same stock within the next 20 seconds, the second order will not
be eligible for the execution guarantee. The same situation would apply to two sell orders placed for the same security within 20 seconds.
Note:
Should this apply to your order, we’ll send a message to your account before market open of the next trading day.
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Understand how regional exchanges affect the guarantee
Some regional exchanges require a manual review of any order for a listed stock that would represent a new intraday high or low. These orders are not eligible
for the guarantee.
Note:
Should this happen to your order, we’ll send a message to your account before market open of the next trading day.
Know how system interruptions affect the guarantee
Should a communications, network, or other system interruption temporarily disrupt the receipt, execution, or transmission of orders, the orders that are live
during that time period will not be eligible for the 2-Second Execution Guarantee.
Note:
Should this happen to your order, we’ll send a message to your account before market open of the next trading day.
Know why an order is “under review”
When you place a qualified order that does not execute within 2 seconds, we’ll review it after market close and determine if it’s eligible for a commission
credit.
When one of your orders is reviewed, we will always let you know. Here are a few things to keep in mind:
•

You’ll receive a Smart Alert before market open the next trading day to let you know that an order was reviewed and whether or not a commission
credit was granted (if it wasn’t, we’ll tell you why).

•

If a commission credit was granted, it will post to your account and be available to use immediately (to view your credits, visit the Execution Guarantee
section of the View Orders screen).

Learn how E*TRADE Securities determines execution time for the guarantee
The length of trade execution is determined from the time we receive your order (not when it is transmitted to us) and the time the executing market center
notifies us of the final fill.
Please keep in mind:
•

Any eligible orders you place will have their actual execution times displayed. You’ll be able to view execution times in execution Smart Alerts, in the
Execution Guarantee section of the View Orders screen, and in the Order Details tables (click the order number at View Orders to get details for a
particular order).

•

If your order’s execution time is greater than 2 seconds, the order will be reviewed after market close.

•

Unless the order is disqualified, you’ll be granted a commission credit before the open of the next market day. Your credit will be applied automatically
to the next qualified order you place.

Know if I get a commission credit for a guaranteed execution order
We make it easy for you to find out whether or not you get a commission credit for a particular order.
•

You’ll receive a Smart Alert message before market open of the next trading day if you’ve earned a commission credit for a qualified order.
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•

You can review individual qualifying orders, check execution times, and see which orders have earned commission credits by going to the Execution
Guarantee section of the View Orders screen.

Note:
Any qualified order that does not execute within 2 seconds is reviewed after market close. If there is no qualifying condition that makes the order ineligible,
your account will receive a commission credit.
Find out how many commission credits I have
The number of commission credits you have will be displayed in the Execution Guarantee section of the View Orders screen.
Commission credits are available for one calendar year. They cannot be converted to cash. Customers may accumulate up to 100 commission-free trades per
account.
Use my commission credits
There’s nothing you need to do to apply your 2-Second Execution Guarantee commission credits to orders you place – we’ll handle it for you, automatically.
Some things to know:
•

After a commission credit is issued to your account, it will be applied automatically to the next order qualifying for the guarantee.

•

When you preview an order that will use a commission credit, you’ll see a notation on the order screen that your credit is being applied.

•

After your order is executed, you’ll be able to see in the order details table (click the order number at View Orders to get details for a particular order)
that a commission credit was applied to the order.

Note:
The credit for a given order waives the commission charge. The credit does not cover any applicable order-handling fee, or additional fees or charges that
may apply.
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Schedule B
Volume-Based Payment
The payment to be made by the Company to the Parent shall be based on ****. The volume-based payment shall be determined based upon the following
rates:

Rate / unit

NMS Stock

Options

****

****

* Confidential treatment has been requested for redacted portions of this exhibit. The copy filed herewith omits the information subject to the
confidentiality request. Omissions are designated as ****. A complete version of this exhibit has been filed separately with the Securities Exchange
Commission.
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Exhibit 12.1
STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(in thousands, except ratio of earnings to fixed charges)
For the Year Ended December 31,

Fixed charges:
Interest expense
Amortization of debt issue expense
Estimated interest portion within rental expense
Preference securities dividend requirements of consolidated
subsidiaries
Total fixed charges
Earnings:
Income (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations and
cumulative effect of accounting change less equity in income
(loss) of investments
Fixed charges
Less:
Preference securities dividend requirement of consolidated
subsidiaries

2007

2006

$ 2,123,646
9,492
10,676

$ 1,518,705
8,438
10,138

—
$ 2,143,814

—
$ 1,537,281

$

$ (2,185,368)
2,143,814

$

$

—

Earnings

$

(41,555)

Ratio of earnings of fixed charges

$

Excess (deficiency) of earnings to fixed charges

2005

926,346
1,537,281

$

—

2004

850,280
2,840
7,560
—
860,680

670,009
860,680

$

$

$

—

2003

557,980
2,083
5,281

$ 531,721
3,084
9,417

—
565,344

—
$ 544,222

554,215
565,344

$ 292,227
544,222

—

—

$ 2,463,627

$ 1,530,689

$ 1,119,559

$ 836,449

(0.02)

$

1.60

$

1.78

$

1.98

$

$ (2,185,369)

$

926,346

$

670,009

$

554,215

1.54

$ 292,227

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is computed by dividing fixed charges into income (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations and the
cumulative effect of accounting changes less equity in the income (loss) of investments plus fixed charges less the preference securities dividend requirement
of consolidated subsidiaries. Fixed charges include, as applicable interest expense, amortization of debt issuance costs, the estimated interest component of
rent expense (calculated as one-third of net rent expense) and the preference securities dividend requirement of consolidated subsidiaries.

Exhibit 21.1
E*TRADE Financial Corporation
Subsidiaries of Registrant
BrownCo, LLC (Delaware)
BWL Aviation, LLC (Delaware)
Canopy Acquisition Corp. (Delaware)
Capitol View, LLC (Delaware)
ClearStation, Inc. (California)
Converging Arrows, Inc. (Delaware)
E TRADE Nordic AB (Sweden)
E TRADE Sverige AB (Sweden)
E TRADE Systems India Private Limited (India)
E*TRADE Advisory Services, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Asia Ltd. (Bermuda)
E*TRADE Asset Management, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Bank (Federal Charter)
E*TRADE Bank A/S (Denmark)
E*TRADE Benelux SA (Belgium)
E*TRADE Brokerage Holdings, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Brokerage Services, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Canada Securities Corporation (Canada)
E*TRADE Capital Management, LLC (Delaware)
E*TRADE Capital Markets, LLC (Illinois)
E*TRADE Clearing LLC (Delaware)
E*TRADE Community Development Corporation (Delaware)
E*TRADE Disaster Relief Fund (California)
E*TRADE Europe Holdings B.V. (The Netherlands)
E*TRADE Europe Securities Limited (Ireland)
E*TRADE Europe Services Limited (Ireland)
E*TRADE Financial Corporate Services, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust IV (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust V (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust VI (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust VII (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust VIII (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust IX (Delaware)
E*TRADE Financial Corporation Capital Trust X (Delaware)
E*TRADE Global Asset Management, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Global Services Limited (United Kingdom)
E*TRADE Information Services, LLC (Delaware)
E*TRADE Institutional Holdings, Inc. (Delaware)

E*TRADE Insurance Services, Inc. (California)
E*TRADE International Equipment Management Corporation (Delaware)
E*TRADE Mauritius Limited (Mauritius)
E*TRADE Mortgage Backed Securities Corporation (Delaware)
E*TRADE Mortgage Corporation (Virginia)
E*TRADE Network Services International (Canada)
E*TRADE Savings Bank (Federal Charter)
E*TRADE Securities Corporation (Philippines)
E*TRADE Securities Limited (United Kingdom)
E*TRADE Securities LLC (Delaware)
E*TRADE Settlement Services, Inc. (Virginia)
E-TRADE South Africa (Pty) Limited (South Africa)
E*TRADE Technologies Corporation (Canada)
E*TRADE Technologies Group, LLC (Delaware)
E*TRADE Technologies Holding Limited (British Virgin Islands)
E*TRADE UK (Holdings) Limited (United Kingdom)
E*TRADE UK Limited (United Kingdom)
E*TRADE UK Nominees Limited (United Kingdom)
E*TRADE Wealth Management, Inc. (Delaware)
E*TRADE Web Services Limited (Ireland)
EGI Canada Corporation (Canada)
Electronic Share Information Limited (United Kingdom)
ETB Capital Trust XII (Delaware)
ETB Capital Trust XIII (Delaware)
ETB Capital Trust XV (Delaware)
ETB Capital Trust XVI (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XIV (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XVII (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XVIII (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XIX (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XX (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXI (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXII (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXIII (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXIV (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXV (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXVI (Delaware)
ETB Holdings, Inc. Capital Trust XXVII (Delaware)
ETCF Asset Funding Corporation (Nevada)
ETFC Capital Trust I (Delaware)
ETFC Capital Trust II (Delaware)
ETFC Holdings, Inc. (Delaware)

ETRADE Asia Services Limited (Hong Kong)
ETRADE Corporate Services (Hong Kong) Limited (Hong Kong)
ETRADE Financial Information Services (Asia) Limited (Hong Kong)
ETRADE Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (Hong Kong)
ETRADE Securities Limited (Hong Kong)
Highland Holdings Corporation (Virginia)
Highland REIT, Inc. (Virginia)
Howard Capital Management, Inc. (New York)
HR Holdings (Delaware), Inc. (Delaware)
Kobren Insight Management, Inc. (Massachusetts)

LendingLink, LLC (Pennsylvania)
RAA Wealth Management, Inc. (Delaware)
SV International S.A. (France)
TIR (Australia) Services Pty Limited (Australia)
TIR (Holdings) Limited (Cayman Islands)
TIR Holdings (Brazil) Limitada (Brazil)
TIR Securities (Australia) Pty Limited (Australia)
United Medical Bank (Federal Chartered)
U.S. Raptor Three, Inc. (Delaware)
W&L Aviation, Inc. (Delaware)
3045175 Nova Scotia Company (Canada)
3744221 Canada Inc. (Canada)

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of E*TRADE Financial Corporation (the “Company”) of our
reports dated February 28, 2008 relating to the consolidated financial statements of E*TRADE Financial Corporation (which report expresses an unqualified
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, which the Company adopted on
January 1, 2007, and FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, which the Company adopted on July 1, 2005) and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of E*TRADE Financial Corporation for the year ended December 31,
2007.
Filed on Form S-3:
Registration Statement Nos.:

333-104903, 333-41628, 333-124673, 333-129077, 333-130258, 333-136356

Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement Nos.:

333-91467, 333-62230, 333-117080, 333-129833

Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement Nos.:
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2008

333-12503, 333-52631, 333-62333, 333-72149, 333-35068, 333-35074, 333-37892, 333-44608, 33344610, 333-54904, 333-56002, 333-113558, 333-91534, 333-125351, 333-81702

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, R. Jarrett Lilien, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of E*TRADE Financial Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
E*TRADE Financial Corporation
(Registrant)

Dated: February 28, 2008

By:

/ S/ R. JARRETT LILIEN
R. Jarrett Lilien
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002
I, Robert J. Simmons, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of E*TRADE Financial Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
E*TRADE Financial Corporation
(Registrant)

Dated: February 28, 2008

By:

/ S/ R OBERT J. SIMMONS
Robert J. Simmons
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of E*TRADE Financial Corporation (the
“Annual Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.
R. Jarrett Lilien, the Acting Chief Executive Officer and Robert J. Simmons, the Chief Financial Officer of E*TRADE Financial Corporation, each
certifies that, to the best of their knowledge:
1.

the Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2.

the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of E*TRADE Financial Corporation.

Dated: February 28, 2008
/ S/ R. JARRETT LILIEN
R. Jarrett Lilien
Acting Chief Executive Officer
/ S/ R OBERT J. SIMMONS
Robert J. Simmons
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

